Expression and Regulation of Toll-like Receptor 4 in Allergic Disease

Pierre-Olivier Fiset

Department of Pathology Meakins-Christie Laboratories McGill University, Montreal May 2006

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Pierre-Olivier Fiset © 2006



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-25145-4 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-25145-4

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the people of the Meakins-Christie Laboratories of McGill University. The scientists, doctors, students and supporting staff make it a rich environment to grow as a researcher in terms of learning how to conduct research and be part of a research community. The Meakins-Christie has provided me with a haven from which I have developed my critical thinking and my problem solving abilities.

I would like to thank the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), the Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ), the J.T. Costello Memorial Research Fund organization, AllerGen NCE, the Strauss Foundation and McGill University for the financial support for my PhD and research.

I would like to acknowledge Dr James Ihle from Saint Jude Children's Research Hospital, Dr William Powell and Dr Elizabeth Fixman from the Meakins Christie Laboratories and Benoit Barbeau l'Université du Québec à Montréal for their generous donation of reagents and valuable guidance in this work. Also Drs John Manoukian of the Montreal Children's Hospital, Saul Frenkiel from the Jewish General Hospital and François Lavigne from the Nôtre Dame Hospital for their help in obtaining tissue for these studies.

I thank the members of Dr Hamid's research group, particularly our chief technician Ms Elsa Schotman and our molecular biology technician Ms Andrea Mogas for their help. I would especially like to thank Dr Meri Tulić for her mentorship, her encouragements and giving me the opportunity to work by her side in her projects. I am also grateful for the help and encouragement given by Dr Séverine Létuvé. Also my thanks go to Mr Stephane Lajoie and Mr Philippe Joubert for their technical assistance.

To my parents Pierre-Paul Fiset and Louise Couillard Després, I thank them for their love and support, and for teaching me to persevere and that success is through hard work and commitment. I would also like to thank Lisa Lemelin for her love, her support, and her patience.

I would like to thank Drs Edith Zorychta, David Haegert and Bruce Mazer of McGill University for their mentorship and valuable advice. Finally, my thanks go to my supervisor Dr Qutayba Hamid for the opportunity to pursue this degree, his support and guidance throughout the course of this work and for my future endeavours.

<u>Abstract</u>

The prevalence of allergic diseases is increasing worldwide for unclear reasons. This sudden widespread increase, particularly in children, suggests causes that are not due to genetic makeup of individuals, but rather a change in environment and lifestyle factors. Growing epidemiological and immunological evidence supports the hygiene hypothesis, which states that decreased exposure to immune stimulating-infections in early childhood is the cause of the rise in allergic diseases. Studies have shown that even bacterial components such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) can have a protective effect. The receptor for LPS is Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), an innate immunological receptor, which may play an essential role in regulation of allergic disease. We investigated the expression of TLR4 in the nasal mucosa of allergic and non-allergic children and adults, the effects of LPS on allergic inflammation and the regulate allergic inflammation and that long-term allergic inflammation would limit these responses.

Children and adults undergoing nasal surgery were recruited from the local hospitals. Nasal biopsies from the patients were explanted and cultured *ex vivo* with allergen and LPS. LPS could prevent allergen-induced Th2 cytokine production and inflammatory cell increases in explants from atopic children; this was through induction of Th1 cytokines and IL-10. TLR4 was also detected on CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells. LPS did not provide the same protection in adults. Adults, especially atopic subjects, had less TLR4 immunopositive cells; hence, their reduced responsiveness to LPS. This suggests that factors could downregulate TLR4 in allergic adults. The U-937 monocytic cell line

was used as an *in vitro* model to study the regulation of TLR4 by interleukin-4 (IL-4), a T-helper type 2 (Th2) cytokine involved in allergic inflammation. U-937 cells cultured with IL-4 had decreased LPS responsiveness, TLR4 protein surface expression, TLR4 mRNA expression and transcriptional activity of the upstream region of TLR4. This effect was tyrosine kinase and STAT6 dependent. A STAT6 binding site was determined in an area of the TLR4 gene necessary to mediate IL-4's inhibitory effects on TLR4 transcription. IL-4 was also determined to reduce TLR4 expression in PBMCs, especially in CD4⁺ T cells purified from the blood of children.

As predicted in epidemiological studies and animal studies, LPS was shown to provide anti-inflammatory effects against allergen in human nasal tissue. LPS may directly stimulate regulatory T cells (CD25+CD4+) to produce anti-inflammatory cytokine production. The effects of LPS exposure may be lost due to reduced expression of TLR4 by inflammatory cells, and this may be caused by the allergic inflammation itself. Therefore, development of allergic inflammation can down-regulate antiinflammatory mechanisms and promote long term chronic inflammation.

<u>Résumé</u>

L'incidence des maladies allergiques i.e. atopiques augmente à travers le monde, pour des raisons qui demeurent inconnues. Cette augmentation marquée, particulièrement chez les enfants, suggère une origine autre que l'hérédité, telle qu'une modification des facteurs liés à l'environnement et au mode de vie. De plus en plus de données épidémiologiques et immunologiques supportent l'hypothèse d'hygiéniste, selon laquelle une diminution de l'exposition à des infections stimulatrices pour le système immunitaire durant l'enfance contribuerait à l'apparition des maladies allergiques. Des études ont montré que certaines composantes moléculaires des bactéries, tels les lipopolysaccharides (LPS), pourraient avoir un effet protecteur. Le récepteur du LPS, 'Toll-like receptor 4(TLR4)', est un récepteur de l'immunité innée jouant un rôle potentiel dans la régulation des maladies allergiques. Nous avons étudié l'expression de TLR4 au niveau des muqueuses nasales d'enfants et d'adultes allergiques et non-allergiques, ainsi que l'effet du LPS sur l'inflammation allergique et la régulation de l'expression de TLR4. Selon notre hypothèse de travail, le LPS, à travers l'activation de TLR4, pourrait réguler l'inflammation allergique, voire réduire l'inflammation propre à la réaction allergique, et ce phénomène pourrait être réprimé par la présence d'une inflammation allergique au long cours.

Des enfants et adultes subissant une chirurgie nasale ont été recrutés dans des hôpitaux locaux. Des biopsies nasales ont été cultivées *ex vivo* en présence d'allergène et de LPS. Nous avons mis en évidence la capacité du LPS à empêcher le développement d'une inflammation de type 'T-helper' 2 (Th2) suite à l'exposition d'allergène dans les tissus provenant d'enfants atopiques. Ce phénomène résultait de l'induction de cytokines

Th1 et de la production d'IL-10. L'expression de TLR4 a également été détectée au niveau des lymphocytes T possédant les marqueurs membranaires CD4 et CD25. Une telle protection par le LPS n'a pas été observée chez les patients adultes. Ceci serait causé par un nombre inférieur de cellules exprimant TLR4, en particulier chez les adultes allergiques. Ces données suggèrent que certains facteurs pourraient diminuer l'expression de TLR4 chez les adultes allergiques. La lignée cellulaire de monocytes U-937 a été utilisée comme modèle in vitro pour étudier la régulation de TLR4 par l'interleukine-4 (IL-4), une cytokine de type Th2 impliquée dans l'inflammation allergique. Les cellules U-937 cultivées en présence d'IL-4 ont une sensibilité inférieure au LPS, résultant d'une expression réduite du récepteur à la surface des cellules, d'une diminution de l'expression de l'ARN messager et de la transcription du gène TLR4. Ces effets étaient dépendants d'une activité de type tyrosine kinase et du facteur de transcription STAT6. Un site de liaison pour STAT6 a été mis en évidence dans la région en amont du gène de TLR4, et qui s'avérait nécessaire aux effets inhibiteurs de l'IL-4 sur la transcription de TLR4. L'expression de TLR4 à la surface des cellules mononucléées du sang périphérique des enfants était de plus diminuée en présence d'IL-4, en particulier au niveau des cellules T positives pour le marqueur CD4.

Nous avons montré que le LPS possède des propriétés anti-inflammatoires envers la réponse immunitaire aux allergènes dans les muqueuses nasales humaines. Le LPS pourrait stimuler les cellules T régulatrices CD4+CD25+ à produire des cytokines antiinflammatoires. Les effets de l'exposition au LPS pourraient être perdus suite à la réduction de l'expression de TLR4 au niveau des cellules inflammatoires, un phénomène pouvant également résulter de la présence d'une inflammation allergique elle-même. Ainsi, le développement d'une inflammation allergique peut diminuer les mécanismes anti-inflammatoires existants et promouvoir, à long terme, une inflammation chronique.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	Page 3
Abstract	5
Résumé	7
Table of Contents	10
List of Diagram, Tables and Figures	14
Publications	17
Abbreviations	18
Chapter 1: Introduction	23
1.1 Allergy History and Hypersensitivity	23
1.2 Immune System Responses and Receptors	24
1.3 IgE, Atopy and Sensitization	28
1.4 Airway Allergic Diseases	30
1.5 Allergic Rhinitis Clinical Definition	32
1.6 Allergic Rhinitis: Type I Hypersensitivity Reaction	33
1.7 Allergic Rhinitis: Cellular Inflammation	35
 1.7.1 T Lymphocytes 1.7.2 B Lymphocytes 1.7.3 Antigen-presenting Cells 1.7.4 Mast Cells 1.7.5 Basophils 1.7.6 Eosinophils 1.7.7 Epithelial Cells and Goblet Cells 	35 39 42 45 46 46 47
1.8 Major Th2 Cytokine Functions	48
1.8.1 Interleukin-4 1.8.2 Interleukin-13 1.8.3 Interleukin-5	49 50 52

1.9 Possible Reasons for Increasing Prevalence in Allergic Diseases	
1.9.1 Genetic Predispositions	53
1.9.2 Pollution	54
1.9.3 Tobacco Smoke	55
1.9.4 Obesity	55
1.9.5 Family Size and Day Care	56
1.9.6 Hygiene Hypothesis	56
1.10 Animal Model Support for the Hygiene Hypothesis	57
1.11 Mechanisms of the Hygiene Hypothesis	58
1.12 Lipopolysaccharide	60
1.12.1 Airway Exposure to LPS	60
1.12.2 LPS and Sepsis	65
1.12.3 LPS Structure	66
1.13 Toll-like Receptors	69
1.13.1 TLR4 Discovery	69
1.13.2 TLR Family and Ligands	70
1.13.3 TLR4 Expression and Signal Transduction	73
1.13.4 TLR4 regulation	77
1.13.5 Association of TLR4 with Atopy	79
1.14 Rationale	80
1.15 Hypothesis	81
1.16 Aims	81
1.16.1 General Aims	81
1.16.2 Specific Aims	81
<u>Chapter 2:</u> Materials and Methods	85
2.0 Summary of Experimental Design	85
2.1 Nasal Mucosa Explant Model Experiments	86
2.1.1 Nasal Explant Patients	86
2.1.2 Ex vivo Allergen and LPS challenges	87

2.1.3 Nasal Explant Culture and Stimulation	87
2.1.4 Tissue Processing	89
2.1.5 Fixation	89
2.1.6 Blocking and Sectioning	90
2.1.7 In Situ Hybridization Probe Constructions	91
2.1.8 In Vitro Transcription	92
2.1.9 Pre-hybridization	93
2.1.10 In Situ Hybridization	94
2.1.11 Post-hybridization	94
2.1.12 Autoradiography	95
2.1.13 Immunohistochemistry	96
2.1.14 Light Microscopy	98
2.1.15 Fluorescence Immunohistochemistry	98
2.1.16 T-cell Proliferation Assay	99
2.1.17 Fluorescence Microscopy	99
2.1.18 Statistics	100
2.2 Cell Line Model Experiments	100
2.2.1 U-937 Cell Culture Media	100
2.2.2 Real-time QPCR	101
2.2.3 Flow Cytometry	106
2.2.4 NF-кВ luciferase reporter assay	107
2.2.5 Luciferase Assay: TLR4 Upstream region	108
2.2.6 Luciferase Assay: STAT6	111
2.2.7 Tyrphostin AG 490 stimulation	114
2.2.8 Truncations of TLR4-N Reporter Plasmid	114
2.2.9 STAT6 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation assay	115
2.2.10 Statistics	119
2.3 Peripheral Blood Experiments	119
2.3.1 Blood Patient Characteristics and Blood Draw	119
2.3.2 Ficoll Gradient Centrifugation and Culture	120
2.3.3 Flow Cytometry on PBMCs	120
2.3.4 Statistics	122
Chapter 3: Results	123
3.1 Immune Responses to LPS in Nasal Mucosa	123
2.1.1 Inflormentory Collain Nagal Musaga after Ex Vivo Challenges	102

3.1.1 Inflammatory Cells in Nasal Mucosa after Ex Vivo Challenges	123
3.1.2 CD25 Expression and IL-2 Expression in the Nasal Mucosa	125
3.1.3 Cytokine mRNA Expression in the Nasal Mucosa	127
3.1.4 Neutralizing Antibodies for IL-10, IL-12 and IFN- γ : Th2 Cytokines	127

3.1.5 Neutralizing Antibodies for IL-10, IL-12 and IFN- γ . Th1 Cytokines and IL-10	132
3.1.6 TLR4 Immunopositivity in Children and Cell Proliferation with LPS	136
3.1.7 CD3 and IL-10 Expression in Atopic Children and Atopic Adults	139
3.1.8 TLR4 Expression in Adults and Children	142
3.1.9 Coexpression of Markers in Nasal Mucosa of Children	144
3.2 TLR4 Expression and Regulation in U-937 Cells	149
3.2.1 NF-кВ Luciferase Assay	149
3.2.2 TLR4 mRNA and Protein Surface Expression	149
3.2.3 TLR4 Promoter Transcriptional Activity	152
3.2.4 STAT6 transfection and TLR4 promoter transcriptional activity	155
3.2.5 Tyrphostin AG490 and TLR4 mRNA Expression	159
3.2.6 TLR4 Promoter Transcriptional Activity of Different Plasmid Constructs	161
3.2.7 STAT6 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation	164
3.3 TLR4 Expression in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells from Children	166
3.3.1 Flow cytometry Monocytes and CD4 ⁺ Cells	166
<u>Chapter 4:</u> Discussion	172
4.1 Introductory Remarks	172
4.2 Discussion of Results	174
4.3 Implications of these Results	191
4.4 Therapeutic Implications	196
4.5 Future Studies	199
4.6 Summary and Conclusion	201
5.0 Research Compliance Certificates	203
6.0 Contributions of Authors	206
7.0 References	208

List of Diagram, Tables and Figures

Diagram 1.1	Pathogen associated molecular patterns and pattern recognition receptors	Page 27
Diagram 1.2	IgE production and sensitization	31
Diagram 1.3	Type I hypersensitivity response in allergic rhinitis	34
Diagram 1.4	IgE isotype switching	41
Diagram 1.5	IL-4 Jak-STAT pathway	51
Diagram 1.6	Hygiene Hypothesis	59
Diagram 1.7	LPS structure	68
Diagram 1.8	TLR4 signal transduction	75
Diagram 1.9	Hypothesis: LPS downregulates Th2 cytokine production	83
Diagram 1.10	Hypothesis: Th2 cytokines inhibit TLR4 expression	84
Table 1.1	TLR family and their ligands	72
Table 2.1	Plasmid constructs and enzymes for in situ hybridization	92
Table 2.2	Primaries antibodies for immunocytochemistry	96
Table 2.3	Primer sequences for real-time QPCR	106
Table 2.4	Primer sequences for cloning	110
Table 2.5	Primer sequences for STAT6 ChIP assay	119
Figure 3.1	Inflammatory cells in nasal mucosa of atopic children	124
Figure 3.2	IL-2 and CD25 expression in nasal mucosa of atopic children	126
Figure 3.3	Cytokine mRNAs in nasal mucosa of atopic children	128

Figure 3.4	Th2 cytokine mRNAs after neutralizing antibodies	130
Figure 3.5	IL-5 protein expression after neutralizing antibodies	131
Figure 3.6	Th1 cytokine and IL-10 mRNA after neutralizing antibodies	133
Figure 3.7	Th1 cytokine and IL-10 protein expression after neutralizing antibodies	135
Figure 3.8	TLR4 positive cells in the nasal mucosa of children	137
Figure 3.9	Cell proliferation in the nasal mucosa of atopic children	138
Figure 3.10	CD3 positive cells in atopic children and adults	140
Figure 3.11	IL-10 mRNA positive cells in atopic children and adults	141
Figure 3.12	TLR4 expression in adults and children	143
Figure 3.13	TLR4 and CD3 coexpression in children	145
Figure 3.14	TLR4 and CD3 coexpression baseline and LPS stimulation	146
Figure 3.15	TLR4 and IL-10 coexpression baseline and LPS stimulation	147
Figure 3.16	CD4 and CD25 coexpression baseline and LPS stimulation	148
Figure 3.17	NF-κB luciferase assay in U-937 cells	150
Figure 3.18	TLR4 mRNA expression in U-937 cells	151
Figure 3.19	TLR4 surface expression in U-937 cells	153
Figure 3.20	TLR4 promoter transcriptional activity	154
Figure 3.21	TLR4 promoter transcriptional activity with IL-4	156
Figure 3.22	STAT6 overexpression in U-937 cells	157
Figure 3.23	TLR4 promoter transcriptional activity with overexpression of STAT6	158
Figure 3.24	TLR4 mRNA expression with Tyrphostin AG 490	160
Figure 3.25	MatInspector analysis of upstream region of TLR4	162

Figure 3.26	Truncations of TLR4-N plasmid and promoter transcriptional activity with IL-4	163
Figure 3.27	STAT6 chromatin immunoprecipitation assay	165
Figure 3.28	Cell populations in peripheral blood mononuclear cells in children: dot plot	167
Figure 3.29	Monocyte expression of TLR4 in children: bar graph	168
Figure 3.30	CD4 ⁺ cell expression of TLR4 in children: dot plot	169
Figure 3.31	CD4 ⁺ cell expression of TLR4 in children: bar graph	170
Figure 3.32	CD3 ⁺ cell expression of CD4 in children: dot plot	171

Publications during thesis training

- Pierre-Olivier Fiset, Meri K. Tulic, Petra S.A. Skrablin, Samuel M. Grover, Séverine Létuvé, Bruce D. Mazer, and Qutayba Hamid. STAT6 downregulates Tolllike Receptor-4 Expression of a Monocytic Cell Line. (Clin Exp Allergy. 2006 Feb;36(2):158-65.)
- 2. Séverine Létuvé, Stéphane Lajoie-Kadoch, Séverine Audusseau, **Pierre-Olivier Fiset**, Mara S. Ludwig, and Qutayba Hamid. IL-17E upregulates the expression of proinflammatory cytokines by lung fibroblasts. (J Allergy Clin Immunol, in Press)
- 3. Meri K Tulic, **Pierre-Olivier Fiset**, Zöe Müller, Qutayba Hamid. Cytokines and Chemokines in Asthma: an Overview. In: Hamid Q, Shannon J, Martin J, editors. Physiologic Basis of Respiratory Disease. 1st ed. Hamilton, Ontario: BC Decker; 2005. p. 453-67.
- 4. **Pierre-Olivier Fiset**, Meri K Tulic, Qutayba Hamid. Toll-like receptors and atopy. (J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005;116:467-70.)
- 5. **Pierre-Olivier Fiset**, Zoe Muller, Qutayba Hamid. The impact of today's technology on allergy research. Clin Exp Allergy. 2005 Jul;35(7):846-8.
- 6. **Pierre-Olivier Fiset**, Lisa Cameron, Qutayba Hamid. Local isotype switching to IgE in airway mucosa. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005 Jul;116(1):233-6. Review.
- Motonori Fukakusa, Céline Bergeron, Meri K Tulić, Pierre-Olivier Fiset, Oday Al Dewachi, Michel Laviolette, Qutayba Hamid, Jamila Chakir. Oral corticosteroids decrease eosinophil and CC chemokine expression but increase neutrophil, IL-8, and IFN-gamma-inducible protein 10 expression in asthmatic airway mucosa. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005 Feb; 115(2):280-6.
- 8. Meri K. Tulić, **Pierre-Olivier Fiset**, John J Manoukian, Saul Frenkiel, François Lavigne, David H Eidelman, Qutayba Hamid. Role of toll-like receptor 4 in protection by bacterial lipopolysaccharide in the nasal mucosa of atopic children but not adults. Lancet. 2004 May; 363(9422):1689-97.
- 9. Meri K. Tulić, **Pierre-Olivier Fiset**, Pota Christodoulopoulos, Patrice Vaillancourt, Martin Desrosiers, François Lavigne, Joseph Eiden, Qutayba Hamid. Amb a 1immunostimulatory oligodeoxynucleotide conjugate immunotherapy decreases the nasal inflammatory response. (J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004; 113: 235-41)
- Pierre-Olivier Fiset, Abdelilah Soussi-Gounni, Pota Christodoulopoulos, Meri Tulić, Steven E. Sobol, Saul Frenkiel, François Lavigne, Bouchaib Lamkhioued, and Qutayba Hamid. Modulation of allergic response in nasal mucosa by antisense oligodeoxynucleotides for IL-4. (J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003;111:580-6.)

Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning
ADAM33	A disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain 33
ALAS1	Aminolevulinate, delta-synthase 1
AP-1	Activator protein 1
APC	Allophycocyanin
APC	Antigen presenting cells
ARIA	Allergic Rhinitis and Its Impact on Asthma
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
BALs	Bronchoalveolar lavages
BCG	Bacillus Calmette-Guerin
BCM	Bicarbonate-buffered culture medium
Вр	Base pairs
BrdU	5-Bromo-2'-deoxyuridine
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
СВР	CREB-binding protein
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CD40L	CD40 ligand
Сн	Heavy chain
ChIP	Chromatin immunoprecipitation
CSF-1	Colony stimulating factor-1
Ct	Threshold cycle
Сε	Heavy chain epsilon
DEFB1	Defensin β1
DEPC	Diethylpyrocarbonate
DPP10	Dipeptidyl peptidase X
DTT	Dithiothreitol
ECP	Eosinophilic cationic protein
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EST	Expressed sequence tag

Abbreviation	Meaning
F _{ab}	Antigen binding fragment
Fc	Crystallisable fragment
Fcε	Crystallisable fragment epsilon
FEV ₁	Forced expiratory volume in 1 second
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
FL1	Fluorescent 1
Foxp3	Forkhead Box P3
FSC	Forward Scatter
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GATA3	GATA-Binding Protein 3
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GPR154	G protein-coupled receptor 154
HEPES	Hydroxyehtylpiperazine ethanesulfonic acid
HMGB1	High Mobility Group Box Chromosomal Protein 1
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HSP	Heat shock protein
hToll	Human Toll
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IgE	Immunoglobulin E
IKK	IkB kinase
IL	Interleukin
IL1RL1	Interleukin 1 receptor-like 1
IL-4Ra	IL-4 receptor alpha-subunit
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
IP-10	IFN-γ-inducible 10KDa protein
IPEX	Immunodysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, and enteropathy, X-linked inheritance syndrome
IRAK	IL-1R-associated kinase
IRF	IFN regulatory factor

Abbreviation	Meaning
Ιε	Intermediate exon epsilon
ΙκΒ	Inhibitors of κ-B
Jak	Janus kinase
LAL	Limulus amebocyte lysate
LARII	Luciferase Assay Reagent II
LBP	LPS-binding protein
LRR	Leucine-rich repeat
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LT	Leukotriene
LY 64	Lymphocyte antigen 64
MBP	Major basic protein
mDC	Myeloid dendritic cells
MEM	Minimal essential medium
MFI	Mean fluorescent intensity
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MPL	Monophosphoryl lipid A
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88
NCoA-1	Nuclear receptor coactivator 1
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor-kappa B
O ₃	Ozone
OCT	Optimal cutting temperature
oligo dT	Oligo deoxythymidylate
PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular patterns
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
pDC	Plasmacytoid dendritic cells
PF	Paraformaldehyde
PHF11	PHD Finger Protein 11
PLL	Poly-L-lysine

Abbreviation	Meaning
PNU	Protein nitrogen units
PP2A	protein phosphatase 2A
PPD	purified protein derivative
PRR	pathogen recognition receptors
PTC	Patient Testing Center
QPCR	Quantitative PCR
REL	Reticuloendotheliosis viral oncogene
RIP1	Receptor-interacting protein 1
RLU	Relative light units
RP105	Radioprotective 105 Kda
RPMI-1640	Roswell Park Memorial Institute formulation 1640
RT-PCR	reverse transcription-PCR
SCF	Stem cell factor
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SEA	Staphylococcal endotoxin A
SH2	Src-homology domain 2
SHP-1	Src homology-containing phosphatase-1
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
SIRS	Systemic inflammatory response syndrome
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphisms
SOCS	Suppressor of cytokine signaling
SSC	Side Scatter
SSC	Standard saline citrate
STAT6	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 6
Sε	Switch region epsilon
ТАВ	TAK1- binding protein
TAK1	TGF-β-activated kinase 1
T-bet	T-Box Expressed in T cells
TBK1	TRAF-family-member associated activator-binding kinase 1

Abbreviation	Meaning
TBS	Tris buffered saline
TCR	T cell receptor
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-beta
Th	T helper
TIL	Toll/IL-1 receptor-like
TIR	Toll/IL-1 receptor-like
TIRAP	TIR-domain-containing adaptor protein
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNFRSF9	Tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily 9
TNF-α	Tumer necrosis factor-alpha
TRAF	TNF receptor-associated factor
TRAM	TRIF-related adaptor molecule
TRIF	TIR-domain-containing adaptor protein inducing IFN- β (
TSST-1	Toxic shock syndrome toxin-1
U	International Unit
γc	IL-2 receptor common gamma subunit

<u>Chapter 1:</u> Introduction

1.1 Allergy History

John Bostock, an English physician, reported in his own case history in 1819 a syndrome associated with nasal discharge, repeated paroxysms of sneezing, itching of the eyes, difficulty breathing and severe malaise[1, 2]. This is generally accepted as the first complete description of the malady known as hay fever, also known as allergic rhinitis. In the following nine years, Bostock was only able to report 28 other cases of hay fever[2-4]. Over the last two centuries, cases of allergic rhinitis and other allergic diseases have had a remarkable increase. Currently, epidemiological studies have estimated the world-wide average prevalence of allergic diseases at 15-20%[5-7]. Additionally, international comparisons have shown that considerable variation exists between countries in the prevalence of allergic diseases, ranging from about 1% to almost 30% in some surveys[6]. Current estimates for the prevalence of allergic disease in Canada and the United States closely follow the world-wide average.

In 1873, Charles Blackley conducted the first experiments showing that hay fever could be caused by a sensitivity to pollen[2, 8]. Later in 1906, Clemens von Pirquet coined the term *allergy* after noticing that patients who had previously received injections of horse serum or smallpox vaccine had quicker, more severe reactions to a second injection[9]. Allergy comes from the Greek *allos* meaning "other" and *ergon* meaning "reaction," and was used to describe this hypersensitivity reaction. An allergen is defined as any substance, most often eaten or inhaled, that is recognized by the immune system and causes an allergic reaction. Charles Mantoux, shortly after von Pirquet, showed that tuberculin, a glycerin extract from cultures of bacteria that cause tuberculosis,

Mycobacterium tuberculosis, could also cause a hypersensitivity reaction[10]. The Mantoux test, also known as the purified protein derivative (PPD) tuberculin test, is still used today as a diagnostic test for tuberculosis.

Presently, types of hypersensitivity to antigens are classified into four types, in a classification scheme created by Gell and Coombs in 1968[11]. The term *allergy* is most often associated with Type I hypersensitivity, which is mediated by allergen-specific immunoglobulin E (IgE). Allergen-IgE reactions activate the release of inflammatory mediators and lead to an immediate reaction, within seconds to minutes. IgE-mediated diseases include atopic dermatitis, allergic asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis.

1.2 Immune System Responses and Receptors

The immune system of an organism is a complex array of cells and mediators that function to distinguish factors of an organism (self) from foreign substances (non-self). The immune system is then activated for the clearance of the non-self factors. There are two main responses of the immune system, called the humoral and cell-mediated immune responses. In humoral immune responses, antibodies are generated specifically for the antigen, and antibodies can neutralize invading microbes that possess the antigen on their surface, or they can flag the microbes for destruction by other cells, such as macrophages. An antigen is any molecule capable of causing the generation of antibodies. Humoral immune responses are important for protection from small extracellular pathogens such as bacteria and viruses and the neutralization of toxins and pathogenic factors but also protection from large extracellular pathogens such as multicellular parasites. In cellmediated immune responses, antibodies play a lesser role, and rather specific immune cells are activated, such as macrophages, natural killer cells, and antigen specific cytotoxic T cells. Macrophages are activated to destroy engulfed microorganisms, while natural killer cells and cytotoxic T cells destroy other cell types that have been infected with pathogens. Cell-mediated immunity is important for protection from infections of microbes that can survive in phagocytic cells or that infect non-phagocytic cells. Hence, cell-mediated immunity is important for the removal of virus infected cells, intracellular bacteria, but it also plays a role in clearance of fungal and protozoan infections. Cell-mediated immune responses can also be generated against abnormally growing cells such as tumour cells.

The immune system's ability to discriminate between self and non-self is based on the evolution of cell surface receptors that can recognize specific antigens and other molecules. Two main types of receptors exist, the adaptive immune receptors and the innate immune receptors. Adaptive immune receptors are present on lymphocytes, which have different effector functions depending on the type of receptor. During the maturation of lymphocytes, the adaptive immune receptors are generated by rearrangement of the genetic sequences encoding the receptor. In this fashion, receptors with unique recognition are created on each lymphocyte. B cells, which develop in the bone marrow, have antibodies with transmembrane regions anchoring them to the membranes. This B cell receptor complex can bind to antigen directly, and antibodies form part of an antigen recognition complex. T cells, which originate in the bone marrow but develop in the thymus, have an antigen recognition receptor composed of the CD3 antigen and accessory molecules. T cell receptor complexes bind to allergen, but only when presented by other cell types called antigen-presenting cells. Binding of antigen to the respective receptors, with appropriate co-stimulatory signals, activates effector cell function and proliferation. B cell effector cells, known as plasma cells secrete soluble cell-free antibodies. Two types of effector T cells exist, T helper cells and cytotoxic T cells. T helper cells produce mediators to activate other cell types, thus helping and coordinating the immune response, while cytotoxic T cells produce toxic proteins to eliminate infected cells in cell-mediated immune responses. Adaptive immune responses are antigen-dependent and this is important to avoid widespread responses that can cause damage to the host. Additionally, after activation by antigen, some cells develop into memory cells. These cells survive after the response to the antigen, and if the antigen is encountered again, the memory cells quickly activate and lead to a strong secondary response to clear the infectious organism.

Innate immune receptors are an ancient system of receptors, that are inherited and that recognize conserved molecular patterns on microbes[12]. Innate immune receptors are believed to have evolved to recognize specific molecular determinants present in many pathogens. These molecules are known as pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) with their binding partners on immune cells known as pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). These are not rearranged like the adaptive immune receptors and are present on many cells types. Many PRRs exist and new members and associated PAMPs are still being discovered. PRRs are not involved in immune memory responses, but are believed to be important in initializing and directing adaptive immune responses (Diagram 1.1).

A model for the immune system's recognition and response functions was proposed in the late 1940s[13-15]. In this model, the immune system can directly

26



Diagram 1.1. Pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) are part of the innate immune system. Recognition of PAMPs by PRRs on antigen presenting cells (APCs) leads them to increase phagocytosis, increase antigen presentation, increased surface expression of costimulatory molecules and cytokine production. This leads to activation of T cells to produce cytokines and activate adaptive immune responses.

discern the differences between pathogens and the host, and will only react to pathogenic antigens. This model has been recently challenged, and reformulated. In the innate immune receptor model, proposed by Janeway, lymphocyte activation is controlled by PRRs and PAMPs[12]. PRRs react with PAMPs, and this will activate adaptive immune responses by lymphocytes. PAMPs would be a signal that a foreign antigen is present and an immune response is necessary. The innate immune receptor model was modified by Matzinger, to what is known as the "danger model"[16]. In this model, antigen is presented to lymphocytes by cells known as professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) only if the host is threatened. Specific danger signals, such as PAMPs or necrotic cells, activate the APCs to increase their ability to activate lymphocytes with antigen. Despite evidence for the "danger model", it is not completely accepted and it is thought that immune responses are not dependent on APCs alone and that danger signal can be recognized by lymphocytes directly.

1.3 IgE, Atopy and Sensitization

In 1865, Charles Blackley showed that a patient was sensitive to grass pollen by scarifying the patient's arm with a lancet and applying an occlusive bandage containing grass pollen to the skin[8]. The patient reacted with a skin reaction presenting swelling (wheal) and redness (flare) around the site of the bandage. This was credited as the first report on immediate skin reactions from allergic patients, and a similar assay is used in the clinic today to test for allergies. In 1921, Carl Prausnitz and Heinz Küstner performed an experiment that showed that wheal and flare reactions caused by allergens could be transferred by serum[17]. Due to its low levels in blood, it took 40 years to

determine that the causative factor was a type of immunoglobulin (Ig) which was named IgE[18, 19].

In 1923, the term atopy, from the Greek word *atopia* meaning "out of place," was used to describe inherited hypersensitivity diseases[20]. Atopy is also sometimes defined as IgE-mediated sensitivity to allergens with a positive wheal and flare reaction when the skin is challenged with allergen. Although possessing a strong genetic component, environmental factors are now thought to be implicated in development of atopic diseases.

Elevated levels of IgE in the serum is recognized as a characteristic of allergy[21, 22]. Units used to quantify IgE were established in 1968 by the World Health Organization[23]. The standard was assigned an arbitrary mass unit, known as an International Unit (U). One unit of IgE was determined to be equivalent to 2.42ng of pure IgE [24]. In normal non-atopic adult subjects, the serum concentration of total IgE ranges from 20kU/L (about 50ng/mL) to 40kU/L (about 100ng/mL) [25]. Levels as high as 375 kU/L (900ng/mL) can be found in adults with allergic disease. Due to large variation of total IgE measurements in patients with and without allergic symptoms, total serum IgE is not used as a predictor of allergic disease[22, 25, 26].

IgE is produced by B cells which are exposed to repeated allergen encounters and appropriate stimulation from T helper cells. IgE binds to receptors called Fcc receptors on the surface of cells, such as mast cells and basophils. When allergen is present, it binds to IgE, activates the receptor and the inflammatory cell produces numerous inflammatory mediators causing an allergic reaction. Inflammatory cells with IgE bound to their Fcc receptors are said to be in their primed state. The process of IgE production and priming of inflammatory cells is known as sensitization (Diagram 1.2). It is still unclear why allergens, which are presumed innocuous otherwise, cause sensitization.

1.4 Airway Allergic Diseases

Many individuals that experience hypersensitivity to antigen in their upper airways (nasal passages) experience hypersensitivity in their lower airways. This has led to the concept of the united airways disease. In many reports, the fraction of asthmatics with symptoms of rhinitis has been considered to be around 85%[27, 28]. This may still be an underestimate as some asthmatic patients who consider themselves free of nasal symptoms demonstrate evidence of nasal inflammation[29]. Comparison of the pathology of allergic rhinitis and allergic asthma has shown many similarities. One of the main differences between the two airways is the presence of bronchial smooth muscle in the lower airways. Currently, both diseases are considered to be the same syndrome, but in different locations [28, 30], and there is evidence that therapeutic control of rhinitis is beneficial for asthma symptoms such as bronchial responsiveness[31, 32]. In prospective studies, allergic rhinitis has been shown as a risk factor leading to asthma, and the risk factor increases with the severity of the symptoms[33-35]; allergic rhinitics have a 2-3 fold increased risk of developing asthma, while rhinitics with sinusitis have up to a 6 fold increased risk. From this evidence, it would seem that allergic asthma may stem from rhinitis, but the process is not understood. This thesis focuses on nasal inflammation and allergic rhinitis, but the conclusions developed may be extended to allergic asthma and even other allergic diseases.



Diagram 1.2. Allergen presentation by B cells can activate Th2 cells to produce cytokines and provide co-stimulatory signals such as CD40L leading to activation of B cells to differentiate into IgE-producing plasma cells. IgE can bind to IgE receptors on mast cells sensitizing them to allergen. Allergen can bind to IgE on mast cells causing cross-linking and triggering of the IgE receptors. This leads to mast cell activation and rapid degranulation of many inflammatory mediators such as histamine and cytokines.

1.5 Allergic Rhinitis Clinical Definition

Rhinitis is known as the inflammation of the mucous membrane of the nose. Symptoms include rhinorrhea, nasal obstruction, nasal itching, and sneezing. Rhinitis may be either non-allergic or allergic in origin. Non-allergic rhinitis is characterized by cloudy (white, yellow or green) nasal secretions and sneezing, and is predominantly caused by virus or bacterial infections.

Allergic rhinitis is clinically defined as a symptomatic disorder of the nose induced by an IgE-mediated inflammation after allergen exposure of the membranes lining the nose. While sharing many symptoms, in contrast to non-allergic rhinitis, nasal secretions are clear and watery. It was originally separated into perennial allergic rhinitis and seasonal allergic rhinitis. Perennial allergic rhinitis is most frequently caused by indoor allergens present throughout the year such as dust mites, molds, insect allergens and animal dander. Seasonal allergic rhinitis is related to outdoor allergens which are only present in the environment for discrete but recurrent periods in the year and include pollens and molds. This definition has proved unsatisfactory because some seasonal allergens in some parts of the world can be perennial, many patients are sensitive to many allergens and present symptoms throughout the year, and there is a wide range of patient responses to perennial allergens that may not persist throughout the year[36]. Allergic rhinitis has been redefined by the Allergic Rhinitis and Its Impact on Asthma (ARIA) organization[36]. Allergic rhinitis is now divided into either persistent or intermittent disease. Intermittent means that symptoms of allergic rhinitis are present less than four days in a week or for less than four weeks in a year. Persistent means symptoms for allergic rhinitis are present for more than four days in a week and for more than four

weeks in a year. In addition, allergic rhinitis is further defined by whether presentation of symptoms is mild or moderate to severe. Mild allergic rhinitis is disease without any sleep disturbance, troublesome symptoms, and impairment of daily activities including school, work, leisure or sports. Moderate to severe is classified as presenting one or more of the preceding conditions absent from mild allergic rhinitis. ARIA redefined allergic rhinitis to correct the discrepancies of the older definitions, to help in standardizing epidemiological studies and to provide a basis for physicians and organizations to develop a local standard of care for their patients.

1.6 Allergic Rhinitis: Type I Hypersensitivity Reaction

The inflammatory mediators of the Type I hypersensitivity reaction in allergic rhinitis have been elucidated using allergen challenge of allergic individuals [37-39]. Two phases occur in this reaction leading to various symptoms (Diagram 1.3). The early phase of the hypersensitivity reaction occurs within minutes. It is as a result of the binding of allergen to IgE primed cells and activation of the Fcc receptor. Triggering leads to the release of preformed mediators such as histamine, cytokines, cysteinyl leukotrienes and prostaglandins from the inflammatory cells into the surrounding tissue. These mediators, especially histamine, are potent proinflammatory mediators causing virtually all of the early phase responses in allergic rhinitis such as sneezing, pruritus, rhinorrhea, vasodilation and nasal congestion[40]. Vasodilation and chemotactic factors lead to influx of lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages, and granulocytes which coordinate the late phase reaction. The late phase reaction, usually seen 4 to 6 hours following the early phase can last 1 to 2 days. In the late phase, nasal congestion and cellular inflammation becomes more prominent. Maintenance of the late phase



Diagram 1.3. In the early phase of the hypersensitivity response, allergen causes the degranulation of mast cells. Mast cells release many mediators acting on many cell types and cause the symptoms of allergic rhinitis including sneezing, pruritus, rhinorrhea, vasodilation and nasal congestion. Vasodilation, chemotactic factors and activated endothelium lead to influx of inflammatory cells into the tissue. The late phase is coordinated by these infiltrating cells, primarily eosinophils and Th2 lymphocytes.

proinflammatory effects are attributed primarily to infiltrating T cells and eosinophils and the mediators they release[41].

1.7 Allergic Rhinitis: Cellular Inflammation

Sensitization of the nasal mucosa in allergic rhinitis is associated with cellular change within the nasal mucosa[42]. Compared to non-allergic controls, large increases in the populations of lymphocytes, mast cells, granulocytes and macrophages are seen. These cells are either the result of proliferation at the site of inflammation or recruitment from local vasculature. Recruitment of cells from the vasculature involves surface changes in the endothelium that promote adherence of inflammatory cells. Inflammatory cells are then activated to cross the junctions between endothelial cells and through the basement membrane through a process called diapedesis. Cells then migrate towards the site of inflammation. This whole process is mediated by a subset of cytokines known as chemokines that promote migration from zones of low chemokine concentration to zones of higher concentration called a chemokine gradient. It has also been shown that some inflammatory cells can be derived from local stem cells by in situ differentiation[43]. Once primed cells are in place and encounter allergen, they respond by producing cytokines and other mediators such as histamine that cause the allergic rhinitis symptoms and the early and late phase of the allergic response. A brief discussion of the cell types and main mediators involved in the allergic inflammation follows.

1.7.1 T Lymphocytes

T cells possess the T cell receptor (TCR) complex which recognizes short peptides derived from antigen complexed with major histocompatibility complex (MHC) I or MHC II. MHC I is expressed on virtually all cells of the body while MHC II is
mainly expressed on professional antigen-presenting cells. MHC I-antigen complexes are recognized by CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells, which clear cells infected with virus or bacteria or cells with abnormal proteins such as cancerous cells. MHC II-antigen complexes are recognized by CD4⁺ T helper cells, and these cells produce many mediators leading to cell-mediated or humoral-mediated inflammatory responses.

CD4⁺ T helper cells are the main coordinators of inflammation by producing soluble mediators and providing signals through cell adhesion molecules to other cells. They are the cell type found in greatest numbers both in normal and allergic nasal mucosa[42, 44]. T-helper cells were further divided by Mosmman and colleagues into Thelper 1 (Th1) and T-helper 2 (Th2) subsets, based on the cytokines they produced[45]. Not only do the subsets produce different cytokines, they also coordinate different types of immune responses. Naïve Th cells, CD4⁺ T cells never exposed to antigen, when activated by antigen-presenting cells produce cytokines from both subsets and are known as Th0 cells[46]. If given the proper stimulus, naïve Th cells can differentiate into the biased Th1 or Th2 subsets. The cytokine environment and signals that are received by the naïve T cells induce the differentiation. Bacterial innate immune responses lead to production of IL-12 and interferon- γ (IFN- γ) which drive the development of Th1 cells[47]. Th1 cells mainly produce high levels of IFN-y, IL-2, IL-12 and lymphotoxin-A (LTA) and are associated with cell-mediated immunity for clearance of intracellular pathogens. These cytokines promote T cell proliferation, macrophage microbicidal activity and antigen presentation, recruitment of phagocytic cells, but are poor initiators of antibody production. Dysregulated Th1 cytokine production can lead to immunopathology and organ-specific autoimmune disease[48]. Conversely, production

of IL-4 early in an immune response directs the development of Th2-biased responses[49]; however, the innate immune response causing this phenomenon, particularly to allergens is not clear. The major Th2 cytokines are IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 and these have multiple effects on B cells, mast cells and eosinophils and are strongly implicated in atopy and allergic inflammation. Th2 cells can also direct humoral immune responses which are important in responses to large extracellular pathogens, such as parasitic worms.

Th1 and Th2 responses can cross-regulate each other by biasing an immune response one way or another. IL-4 can inhibit dendritic cell and macrophage production of IL-12, a potent stimulator of IFN- γ production by T cells[47]. IL-4 also down-regulates the IL-12R β 2 chain decreasing responsiveness of Th2 cells to IL-12[50], while IFN- γ can enhance its production[51]. Additionally, IL-4 and IFN- γ can inhibit the T-helper cell production of each other[52].

Both Th1 and Th2 cytokine responses are associated with transcription factors which control gene expression and lineage commitment by promoting transcription of genes and chromatin remodelling [53]. Chromatin remodelling is a process where DNA is made more or less accessible for transcription by modification of DNA and proteins and is coordinated by transcription factors specific for each lineage. One of the main transcription factors associated with Th1 cells is T-Box Expressed in T Cells (T-bet) which controls IFN- γ production[54, 55]. Expression of T-bet is decreased in the airways of patients with asthma[56] concordant with decreased Th1 cytokine production in asthma. Th2 commitment is associated with the transcription factors Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 6 (STAT6) and GATA-Binding Protein 3 (GATA3)[5759]. STAT6 is activated by IL-4 and IL-13 and it controls transcription of GATA3[57]. GATA3 controls the expression of Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 and other factors[60]. GATA3 and STAT6 have been shown to be increased in the upper and lower airways in asthma and allergies [61-63]. Th1 and Th2 associated transcription factors can further bias cytokine responses by inhibiting gene expression. T-bet can repress Th2 lineage commitment by interfering with GATA3 activity[64]. STAT6 and GATA3 can also inhibit IFN-γ production in Th1 cells[65, 66].

Another subset of T-helper cells are known as Th3 cells. These cells secrete high levels of TGF- β but low levels of Th1 and Th2 cytokines if any[67, 68]. They can suppress both Th1 and Th2 cytokine production and are thought to have a role in mucosal tolerance to antigen but their role in atopy is unclear.

Perhaps of greater interest are the CD4⁺CD25⁺ T-regulatory cells. They produce high levels of IL-10 and are involved in the maintenance of self-tolerance and suppressing immune responses. The expression of CD25 antigen, the IL-2 receptor α subunit, is induced in T cells upon antigen stimulation, but T-regulatory cells express high levels constitutively[69]. These cells were first discovered in the mid-1990s when depletion of CD25⁺ cells in mice resulted in a multiple organ autoimmunity[70]. Their population accounts for 5 to 10% of peripheral CD4⁺ T cells. Production of IL-10 by these can inhibit Th1 and Th2 cytokine production and proliferation CD4⁺ T cells[71, 72]. A recently described transcription factor, Forkhead Box P3 (Foxp3), is associated with Tregulatory cells [73]. Mutations in Foxp3 in mice lead to lethal autoimmune syndrome as a consequence of deficiency of T-regulatory cells[74, 75]. In humans, mutations in Foxp3 lead to the immunodysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, and enteropathy, X-linked inheritance (IPEX) syndrome[76]. T-regulatory T cells are present in both atopic and non-atopic individuals, but T-regulatory cells from atopic patients have a significantly lowered activity in inhibiting proliferation and Th2 cytokine production of other cells, especially during allergen exposure[77, 78].

CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells, although present in the nasal mucosa, are mainly associated with cell-mediated immune responses against viral infections. Some studies have shown that CD8⁺ T cells can produce IL-4 and stimulate B cells to produce IgE and produce IL-5 and induce tissue eosinophilia[79, 80]. CD8⁺ T cells may not play as great a role in controlling allergic inflammation as Th2 cells, but they may help promote and maintain it.

1.7.2 B Lymphocytes and IgE Production

B cells are also central for mediating atopic diseases, primarily due to their production of IgE. B cell development occurs in the bone marrow and is dependent upon the production of antibodies also known as immunoglobulin protein. Immunoglobulins are tetramers composed of two heavy chains and two light chains that are bound by disulfide bridges to form a three-dimensional "Y" shaped structure[81-83]. The heavy chains are larger and form the tail of the "Y". The two arms of the "Y" are where the light chains and heavy chains are linked by more disulfide bonds. Both the heavy chain and light chain have constant regions and variable regions at their amino-termini. The variable regions are formed by gene segments brought together by genomic recombination. Only B cells that are successful in rearranging both the heavy chain and light chain genes survive and proliferate to produce antibody. Successful B cells also express a surface form of the immunoglobulin that they produce which is associated with accessory chains and forms a B cell receptor complex for activation of the cell by antigen.

Digestion of immunoglobulins with papain yields three 50 kDa fragments[84]. Two fragments bind to antigen and are called F_{ab} (antigen-binding fragment), while the third fragment forms protein crystals readily and is called F_c (crystallisable fragment). The F_c portion is made up of constant regions of the two heavy chains (C_H) and mediates binding to Ig receptors. There are five immunoglobulin C_H classes in humans, called isotypes, based on the F_c portion expressed. Cµ encodes for the IgM isotype, C δ encodes for IgD, four Cys encode for the IgGs, two Cas encode for the IgAs and Ce encodes for IgE. Immunoglobulin mRNA is produced by transcription of the variable region and the constant region found downstream of it. When a B cell encounters an antigen and adequate stimulation from other cells, it is capable of changing its constant region gene transcribed by a process of isotype switching (Diagram 1.4). The C_H genes for each isotype are arranged in a tandem array on chromosome 14q32 downstream of the heavy chain variable region. Specialized sequences of DNA called switch region sequences are found surrounding the C_H genes[85]. IgE isotype switching is initiated by germline transcription from a promoter upstream of CE. This transcript, named IECE RNA, contains an extra intermediate exon (IE), the switch region SE and CE. After transcription of IECE RNA, the CE gene is translocated downstream of the variable region of the heavy chain, by intrachromosomal rearrangement and any intervening DNA is removed. Once the CE is downstream of the variable region, IgE mRNA production can occur. IECE RNA transcription and splicing is essential for IgE isotype switching to take place[86, 87]. IECE transcription depends on the Th2 cytokines, IL-4 or IL-13 with the aid of trimeric



Diagram 1.4. Th2 cytokines and CD40L cause isotype switching in B cells. I $\epsilon C\epsilon$ RNA is transcribed and the switch regions of IgM (S μ) and IgE (S ϵ) are brought together bringing the constant region of IgE (C ϵ) downstream of the variable region of the heavy chain gene (V_H). After the intrachromosomal rearrangement IgE mRNA can be produced and any intervening DNA is removed forming circular DNA.

CD40 ligand (CD40L)[88, 89]. Isotype switching and IECE RNA transcription usually occurs in lymphoid organs, but they can also occur in the nasal mucosa upon allergen challenge [90]. IgE production is also increased in the nasal mucosa upon allergen exposure[90] and blockade of IL-4 by antisense oligonucleotides or neutralizing antibodies can reduce both IgE mRNA transcription and IECE RNA transcription[91, 92].

Immature naïve B cells with functional BCR migrate out to secondary lymphoid organs. Following antigen stimulation, B cells either become memory B cells or plasma cells. These cells are able to secrete immunoglobulins based on their BCR, but the secreted immunoglobulins do not have the transmembrane region found in the BCR. Memory B cells retain their ability to recognize antigen and provide a high source of immunoglobulins when stimulated[93]. Plasma cells are terminally differentiated cells that produce large amounts of immunoglobulins[94, 95]. Plasma cells are no longer able to proliferate or switch isotype from the current one they are secreting, and are relatively short lived[95].

B cell numbers are lower than T cells in normal nasal mucosa[42, 44] and do not increase significantly upon allergen challenge of patients with rhinitis in the nasal mucosa, but increase in numbers in the blood [96].

1.7.3 Antigen-presenting Cells

Professional antigen-presenting cells take up antigen from the surrounding environment, process it into smaller fragments that fit in the groove of the MHC II and then present the resulting complex at the cell surface[16]. The MHC II-antigen complex is recognized by the TCR of $CD4^+$ T cells. Co-stimulatory molecules on antigenpresenting cells are also necessary for $CD4^+$ T cell activation. Co-stimulatory signals mainly include B7 family proteins, such as B7·1 (CD80) or B7·2 (CD86) interacting with CD28 on T cells, and members of the tumour necrosis factor receptor family such as CD40. The most common APCs include B cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells.

The role of B cells as APCs in the nasal mucosa is not as clear as their role in antibody production. It is thought that transmembrane immunoglobulin allows B cells to bind to antigen and selectively present this antigen to T cells[97]. It is possible that, although not part of the primary immune response, B cells in tissues promote secondary exposure to allergens and induce T cells to produce Th2 cytokines. *In vitro* stimulation of B cells with antigen can induce them to stimulate Th2 cell IL-4 synthesis[98]. In addition, B cells stimulated with IL-4 and CD40L can be induced to produce IL-13 and IgE, potentially promoting Th2 inflammation[99].

Macrophages take up antigen by phagocytosis which can be non-specific or antibody-mediated through antibody receptors. Macrophages also express MHC II following activation. They are seen as scavenger cells that phagocytose antigen and are involved in clearance of small extracellular pathogens. In some circumstances, they can suppress adaptive immune response through mediators, such as IL-10, which can inhibit Th cell and dendritic cell function[100, 101]. In addition, macrophages promote cellmediated responses by inducing Th1 cell production of IFN- γ [102, 103]. Thus, their role in allergic disease is unclear.

A clearer role can be seen for dendritic cells as they are the only cells capable of inducing a primary humoral or cell-mediated immune response[104-106]. High numbers of dendritic cells can be found in the epithelial surfaces of the upper airways[107]. Most dendritic cells in the periphery are functionally immature and cannot present antigen to T

cells efficiently. They can however present antigen to activated T cells for secondary immune responses; therefore, immature dendritic cells in the periphery may be involved in T cell memory responses. After taking up antigen in the periphery, immature dendritic cells migrate via the lymphatic system to lymphoid tissue. In the lymphoid tissue, dendritic cells change their phenotype and start expressing B7 family receptors, increasing their ability to activate T cells[108]. Dendritic cells express many PRRs and are highly responsive to PAMPs. When dendritic cells are exposed to antigen without PAMP stimulation or low level stimulation, they can promote Th2 cell differentiation, while in the presence of PAMPs, they can induce Th1 cell differentiation[109]. After allergen sensitization, dendritic cell numbers increase in the airways[110, 111]. These cells are mature and may be important in interacting with primed T cells to induce them to produce Th2 cytokines in the presence of allergen, or for migrating to lymphoid tissue to promote greater lymphocyte reactions. In human blood, two types of dendritic cells exist, the myeloid dendritic cells(mDCs) that are derived from monocytes and the plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) that develop from lymphoid origins[112, 113]. In humans, mDCs produce a large amount of IL-12 and preferentially induce Th1 development, while pDCs produce lower amounts of IL-12 and preferentially induce Th2 development[112, 114]. In mice, the opposite is seen where mDCs produce low IL-12 and induce Th2 differentiation and pDCs produce high IL-12 and induce Th1 differentiation[113, 115]. This may show a difference that exists between humans and mice or that the different dendritic cell lineages are not restricted in the Th phenotype that they induce and have multiple functions; pDCs have been shown to play an important role in tolerance to harmless antigen[116] and production of Type I IFNs after exposure

to viruses[117]. Stimulation of pDCs with PAMPs, such as CpG oligonucleotides, can also induce the generation of $CD4^+CD25^+$ T regulatory cells[118]. In allergic diseases, dendritic cells may play a prominent role in both inducing primary and secondary recall responses to allergens through activation of T cells by antigen presentation.

1.7.4 Mast Cells

Mast cells are one of the major inflammatory cells present in the nasal mucosa [44, 119]. They originate from stem cells in the bone marrow. Mast cell precursors migrate from the bone marrow and localize to their site of action in various tissues. Mast cells in tissues are of two major types depending on the serine proteases they produce. Tissue mast cells can produce either tryptase, chymase, carboxylpeptidase and cathepsin G (MC_{TC}) or just tryptase (MC_T)[120, 121]. In the nasal mucosa, MC_T are found close to or within the epithelium, while MC_{TC} are found nearer to the nerves and blood vessels[122].

Mast cells express the high affinity IgE receptor FceRI at their surface, which is a tetramer composed of an α chain, a β chain and two γ chains[123]. The constant region, the crystallisable fragment of IgE (Fce) can bind to this receptor, effectively priming the mast cell for allergen. Allergen can cross-link IgE-FceRI complexes bringing them into proximity of each other and initiating rapid signal transduction cascades in the cytoplasm of the mast cells[124]. Signal transduction cascades involve tyrosine phosphorylation, inositol phospholipid production, and entrance of calcium within the mast cells[124]. These lead to mast cell activation and rapid degranulation of granules of stored preformed inflammatory mediators. Preformed mediators include mainly histamine, serine proteases, IL-4[125] and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α)[126]. Histamine has immediate effects on surrounding cells to produce the immediate affects of an allergic

response[40]. IL-4 and TNF α promote cellular inflammation by activation of many cell types. At the same time, mast cell activation causes immediate production of the inflammatory lipid mediators prostaglandin D2 and leukotrienes C₄ (LTC₄). The lipid mediators can cause bronchoconstriction and enhance vascular permeability[121, 127]. Shortly after degranulation, mast cells also start producing other cytokines: granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), IL-5 and IL-13[128, 129], which promote the late phase of the allergic reactions by promoting eosinophil development and survival. Mast cells also express CD40L and may play a role in IgE isotype switching[130].

1.7.5 Basophils

Although basophils are granulocytes that express FceRI, Th2 cytokines and histamine, they are believed to be a separate lineage from mast cells[131]. Basophils develop in the bone marrow and represent less than 1% of peripheral blood leukocytes. Basophils produce many mediators, similar to mast cells, such as histamine, LTC₄, IL-4, and IL-13[132]. Conversely, PGD₂ and IL-5 are not produced by basophils[121]. Increased numbers of basophils are seen in the tissue following allergen exposure in the late phase of allergic reactions[132, 133]. Due to their low levels in the blood, it has been difficult to ascribe a physiologic function for the basophil, but they may promote late phase inflammation by Th2 cytokine production and may also promote IgE class switching by their expression of CD40L[130].

1.7.6 Eosinophils

Eosinophils possess granules that stain with acidic aniline dyes such as eosin. These cells are rarely found in the blood or nasal tissue in non-allergic subjects, but tissue eosinophilia is associated with allergic diseases and acute allergen exposure[122, 134]. Eosinophils develop and mature in the bone marrow from stem cells and are released to the peripheral blood as mature cells. These cells can also develop in the tissue from resident stem cells[43]. Eosinophils are characterized by their expression of cytotoxic granular proteins including major basic protein (MBP) and eosinophilic cationic protein (ECP). MBP is directly toxic to respiratory epithelial cells and causes bronchial hyperresponsiveness and bronchodilation[135-137]. Eosinophils also contain lipid bodies involved in lipid mediator production such as LTC_4 [138]. Eosinophils can produce a large number of cytokines including transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β)[139], GM-CSF[140], IL-4[141], IL-5[140], and TNF- α [142], although their contribution in cytokine production is much less than Th2 cells. They also express the FccRI[143] and CD40L[144] and can participate in IgE reactions.

1.7.7 Epithelial Cells and Goblet Cells

The epithelial cells of the nasal tissue form a barrier protecting the inner mucosa from the exterior environment. Allergic nasal mucosa is marked by areas of focal denudation, atrophy and squamous cell metaplasia, possibly as a result of inflammation and production of cytotoxic proteins such as MBP[135]. This condition is improved by local intranasal glucocorticoid treatment, suggesting that inflammation has a role in this pathology[145]. Loss of the integrity of the epithelial layer may promote exposure of the mucosa by allergen and promote further inflammation. Aside from its barrier functions, epithelial cells can also play a role in the inflammatory process by producing cytokines and chemokines to recruit and activate cells. Cytokines produced by epithelial cells can include IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-11, IL-13, IL-16, GM-CSF, and TGF- β [146]. Epithelial cells can

also produce many chemokines, such as eotaxin-1(CCL1)[147, 148], to recruit cells from the blood for inflammatory reactions in the tissue[146].

Goblet cells are unicellular mucous-producing cells found above the basement membrane interspersing the epithelial cells. Roughly 10000/mm² goblet cells can be found in normal nasal mucosa[149]. These cells produce the protective mucous layer over the epithelial cells which aids in pathogen and allergen clearance. It is not clear whether the numbers of goblet cells change during allergic rhinitis as reports in the literature are conflicting[150]. Increased numbers of goblet cells were reported in nasal smears from allergic patients during grass pollen season[151, 152], while in persistent rhinitis, goblet cell numbers did not change[153]. The mucin proteins, the glycoprotein component of mucous fluid, are inducible by Th2 cytokines[154-156] and are increased in airway allergic disease.

1.8 Major Th2 Cytokine Functions

Cytokines are a family of small glycosylated proteins, ranging from 8 kDa to 30 kDa that are involved in many aspects of allergic rhinitis. Cytokines act through specific cytokine receptors on the surface of target cells. Cytokines usually act on cells near the location where they were secreted or even on the cytokine producing cell, but they can also act at distant locations. Allergic rhinitis is believed to be driven by an imbalance between Th1(IFNγ, IL-2, IL-12) and Th2(IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-13) cytokines, with a predominant Th2 cytokine response[37, 157-159]. There may also be involved a loss or regulatory mechanisms such as loss of activity of T-regulatory cells[77, 78]. Current attempts at immunotherapy have as aim to reestablish the balance by increasing Th1 cytokines and immunosuppressive cytokines to counteract increased Th2 cytokines. The

following is a brief discussion of the roles of the major Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 and their involvement in allergic diseases.

1.8.1 Interleukin-4

IL-4 was discovered in 1986 as a factor capable of inducing B cell, T cell and mast cell proliferation [160]. IL-4 is present on chromosome 5 (5g31.1), the so-called Th2 cytokine gene cluster, alongside IL-3, IL-5, IL-9, IL-13 and GM-CSF [161, 162]. IL-4 is mainly produced by T cells, particularly Th2 cells, but is also produced by mast cells[125], basophils[132] and eosinophils[141]. IL-4 is essential in promoting the commitment of T helper cell precursors to produce the Th2 subset of cytokines and is important for the development of humoral mediated immunity[163-165]. IL-4 increases expression of MHC class II molecules on B cells resulting in increased allergen presentation capacity to Th2 cells[166]. On the vasculature, IL-4 promotes expression of VCAM-1 on endothelium, thereby allowing for recruitment of eosinophils and other inflammatory cells such as T cells, monocytes, and basophils from the blood into sites of inflammation[167]. IL-4 can regulate production of eotaxin, a potent eosinophil chemoattractant, by fibroblasts, endothelial and epithelial cells[168-170]. IL-4 also induces isotype switching, a process leading to the production of IgE by B cells, and after switching occurs, IL-4 potentiates IgE production. Furthermore, IL-4 enhances the IgEmediated response by upregulating IgE receptors on inflammatory cells within the airway such as mast cells[171, 172]. IL-4 can also stimulate mucus cell secretions and metaplasia[154].

IL-4 mediates its actions through the IL-4 receptor composed of two subunits, IL-4 receptor α -subunit (IL-4R α) and the IL-2 receptor common γ subunit(γ_c)[173, 174] (Diagram 1.5). The γ_c is also part of the IL-2, IL-7, IL-9 and IL-15 receptors. Binding of IL-4 to the receptor activates Janus kinases (Jaks) which phosphorylate tyrosine residues of the intracellular domain of the receptors. STAT6 is recruited to the receptor and is phosphorylated by the Jaks. STAT6 does so by binding to phorphorylated tyrosine residues through a specialized protein domain called Src-homology domain 2 (SH2). IL-4R α is associated with Jak1[175] and the γ_c is associated with Jak3 [175, 176] and both can phosphorylate STAT6. Phosphorylated STAT6 homodimerizes through SH2, migrates to the nucleus, binds to STAT6-response elements and once there it regulates transcription of many inflammatory genes[177]. Many genes activated by STAT6 are important for allergic inflammation, and STAT6 deficient animals have defective IL-4 responses[58].

1.8.2 Interleukin-13

IL-13 was first described in 1993, as a cytokine produced after activation of T cells[178]. The IL-13 gene is found only 12kbp from the IL-4 gene on chromosome 5q31.1 [179]. IL-13 has a 70% sequence homology with IL-4 and binds a heterodimer composed of the IL-4R α chain and an IL-13R α chain, either low affinity IL13R α_1 or high affinity IL13R α_2 [180, 181]. Due to the redundancy in IL-4R α binding, both IL-4 and IL-13 exhibit some degree of functional overlap. Similarly to IL-4, over-expression of IL-13 within the lungs results in IgE production, eotaxin, inflammation, mucus hypersecretion, eosinophilia and upregulation of VCAM-1[146, 182]. However, in animal models of antigen challenge, IL-13 can cause airway hyperreactivity to contractile agonists[156]. The expression of IL-13 is more widespread than IL-4[183], and it is suggested that IL-13 has effects on other processes such as fibrosis and airway



Diagram 1.5. The major pathway activated by IL-4 through the IL-4 receptor is the Jak-STAT pathway. The IL-4 receptor is composed of the IL-4 receptor α -chain (IL-4R α) and the IL-2 receptor γ common subunit (IL-2R γ c). IL-4R α is associated with Janus kinase 1 (Jak1) and IL-2R γ c is associated with Jak3. When activated, these phosphorylate tyrosine (Y) residues on IL-4R α . Phosphorylated tyrosines recruit STAT6 to the receptor and Jaks phosphorylate this protein. Phosphorylated STAT6 can homodimerize which leads to its activation, translocation to the nucleus and binding to DNA through special sequences. STAT6 can associate with CREB-binding protein (CBP) and nuclear receptor coactivator 1 (NCoA-1) to regulate transcription by chromatin remodeling and activation of RNA polymerase.

hyperreactivity. Like IL-4, IL-13 induces tyrosine phosphorylation cascades through its receptor. IL-13 activates JAK1 through IL-4R α chain, leading to activation of STAT6, but not JAK3 as the IL-13R α subunits do not associate with γ_c . IL-13R α_1 can associate with JAK2 and Tyk2 for its signal transduction[184]. IL-4 can also bind to the IL4R α -IL13R α_1 complex to mediate its effects[185]. Both IL-4 and IL-13 can activate insulin receptor substrate-phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase pathways for cell survival and proliferation through this receptor[186]. The IL-13R α_2 , has a short intracellular region that is thought to downregulate the actions of IL-13 by acting as a decoy receptor[187]. IL-13R α_2 has also been shown to inhibit IL-4 activation of STAT6 by interaction of its cytoplasmic domain with the IL-4 receptor[188]. A recent report has shown that IL-13 R α_2 may indeed initiate signal transduction by binding IL-13, and its activation leads to production of TGF- β in macrophages[189].

1.8.3 Interleukin-5

Interleukin-5 was cloned as a factor causing the growth and differentiation of eosinophils [190-192]. IL-5 is the most important Th2 cytokine associated with eosinophils, and it can regulate most aspects of eosinophil behavior. Mice that are genetically engineered to express high levels of IL-5 have life-long eosinophilia in their lungs[193]. In addition, intravenous injections of antibodies blocking IL-5 can decrease asthmatic sputum eosinophilia[194]. IL-5 promotes survival by blocking eosinophil apoptosis[195]. IL-5 can also activate eosinophil secretion, cytotoxicity and chemotaxis[196]. IL-5 activates eosinophils to upregulate integrin receptor expression, which promotes adhesion to VCAM-expressing endothelial cells and eosinophil accumulation in the tissue[197, 198]. IL-5 is produced by T helper cells, cytotoxic T

lymphocytes and mast cells, but a major source of IL-5 is the eosinophils themselves [199].

The receptor for IL-5 interacts with a heterodimeric receptor composed of an α subunit and a β -subunit shared with GM-CSF and IL-3 receptors[200]. IL-5 signal transduction, like IL-4 and IL-13, involves tyrosine phosphorylation cascades involving JAK2 and STAT5a and STAT5b and activation of Lyn and Syk tyrosine kinases[201, 202].

1.9 Possible Reasons for Increasing Prevalence in Allergic Diseases

1.9.1 Genetic Predispositions

Although many processes and mediators of allergic inflammation and Type I hypersensitivity have been characterized, no clear explanation exists for the large increases seen in disease prevalence. In 1916, a study was published showing that 50% of patients with allergic rhinitis and asthma had a positive family history for these diseases [203]. Yet, such a rapid increase in the number of people with allergy over the past 50 years denotes changes in the environment or lifestyle and not a pure genetic cause. Nevertheless, the sensitivity to allergen and the severity of the allergic disease may depend on the genetic susceptibility of the individual. A number of genetic studies, using linkage analysis, fine mapping studies and gene expression studies have implicated a number of potential genes leading to a predisposition for atopy. Almost all genes involved in the development of the IgE-mediated inflammatory cascade have been linked with the development of atopy and asthma (for recent review see [204]). For example, the IL-4 gene cluster containing the IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 genes[205, 206] and the high affinity IgE receptor [207] are highly linked to the development of atopy. Genetic studies

have also become so sophisticated that genes are being linked to atopic disease before a clear role in disease is determined. Some examples of recent genes discovered include arginase[208], a disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain 33 (ADAM33)[209], PHD Finger Protein 11 (PHF11)[210, 211], dipeptidyl peptidase X (DPP10)[212], G protein-coupled receptor 154 (GPR154)[213] and defensin β 1 (DEFB1)[214]. What role and how great a role these and other genes play in the development of atopy is still undetermined but their study may show them as potential therapeutic targets and give a clearer understanding of how allergies develop. Many genes discovered in the genetic studies are associated with single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), which provide a greater or lesser susceptibility to disease. For example, SNPs found in STAT6 have been associated with allergic disease and asthma and an increased production of serum IgE[215-217].

1.9.2 Pollution

It has long been speculated that pollution plays a large role in the increased prevalence of atopic diseases. The Industrial Revolution began in England during the late 18th century and the beginning of the 19th century and was associated with the first massive chemical pollution in human history. Since then pollution has become a global problem and its increase may be associated with increasing atopic diseases. It is thought that chronic chemical damage to the epithelial barriers of the body could facilitate the entry and sensitization to allergens. Animal models have shown allergic sensitization can be increased by SO₂ and diesel exhaust[218, 219]. In humans, exposure of the nasal mucosa to diesel exhaust can also increase IgE levels[220, 221]. A strong association was also determined between allergic rhinitis to cedar pollen and locations close to heavy

traffic[222], but in other studies the same association was not seen[223]. NO₂ present in car exhaust was associated with an increased prevalence of asthma and allergic rhinitis[224]. In one study, ozone (O₃) was able to increase the sensitivity to allergen doses[225], but other studies were not able to reproduce this finding[226, 227]. Although pollution may exacerbate the effects of allergens, it is thought that it is not the underlying cause of the development of atopy. In addition, the variation of the results obtained between epidemiological reports suggests the need of large global longitudinal studies to study pollution and its link to allergic diseases[228].

1.9.3 Tobacco Smoke

Tobacco smoke is a complex mixture of various particles and organic compounds that have many harmful health effects. Parental, particularly maternal smoking is associated with an increased wheezing and asthma in children[229]. With respect to allergic sensitization, atopic smokers compared to non-smokers also have increased levels of IgE[230]. Mixed results have been obtained for passive smoke exposure to be a risk factor for sensitization of children to indoor allergens, with some studies showing a link and others not[229, 231, 232]. Maternal smoking during pregnancy has been shown to be a risk factor for sensitization and wheezing during childhood [233, 234], but other studies have not found this association[235]. It is difficult to discern how great a factor tobacco smoke plays in allergic disease and more studies are required.

1.9.4 Obesity

Obesity may also be a risk factor for atopy but discrepancies are seen in the epidemiological reports. In a European study, men and women with a high BMI (>30) had a higher incidence of wheeze and shortness of breath compared to subjects with a

lower BMI (20-25)[236]. BMI was not associated with allergic rhinitis, total IgE or specific IgE in this study. In children, no association is seen between BMI and atopy, regardless of sex[237]. In a recently conducted study using male conscripts in Sweden, asthma was shown to be associated with a high BMI, but allergic rhinitis was not[238]. Contrary to the European studies, in a longitudinal study conducted in New Zealand, BMI was positively associated with atopy and IgE levels in women but no association was seen in men[239]. Supporting evidence shows that obese women with atopy versus atopic non-obese women have three times higher total and specific IgE levels[240].

1.9.5 Family Size and Day Care

There is much evidence demonstrating that family size has a role to play in decreasing atopy. The number of older and younger siblings is inversely related to the occurrence of atopic diseases and specific IgE in children, adolescents and adults[241-244]. This relationship is strongest for atopic eczema[245] and hay fever[246, 247], but weaker for protection from asthma[246, 248, 249]. Reasons for this difference either lie in the definition of asthma used for the studies or that the development of some forms of asthma may be different from other atopic diseases[250, 251]. In addition to increased number of siblings, young children who are exposed to day cares also have reduced atopic diseases[252, 253].

1.9.6 Hygiene Hypothesis

Many epidemiological studies have found a strong inverse relationship between infections in early life and the subsequent development of atopic diseases[250]. One of the first studies that linked the two was conducted in 1976, looking at serum IgE levels, in white population and Métis Indians from Saskatchewan in Canada[254]. Gerrard et al. found that the prevalence of asthma and eczema was significantly higher in the white population compared to the Métis population; in contrast, a higher prevalence of helminth infestations and untreated viral and bacterial infections were seen in the Métis population compared to the white population. Soon after, in another study, Anderson reported that in Papua New Guinea, respiratory infections in children occurred more frequently where asthma prevalence was low[255]. The hygiene hypothesis also follows from the sibling and daycare effect mentioned earlier. Increased contact between children promotes childhood infections, and this would be protective against atopy. These pioneering studies and the numerous others that followed led to what is known as the hygiene hypothesis, first proposed in 1989[247]. It postulates that in the absence of common environmental immunological challenges, an infant's immune system may not develop properly, leading to unregulated responses to allergens. More recent studies have directly correlated the level of sanitations with the incidence of allergic diseases[256]. Additionally, prevention or cure of certain infections has shown to increase the risk of allergic diseases. For example, a pneumococci vaccination program in South Africa led to an increased incidence of atopy[257].

1.10 Animal Model Support for the Hygiene Hypothesis

Largely due to recently accumulating immunological evidence to support the epidemiological studies, the hygiene hypothesis is slowly becoming the most plausible hypothesis to explain the temporal and regional differences in the prevalence of atopic diseases. A number of animal models of infection and antigen sensitization have been created to test the hygiene hypothesis. In studies using mice infected with attenuated *Mycobacterium bovis*, also known as the Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) used for

vaccination against tuberculosis, a suppression of allergen-induced airway eosinophilia by 60-70% with a decrease in IL-5 production by T cells and decreased airway reactivity was observed[258, 259]. Peritoneal injections of mice with heat-killed lactobaccilus reduced IgE production in mice fed allergen with an increase in IL-12 production[260].

1.11 Mechanisms of the Hygiene Hypothesis

Two main mechanisms have been proposed to form the immunological basis of the hygiene hypothesis[261]. The first mechanism is based on the competition of antiinfectious immune responses with allergen immune responses. As the burden of infectious material is less, antigen-presenting cells are more likely to present allergen to T cells. Allergen specific T cells would increase due to activation and proliferation, and these would compete with other T cells for homeostatic factors.

The second mechanism is based on loss of suppressor mechanisms that would prevent or control allergic inflammation [261, 262] (Diagram 1.6). Exposure to bacterial products may promote development of Th1 cytokine production and responses, which would prevent overactive Th2 immune responses. Some of the regulation could also be mediated by CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T regulatory cells, a population of cells which could be increased by exposure to infections to maintain homeostasis. CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T cells are present in both allergic rhinitis patients and non-allergic individuals, and are capable of suppressing both Th1 and Th2 cytokine production[78, 263]. However, *in vitro* experiments have shown that while CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T cells from non-atopic individuals retain suppressive ability, this is reduced in atopic CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T cells, particularly during the pollen season[77, 262]. Similarly, during birch-pollen season, CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T cells from allergic patients are defective at down-regulating IL-13 and IL-5 production,



Diagram 1.6. The hygiene hypothesis proposes that exposure to infections and pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) helps the proper development of regulatory mechanisms, such as Th1 cytokines and T-regulatory cytokines, against the development of allergic disease. Without this regulation, Th2 cytokines are produced which cause the development of IgE sensitization and promote allergic inflammation by activation and priming of effector cells.

while still retaining their ability to inhibit IFN- γ production[78]. The mechanism by which the activity of CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T cells is differentially regulated in atopic and non-atopic individuals remains to be determined.

1.12 Lipopolysaccharide

The hygiene hypothesis has been extended not only to include to bacterial and viral infections but also exposure to bacterial components, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS); numerous epidemiological and animal model studies haves shown that LPS can be protective against the development of atopic diseases. The work of this thesis focuses largely on the actions of LPS in atopic disease. This PAMP is a potent inducer of inflammatory reactions and may play a role in inhibiting the development of atopic disease. The following is a summary of the studies performed on LPS and its effects in the airways, its involvement in sepsis, its structure and its receptor.

1.12.1 Airway Exposure to LPS

Several epidemiological studies have shown that LPS can be protective against the development of allergic diseases. The first direct *in vivo* evidence that LPS exposure from the domestic environment protected against allergen sensitization was reported by Gereda et al[264]. In a pool of children aged between 9 and 24 months, concentrations of house-dust endotoxin and allergen were measured. A significant amount of LPS was found in common house dust, and these levels did not vary much throughout the year [264]. Allergen sensitization was measured by skin-prick testing. It was found that sensitized children lived in homes with significantly lower concentrations of endotoxin, compared to non-sensitized infants. Additionally, IFN- γ positive CD4⁺ T cell numbers were positively correlated with house-dust endotoxin concentrations, suggesting that indoor endotoxin exposure enhanced Th1 immunity and may protect from allergen sensitization. In a second study, children aged between 5 to 10 year olds were recruited and living-room floor dust was analyzed for endotoxin[265]. Allergen-specific IgE levels were quantified in this study, and it was determined that sensitization to allergen was negatively correlated to endotoxin levels. In addition, higher levels of endotoxin were associated with less severe sensitization to one antigen and were protective against sensitization to more than one allergen. Increased endotoxin levels in house dust reduced the risk of atopic eczema, but the risk of respiratory infections and bronchitis was increased[266]. Results from the first two studies were confirmed by Braun-Fahrlander et al. in a study involving children aged 6 to 13 years of age[267]. High endotoxin levels, in mattresses, were once again correlated with decreased occurrence of hay fever, atopic asthma and sensitization to allergens. Interestingly, peripheral blood leukocytes isolated from the children from low endotoxin households produced more TNF-a, IFN-y, IL-10 and IL-12 compared to children from high endotoxin households after stimulation with LPS or Staphylococcal Enterotoxin B. The authors speculated that exposure to high levels of endotoxin resulted in a generalized tolerance to immunological stimulus.

Although endotoxin seems to be protective for the development against atopic diseases in children, it may be a risk factor for occupational asthma in adults[268]. Occupational asthma is thought to be caused by abnormal agents in the workplace such as dusts, chemicals, fumes or vapours and is not necessarily IgE-mediated. In addition to household dust, LPS can be found in high concentrations in air pollution[269], organic dusts [270], and even cigarette smoke[271]. Concentrations of endotoxin in the air are strongly associated with acute decreased airflow in cotton workers[272] and swine

farmers[273]. Endotoxin and grain dust can even cause airflow obstruction in previously unexposed individuals[274-276] and increased neutrophil levels in the airways[277]. Additional reports have also shown that endotoxin levels in households may be related to clinical severity of asthma[275, 278, 279].

In experimental settings, when human subjects are exposed to pure endotoxin by inhalation, they experienced acute clinical effects such as fever, shivering, joint pain, malaise, increased blood and airway neutrophil levels, dry cough, dyspnea, reversible bronchial obstruction and a impairment in lung function and forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁)[268, 275, 280, 281]. Considerable variability is seen in the magnitude of these symptoms in reported responses to LPS challenges. In one study of 77 naïve subjects exposed to endotoxin, only half the subjects reported fever, about a third felt chest tightness, and exposure caused only a small dose-related decrease in FEV1 and a slight increase in bronchial hyperresponsiveness [276]. In another study, normal subjects had no brochial hyperresponsiveness upon LPS challenge[282]. Subjects with asthma also seem to respond more than patients without asthma[282-284]. Kline and colleagues recruited 72 healthy, non-allergic, and non-smoking subjects, aged 18 to 50 years of age to study variable responses to LPS[269]. Based on the FEV₁ following inhalation of increasing doses of LPS and in vitro production of IL-6 and IL-8 from peripheral blood monocytes and alveolar macrophages, three phenotypes were determined: sensitive, intermediate and hyporesponsive. This variability observed may depend on genetics of the individuals but also other extrinsic factors. From the different epidemiological studies, it seems that endotoxin may be protective against allergen sensitization in early

life and the development of atopy, but it may be detrimental, can cause non-allergic asthma for some patients and may exacerbate already established asthma.

Animal models and *in vitro* experiments have been performed to try and replicate the results of epidemiological studies. In a study by Tulic et al., airborne exposure of endotoxin to 8-10 week old rats one day before intraperitoneal OVA exposure or 4 days after the OVA exposure protected against the development of ovalbumin specific IgE[285]. When LPS exposure to the rats occurred 6 to 10 days after sensitization with OVA, OVA challenge caused a greater lung cellular influx and increased vascular leakage compared to rats not exposed to LPS but sensitized to OVA. In this model, LPS could also reduce bronchial hyperresponsiveness to methacholine challenges and eosinophilia caused by OVA. In a mouse model of allergic asthma, LPS administration suppresses IgE-mediated and mast cell-dependent allergen responses, pulmonary inflammation, airway eosinophilia, mucus production and airway hyperresponsiveness [286]. The effects of LPS seemed to be independent of IL-12, IFN- γ but did require the presence of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS). In addition to a role for nitric oxide in diminishing airway hypereactivity, IL-10 may play a role in diminishing airway inflammatory events in these models[287]. In another study, cockroach antigen sensitized mice were administered different doses of LPS before antigen challenge[288]. In this model, airway hyperresponsiveness and eosinophil levels and Th2 cytokines levels in the lungs decreased and neutrophils and Th1 cytokine levels increased. In contrast to these studies, Wan and colleagues showed that mice exposed to airborne endotoxin before ovalbumin sensitization and 5 days during ovalbumin sensitization had enhanced IgE expression and increased eosinophils in bronchoalveolar lavages (BALs) [289]. Low doses of LPS have also been shown to promote Th2 responses to allergen while high doses of LPS promote Th1 responses[290]. When low doses of endotoxin were given to sensitized mice during challenge, IL-5 expression and eosinophilia were promoted[291]. In addition, it has been proposed that endotoxin in low doses is necessary for the development of optimal Th2 responses to an allergen in mice[290, 292]. Taking all these studies together, it can be seen that the effect of LPS on allergic responses can vary depending on dose and timing with respect to sensitization.

In animal models, exposure to LPS before allergen sensitization is protective, suggesting the evolution of anti-inflammatory mechanisms in early life. To investigate this phenomenon in humans, Tulic and colleagues used a human *ex vivo* tissue culture model to determine the responses of non-atopic children(aged 3.6 ± 0.7 years old) to LPS[293]. Tissue was resected from the inferior turbinate of the nasal passages and incubated with different doses of LPS for 24 hours. In this model, as the tissue is incubated outside the body, systemic infiltrates are eliminated as responses to challenges are solely derived from tissue constituents. LPS caused a large increase in macrophages, mast cells, elastase positive cells and surprisingly large increases in T cells. The increase in T cells was due to proliferation and was LPS dose dependent. Numbers of IL-2, IFN- γ and IL-12 mRNA positive cells were also increased within the tissue. In addition, many of the proliferating T cells were determined to be CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells, and IL-10 mRNA positive cells were increased within the tissue after LPS stimulation. It is possible that non-atopic children have LPS sensitive CD4⁺CD25⁺ T regulatory cells that produce IL-10 upon endotoxin exposure. These naturally occuring cells could be able to provide anti-

inflammatory signals to protect against the development of Th2 inflammation in the tissue.

1.12.2 LPS and Sepsis

LPS can have strong widespread effects when present in the vasculature. It is one of the agents capable of causing the signs and symptoms of sepsis. Systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) is defined as a response with two or more of the following: increased or decreased temperature, increased or decreased leucocyte count, tachycardia, and rapid breathing[294-296]. Sepsis is defined as SIRS combined with a documented infection.

Infections that cause sepsis include Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria, fungi, viruses and parasites. Usually the infections are contained locally by the immune system, but if this system fails, a systemic response to the infection occurs. Inflammatory responses and neuroendocrine responses lead to generalized inflammation, coagulation, dysfunction in the circulatory system, acute organ dysfunction, multiple organ dysfunction syndrome and eventually death. Severe sepsis is defined as sepsis with at least one sign of organ hypoperfusion or dysfunction, and septic shock is severe sepsis with refractory arterial hypotension[296].

LPS causes effects on multiple cell types, but adoptive transfer experiments in mice have shown that cells that mediate the toxic effects of LPS during sepsis are of hematopoietic origin[297]. More specifically, macrophages seemed to be the primary cell type mediating these effects[298]. One of the major products produced by endotoxin-activated macrophages is TNF- α . Administration of high doses of TNF- α can cause many of the toxic effects of LPS including fever, vascular leakage, blood

65

coagulation, and widespread tissue injury[299, 300]. In addition to TNF- α , LPS can induce the production of many different proinflammatory cytokines including IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-12 and many lipid mediators[301, 302]. These cytokines can activate production of multiple proinflammatory factors such as nitric oxide and chemokines[303]. Additionally, LPS induced cytokine cascades can promote the production of Th1 cytokine production from T cells, to stimulate a cell-mediated immunity for clearance of the pathogen.

Many efforts have been made to determine agents capable of reducing the toxic effects of LPS. The anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10 can be induced by LPS, and can limit the activation caused by LPS and prevent toxicity[304, 305]. Some studies have been performed on other cytokines, particularly the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13. *In vitro*, IL-4 can inhibit LPS-induced human monocyte production of IL-1, TNF- α , IL-6, IL-10 and IL-12 [306-310]. *In vivo*, IL-4 has been extensively studied as an agent capable of preventing sepsis. One report showed that mice given recombinant IL-4 were capable of surviving lethal sepsis-causing doses of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*[311]. IL-13 is also protective against sepsis, and can reduce LPS-induced IL-6, IL-8, IL-1 β and TNF- α [178, 312, 313]. Although the mechanisms have not been determined, IL-4 and IL-13 activation of STAT6 may play a role, as STAT6 deficient mice have uncontrolled production of cytokine and chemokine production when given LPS[314]. Corticosteroids have also been shown to downregulate the LPS responses[315].

1.12.3 LPS Structure

Bacteria can be differentiated into two groups based on their ability to retaining the violet dye/iodine complex, in a procedure called the Gram stain[316]. Gram negative

bacteria have two cell membranes, an interior cell membrane composed of a phospholid bilayar and a secondary outer cell membrane. The outer cell membrane is composed of proteins and a lipid bilayer. The inner leaflet of the bilayer is composed of phospholipids but the outer membrane is mostly composed of LPS also known as endotoxin [317]. LPS contributes to the integrity of the outer membrane and protects the cell against bile salts and antibiotics[318].

In 1879, Louis Pasteur discovered that patients with sepsis had microbes in their blood [319]. Soon after, Richard Pfeiffer associated the term endotoxin as an agent responsible for causing the fever and shock in animals injected with heat-killed *Vibrio cholerae*[320]. By using chemical and biochemical analysis, it was concluded that endotoxin was a glucolipid complex[321]. Finally, in the 1960s and early 1970s the endotoxin component structures were determined, consisting of lipid A[322], the core sugars (R antigen) and the distal O-antigen polysaccharide (O antigen)[323](Diagram 1.7). Lipid A portion causes the actions of endotoxin[324], while the R- and O-antigens are immunogenic and cause the production of antibodies, useful for antibody-dependent phagocytosis. Most studies on the structure and production of LPS have been performed using *Escherichia coli*. *E. coli* lipid A consists of a disaccharide moiety attached to four branched fatty acids by ester linkages (Diagram 1.7)[325]. The core oligosaccharide attaches to one of the sugars in the disaccharide. Attached to the core is the O antigen, a large polymer consisting of repeating oligosaccharide subunits. The O polysaccharide maintains the hydrophilic nature of LPS molecule.

67



Diagram 1.7. LPS is composed of lipid A, a core region and an O-antigen. Lipid A is composed of a disaccharide of biphosphorylated glucosamine(GlcN). Fatty acids are linked to the disaccharide, two of which are branched. One the GlcNs of the disaccharide is linked to the core region. The inner core is a short chain 6-7 sugar residue oligosaccharides consisting of keto-deoxyoctulonate (Kdo) and heptulose (Hep). The outer core is composed of more sugars including glucose (Glu), galactose (Gal) and N-acetyl-glucosamine (GlcNac). The O antigen is a large polymer consisting of repeating oligosaccharide subunits made up of 3 to 5 sugars, usually Glu, GlcNac and and N-acetyl-galactosamine(GalNac). The O antigen can be highly branched with individual chains varying up to 40 subunits of sugars.

1.13 Toll-like Receptor Proteins

1.13.1 TLR4 Discovery

In 1965, the first steps to determine the identity of the LPS receptor were laid out. It was discovered that LPS functioned in an antigen-independent manner not requiring T cells or antigen presentation to mediate its effects [326, 327]. A spontaneous mutation occurred in the C3H strain of mice forming a substrain designated as C3H/HeJ. These mice are tolerant to LPS and have a strong susceptibility to infections[328, 329]. The mutation was identified to affect a single genetic locus called *Lps* [330, 331]. Another spontaneous mutation that caused hyporesponsiveness to LPS was discovered in another strain of mouse, the C57BL/10ScCr strain[332]. After crossing C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr strains, complementation, the acquisition of LPS sensitivity, was not observed, suggesting that LPS sensitivity in both mouse strains resided in the *Lps* locus.

Parallel research in fruit flies in the early 1980s leading up to the late 1990s gave headway into identification of the gene at the *Lps* locus. The Toll (meaning "great" in German) gene was discovered as part of a set of 12 genes that are involved in establishing dorsoventral polarity in embryogenesis of the fruit fly, *Drosophila melanogaster*[333-335]. Toll was later found to play an important role in innate immune reactions to bacteria and fungi[336-338]. *Drosophila* Toll cytoplasmic domain was found to have high homology with the interleukin-1 receptor[339]. By homology searching, the first mammalian Toll-like protein was cloned and designated as Toll/IL-1 receptor-like (TIL) and was thought to have developmental functions like in fruit flies[340]. In 1997, by comparing the sequence of Toll to a human expressed sequence tag (EST) database, Medzhitov et al., discovered and cloned a human Toll (hToll) analog [341]. The hToll

was also capable of activating nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) in a biochemical assay, but no ligand was discovered. Soon after in a similar process, Rock et al. compared fruit fly Toll to EST databases and determined 5 genes with sequences similar to Toll, that were designated Toll-like receptors (TLRs) 1 to 5[342]. In this screen TIL was found to be TLR1 and hToll was found to be TLR4.

The identity of the *Lps* locus was only cleared up in genetic studies of the late 1990s. Before then, a plasma protein was shown to bind to LPS and enhance the sensitivity of mononuclear cells to LPS[343-346]. LPS-binding protein (LBP) was produced constitutively by the liver and was inducible by LPS challenge. In 1990, another molecule essential for LPS sensing was discovered, called CD14[347]. CD14 could be associated with the plasma membrane of cells by a glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor, but it does not span the membrane and it was not clear how signal transduction could be triggered by LPS to the interior of the cells. In 1998-1999, through laborious genetic screening and physical mapping of the *Lps* locus in mice, the Tlr4 gene was discovered and was shown to be the LPS receptor[348-350].

1.13.2 TLR Family and Ligands

The TLR family is an ancient family of proteins with homologs in insects and even in plants[351]. Even if ligands have not been ascribed to them, TLRs play a role as PRRs in the innate immune systems leading to responses against pathogens (Table 1.1). Ten TLRs are present in humans, but mice have 13[352]. They can associate to form dimers, and thus can increase the number of potential ligands that they can bind to. Some TLRs, especially TLR2 and TLR4, have been shown to bind to several ligands. TLRs are expressed in both lymphoid and nonlymphoid tissues, and the pattern of expression varies with the cell type, tissue and species studied[353]. TLRs share several common features including an extracellular domain made up of multiple leucine-rich repeats (LRRs), a single membrane spanning domain and a highly conserved cytoplasmic signaling domain homologous to the IL-1R called a Toll/IL-1R (TIR) domain. The extracellular domain LRRs form a horseshoe-shaped solenoid with a broad hydrophobic surface for binding of ligands[354]. Due to a high conservation of the TIRs in the cytoplasmic domain, IL-1R and TLRs use common adaptor proteins for signal transduction cascades. Some TLRs can bind to endogenous ligands and it is thought that these can serve as danger signals to mobilize the immune system against tissue damage, but may also contribute to autoimmune diseases[355].
Toll-like receptor	Ligands and potential ligands	Reference	
TLR1 (with TLR2)	Tri-acyl lipopentides (bacteria)	[358]	
	Soluble factors (Neisseria meningitides)	[350]	
TLR2	Pentidoglycan (Gram-positive hacteria)	[360-362]	
TERZ	Lipoprotein/lipopentides (various nathogens)	[363-368]	
	Lipoteichoic acid (Gram-positive bacteria)	[362 369]	
	Lipotrehole della (Grani-positive dacteria)	[302, 309]	
	Modulin (Stanhylogoggus anidownidis)	[370]	
	Glycoinositelphospholinide (Tryppnosomes)	[37]	
	Glycolinida (Trenoverse)		
	Doring (Noisequie)		
	Forms (<i>Neisseria</i>)		
	Zymosan (lungi)		
	Lyso-phosphalidyiserine (Schistosoma)	[375]	
	Atypical LPS	[3/6, 3/7]	
	Heat snock proteins (endogenous)	[378, 379]	
	HMGB1(endogenous)	[380]	
ILK3	Double-stranded RNA (virus)		
T D (mRNA (endogenous)		
TLR4	Lipopolysaccharides, lipid A (Gram-negative bacteria)	[348, 350, 360, 383-387]	
	Taxol (plant)	[388-390]	
	Protein F (respiratory syncytial virus)	[391]	
	Aspergillus fumigatus hyphae	[392]	
	HSP60 (Chlamydia)	[393, 394]	
	Envelope proteins (viruses)	[395]	
	Heat shock proteins (endogenous)	[378, 379]	
	HMGB1 (endogenous)	[380]	
	Fibronectin extra domain A (endogenous)	[396]	
	Fibrinogen (endogenous)	[397]	
	Lung surfactant protein A (endogenous)	[398]	
	Minimally modified-low-density lipoprotein (endogenous)	[399]	
	Heparan sulfate (endogenous)	[400, 401]	
	Hyaluronan fragments (endogenous)	[402, 403]	
	Saturated fatty acids (endogenous)	[404]	
TLR5	Flagellin (bacteria)	[405, 406]	
TLR6 (with TLR2)	Di-acyl lipopeptides (mycoplasma)	[407, 408]	
	Peptidoglycan, zymosan	[409]	
TLR7	Single-stranded RNA (viral and synthetic)	[410, 411]	
	Imidazoquinolines (antiviral agents)	[412]	
	Guanine nucleoside analogs (antiviral agents)	[413]	
TLR8	Single-stranded RNA (viral)	[410]	
	Poly(G)-containing DNA oligonucleotides	[414]	
TLR9	CpG DNA (bacteria and Herpes simplex virus)	[415-417]	
	DNA (endogenous)	[418-421]	
TLR10	Unknown		
TLR11/12 (mice)	Uropathogenic Escherichia coli	[422]	
	Profilin-like molecules from protozoa	[423]	
TLR13 (mice)	Unknown		
LY 64 (RP105)	LPS	[424]	

Table: 1.1 Mammalian Toll-like receptors and their ligands: Table summarized from references [353, 355-357] with additional information.

1.13.3 TLR4 Expression and Signal Transduction

TLR4 is expressed on many different cell types including monocytes[425], macrophages[425], immature dendritic cells[426], myeloid dendritic cell [113], mast cells[427, 428], neutrophils[425] and eosinophils[429]. B cells express low levels of TLR4[430] but express another member of TLR family called RP105[424], which can recognize LPS, associate with TLR4 and transduce signals to the interior of the cells[431]. Low levels of TLR4 mRNA have been shown on T cells by PCR[432], but mouse CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells have been shown to express high levels of TLR4[433]. TLR4 is also expressed on structural cells including intestinal epithelial cells[434], pulmonary epithelial cells[435, 436], nasal epithelial cells[437], endothelial cells[438], vascular smooth muscle cells[439], airway smooth muscle cells[440] and fibroblasts[441]. Expression levels are variable on the different cell types with cells of the immune system expressing the highest levels. In some cells, such as intestinal epithelial cells, TLR4 is found mostly associated with the Golgi apparatus and expressed at almost undetectable levels on the cells surface in normal conditions[442, 443].

The LPS receptor complex is very sensitive, being able to recognize most types of lipid A molecules at picomolar concentrations[444]. TLR4 is physically associated with the protein MD-2 in its extracellular domain, and MD-2 is essential for binding of LPS and activation of TLR4[445-447]. MD-2 associates with TLR4 in the endoplasmic reticulum or the cis Golgi, and then the TLR4/MD-2 complex moves to the cell surface[448]. The current model of LPS cell activation involves either direct binding of LPS to CD14 on the surface of cells, binding of LPS to CD14[347, 449, 450]. CD14 (sCD14) or binding of LPS to LBP which transfers LPS to CD14[347, 449, 450]. CD14

also has many LRRs forming a horseshoe-like solenoid[451]. Membrane bound CD14 or sCD14 then associates with the TLR4/MD-2 complex on the surface of cells causing LPS to bind to TLR4 and activate signal transduction[452, 453].

Signal transduction involves association of proteins through domains, phosphorylation of proteins by kinases and protease degradation of inhibitors (Diagram 1.8)[356, 357]. TLR4, like other TLRs and the IL-1R possess a TIR domain. Upon binding of its ligand, TLR4 dimerizes and undergoes conformational changes that are transmitted to the interior of the cell membrane. Conformational changes cause the association of the TIR domain of TLR4 to the TIR domain of the adaptor protein myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88)[454-456]. The N-terminal portion of MyD88 possesses a death domain which can, when MyD88 is activated by TLR4, recruit the serine/threonine kinase IL-1R-associated kinase 4 (IRAK4) through its own death domain[454, 455]. IRAK4 phosphorylates and activates IRAK1[457]. IRAK1 can autophosphorylate residues in its N-terminus which enables association with another adaptor protein called TNF receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6)[458]. IRAK1 and TRAF6 disengage from the receptor and interact at the plasma membrane with a complex consisting of the serine/threonine kinase TGF- β -activated kinase 1(TAK1) and the two adaptor proteins TAK1- binding protein 1 (TAB1) and TAB2[459]. TAB2 links TAK1 to TRAF6 and TAB1 functions as an activator or TAK1[460, 461]. TRAF6 interaction with the TAK1 complex induces phosphorylation of TAB2 and TAK1 which then translocates with TRAF6 and TAB1 to the cytoplasm.

The main signal transduction pathways activated by LPS lead to activation of the transcription factor NF- κ B. The NF- κ B family consists of five members including



Diagram 1.8. TLR4 like other TLRs is a transmembrane receptor containing a leucine rich repeat domain in the extracellular portion that forms a horseshoe shaped solenoid. TLR4 is associated with MD-2. CD14 binds to LPS and transfers it to TLR4-MD-2 complex to initiate signal transduction events. TLR4 signal transduction involves two major pathways. The MyD88-dependent pathway requires the MyD88 adaptor protein, causes activation of kinases ultimately leading to phosphorylation of IkB and liberation of NF-kB to cause transcription of genes. The MyD88-independent pathway also leads to NF-kB activation but with slower kinetics and activation of IkF3 which transcribes genes such as IFN- β .

reticuloendotheliosis viral oncogene (REL), p65 (REL-A), REL-B, p50 and p52. These proteins homo and heterodimerize, and once active, they associate with NF- κ B binding sites in the genome to promote the transcription of genes. NF- κ B proteins are usually sequestered in the cytoplasm by association with members of the inhibitors of κ B (I κ B) family. I κ B releases NF- κ B when it is phosphorylated by the I κ B kinase (IKK) complex which is composed of IKK- α , IKK- β and IKK- γ proteins[462, 463]. When I κ B is phosphorylated, it is degraded by the 26S proteasome. In the TLR4 pathway, activated TAK1 phosphorylates IKK, ultimately leading in NF- κ B activation, translocation to the nucleus and transcriptional activation of LPS response genes. The TIR-domaincontaining adaptor protein (TIRAP) is an adaptor protein similar to MyD88 and plays an essential role in TLR4 signaling [464, 465]. The role which TIRAP plays in signal transduction is unclear, but it can associate with TLR4, with MyD88 and is thought to be involved in recruitment of MyD88 to TLR4[357, 464].

MyD88-deficient mice are unresponsive to IL-1 and microbial components that activate TLR2, TLR5, TLR7 and TLR9[356, 357, 466]. In these mice, some functions are still maintained in response to LPS, albeit at slower kinetics, showing the existence of a MyD88-independent pathway[467]. The MyD88-independent pathway can induce genes such as the IFN- β and IFN- γ -inducible 10KDa protein (IP-10 or CXCL10)[468] and cause the maturation of dendritic cells[469]. The LPS activation of the MyD88-independent pathway involves activation of IFN regulatory factor 3 (IRF3)[470]. IRF3 is activated by phosphorylation, which leads to its homodimerization and localization to the nucleus, and it is involved in transcription of IFN- β and IP-10. The TRAF-family-member associated activator-binding kinase 1 (TBK1), which are related to IKK, is

believed to cause the phosphorylation of IRF3 in TLR4 signal transduction[357, 471, 472]. Two other adaptors, TIR-domain-containing adaptor protein inducing IFN- β (TRIF)[473] and TRIF-related adaptor molecule (TRAM) [474] have TIR domains and participate in the MyD88-independent pathway, although the precise mechanism is unknown. TRAM can associate with TLR4 and may form a bridge to recruit TRIF [475]. The MyD88-independent pathway also involves activation of NF- κ B, but by slower kinetics than the MyD88-dependent pathway. This pathway also involves TRIF and involves physical association of the TRIF N-terminus to TRAF6[476, 477]. Recent evidence points to interaction of receptor-interacting protein 1 (RIP1) with TRIF to interact with TRAF6 and TAK1 to activate NF- κ B [478, 479].

1.13.4 TLR4 regulation

Infectious agents can affect TLR4 levels. *Mycobacterium avium* can decrease TLR4 mRNA expression in macrophages[480]. Respiratory syncytial virus can upregulate TLR4 and sensitize airway epithelial cells to endotoxin[481]. Hepatitis C virus can also induce mononuclear cell TLR4 expression[482]. In areas endemic for schistosomiasis, infected children were shown to have decreased responses to LPS[444]. In contrast, in an animal model, helminth infections were shown to upregulate TLR4 levels. LPS itself can lead to an internalization of the TLR4/MD-2 complex[484], but has no significant effect on the level of expression in human monocytes[485]. In contrast, LPS can induce upregulation of TLR4 mRNA expression in human vascular endothelial cells and airway smooth muscle cells [440, 486]. Other bacterial products, such as toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 (TSST-1) or staphylococcal endotoxin A (SEA) can upregulate both

TLR4 and MD-2 mRNA and surface expression[485]. It would seem that most infections can lead to an upregulation of TLR4.

Cytokines can also play a role in TLR4 regulation. IL-1 β and TNF- α can induce the expression of TLR4 mRNA in airway smooth muscle cells[440]. Colony stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1) can enhance LPS responsiveness of macrophages[487]. The Th1 cytokine IFN- γ can prime human monocytes and macrophages to respond to LPS by upregulating their levels of expression of TLR4[488]. It seems that Th2 cytokines and factors also have an effect on TLR4. As mentioned above, IL-4 and IL-13 can both inhibit LPS responsiveness and are protective against the development of sepsis (section 1.12.2). It has been shown that the Th2 cytokine IL-4 decreases surface expression of TLR4 on human peripheral blood monocytes[314, 489]. Protein expression was affected but the mechanism for this downregulation was not determined. The interleukin 1 receptor-like 1 (IL1RL1), is a receptor expressed by fibroblasts, mast cells and Th2 cells but not Th1 cells[490]. Triggering of IL1RL1 leads to downregulation of TLR4 in mice[491, 492], and in humans[493]. The ligand for IL1RL1 has recently been determined to be IL-33, which has a significant role to play in inducing Th2 cytokines[494, 495].

Few studies have been performed on the transcriptional regulators of TLR4. The promoter and transcription factor involved in basal transcription have been described by Rehli and colleagues[496]. Upstream of the promoter, an IFN response factor (IRF) binding site and an Ets binding site were found to be constitutively associated with PU.1 protein and IFN consensus sequence binding protein. These proteins are thought to drive basal transcription for TLR4 in myeloid cells. In another study, Ishida et al.

demonstrated that TLR4 can be downregulated by reactive oxygen species in hypoxic conditions[497]. This was caused by decreased translocation of the transcription factor activator protein 1 (AP-1) to the nucleus and binding to an AP-1 binding site upstream of the TLR4 promoter.

1.13.5 Association of TLR4 with Atopy

TLRs are part of the innate immune system and are passed on to progeny with little if no genetic change. Genetic studies have been conducted to determine whether specific single nucleotide polymorphisms in the TLR4 gene are associated with atopy. If polymorphisms are present in the gene, they may affect the expression of TLR4, the ability of TLR4 to recognize LPS or to initiate signal transduction events. Two polymorphisms, an A to G substitution at nucleotide 896 (Asp²⁹⁹ to Gly²⁹⁹) and a C to T substitution at nucleotide 1196 (Thr³⁹⁹ to Ile³⁹⁹) have been associated in causing reduced function of TLR4[498-500]. Although no association was seen with asthma and the Asp²⁹⁹ to Gly²⁹⁹ substitution, this polymorphisms have shown no link with atopic symptoms[502]. More studies need to be performed to better understand if there is a link between atopy and TLR4 polymorphisms, but these studies are difficult to perform due to the large part that environmental factors play in allergy development.

Lauener et al. have directly compared the expression of TLR4 mRNA between children from a farming environment versus children from a non-farming environment[503]. TLR2 and CD14 but not TLR4 levels were significantly higher in children raised on farms. However, in this study, children were not compared based on their level of atopy or levels of exposure to TLR ligands. In a recent study, levels of TLR4, have been compared between allergic and non-allergic mothers and the cord blood from their children[504]. It was found that maternal allergies were associated with significantly lower levels of TLR4 mRNA and protein surface expression in maternal blood and cord blood samples. No studies have been performed to compare TLR4 levels in allergic and non-allergic adults.

1.14 Rationale

Atopic diseases are associated with the production of Th2 cytokines and inflammatory cells, and are believed to be caused by a lack of stimulation in early life. According to the hygiene hypothesis, LPS can trigger maturation of the immune system, promoting Th1 immune responses and T regulatory immune responses to counterbalance the Th2 immune response. Previous studies have shown that LPS can cause the production of Th1 cytokines and inflammatory cell proliferation in the nasal mucosa of non-atopic children[293]. In addition, large amounts of T cells that expressed CD25 and IL-10 were present after stimulation of the nasal tissue of the children with LPS. Whether these factors or cells play a role in controlling allergen-induced responses in children needs to be determined. Children may have the plasticity to respond to LPS and to develop anti-inflammatory mechanisms during the development of allergic inflammation. Th2 cytokines and STAT6 can reduce LPS induced sepsis, and longstanding Th2 inflammation in atopic adults may reduce LPS responsiveness and its potential protective effects.

80

1.15 Hypothesis

Firstly, it is hypothesized that LPS could prevent allergen induced Th2 inflammation within the nasal mucosa of children with atopy and this Th2 regulation is provided either by induction of Th1 cytokines or IL-10(Diagram 1.9). In addition, the responses of children would be different from adults who are allergic. Secondly, it is hypothesized that Th2 cytokines, such as IL-4, have a role in modifying the responses to LPS through the downregulation of TLR4 via STAT6(Diagram 1.10).

1.16 Aims

1.16.1 General Aims:

The general aim of this thesis was to examine the local inflammatory events that occur in the nasal mucosa of children in the presence of allergen and LPS. This is followed by a comparison between atopic adults and atopic children. If a difference is observed, then an investigation into possible mechanism would be performed.

1.16.2 Specific aims:

The specific aims of this thesis were:

1. To assess the effects of LPS on *ex vivo* allergen challenge, using explanted nasal mucosal tissue, from atopic children, and then to measure the inflammatory cell numbers and mRNA for inflammatory cytokines. If Th1 cytokines or IL-10 are produced in the mucosa, the anti-inflammatory effects of these will be evaluated by incubating the tissue with neutralizing antibodies.

2. To compare the effects of LPS in adults and children, to determine whether adults with atopy have lost protective anti-inflammatory mechanisms present in children. To determine whether LPS can cause proliferation of CD3 positive T cells in the nasal

mucosa of children, to determine if these cells also express TLR4 and can produce IL-10, and to determine if a similar population exists in atopic and non-atopic adults.

3. If levels of TLR4 are different between adults and children, or between atopic and non-atopic adults, first to determine if IL-4 can affect the LPS response and the expression of TLR4. Second, if IL-4 can affect TLR4 levels, to determine whether associated transcription factors, such as STAT6 play a role in regulating the expression of TLR4. Finally, to determine if Th2 cytokines can affect the levels of TLR4 expression in monocytes and T cells from children.



Diagram 1.9. It is hypothesized that LPS can prevent allergen-induced Th2 cytokine production by inducing the production of IFN- γ , IL-10 and IL-12. This action would be by activation of TLR4 present on antigen presenting cells, but also directly on T-regulatory (Treg) cells in the nasal mucosa of children. These mechanisms may be absent in adults.



Diagram 1.10. It is hypothesized that IL-4 plays a role in modifying the response to LPS by downregulation of TLR4 via the activation of STAT6. This would affect many cell types including monocytes and T cells in children and adults.

<u>Chapter 2:</u> Materials and Methods

2.0 Summary of Experimental Design

To address the questions put forward in this thesis, two major studies were conducted. In the first study, human subjects were recruited, and immune responses in nasal biopsies from the subjects were investigated. Inflammatory responses were a result of ex vivo exposure of the nasal tissue to specific allergens and bacterial LPS. Inflammatory cell numbers and cytokine mRNA expression was measured. Tissue was also incubated with antibodies that block cytokine activity to determine how inflammatory responses are regulated. Inflammatory responses were compared between atopic and non-atopic individuals and between children and adults. Additionally, TLR4 expression in the tissue was measured and was localized to certain cell types in children. The experiments performed in the first studies include culture and stimulation of nasal explants, immunohistochemistry, hybridization and fluorescent in situ immunohistochemistry.

In the second study, TLR4 regulation was investigated. Firstly, an *in vitro* cell model was used to observe the effects of IL-4 on TLR4 transcription and protein expression. The experiments involved cell culture, real-time quantitative PCR (QPCR), flow cytometry and the luciferase assay. Secondly we investigated the mechanism by which IL-4 mediated these effects. These experiments involved real-time QPCR, protein overexpression, luciferase assays and chromatin immunoprecipitation. Finally, we wanted to determine whether comparable effects were seen in cells taken from the peripheral blood of children. In this last part, experiments involved density gradient centrifugation of cells, cell culture and flow cytometry. The experiments conducted in the

studies yielded enough data to allow us to answer the proposed hypothesises and to form a conclusion.

2.1 Nasal Mucosa Explant Model Experiments

2.1.1 Patient Characteristics

Twenty-two children and seventeen adults were recruited from the local hospitals. Fifteen atopic children $(3.2\pm0.4 \text{ years old})$ and seven non-atopic children $(3.8\pm0.7 \text{ years})$ old) of both sexes were recruited from the ear, nose, and throat clinic of the Montreal Children's Hospital (Montreal, Canada). Atopy was confirmed by skin-prick testing, where drops containing common allergens including housedust mite, grass pollen, ragweed extract, and cat and dog antigens were placed on the forearm of the subject and scratched into the skin using a pointed tool. A wheal and flare reaction was deemed positive if greater than 5mm in diameter. Non-atopic children had no history of asthma or other allergic diseases and had negative wheal and flare upon skin-prick testing. Ten adults with intermittent allergic rhinitis (40.4±5.3 years old) and seven nonatopic adults (35.2±6.8) were recruited from the Notre-Dame Hospital (Montreal) and the Jewish General Hospital (Montreal). Nasal mucosal tissue (approximately 5mm in diameter) was resected from the inferior turbinate of adults and children undergoing tonsillectomy, adenoidectomy, nasal septal surgery, or sinus surgery. All children and adults were asymptomatic at the time that the samples were taken; biopsies were also done outside of the ragweed season. Individuals were excluded if they had had any viral or bacterial infections during the month before surgery or were taking anti-inflammatory medication regularly. Informed consent was obtained from parents of children or from adult participants before the procedure. The study was approved by the ethics committees of the McGill University Health and Research Centre and the Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal.

2.1.2 Tissue Culture Media

Freshly prepared bicarbonate-buffered culture medium (BCM) was used for the transport, culture and challenge of the explanted mucosal tissue. This media was specially designed to culture resected biopsies of animal airways[505, 506] and human tissue[507]. Basic BCM is composed of minimal essential medium (MEM) powder, Earl's salts, L-glutamine and sodium bicarbonate in ultra-purified distilled water. 20mL/L of 50X MEM amino acid solution, 10mL/L of 100mM sodium pyruvate, 10mL/L of 100X MEM vitamin solution, 0.1µg/mL of bovine insulin, 0.1µg/mL vitamin A, 0.1µg/mL of hydrocortisone and 50µg/mL of gentamycin were added to the basic BCM solution. After mixing, the pH of the solution was adjusted to a pH of 7.25 (physiologic pH) and then was filter sterilized with a vacuum. Each biopsy sample was placed in bicarbonate-buffered culture medium immediately after excision and transported to the Meakins-Christie Laboratories for culture. The time between removal of tissue and culture of nasal mucosa was less than 1 hour in all cases.

2.1.3 Nasal Explant Culture and Stimulation

Explanted biopsies were cut in evenly sized pieces and each piece was placed on a 30mm filtered-well insert (Millicell CM, Millipore Corp) with a 0.4µm pore diameter within a six-well culture plate containing 2mL of BCM. The filter-well insert allowed the tissue to be bathed in BCM but not to be immersed. As the nasal epithelium is normally in contact with atmospheric air, use of the filtered-well inserts more closely mimicked *in vivo* conditions. Each well contained either BCM, BCM with an allergen

specific for the individual patient's atopy, BCM with $0.1\mu g/mL$ of LPS from *Escherichia coli* serotype O26:B6 (Sigma-Aldrich) or BCM with allergen combined with LPS. The dose of LPS used was determined as the optimum dose for the nasal explant model in a previous report[293]. All tissue cultures were incubated at 37°C in a tissue and cell culture incubator in 5% CO₂ and 95% air for 24 hours.

Ten of the fifteen atopic children had a positive skin prick test for house dust mite allergen (*Dermatophagoides farinae*), two were positive to ragweed allergen (*Ambrosia artemisiifolia*) and two were positive for dog dander allergen and one to cat allergen. All atopic adults were sensitive to ragweed allergen. The amount of allergen used for stimulation was a concentration of 2000 protein nitrogen units (PNU)/mL for *D farinae*, 1000 PNU/mL for ragweed, and 10 PNU/mL for dog or cat allergen.

Depending on the method used for purification of LPS, significant levels of contaminants may be included, and these may have effects on other TLRs[508-510]. A purity of greater than 99.9% can be achieved by performing phenolchloroform-petroleum ether extraction followed by electrodialysis and conversion of the LPS into a uniform salt[511, 512]. A subset of biopsies from three atopic children and from three atopic adults was cultured with highly purified LPS from *E. coli* serotype R515 (Alexis Biochemicals). This preparation is a strong activator of TLR4 but has no effect on other TLRs, and was used to show that effects were mediated by TLR4 alone.

To examine the functional role of specific cytokines, in four experiments, samples of atopic mucosa from children were also incubated with neutralizing antibodies. Antibodies used were specific at blocking the effects of interleukin-12 ($0.9\mu g/mL$), interleukin-10 ($0.03\mu g/mL$), and IFN- γ ($0.06\mu g/mL$). The anti-IL-12 antibody was a

88

purified mouse IgG₁ monoclonal antibody from a mouse hybridoma and was specific for human IL-12 p35/p40 heterodimer (R&D Systems; clone 24910). The anti-IL-10 antibody was a purified mouse IgG_{2B} monoclonal antibody from a mouse hybridoma (R&D Systems; clone 23738). The anti-IFN- γ antibody was a purified mouse IgG_{2A} monoclonal antibody from a mouse hybridoma (R&D Systems; clone 25718). Concentrations for each antibody used were based on experiments performed by the manufacturer where the dose used could cause 50% neutralization in activity for each respective cytokine. Control antibodies for each blocking antibody were used, and these were matched by isotype and concentration.

2.1.4 Tissue Processing

For this part of the study, the tissue was processed for the examination of cellular protein expression and mRNA, using the techniques of immunohistochemistry (Section 2.1.13) and *in situ* hybridization(Section 2.1.7), respectively. Proliferation of cells within the tissue was measured using the 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU) incorporation assay (Section 2.1.16). Co-localization of different proteins was determined by using fluorescent immunohistochemistry (Section 2.1.15). Therefore, after culturing, the tissue was processed according to standard protocols established for the respective techniques.

2.1.5 Fixation

Fixation of the tissues was performed as previously described[513]. Fixation prior to freezing of the tissue has the advantage of maximally retaining the RNA within the tissue and preserving its morphology[514]. Freshly prepared 4% paraformaldehyde (PF) dissolved in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) has proven to be the best compromise for permeability of probes, preservation and maintainenance of cellular morphology. Before addition of PF, PBS is treated with 0.1% diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC) for at least 1 hour at 37°C to inactivate RNAses. The DEPC-PBS is autoclaved for at least 15 minutes to inactivate DEPC, converting it to carbon dioxide and ethanol. PF powder is dissolved to a concentration of 4% in PBS at a temperature between 55-66°C in a fume hood. The solution was not allowed to rise above 60°C, as this would reduce the activity of PF. Biopsies were placed in the 4% PF solution for two hours and then washed two times with PBS sucrose (15%) solution 1 hour and overnight in a final wash. The washes removed excess PF, preventing over-fixation, and removed excess water from the tissue. This prevents the tissue from cracking during the freezing process as water would expand as it freezes.

2.1.6 Blocking and Sectioning

Multiple embedding media exists for blocking tissue. For this study, optimal cutting temperature (OCT; Tissue-Tek) media was found suitable for *in situ* hybridization, immunohistochemistry and fluorescent immunohistochemistry. When blocking the nasal biopsy, care must be given in orientating the tissue so that sections of the block contain both the epithelial and submucosal layers. The fixed tissue is placed in a droplet of OCT on a small square of cardboard paper using forceps. The paper is then submerged in isopentane cooled with liquid nitrogen. The OCT immediately freezes over the biopsy.

For *in situ* hybridization, the biopsy blocks are sectioned using a cryostat at a thickness of 5 microns. The glass slides used to collect the section were coated with poly-L-lysine (PLL) solution before use. PLL gives the slides a positive charge causing the adherence of the tissue by ionic bonding[515]. After sectioning, the slides were incubated overnight at 37°C to dehydrate the tissue and maximize adherence. It is

important that the tissue be firmly adhered to the slide due to the rigorousness of the *in situ* hybridization protocol which consists of multiple washes and enzymatic treatments. After incubation, the slides were kept at -80°C to maximally preserve the RNA until use.

For immunohistochemistry and fluorescent immunohistochemistry, biopsy blocks were also cryostat sectioned at a thickness of 5 microns. Slides were immersed in a 60/40 acetone/methanol solution for no longer than 7 minutes to fix the tissue onto the slide. PLL coated slides were not required as immunohistochemistry does not have as many washes as *in situ* hybridization and does not require enzymatic treatment. Fixation in acetone/methanol dehydrates the tissue; therefore, overnight incubation was not necessary. Slides for immunohistochemistry were stored at -20°C to preserve proteins until use.

2.1.7 Hybridization Probe Constructions

In this thesis, antisense RNA probes that were radioactively labelled were prepared to measure the cytokine mRNAs. Probes were derived from cDNA libraries or reverse transcription-PCR (RT-PCR) from native mRNA. The probe DNA were cloned into different vectors, which were replicated in bacteria, extracted with the maxiprep protocols (Qiagen), linearized with different restriction enzymes and transcribed *in vitro*. Antisense probes were used to detect the cytokine mRNAs and sense probes, transcribed from the same plasmids, were used as negative controls for the hybridization. See table 2.1 for plasmid constructs and enzymes used to generate the sense and antisense probes.

Probe	Cloned fragment size	Vector	Restriction enzyme for antisense probe	Transcription enzyme for antisense probe	Restriction enzyme for sense probe	Transcription enzyme for sense probe	Source
IL-4	318	pGEM-T	Sph1	T7	EcoR1	Sp6	1
IL-5	570	pGEM-4	Xba1	Sp6	BamH1	T7	1
IL-10	880	pGEM-7	Sph1	Sp6	HindIII	T7	2
IL-13	1282	Bluescript	Not1	T7	BamH1	T3	3
IFN-γ	1213	pGEM-1	Xba1	T7	Smal	Sp6	4
IL-12p35	N/A	pGEM-3	Sph1	T7	HincII	Sp6	5

Table 2.1 Plasmid constructs and enzymes for in situ hybridization

¹ Glaxo Wellcome Biomedical Research, Geneva, Switzerland

² Cloned into pcDSRa from cDNA library and subcloned into pGEM-7 vector [516]

³ Cloned into pSE1 vector from cDNA library and subcloned into Bluescript vector (ref 177)

⁴ Cloned into pBR322 vector and subcloned into pGEM-1 [517]

⁵ Cloned into pGEM-3 [518]

For each linearization, plasmid was digested with the restriction enzyme and appropriate salt buffer. Plasmids were digested overnight at 37°C and DNA gel electrophoresis of a sample was performed to determine if the linearization was complete. After linearization, the template DNA was extracted using phenol chloroform, followed by precipitation with 4M sodium acetate solution and ice cold ethanol at -20°C overnight or for 2 hours at -80°C. The DNA was centrifuged and vacuum dried and resuspended in DEPC-treated RNase-free water.

2.1.8 In Vitro Transcription

 $1.0\mu g$ of linearized plasmid was added to $10\mu l$ of 5X transcription buffer (200mM Tris-HCl; pH 7.5, 20mM MgCl₂, 10mM spermidine, 5mM NaCl), 100mM DTT, 25U/mL of ribonuclease inhibitor (to reduce degradation of probe transcripts), nucleotide mixture (2.5 μ M of rATP, rCTP, rGTP), 25 mCu of ³⁵S-rUTP and 10 units of specific RNA polymerase (see Table 2.1). The mixture was incubated for 60 minutes in a 37°C water bath. RNase-free DNase was added after incubation to degrade the plasmid. The probe

was extracted from unincorporated nucleotides by addition of $10\mu g/mL$ of tRNA, $150\mu L$ of 4M NaCl and phenol-chloroform mixture. After centrifugation at 12,000g, the aqueous phase was removed and extracted with an equal volume of chloroform to remove any residual phenol. The aqueous phase was treated with $100\mu l$ of 7M ammonium acetate and $750\mu l$ of cold absolute ethanol and the probe was precipitated at $-20^{\circ}C$ overnight. The mixture was centrifuged, the supernatant was removed and was centrifuged and vacuum dried. The pellet was resuspended in DEPC-treated RNase-free water. Incorporation of ³⁵S into the riboprobe was assessed using a β -emission counter by placing $1\mu l$ of probe into 5mL of scintillation solution to determine the total counts per minutes (cpm). Probes used for *in situ* hyrbidization were always greater than $1.0X10^6$ cpm.

2.1.9 Pre-hybridization

It is important to prepare the tissue sections for *in situ* hybridization by permeabilizing the cell membranes to allow efficient probe entry and to remove proteins which could bind non-specifically to the probe[519, 520]. Cell surface proteins were removed and membranes permeabilized by immersing the slides for 5 minutes in 0.1M glycine/PBS and then 0.3% Triton-X-100/PBS solution. Intracellular proteins were degraded by applying a solution of 1µg/mL of proteinase K in 1M Tris-HCl (pH 8.0) and 0.5M EDTA and PBS for 20 minutes at 37°C. Further permeabilization and fixation of nucleic acids was performed by immersing the slides in 4% PF-PBS solution for 5 minutes. Non-specific binding was reduced by immersing the slides in 0.25% acetic anhydride and 0.1M triethanolamide for 10 minutes at 37°C followed by immersion in 0.1M N-ethylmalamide and 0.1M iodoacetamide for 20 minutes at 37°C.

stabilized by submersion in 50% deionizing formamide in 4X standard saline citrate (SSC) solution for 15 minutes at 37°C. An SSC (1X) solution is composed of 150mM sodium chloride and 15mM sodium citrate. Slides were finally dehydrated by immersion in increasing concentrations of ethanol (70%, 90%, and 100%) for 5 minutes each and were air dried for 2 hours.

2.1.10 Hybridization

Radiolabelled *in situ* hybridization was performed as previously described[519, 520]. Hybridization buffer (90% of total) was composed of 50% deionizing formamide, 20% Denhardt's solution (BSA, Ficoll, and polyvinyl-pyrolidone), 10% dextran sulphate, 0.5% sodium pyrophosphate, 0.5% SDS and 9% of 100mM DTT. To the hybridization buffer, 0.75×10^6 cpm/section of riboprobe diluted in 10mM DTT (10% of total) was added. Each slide was incubated with 15µL of the complete solution and covered with dimethyldichlorosilane-coated coverslips. Slides were hybridized overnight at 42°C in a humid chamber containing SSC solution. The humid chamber prevents evaporation of the hybridization/probe solution.

2.1.11 Post-hybridization

All washes were performed by immersion the slides in a dish containing wash solutions for 20 minutes in a 42°C water bath. Slides were dipped in 4X SSC to remove the coverslip from the slides. The slides were then washed by three immersions in 4X SSC. The higher temperature and high salt concentration helps remove non-specific binding of the probes to the sample. After the washes, 15µL of 20µg/mL of RNase A dissolved in 4M NaCl, 1M Tris and 0.5M EDTA was added. The RNase A degrades any single stranded RNA, which includes unbound probe and other RNA species, but not

double-stranded probe RNA complexes. After RNase A treatment, the sections were washed with decreasing concentrations of SSC (2X, 1X, 0.5X and 0.1X). After the washes, the slides were dehydrated by immersion in increasing concentrations of ethanol (70%, 90%, 100%) containing 0.3% acetic anhydride for 10 minutes each.

2.1.12 Autoradiography

To visualize cRNA probe binding to mRNA, the slides were dipped in liquid photographic emulsion in the dark and left to dry overnight in complete darkness. Exposure of the emulsion took place in light-proof sealed boxes at 4°C for 10-15 days. Slides were developed under a red light using Kodak D-19 (Eastman Kodak) developing solution for 3 minutes and a half with gentle agitation. The reaction was stopped by placing the slides in water. Fixation of the developing solution was performed by immersing the slides in Rapid Fixer solution for 5 minutes and then rinsing with water for 20 minutes. Using a razor blade, excess emulsion was scraped away. Slides were counterstained with haematoxylin, a blue coloured basic dye that combines with acidic substances such as nucleic acids. This creates a contrast for histological analysis by light microscopy. Slides were dehydrated using increasing concentrations of ethanol (70%, 90%, and 100%) and finally two five minute immersions in xylene. Coverslips were affixed to the slides by using entellan. The slides were then viewed by light microscopy and positive hybridization is observed as a cluster of small black silver grains over counterstained cells. A positive signal was viewed significant accumulation of silver grains over cells compared to the sense control.

2.1.13 Immunohistochemistry

To detect levels of specific inflammatory cells within the tissue, immunohistochemistry was performed on the frozen sections. Sections were hydrated in Tris buffered saline (TBS) and then incubated with a commercial serum-free universal blocking solution (DAKO) for 15 minutes at room temperature. This solution is a mixture of 0.25% casein in PBS, a stabilizing protein and 15mM sodium azide. Casein is a hydrophilic protein which can reduce non-specific binding of antibodies to the tissue, and eliminates the need to use serum for blocking[521, 522]. All antibodies used for immunohistochemistry were diluted in a commercially available antibody diluent (DAKO), composed of 50mM Tris-HCl, 0.1% Tween, 15mM sodium azide and stabilizing proteins that reduce background staining. This antibody diluent is compatible with both polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies.

Antibody	Supplier	Clone	Isotype	Species	Monoclonal/Polyclonal	Dilution
CD68	DAKO	EBM11	IgG1	mouse	Monoclonal	1/50
MBP	DAKO	BMK13	IgG1	mouse	Monoclonal	1/30
Elastase	DAKO	NP57	IgG1	mouse	Monoclonal	1/30
Tryptase	Cedarlane	AA1	IgG1	mouse	Monoclonal	1/250
CD3	DAKO	T3-4B5	IgG1	mouse	Monoclonal	1/100
CD25	DAKO	ACT-1	IgG1	mouse	Monoclonal	1/5
IL-5	DAKO	14611	IgG	mouse	Monoclonal	1/25
IL-12	Santa Cruz	24910	IgG1	mouse	Monoclonal	1/100
IL-10	DAKO	23738	IgG1	mouse	Monoclonal	1/100
IFN-g	R&D	25718	IgG2a	mouse	Monoclonal	1/50
IL-2	R&D		IgG	goat	Polyclonal	1/25
TLR4	Santa Cruz		IgG	rabbit	Polyclonal	1/10

 Table 2.2 Primaries antibodies for immunohistochemistry

The alkaline phosphatase anti-alkaline phosphatase (APAAP) immunohistochemistry technique was used for markers that were detected with primary antibodies derived from mice[523]. Primary antibody characteristics and concentrations

used are in Table 2.2. Sections were incubated with 45 to 60µL of the primary antibody solution and incubated in a humid chamber overnight at 4°C. The following day, slides were washed with two 5 minute washes in TBS. After the washes, 45 to 60µL of rabbit anti-mouse polyclonal IgG (DAKO, 1/10 in diluent) was added for 30 minutes at room temperature. The slides were washed twice again with TBS for 5 minutes. 45 to 60µL of a mixture of mouse monoclonal anti-alkaline phosphatase (DAKO, clone AP1B9) and calf intestinal alkaline phosphatase (DAKO, 1/60 in diluent) were added for 30 minutes at room temperature and washed twice with TBS. To visualize the APAAP complexes, slides were incubated for a maximum of 20 minutes with 0.5mg/mL of fast red chromagen (Sigma) dissolved in a 0.1M Tris solution (pH 8.2) of 0.5mM napthol AS-MX phosphate, 2% dimethylformamide, and 1mM levamisole. Alkaline phosphatase forms red precipitates over the APAAP complexes, which are visible by light microscopy. Slides were counterstained with haematoxylin, a mounting agent was added and coverslips were glued on to the slides using entellan.

IL-2 immunohistochemistry was performed by adding the primary antibody (Table 2.2) overnight at 4°C. The slides were washed and a secondary biotinylated rabbit anti-goat polyclonal antibody (DAKO) was added for 30 minutes at room temperature, and washed twice with TBS. Streptavidin-alkaline phosphatase (DAKO, diluted 1/200) was added to bind to the biotinylated secondary antibodies. After washes, the antibody complexes were stained using fast red similarly to the APAAP technique.

TLR4 immunohistochemistry was performed by adding the primary antibody (Table 2.2) overnight at 4°C. The slides were washed and a secondary biotinylated swine anti-rabbit polyclonal antibody (DAKO, diluted 1/300) was added for 30 minutes at room

temperature, and washed twice with TBS. Streptavidin-alkaline phosphatase (DAKO, diluted 1/200) was added to bind to the biotinylated secondary antibodies. After washes the antibody complexes were stained using fast red similarly to the APAAP technique.

After cover slipping, red positive cells were enumerated using light microscopy. The primary antibody was substituted with an isotype and species matched irrelevant antibody for the negative control of the immunohistochemistry.

2.1.14 Light Microscopy

For *in situ* hybridization and immunohistochemistry, positive cells were counted by two observers unaware of the experimental origin using a light microscope with 400X magnification and an eyepiece with a grid attachment. In either case, it is not possible to quantify the actual number of mRNA copies or protein molecules detected; thus, positive cells were counted, and this technique is referred to as point counting. In the airway epithelium and subepithelium, the number of positive cells was averaged from six to eight random, non-overlapping fields and expressed as the mean number of positive cells per field. Inter-observer variability was determined to be less than 10%.

2.1.15 Fluorescence Immunohistochemistry

Fluorescent immunohistochemistry was used to examine colocalization of different markers. Slides were incubated with serum-free universal blocking solution, washed and different combinations of antibodies were applied. To examine TLR4 positivity on T-cells, slides were incubated with R-phycoerythrin-labelled goat polyclonal anti-CD3 (Cedarlane, undiluted) for 30 minutes at room temperature, washed twice with TBS, and incubated with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labelled monoclonal mouse anti-TLR4 (Santa Cruz, clone HTA125, undiluted) for 30 minutes. A similar protocol

was used to examine whether TLR4 positive cells contained IL-10. For this stain instead of anti-CD3 antibody, R-phycoerythrin-labelled mouse monoclonal anti-IL-10 (Cedarlane, clone A5-4, diluted 1/25) antibody was used. The expression of cells positive for CD4 and CD25 was examined by using allophycocyanin labelled mouse monoclonal anti-CD4 (BD Pharmingen, clone L200, diluted 1/60) followed by incubation with FITC-labelled mouse monoclonal anti-CD25 (BD Pharmingen, clone M-A251, diluted 1/50). After addition of the antibodies the slides were washed and covered with PermaFluor (Shandon) mounting media and cover slipped before analysis using a fluorescent microscope (see Section 2.1.17).

2.1.16 BrdU Cell Proliferation Assay

Proliferation of cells in response to LPS within the tissue was studied using BrdU uptake technique[524, 525]. Cell proliferation was studied by addition of BrdU (Roche Diagnostics) to the BCM or BCM with 0.1µg/mL of liposaccharide, and the tissue was cultured for 24 hours. After incubation, tissue was fixed, blocked in OCT, and sectioned as described above. The tissue was incubated with FITC-labelled mouse BrdU specific antibodies (clone BMG 6H8; Roche Diagnostics) for 30 minutes at 37°C to determine cellular incorporation of BrdU. Slides were washed three times with PBS. Slides were covered with PermaFluor mounting medium, coverslipped and evaluated using a fluorescence microscope.

2.1.17 Fluorescence Microscopy

Slides stained for fluorescent immunohistochemistry or for BrdU cell proliferation assay were viewed at 660X magnification using a fluorescence microscope. Fluorescent dyes absorb light at high energy and a certain wavelength. Some of the energy is converted into heat, but some of the energy is released as a photon at a larger wavelength than the wavelength of the light absorbed. FITC produces green fluorescence, R-phycoerythrin produces red fluorescence and allophycocyanin produces deep red fluorescence. When the green and red fluorescence are overlapped with ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health), of co-localization of antibodies produces a yellow signal. Immunofluorescence for BrdU was semiquantified by use of ImageJ software and expressed in fluorescent cells per field.

2.1.18 Statistics

Analysis was performed using the statistical software package, Systat version 10 (Systat Software Inc.). Immunohistochemistry and *in situ* hybridization results were evaluated similarly. For each marker studied, such as cytokine mRNA or particular cell type, a two-way ANOVA model was performed with treatment (BCM, LPS, allergen and allergen plus LPS) as the factor of interest and with the participant evaluated as the blocking factor. This model shows if a difference exists between the different treatments among the participants. A post-hoc Dunnett's many-to-one test was used to compare the stimulation conditions to the baseline. This was to determine whether the control (BCM) was different from all the stimulations. If a difference was seen using the Dunnett's test, it was be determined where it lies by using a post-hoc Tukey's test. P values less than 0.05 were considered as being significant.

2.2 Cell Line Model Experiments

2.2.1 U-937 Cell Culture Media

Media for cell culture was based on Roswell Park Memorial Institute formulation 1640 (RPMI-1640) basic media used for the culture of peripheral blood leukocytes[526]. RPMI-1640 is bicarbonate-buffered, contains essential amino acids, salts, vitamins, and sugars for growth. RPMI-1640 with 2mM L-glutamine, 1.5g/L sodium bicarbonate was supplemented as per recommend by the ATCC for optimal growth of U-937 cells. The final solution contained 10% fetal calf serum, 10mM hydroxyethylpiperazine ethanesulfonic acid (HEPES) buffer, and 1.0mM sodium pyruvate. 10mL/L of 100X penicillin/streptomycin antibiotic solution was added to prevent bacterial growth during culture. The complete RPMI culture media was filter sterilized using a vacuum. U-937 cell cultures were maintained between $0.25X10^6$ cells/mL and $1.5X10^6$ cells/mL, and all experiments were conducted when the cells were in log phase of growth. Stimulations of the U-937 cells were performed first by seeding the cells into a 12 well plate with a density of $1X10^6$ cells/mL. U-937 cell culture and stimulations were performed in a 37°C incubator containing 5% CO₂ and 95% air.

2.2.2 Real-time QPCR

Real-time QPCR was performed to determine TLR4 mRNA expression under various conditions. All experiments used commercially available recombinant human IL-4 (R&D Systems). U-937 cells were seeded for stimulation and incubated with concentrations of IL-4 ranging from 0.1ng/mL to 50ng/mL for 12 hours and with 10ng/mL of IL-4 for time points ranging from 6 hours to 24 hours. After incubations, the cells were centrifuged and washed with 1mL of PBS. After the wash, total RNA was extracted from the cells using the RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen). Cells were incubated in a cell lysis solution containing β -mercaptoethanol and guanidium isothiocyanate. The cells were homogenized using the needle aspiration technique and RNA was extracted using silica membrane columns. RNA on the membrane was washed and eluted using RNase

free water. RNA samples were quantified using a spectrophotometer and only RNA samples with an A_{260}/A_{280} ratio greater than 1.9 were used.

1.0µg of RNA from each sample was used for oligo deoxythymidylate (oligo dT) mediated reverse transcription using the enzyme SuperScriptII reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). RNA was mixed with 1µL of 0.5µg/µL of oligo dT, 1µL of dNTP mix (10mM of dATP, dCTP, dTTP and dGTP) and water to a final volume of 12µL. This mixture was heated to 65°C for 5 minutes and quickly chilled on ice. The contents were centrifuged and 4µL of reverse transcription buffer (250mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.3; 375mM KCl; 15mM MgCl₂), 2µL of 0.1M DTT and 1µL of ribonuclease inhibitor (40units/µL) were added. This mixture was heated at 42°C for 2 minutes and 1µL (200units) of SuperScriptII RT was added. This final solution was incubated at 42°C for 50 minutes. The enzyme was inactivated by heating the solution for 15 minutes at 70°C. The cDNA could then be used as a template for PCR and was stored at -20°C until needed.

Real-time QPCR was performed using the LightCycler real-time system (version 1.2; Roche). This system consists of a thermal chamber that uses air to rapidly heat and cool the PCR samples. Samples are loaded in glass capillaries which have an optimal surface-to-volume ratio to ensure rapid equilibration between the air and the reaction components. The fluorescent dye Sybr Green I was used to quantify the PCR reactions in real-time. The excitation and emission maxima of Sybr Green I are 494 nm and 521 nm, respectively. The LightCycler system uses a blue light emitting diode, which emits light at 470 nm exciting the Sybr Green I and a fluorescence detector, which takes up light at 530nm. The LightCycler software records the data and calculates the threshold cycle (Ct) for each sample.

Commercially available PCR mixes have been developed for the LightCycler system. For this thesis, all experiments were performed using the QuantiTect Sybr Green PCR mix for a two-step RT-PCR (Qiagen). A two-step RT-PCR is performed by doing the reverse transcription reaction separate from the PCR. In a one-step reaction, the reverse transcription reaction and PCR are done in a single reaction tube. One-step reactions have less risk of contamination, but are less efficient reactions. The QuantiTect mix contains HotStarTaq DNA Polymerase, PCR buffer (Tris HCl, KCl, (NH₄)₂SO₄, and 5mM MgCl₂; pH 8.7), dNTPs, and Sybr Green I. For each reaction, 1µL of cDNA was added to 10µL of mix, 1µL of primers (20µM of each) and 8µL of nuclease-free distilled deionized water. HotStarTaq is a modified Taq DNA polymerase that is in its inactive state at room temperature. This prevents the formation of misprimed products and primer-dimers during reaction setup and the first denaturation step, leading to high PCR specificity and accurate quantification. The enzyme was activated by an incubation step of 15 minutes 95°C before the PCR.

Primer sequences for the TLR4 and for the house-keeping gene aminolevulinate delta-synthase 1 (ALAS1) are found in Table 2.3. ALAS1 is the first enzyme in the heme synthesis pathway, catalyzing the condensation of glycine with succinyl-CoA to form delta-aminolevulinic acid[527]. ALAS1 is expressed constitutively in all tissues of the body. The expression of ALAS1 did not vary significantly between samples of U-937 cDNA, validating its use as a house-keeping gene for normalization of expression of other genes. For both PCR reactions, identical conditions were used. After 15 minutes of incubation at 95°C, 35 cycles of amplification were performed. Each cycle consisted of 15 seconds at 94°C to denature the DNA, 30 seconds at 56°C to cause annealing of the

primers to the DNA, and 20 seconds at 72°C to allow extension of the primers by the polymerase. After extension, the LightCycler activated the blue LED and detected levels of Sybr Green I fluorescence.

DNA standards for the real-time QPCR assay were constructed by first performing a PCR using cDNA from the U-937, and running a DNA gel electrophoresis of the products. The bands were cut out with a razor and purified by using the OIAquick Gel Extraction kit (Qiagen). Extracted bands were incubated at 50°C to melt the agarose in a high salt solution containing guanidine thiocyanate. DNA was bound to the gel membrane, was washed and eluted in 10mM Tris-HCl. After purification, the PCR products were ligated into the plasmid pGEM-T (Promega) by TA-cloning using T4 DNA ligase. 3µL of PCR product was added to 5µL of ligation buffer (60mM Tris-HCl at pH 7.8, 20mM MgCl₂, 20mM DTT, 2mM ATP, and 10% polyethylene glycol), 1µL of the plasmid pGEM-T (50ng/µl), and 1µL of T4 DNA ligase (3 Weiss units/µl). The ligation took place overnight at 4°C. After the ligation, 5µL of the plasmid solution was mixed with 25µL of MAX Efficiency DH5a Competent cells (Invitrogen). The bacteria and plasmid were incubated on ice together for 30 minutes. The bacteria were heatshocked for 45 seconds in a 42°C water bath, and quickly put on ice again for 5 minutes. 200µL of SOC medium (0.5% yeast extract, 2.0% tryptone, 10mM NaCl, 2.5mM KCl, 10mM MgCl₂, and 10mM MgSO₄) was added and the bacteria were placed in a 37°C shaker incubator at 225rpm for an hour. The bacterial suspension was poured and spread onto a solid agar plate containing LB/ampicillin medium (0.5% yeast extract, 1.0% tryptone, 10mM NaCl, 100µg/mL ampicillin, and 1.5% agar). 30 minutes before plating the bacteria, 100µl of 100mM IPTG and 20µl of 50mg/mL X-Gal was spread over the

LB/ampicillin plate for blue and white selection. The bacteria were cultured overnight and white colonies were selected and placed in 3mLs of LB/ampicillin liquid broth overnight, in a 37°C shaker incubator at 300rpm. Purification of plasmid DNA was performed using the QIAprep Spin Miniprep kit (Qiagen). DNA was washed and eluted in 50µL of 10mM Tris HCl (pH 8.5). 2µL of the plasmid preparations were digested with restriction enzymes and fragments were analyzed by DNA gel electrophoresis to determine if the PCR products were cloned into pGEM-T. 50µL of the miniprep cultures containing positive clones was added to 150mL of LB/ampicillin liquid broth overnight, in a 37°C shaker incubator at 300rpm. Plasmid DNA was extracted using the HiSpeed Plasmid Maxi kit (Qiagen). Plasmid DNA was quantified with a spectrophotometer and copy numbers were calculated using the following formula:

(Amount in copies/ μ l) = (N_A) X (DNA sample concentration in g/ μ l) (Molecular weight in g/mole)

 N_A is Avogadro's number (6.022 × 10²³ copies/mole). The molecular weight of doublestranded DNA can be obtained by multiplying the number of base pairs of the DNA by the average molecular weight per base (660g/mole/bp). The plasmids were also sequenced by using high throughput terminal dideoxylnucleotide fluorescent capillary electrophoresis by the McGill University and Genome Québec Innovation Centre using T7 and Sp6 primers and enzymes. The standard curve was produced by making five different log dilutions (5X10⁶ copies of plasmid to 5X10² copies of plasmid) of purified pGEM-T plasmid with the cloned insert; 1µL of each dilution of plasmid DNA was added instead of cDNA to the Quantitect mix with the primers. Plasmid dilutions for the standard curve and a negative control, containing every reagent except DNA, were run alongside of each set of U-937 cDNA samples in the LightCycler system. Absolute quantification of both TLR4 and a house-keeping gene ALAS1 was performed by comparing the Ct values of the samples to the standard curve. The copy numbers of TLR4 were normalized with the copy numbers of the ALAS1.

PCR Target	Primer name	Sequence	Tm	Product size (bp)	Genome Position
TLR4	TLR4 Primer 1	CAACCAAGAACCTGGACCTG	60	151	Exon 2
	TLR4 Primer 2	GAGAGGTGGCTTAGGCTCTG	59	1	Exon 3
ALAS1	ALAS1 Primer 1	CCCATGAGTTTGGAGCAATC	60	156	Exon 9
	ALAS1 Primer 2	ACCCTCCAACAACAAACAAAG	60	1	Exon 10

 Table 2.3 Primer sequences for real-time QPCR

2.2.3 Flow Cytometry

Surface expression of TLR4 by U-937 cells was determined by using flow cytometry. After culturing the U-937 cells with and without IL-4 the cells were prepared for flow cytometry. Cells were washed by adding 1mL of staining buffer (PBS and 1% fetal calf serum), centrifuging for 5 minutes at 300g and removing the staining buffer. $1X10^{6}$ U-937 cells were used per staining condition. All antibodies used were diluted in staining buffer. Cell pellets were resuspended in 100µL of staining buffer containing $2.5\mu g/1X10^{6}$ cells of mouse IgG_{2A} monoclonal anti-human TLR4 antibody (BD Pharmingen; clone HTA125). The cells were incubated with the primary antibody at 4°C for 30 minutes. The cells were washed twice with staining buffer and the cell pellets were resuspended in 100µL of staining 0.25µg/1X10⁶ cells of goat polyclonal FITC-labelled anti-mouse IgG_{2A} antibodies (Santa Cruz). Again, cells were incubated at 4°C for 30 minutes. The cells were washed twice and resuspended in 600µL of staining buffer and were ready for flow cytometry analysis, using a FACSCalibur flow cytometry system and CellQuest Software (BD Biosciences). FITC emits green fluorescence and is detected by the fluorescent 1 (FL1) sensor of the FACSCalibur.

Relative TLR4 surface expression on the cells was determined using the mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) and substracting the MFI of the background. Negative controls for the experiment included cells that were not stained with any antibodies and cells that were incubated with the secondary antibody but not the first antibody.

2.2.4 NF-KB luciferase reporter assay

pNF-kB Luc (BD Biosciences) is a reporter plasmid containing four tandem copies of the NF-kB consensus sequence. Large amounts of endotoxin free purified preparations of pNF-kB Luc plasmid were made using EndoFree Plasmid Maxi kit (Qiagen). Endotoxin levels were assessed to be less than 0.125 EU/mL by the limulus amebocyte lysate (LAL) gel clot assay (Biowhittaker). U-937 cells were washed with sterile PBS and 1×10^6 cells were seeded into a 12 well culture plate. Each transfection mix was prepared by mixing 1.0µg of pNF-kB Luc and 0.03µg of Renilla luciferase control vector with serum-free and additive free RPMI-1640, for a total of 75µL. 6µL of Superfect transfection agent (Qiagen) was added and was mixed in by vortexing, and the tubes were centrifuged to collect everything at the bottom of the tube. Superfect transfection agent is a solution of polyamidoamine dendrimers which provides high transfection efficiencies in a broad number of cell lines. The transfection mix was incubated at 10 minutes at room temperature before addition of 200µL of cell growth medium, containing serum and antibiotics. This solution was pipetted up and down twice to mix and immediately added drop-wise onto the cells in the wells. The cells were incubated for 24 hours with the transfection mixture in a 37°C incubator.

After the transfections, the cells were stimulated with or without 10ng/mL of IL-4 for 24 hours, and then stimulated with 0.25µg/mL of LPS from *E.coli* 0111:B4 for 6
hours. The cells were collected from the 12 well plates and placed in microcentrifuge tubes, pelleted by centrifugation for 5 minutes at 300g, and washed twice with 1mL of PBS. 250µL of lysis buffer (Promega; 25mM Tris-phosphate pH 7.6, 2mM DTT, 2mM 1,2-diaminocyclohexane-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid, 10% glycerol, 1% Triton X-100) was added to the cell pellets and was mixed for 15 minutes on a rocking platform. Cells in this lysis solution are ready for the luciferase assay and can be stored at -20°C until use.

The luciferase assay was performed by using the Dual-luciferase reporter assay system (Promega) and a Lumat LB9507 luminometer (Berthold). Reagent formulations for the dual-luciferase reporter assay are proprietary and specially designed for this assay. For the assay 100µL of LARII solution is aliquoted into an optically clear polystyrene tube. 20µL of cell lysate is added to the LARII and mixed by pipetting 2 to 3 times. The tube was placed in the luminometer for a 10 second acquisition of light production by the firefly luciferase reaction. 100µL of Stop & Glo Reagent was then added and the tube was vortexed for 10 seconds to quench the firefly luciferase. The tube was placed again in the luminometer for a 10 second acquisition of light production by the *Renilla* luciferase. Relative light units (RLUs) were calculated by normalizing firefly luciferase activity against *Renilla* luciferase activity. Negative controls for the reaction included cells that contained no plasmids in the transfection mix and cells that were transfected but were not stimulated with IL-4 or LPS.

2.2.5 Luciferase Assay: TLR4 Upstream region

Transcriptional regulation of TLR4 by IL-4 was measured by a luciferase reporter assay. 4.3-kilobases of U-937 genomic DNA containing the promoter and the region upstream of the TLR4 gene was amplified using the TaqPlus Precision PCR System (Stratagene) similar to previously described method[496]. The TaqPlus Precision PCR System is composed of a specially optimized PCR buffer for long-range PCR reactions and a mixture of Pfu and Taq DNA polymerases, which catalyze highly efficient addition of nucleotides with extremely low error rates. A mixture was prepared of 10 μ L of 10X TaqPlus Precision buffer, 0.8 μ L of dNTPs (25mM of dATP, dCTP, dTTP and dGTP), 1 μ L of genomic DNA (250 ng/ μ l), 2.5 μ L of each primer (Table 2.4; 100 ng/ μ l) and 1 μ L of TaqPlus Precision polymerase mixture (5 U/ μ L). The mixture was vortexed to mix and centrifuged briefly to collect all drops to the bottom of the tube. The PCR mixture was overlayed with mineral oil to avoid evaporation and placed in a thermal cycler. The PCR tubes were heated at 94°C for 1 minute. 35 cycles were performed of the following steps: 94°C for 1 minute, 57°C for 1 minute and 72°C for 5 minutes. PCR products were separated by DNA gel electrophoresis and the appropriate band was excised and purified with the QIAquick Gel Extraction kit.

The TLR4 gene possesses a natural NcoI site and the 3' primer was designed to use this site for cloning. The 5' primer used for the PCR added an SstI at the 5' end of the PCR product for directional cloning in the luciferase reporter plasmid pGL3-Basic (Promega). Both pGL3 and PCR product were digested overnight with SstI and NcoI in water and One-Phor-All proprietary potassium acetate buffer (GE Healthcare). The digestion products were run on a DNA agarose gel and purified with QIAquick Gel Extraction kit. 3μ L of digested PCR product was mixed with 1μ L of digested pGL3, 4μ L of 5X ligase reaction buffer (250mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.6; 50mM MgCl₂; 5mM ATP; 5mM DTT; and 25% polyethylene glycol), 1μ L of T4 DNA ligase and 11μ L of distilled water. This solution was incubated overnight at 4°C. 5μ L of the ligation reaction was transformed into MAX Efficiency DH5 α Competent cells by heat shock (section 2.2.2). pGL3 has the ampicillin resistance gene, but it does not contain the β -galactosidase gene; therefore, bacteria transformed with the vector was grown on agar plates containing LB/ampicillin media, but a blue and white selection was not performed. Colonies that grew on the agar plate were cultured for plasmid minipreps (section 2.2.2). Restriction mapping was used to confirm that the DNA sequence cloned in the correct orientation. EndoFree maxipreps (Qiagen) was performed on positive cultures to prepare large amounts of endotoxin free purified plasmids. Endotoxin levels were assessed to be less than 0.125 EU/mL by the Limulus Amebocyte lysate gel clot assay. Samples were sequenced by the McGill University and Genome Québec Innovation Centre using primers used for the PCR and primers designed at 600 base pair intervals, to sequence the entire insert.

PCR Product	Primer name	Sequence	Product size (bp)	Restriction Enzyme
TLR4-N	TLR4-N	5'-CT <u>GAGCTC</u> CACATTCTGCAGTA	4371	SstI
	Primer 1	AACTTGGAGGC -3'		
	TLR4-N	5'-CACGCAGGAGAGGAAGG <u>CCA</u>		Ncol
	Primer 2	TGGCTG-3'		
TLR4-N2	TLR4-N2	5'-CT <u>GAGCTC</u> TATCAAGCGGTTT	3450	SstI
	Primer 1	CCTCTCC-3'		
	TLR4-N2	5'-CACGCAGGAGAGGAAGG <u>CCA</u>		Ncol
	Primer 2	<u>TGG</u> CTG-3'		
TLR4-N3	TLR4-N3	5'- CT <u>GAGCTC</u> CTAGGCCGTGGGA	3072	SstI
	Primer 1	TATGTTC -3'		
	TLR4-N3	5'- CACGCAGGAGAGGAAGG <u>CCA</u>		NcoI
	Primer 2	<u>TGG</u> CTG -3'		
STAT6	STAT6	5'-GG <u>GGTACC</u> CCGGCACGACGGGA	3324	Kpn1
	Primer 1	AG-3'		
	STAT6	5'-GTT <u>TCTAGA</u> AACCACATGTCA		Xbal
	Primer 2	G-3'		

 Table 2.4 Primer sequences for cloning

U-937 cells were seeded into 12 well plates and were transfected with 6μ L of Superfect, 1µg of TLR4-N plasmid and 0.03µg of *Renilla* control vector. The cells were transfected for 24 hours and stimulated for different time points with 10ng/mL of IL-4 before performing the luciferase assay. A Dual-luciferase reporter assay was performed similarly to the NF- κ B luciferase reporter assay (Section 2.2.4). Negative controls included cells transfected with TLR4-N plasmid but were not stimulated with IL-4, as well as untransfected cells.

2.2.6 Luciferase Assay: STAT6

The source of STAT6 was a pVL1393 baculovirus vector containing the full length human STAT6 (Dr James Ihle, Saint Jude Children's Research Hospital). The STAT6 insert in the vector was amplified using the TaqPlus Precision PCR System in a similar reaction as was used to amplify TLR4-N fragment (section 2.2.5). The primers used added KpnI and XbaI restriction endonuclease sites to the end of the PCR product (Table 2.4). The PCR product was purified from gel and digested overnight with KpnI and XbaI in water and One-Phor-All buffer. The plasmid pcDNA3.1/Hygro (+) (Invitrogen) was also cleaved with KpnI and XbaI. The resulting fragments were extracted from gel and ligated together using T4 DNA ligase (section 2.2.5). Ligated product was transformed into MAX Efficiency DH5a Competent cells and plasmids were extracted using EndoFree maxipreps. Plasmids were sequenced and endotoxin levels were below 0.125 EU/mL by the LAL gel clot assay. The pcDNA-STAT6 plasmid contains a start and stop codon as well as a Kozak sequence necessary for translation[528, 529]. The pcDNA-STAT6 plasmid contains a human cytomegalovirus immediate-early promoter/enhancer sequence that permits high-level expression of STAT6[530]. It also

contains a bovine growth hormone polyadenylation signal to promote increased transcription termination and polyadenylation of the mRNA[531]. There is also β -lactamase gene to select for bacteria that have been transformed with the plasmid.

The ability of the transfected pcDNA-STAT6 plasmid to cause overexpression of STAT6 in U-937 cells was determined by Western blotting technique. 1X10⁶ U-937 cells were transfected with 6µL of Superfect and several concentrations of pcDNA-STAT6 ranging from 0.5µg to 2.0µg for 24 hours. Cells were centrifuged and incubated for 1 hour at 4°C with 1mL of lysis buffer containing 20mM Tris, pH 7.5, 150mM NaCl, 2mM EDTA, and 1% of the non-ionic detergent NP-40. In addition, the lysis buffer contained a complete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Mini tablet (Roche Applied Sciences) to prevent proteases from digesting the extracts. 30µg of proteins from the cell lysates were separated out by SDS-PAGE with a Laemmli glycine based discontinous buffering system. Lysates were solubilized in hot 2X SDS gel sample buffer and heated in a boiling water bath for 5 minutes before loading into the wells of the vertical polyacrylamide gel apparatus. Proteins were transferred to a PVDF membrane for immunoblotting. The membrane was first incubated for 1 hour with blocking solution containing 3% BSA in TBS (50mM Tris, pH 7.4, 0.5M NaCl and 0.05% Tween 20). The membrane was incubated overnight at 4°C with agitation in TBS containing 1% BSA and 1/2000 dilution of rabbit anti-STAT6 polyclonal antibodies (R&D Systems). The membrane was repeatably washed with TBS and incubated for one hour with TBS containing 1% BSA and a secondary goat anti-rabbit polyclonal antibody linked to horseradish peroxidase (HRP; R&D Systems; dilute 1/2500). The membrane was washed again with TBS and visualized proprietary reagent bands using the mixture Enhanced were

Chemiluminescence (ECL) Plus (Amersham). The high intensity chemiluminescence signal was detected by incubating the membrane with autoradiography photographic film for 15 seconds in an x-ray film cassette. The film was then immediatedly developed with an automatic film developer to produce a picture of the STAT6 bands. Antibodies were stripped off by submerging the PVDF membrane in 100mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 2% SDS and 62.5mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.7) for 30 minutes at 50°C. The membrane was washed two times for 10 minutes in TBS. The membrane was incubated for 1 hour with blocking solution and incubated for 1 hour with mouse monoclonal anti-human β-actin antibodies (R&D clone AC-15; diluted 1/500) in TBS containing 1% BSA. The membranes were washed twice with TBS and then incubated for 1 hour with a secondary rabbit anti-mouse polyclonal antibody linked to horseradish peroxidase (HRP; R&D; diluted 1/10,000). The membrane was washed again and the bands were visualized by using ECL Plus and photographic film. Bands of proteins for both STAT6 and β -actin were measured by densitometry, and the expression of STAT6 was normalized to expression of β -actin. Prestained protein standards were used to determine the size of the protein bands for the sample.

A luciferase assay was performed using an optimized dose of pcDNA-STAT6 and TLR4-N reporter plasmid. The plasmid pcDNA3.1 without any cloned insert was used as a negative control for the experiment and was also transfected with the TLR4-N reporter plasmid. $1X10^6$ U-937 cells were transfected with 6µL of Superfect, 2µg of pcDNA-STAT6 or pcDNA 3.1, 1.0µg of TLR4-N reporter vector and 0.03µg of *Renilla* control vector. The cells were rested for 24 hours and stimulated with or without 10ng/mL of IL-4. Several time points were taken where cells were harvested and lysates were assayed

for firefly and *Renilla* luciferase activity using the Dual Luciferase Reporter Assay System as previously described in section 2.2.4.

2.2.7 Tyrphostin AG 490 stimulation

 $1X10^{6}$ U-937 cells were incubated with 25µM of AG 490 (2-cyano-3-(3,4dihydroxyphenyl)-N-(benzyl)-2-propenamide; Sigma) dissolved in DMSO (stock 10mM) for 16 hours as previously described[532]. 10ng/mL of IL-4 was then added for 12 hours. After stimulations, the cells were centrifuged and the RNA was extracted for reverse transcription and TLR4 and ALAS1 mRNA levels were quantified by real-time QPCR (section 2.2.2). All samples were compared to baseline expression. Negative controls for the experiments included cells stimulated with the vehicle DMSO and AG 490 without IL-4 stimulation.

2.2.8 Truncations of TLR4-N Reporter Plasmid

The luciferase assay was used to determine where IL-4 responsive elements were positioned in the upstream region of the TLR4 gene. This was performed by cloning progressively shorter inserts of the upstream region of the TLR4 gene into the plasmid vector pGL3-Basic. The upstream region of TLR4 was also analyzed by MatInspector Release professional 6.0 (www.genomatix.de) to determine potential STAT6 binding sites in the upstream region of TLR4.

The TLR4-N2 (3.4 kilobases) and TLR4-N3 (3.0 kilobases) plasmids were made similarly to the TLR4-N plasmid using primers and the TaqPlus Precision PCR System (section 2.2.5). The primers contained restriction endonuclease cleavage sites for cloning into pGL3-Basic(Table 2.4). Digestion of TLR4-N with HindIII can yields several fragments[496]. One of these contains 1.0 kilobases of the upstream region of TLR4 gene attached to a full pGL3. This fragment was extracted from a DNA gel electrophoresis product and was ligated using T4 DNA polymerase as described in section 2.2.5. The ligation product was transformed into bacteria and the resulting plasmid was named TLR4-H. Similarly, digestion of TLR4-N with PstI and ligation yielded TLR4-P which contains 300 base pairs of the upstream region of TLR4[496].

MAX Efficiency DH5 α Competent cells were transformed with each of the constructs and plasmids were extracted using EndoFree maxipreps. Endotoxin levels were assessed to be less than 0.125 EU/mL by the LAL gel clot assay (Biowhittaker) and a sample of all the plasmids were sent for sequencing to confirm the construct sequence. U-937 cells were seeded into 12 well plates and were transfected with 6µL of Superfect, 1.0µg of each plasmid and 0.03µg of *Renilla* control vector. The cells were transfected for 24 hours and stimulated for 12 hours with 10ng/mL of IL-4 before performing the luciferase assay (section 2.2.4). Negative controls included cells transfected with the plasmids but were not stimulated with IL-4, as well as untransfected cells, and cells transfected with a pGL3 plasmid containing no insert (pGL3 Basic).

2.2.9 STAT6 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation assay

STAT6 chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) was performed using the EZ-ChIP kit (Upstate). The ChIP allows the precipitation of DNA complexed to STAT6 bound to it by STAT6-specific antibodies. PCR was used to determine what DNA was precipitated. 20X10⁶ cells were grown with or without IL-4 (10ng/mL) for 6 hours. Cells were centrifuged and resuspended in 10mL of RPMI-1640 in a culture dish. 540µL of a freshly prepared 18.5% formaldehyde solution (final concentration 1%) was added to the cells and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. 1mL of 1.25M glycine was added to dish, swirled to mix, and incubated for 5 minutes to quench the formaldehyde. Cells were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 300g and were resupended in 10mL of cold PBS to wash. The wash was repeated and the cells were resuspended in 1mL of cold PBS containing 5µL of Protease Inhibitor Cocktail II (Upstate). Cells were spun for 5 minutes at 4°C at 700g. 1mL of SDS lysis buffer (1% SDS, 10mM EDTA, 50mM Tris, pH 8.1) was added to the pellet also containing 5µL of Protease Inhibitor Cocktail II.

The samples in the SDS lysis buffer were put on ice and each tube was sonicated for two 15 second pulses with an intensity of 5 using a Fisher model 60 sonic dismembrator. Between pulses, the samples were cooled on ice for 30 seconds. This sonication protocol was optimized to break apart the DNA of the genome into fragments ranging from 200 to 1000 base pairs, which facilitates the immunoprecipitation. The sonicated lysates were centrifuged at 4°C for 10 minutes at 12,000g. 100µL of the supernatant was aliquoted into microfuge tubes.

900µL of Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Dilution buffer (0.01% SDS; 1.1% Triton X-100; 1.2mM EDTA; 16.7mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.1; and 167mM NaCl) containing 5µL of Protease Inhibitor Cocktail II was added to each 100µL aliquot needed for the experiment. 60µL of Protein G Agarose beads (Upstate) was added to each sample to preclear the samples. The bead mixture is composed of 50% gel slurry containing agarose beads, 400µg/mL of sonicated salmon sperm DNA, 1mg/mL of BSA, 3mg/mL of recombinant protein G, 50% TE buffer (10mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0; and 1mM EDTA) and 0.05% sodium azide. The mixture of Protein G agarose beads and the sonicated lysates was incubated for 1 hour at 4°C on an agitator. The beads were pelleted by centrifuging the samples for 1 minute at 3000g. Immunoprecipitating antibodies were added to each sample and incubated overnight with agitation at 4°C. 1µg of mouse monoclonal antibodies specific for human RNA polymerase II (Upstate; clone CTD448) was added to samples to serve as a positive control for the experiment. 1µg of normal mouse IgG (Upstate) was used as a negative control for the RNA polymerase II immunoprecipitation. 2.5µg of rabbit polyclonal antibodies specific for human STAT6 (R&D Systems) was added to samples for immunoprecipitation of STAT6-DNA complexes. 2.5µg of normal rabbit serum (R&D Systems) was used as a negative control for the STAT6 immunoprecipitation.

60μL of protein G agarose beads were added to the samples and incubated for 1 hour at 4°C with rotation to make the antibody complexes bind to the Protein G. The complexes were precipitated by centrifuging for 1 minute at 3000g. The supernatant was removed and the pellet was repeatably washed with 1mL of cold buffers to remove nonspecific binding. After each buffer was added, the mixture was incubated for 5 minutes on a rotating platform at 4°C followed by a 1 minute centrifugation at 3000g and removal of the supernatant. The first buffer was a low salt immune complex buffer (Upstate) composed of 0.1% SDS, 1% Triton X-100, 2mM EDTA, 20mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.1) and 150mM NaCl. The second buffer was a high salt immune complex buffer (Upstate) composed of 0.1% SDS, 1% Triton X-100, 2mM EDTA, 20mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.1) and 500mM NaCl. The next buffer was a LiCl immune complex buffer (Upstate) composed of 0.25M LiCl, 1% IGEPAL-CA630, 1% deoxycholic acid (sodium salt), 1mM EDTA, and 10mM Tris (pH 8.1). The pellet was washed with TE buffer two times. The samples were resuspended in 100μ L elution buffer (1% SDS and 100mM NaHCO₃) and incubated for 15 minutes. The agarose was pelleted by centrifugation for 1 minute at 3000g and the supernatant was collected into a new tube. The pellet was resuspended again in 100 μ L of elution buffer and incubated for 15 minutes. The supernatant was collected and combined to the first one.

To all tubes containing elution buffer, 8μ L of 5M NaCl was added and incubated overnight at 65°C to reverse the DNA-protein crosslinks. 1μ L of 10mg/mL of RNase A (in sterile water) was added and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C. Finally, 4μ L of 0.5M of EDTA, 8μ L of 1M Tris-HCl (pH 6.5) and 1μ L of 10mg/mL of proteinase K were added to the samples which were incubated at 45°C for 2 hours.

DNA was purified from the samples by using silica membrane DNA extraction columns (Upstate) and eluted in 50µL of 10mM Tris-HCl. After purification of the DNA, real-time QPCR was used to quantify the binding of STAT6 and RNA polymerase II to specific regions of DNA by using different primers. The $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method was used to quantify the extracted fragments with the reference condition being cells incubated without IL-4 before the ChIP[533]. The reference for the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method was the fragment of the promoter of the house-keeping gene glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), which is known to bind RNA polymerase II. Two sets of primers were designed to amplify the regions containing potential STAT6 binding sites determined by MatInspector (Table 2.5). Negative controls for the experiment include ChIP using antibodies that do not bind to STAT6, and cells that were not stimulated with IL-4.

PCR Target	Primer name	Sequence	Genome Position	
STAT6 site 1	STAT6-1 Primer 1	5'- ACACATGGTCTGCCT TCTGG -3'	STAT 6 site 3,550 base pairs upstream from start codon of	
	STAT6-1 Primer 2	5'- CCAGGGAAGTCCTTT CAACT -3'	TLR4	
STAT6 site 2	STAT6-2 Primer 1	5'- CTGGCTTGAAATGAC CCACA -3'	STAT6 site 3240 base pairs upstream from start codon of	
	STAT6-1 Primer 2	5'-TGATTCTTCATCCTG CTGTTG -3'	TLR4	
GAPDH promoter	GAPDH Primer 1	5'- TACTAGCGGTTTTAC GGGCG-3'	RNA Polymerase II site that is about 350 base pairs	
	GAPDH Primer 2	5'-TCGAACAGGAGGAGC AGAGAGCGA-3'	upstream from the start codon of GAPDH	

 Table 2.5 Primer sequences for STAT6 ChIP assay

2.2.10 Statistics

As the same cell line was used for all experiments, a single factor ANOVA was performed using Systat. A post-hoc Dunnett's many-to-one test was used to compare the stimulation conditions to the baseline. This was to determine whether the control (unstimulated) is different from all the stimulations. If a difference was seen using the Dunnett's test, it was determined where it lies by using a post-hoc Tukey's test. A P value less than 0.05 was considered as being significant.

2.3 Peripheral Blood Experiments

2.3.1 Patient Characteristics

Five children (9.8±3.3 years old) were recruited from the Patient Testing Center (PTC) of the Montreal Children's Hospital. Children were in the hospital for other tests that required blood draw and were recruited on site to participate in this study. Children were screened by using a questionnaire filled out by the child and parent. Informed consent was obtained from the parents. Patients were of both sexes (three female; two male). Individuals were excluded if they had had any viral or bacterial infections during

the month or were taking anti-inflammatory medication regularly or had serious blood disorders. The study was approved by the Research Ethics Board of the Montreal Children's Hospital.

Intravenous blood was drawn by an experienced blood technician or nurse from the PTC. 5mLs of blood were collected into a sterile tube containing sodium heparin to prevent the blood from clotting. Blood was kept at room temperature and was brought to the Meakins Christie Laboratories for analysis.

2.3.2 Ficoll Gradient Centrifugation and Culture

Blood was taken out of the heparin tubes and room temperature PBS (pH 7.2) was added to a volume of 30mL. 15mL of Ficoll-Paque PLUS (Amersham) was aliquoted to 50mL tubes. The diluted blood was carefully layered over the Ficoll. The samples were centrifuged for 30 minutes at room temperature at 1000g. The upper layer containing plasma and platelets was drawn off using a sterile pipette but leaving the PBMC layer undisturbed at the interface of the Ficoll layer. The PBMC layer was carefully collected without removing excess Ficoll. The PBMC layer was washed twice with 50mL of PBS, centrifuging 10 minutes at 300g each time. The cell pellet was resuspended in 1mL of RPMI-1640 with added factors (section 2.2.1) and a cell count was performed. 1X10⁶cells/mL were dispensed in a 6 well culture dish and stimulated with or without 10ng/mL of IL-4.

2.3.3 Flow Cytometry on PBMCs

After 24 hour culture the PBMCs were collected from the culture dish and washed with cold PBS. PBMCs were resuspended in PBS at a concentration of 0.5X10⁶cells/mL and 1mL aliquots were used for each condition of the flow cytometry. The cells were

centrifuged again and resuspended with 1mL of PBS containing 20µg of human IgGs (Bayer Inc.; stock 50mg/mL of human IgG and 10% maltose at a pH 4.2) to block nonspecific binding antibodies to cells. The cells were incubated with the IgGs for 30 minutes at 4°C. Cells were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 300g and the supernatant was removed. Cell pellets were resuspended in 95μ L of cold staining buffer with 5μ L (0.05 mg/mL) of the first antibody and were incubated for 30 minutes at 4°C. Antibodies used included: mouse monoclonal antibody specific for human TLR4 (Serotec; clone HTA125) conjugated to the fluorescent dye Alexa Fluor 488, purified mouse IgG_{2A} (Serotec; clone MRC OX-34) conjugated with Alexa Fluor 488 was used as an isotype control, mouse monoclonal antibody specific for human CD3c (R&D Systems; clone UCHT1) which was conjugated to FITC and purified mouse IgG1 (R&D Systems; clone MOPC-21) conjugated with FITC used as an isotype control. The cells were washed twice with cold staining buffer by centrifugation for 5 minutes at 300g. The cells were then incubated for 30 minutes at 4° C with 5µL of the second antibody diluted with 95µL of staining buffer. The second antibody used was a mouse monoclonal antibody specific for human CD4 (R&D Systems; clone RPA-T4) conjugated to the fluorescent dye allophycocyanin (APC) and its isotype control was a mouse IgG1 (R&D Systems; clone MOPC-21). The cells were washed twice with 1mL of cold staining buffer and the pellet was resuspended in 500µL of staining buffer before proceeding to analysis using the FACSCalibur flow cytometry system and CellQuest Software (BD Biosciences). Both the Alexa Fluor 488 and FITC emit green light when excited by an argon laser and their fluorescence is captured by the FL1 sensor of the flow cytometry system. APC emits red light when excited by a red diode laser and the fluorescence is captured by the FL4 sensor of the flow cytometry system. Fluorescence in both the FL1 and FL4 channels was detected simultaneously for cells stained with both the first and second antibodies. Negative controls for the experiment included cells that were not stained with any antibodies and cells that were incubated with the isotypes of both the first and second antibody used.

The forward scatter (FSC) and side scatter (SSC) parameters were also determined during the acquisition of fluorescence and were used to define the monocyte and lymphocyte fractions. The monocyte fraction was gated and the MFI was used to compare TLR4 expression of monocytes stimulated with and without IL-4. CD4 positive cells that were also positive for TLR4 were determined by simultaneous analysis of the FL1 and FL4 data. This data was plotted on a scatter plot and different quadrants were assigned for negative cells, cells positive for TLR4, cells positive for CD4 and double positive cells. The percentage of double positive cells from the total CD4 population was determined for each patient in the study. CD3 expression of CD4 positive cells was also determined in a similar fashion.

2.3.4 Statistics

The average MFI for TLR4 in the monocytic cell fraction that was stimulated with IL-4 was compared to unstimulated monocytes using the paired two sample Student's T-test. The average percentage of TLR4 positive CD4 positive cells of total CD4 positive cells stimulated with IL-4 was compared to unstimulated TLR4 positive CD4 positive cells using the paired two sample Student's T-test. P values less than 0.05 were considered as being significant.

<u>Chapter 3</u>: Results

3.1 Immune Responses to LPS in Nasal Mucosa

3.1.1 Inflammatory Cells in Nasal Mucosa after Ex Vivo Challenges

Immunohistochemistry was performed to determine the presence of inflammatory cells in the nasal explants of atopic children (n=8) cultured *ex vivo* with LPS, allergen and LPS and allergen stimulations. In tissues cultured in media (BCM) without challenge (baseline), monocyte/macrophages (CD68; mean immunopositive cells per field \pm stand deviation; 6.4 \pm 2.7), eosinophils (MBP; 2.1 \pm 1.8), neutrophils (elastase; 3.1 \pm 2.5), mast cells (tryptase; 7.9 \pm 3.4) and T cells (CD3; 25.8 \pm 9.5) were detected (Figure 3.1). Exposure of the atopic mucosa to LPS alone caused a significant increases (P<0.05) in monocyte/macrophages (15 \pm 4.7), neutrophils (7.3 \pm 3.4), mast cells (12.6 \pm 5.6) and T cells (121.4 \pm 24.7) but not eosinophils (1.4 \pm 1.2). Monocyte/macrophages, neutrophils, mast cells increased about 2-5 fold from baseline, but the cells present in the greatest number after LPS exposure, the T cells, increased about 4-5 five times compared to baseline.

Exposure of the nasal explants to allergens, depending on the atopy of the patient, caused a significant increase in mast cells (17.6 ± 9.7) , eosinophils (9.1 ± 2.9) and T cells (41.5 ± 16.3) compared to baseline. A smaller, although significant, increase in monocyte/macrophages (9.9 ± 2.2) and neutrophils (6.1 ± 2.7) was detected. When the nasal explants were challenged with specific allergens and LPS at the same time, differences were seen compared to either challenge alone. LPS inhibited the allergen-induced increase in monocyte/macrophage (7.3 ± 2.5) , eosinophils (3.8 ± 1.5) and mast cells (9.1 ± 4.5) making the levels not significantly different from baseline. Neutrophils



Figure 3.1. Levels of inflammatory cells in nasal mucosa of explants from atopic children after LPS, allergen or allergen and LPS challenge as measured by immunohistochemistry. CD68 is a marker for macrophages and monocytes, MBP is a marker for eosinophils, elastase is a marker for neutrophils, tryptase is a marker for mast cells and CD3 is a marker for T cells. All data is expressed in numbers of immunopositive cells/field. MBP = major basic protein; CD = Cluster of differentiation. *P<0.05 versus baseline. † P<0.05 versus allergen challenge. § P<0.05 versus LPS challenge.

(10.3 \pm 4.2) were significantly higher than baseline but simultaneous challenge did not increase levels more than single challenges. LPS and allergen challenges increased the levels of T cells (138.9 \pm 48.8). This level was significantly higher than in biopsies challenged with allergen alone but not different from biopsies challenged with LPS alone. 3.1.2 CD25 Expression and IL-2 Expression in the Nasal Mucosa

IL-2 is a potent growth factor for T cells and increases in CD3 positive cells after LPS stimulation may be due to induction of this cytokine. A baseline (20.3 ± 8.1) level of IL-2 immunopositive cells was found to be present within the nasal mucosa of explants (n=8) cultured with BCM (Figure 3.2). Significant increases in IL-2 immunopositive cells were seen after incubation of the nasal explants with both LPS (83.1±17.7) and with allergen (59.4±14.2). Simultaneous challenge also led to a significant increase in IL-2 (80±11.5) compared to baseline and compared to allergen challenges, but was not different from LPS challenge alone.

CD25 is part of the receptor of IL-2, and LPS and allergen may increase number of cells responsive to IL-2 by inducing this receptor. A baseline level of CD25 (15.4 \pm 5.3) immunopositive cells was found in the mucosa of the nasal explants (n=8). A significant increase in CD25 immunopositive cells was seen upon LPS challenge (69.8 \pm 8.8) and allergen challenge (52.4 \pm 6.1). Simultaneous challenge of LPS and allergen also significantly increased CD25 immunopositive cells (73.3 \pm 12.5) compared to baseline and allergen challenge alone, but this effect was not significantly different from LPS challenge alone. With fluorescent immunohistochemistry it was determined that about 60% of the T cells were positive for CD25 (data not shown).

125



Figure 3.2. Levels of IL-2 and CD25 in nasal mucosa of explants from atopic children after LPS, allergen or allergen and LPS challenge as measured by immuno-histochemistry. All data is expressed in numbers of inflammatory cells/field. *P<0.05 versus baseline. † P<0.05 versus allergen challenge.

3.1.3 Cytokine mRNA Expression in the Nasal Mucosa

The expression of cytokine mRNAs in the explanted nasal mucosa (n=8) of atopic children was measured by radioactive *in situ* hybridization (Figure 3.3). Tissue cultured in BCM without challenge expressed baseline levels of IL-4 (mean mRNA positive cells per field \pm stand deviation; 2.1 \pm 2.1), IL-5 (3.3 \pm 2.4), IL-13 (4.5 \pm 2.6), IFN- γ (1.4 \pm 1.3), IL-12 (1.1±1.1) and IL-10 (6.4±3.7) mRNA positive cells. LPS did not cause significant increases of mRNA positive cells for the Th2 cytokines IL-4 (2.5 ± 3.0), IL-5 (2.6 ± 2.5) and IL-13 (3.3±2.2), but did cause significant increases in mRNA positive cells for the Th1 cytokines IFN- γ (17.4±10.1) and IL-12 (6.8±3.9). LPS also caused a significantly large increase, almost sevenfold baseline levels, in the immunoregulatory cytokine IL-10 (41.8±15.5) mRNA positive cells compared to baseline. Allergen challenge caused significant increases in IL-4 (6.7±4.1), IL-5 (16.0±10.8), IL-13 (10.0±6.7) and IL-10 (14.4 ± 7.7) mRNA positive cells, but not in IFN- γ (1.9±1.4) and IL-12 (1.3±1.5) mRNA positive cells. LPS was added to allergen to determine whether it could inhibit induction of Th2 cytokine mRNA. LPS abrogated the allergen induced increase in the number of cells positive for mRNA of the Th2 cytokines IL-4 (2.4 ± 2.6), IL-5 (5.1 ± 2.2) and IL-13 (5.1 ± 3.3) making levels of positive cells not significantly different from biopsies cultured in BCM without challenge. Simultaneous challenge of the biopsies with allergen and LPS caused significant increases in IL-10 (62.8 \pm 24.8), IFN- γ (24.3 \pm 9.4) and IL-12 (16.3 \pm 6.6) mRNA positive cells.

3.1.4 Neutralizing Antibodies for IL-10, IL-12 and IFN-y: Th2 Cytokines

Neutralizing antibodies for IL-10, IL-12 and IFN- γ were used to determine which of these cytokines could mediate the ability of LPS in reducing allergen induced Th2



Figure 3.3. Levels of cytokine mRNAs in nasal mucosa of explants from atopic children after LPS, allergen or allergen and LPS challenge as measured by *in situ* hybridization. IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 are known as Th2 cytokines, while IFN- γ and IL-12 are known as Th1 cytokines. IL-10 is known as a regulatory cytokine. All data is expressed in numbers of mRNA cells/field. IL = interleukin; IFN = interferon. *P<0.05 versus baseline. † P<0.05 versus allergen challenge. § P<0.05 versus LPS challenge

cytokine production (n=4). Allergen induced increases in the mRNA positive cells for the Th2 cytokines IL-4 (6.8±1.5), IL-5 (16.0±4.1), and IL-13 (10.0±2.5) (Figure 3.4). LPS significantly abrogated the allergen induced increase in these cytokine mRNAs when the biopsies were simultaneously challenged with LPS and allergen: IL-4 (3.8±0.7), IL-5 (4.5±0.5) and IL-13 (5.8±0.5). Neutralization of IL-10 significantly blocked the effect of LPS on IL-4 (7.8±0.9), IL-5 (14.1±1.3) and IL-13 (12.4±0.5). Neutralization of IL-12 also inhibited the effect of LPS on IL-4 (6.6±1.0), IL-5 (13.0±0.8) and IL-13 (11.5±1.0). Neutralization of IFN- γ did not inhibit the effect of LPS on IL-4(5.1±0.5) but did inhibit the effect on IL-13 (8.2±1.0) and IL-5 (10.1±0.9). The IL-12 and IFN- γ neutralizing antibodies were combined to determine if inhibiting both major Th1 associated cytokines would have a greater effect than either neutralizing antibody alone. Neutralization of IFN- γ and IL-12 brought the level of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 similar to levels cells after allergen challenge. When isotype controls for each neutralizing antibody were used, levels of IL-4(4.2±0.7), IL-5(4.2±0.5) and IL-13(5±0.5) were not different to the effects of challenging the tissue with allergen and LPS (data not shown).

Immunohistochemistry for IL-5 was used to determine if levels of protein positive cells were affected by the neutralizing antibodies (Figure 3.5). Levels of IL-5 immunopositive cells were increased in the mucosa by culturing the tissue with allergen (12.4 \pm 3.0), and this increase was blocked by the addition of LPS (3.1 \pm 0.5). Neutralizing IL-10 (13 \pm 4.3), IL-12 (12.2 \pm 2.8), IFN- γ (15.1 \pm 4.9) and both IL-12 and IFN- γ (12.9 \pm 2.1) all inhibited the effects of LPS on allergen-induced increases in IL-5 immunopositive cells.



Figure 3.4. Levels of Th2 cytokine mRNAs in nasal mucosa of explants from atopic children after allergen and LPS challenge as measured by *in situ* hybridization. Neutralizing antibodies were used to block the effects of IL-10, IL-12, IFN- γ , and both IL-12 and IFN- γ . All data is expressed in numbers of mRNA cells/field. IL = interleukin; anti-IL-10 = IL-10 neutralizing antibody; anti-IL-12 = IL-12 neutralizing antibody; anti-IFN- γ = IFN- γ neutralizing antibody. *P<0.05 versus allergen. †P<0.05 versus allergen and LPS challenge.



Figure 3.5. Levels of IL-5 immunopositive cells in nasal mucosa of explants from atopic children after allergen and LPS challenge as measured by immunohistochemistry. Neutralizing antibodies were used to block the effects of IL-10, IL-12, IFN- γ , and both IL-12 and IFN- γ . All data is expressed in numbers of protein positive cells/field. *P<0.05 versus allergen. †P<0.05 versus allergen and LPS challenge.

3.1.5 Neutralizing Antibodies for IL-10, IL-12 and IFN-y: Th1 Cytokines and IL-10

In situ hybridization was also used to measure the impact of the neutralizing antibodies on levels of IL-10, IL-12 and IFN- γ mRNA positive cells (Figure 3.6). This was performed to determine if these cytokines could influence the expression of each other. Low levels of IFN- γ (1.9±0.6), IL-12 (1.3±0.5) and IL-10 (14.4±2.9) mRNA positive cells were seen when the tissue was incubated with allergen alone. LPS challenge in the presence of allergen induced the levels of all three cytokines: IFN-y (20.3 ± 1.2) , IL-12 (17.8 ± 1.9) and IL-10 (55.3 ± 4.2) . Neutralization of IL-10 (13.7 ± 0.5) and of IL-12 (10.2 \pm 0.5) blocked the induction of IFN- γ , but blocking IFN- γ (17.2 \pm 0.9) had no effect. Combination of neutralizing antibodies against IL-12 and IFN- γ (9.3±0.8) significantly blocked the effect of LPS on levels of IFN-y positive cells, but the effect was not different from using neutralizing antibodies against IL-12 alone. Neutralization of IL-10 (5.9 \pm 0.5) and neutralization of IFN- γ (9.4 \pm 2.3) reduced the induction of IL-12 mRNA positive cells by LPS. Blocking IL-12 (16.5 \pm 2.3) had no effect on LPS induced IL-12 mRNA positive cells, but combining neutralizing antibodies for both IL-12 and IFN- γ (3.5±0.4) produced a greater effect than using either neutralizing antibodies alone. Neutralization of IL-10 had no significant effect on IL-10 (50.3±4.8) levels of mRNA positive cells induced by LPS, but neutralization of IL-12 (22.1±0.9) significantly lowered levels of IL-10 mRNA positive cells, and was not different from allergen challenge alone. Neutralization of IFN- γ (40±2.2) also significantly lowered levels of IL-10 mRNA positive cells, but not as much as IL-12 neutralization. Combining IL-12 and IFN- γ (18.1±1.2) neutralizing antibodies significantly decrease IL-10 mRNA positive



Figure 3.6. Levels of Th1 cytokine and IL-10 mRNAs in nasal mucosa of explants from atopic children after allergen and LPS challenge as measured by *in situ* hybridization. Neutralizing antibodies were used to block the effects of IL-10, IL-12, IFN- γ , and both IL-12 and IFN- γ . All data is expressed in numbers of mRNA cells/field. *P<0.05 versus allergen. †P<0.05 versus allergen and LPS challenge.

cells induced by LPS, but the effect was not significantly greater than the use of IL-12 neutralizing antibodies alone.

Immunohistochemistry for IFN-y, IL-12 and IL-10 was used to determine if neutralizing antibodies affected the levels of cytokine protein in the positive cells (Figure 3.7). Levels of IFN- γ , IL-12 and IL-10 immunopositive cells were increased by LPS challenge with allergen (17.3±1.1, 11.7±0.9 and 52.9±6.7 respectively) compared to allergen stimulation alone $(3.7\pm1.1, 3.6\pm0.8 \text{ and } 16.5\pm2.7 \text{ respectively})$. Neutralization of IL-10 or of IL-12 with antibodies significantly reduced the LPS induced levels of IFN- γ (11.2±0.9) immunopositive cells. IFN- γ neutralization had no significant effect on IFN- γ (14.1±2.2) immunopositive cells, while neutralization of both IFN- γ and IL-12 reduced levels of IFN- γ (8.4±0.3) to levels similar tissue incubated with IL-12 neutralizing antibodies alone. Blocking IL-10 and IFN- γ (6.2±0.2) reduced levels of IL-12 (8.5±0.6) immunopositive cells induced by LPS. Blocking of IL-12 (13.5±3.3) had no significant effect on levels of IL-12 immunopositive cells, while addition of IFN-y neutralizing antibodies to IL-12 (4.2±1.5) neutralizing antibodies caused a significant reduction in IL-12 immunopositive cells that was significantly greater than using IFN- γ neutralization alone. IL-10 neutralization (49.7±6.6) had no significant effect on IL-10 immunopositive cells. Both neutralization of IFN- γ (39.9±1.2) or neutralization of IL-12 (30.0±3.9) significantly reduced the LPS induction of IL-10 immunopositive cells. IL-12 had a greater effect than IFN- γ on IL-10 immunopositive cell reduction. Combination of the IFN- γ and IL-12 (19.6±4.1) neutralizing antibodies reduced levels of IL-10 immunopositive cells, but the combination was not significantly greater than use of IL-12 alone.



Figure 3.7. Levels of Th1 cytokine and IL-10 immunopositive cells in nasal mucosa of explants from atopic children after allergen and LPS challenge as measured by immunohistochemistry. Neutralizing antibodies were used to block the effects of IL-10, IL-12, IFN- γ , and both IL-12 and IFN- γ . All data is expressed in numbers of immunopositive cells/field. *P<0.05 versus allergen. †P<0.05 versus allergen and LPS challenge.

3.1.6 TLR4 Immunopositivity in Children and Cell Proliferation with LPS

In an earlier set of experiments, immune responses in the nasal mucosa of nonatopic children to LPS were measured but not of atopic children[293]. Immunohistochemistry for TLR4 was performed on the nasal mucosa of non-atopic children (n=7) and also atopic children (n=8) to determine whether a difference occurred between the patient groups at baseline and upon stimulation with different doses of LPS for 24 hours (Figure 3.8). A dose-dependent increase in TLR4 immunopositive cells was detected in the non-atopic group when comparing biopsies incubated in BCM (11.7 \pm 1.3) to stimulations using 0.001µg/mL (15.2 \pm 2.2), 0.01µg/mL (20.7 \pm 2.5), 0.1µg/mL (35.7 \pm 3.2) and 1µg/mL (41.5 \pm 4.3) of LPS. Similarly, biopsies from atopic children had a dose dependent increase in TLR4 (0.001µg/mL, 13.8 \pm 1.8; 0.01µg/mL, 22.5 \pm 2.2; 0.1µg/mL, 34.0 \pm 3.5; and 1µg/mL, 43.5 \pm 3.0) compared to baseline (10.2 \pm 1.0). No significant difference was determined between levels of TLR4 between atopic and nonatopic children at baseline or at any dose of LPS used.

Proliferation of cells, as measured by BrdU incorporation, was measured in explants from atopic children (n=3) to determine if LPS caused proliferation of inflammatory cells (Figure 3.9). Incubation of the biopsies for 24 hours with 0.1μ g/mL of LPS (47.0±14.6) caused a significant increase in BrdU incorporation compared to biopsies cultured in BCM (7.0±1.1). Incubation of the tissues with allergen (9±1.6) did not cause a significant increase in BrdU incorporation, but when LPS was added to allergen (54±8.9), a significant increase in BrdU immunopositive cells was seen. Comparison of LPS to LPS and allergen yielded no significant difference, suggesting that



Figure 3.8. Levels of TLR4 positive cells in nasal mucosa of explants from nonatopic and atopic children after LPS challenge as measured by immunohistochemistry. Increasing doses of LPS were added to media ranging from 0.001 μ g/mL to 1 μ g/mL. All data is expressed in numbers of immunopositive cells/field. *P<0.05 versus non-atopic explants cultured in media alone. †P<0.05 versus atopic explants cultured in media alone.



Figure 3.9. Levels of BrdU incorporation in nasal mucosa of explants from atopic children after LPS, allergen or LPS and allergen challenges as measured by fluorescent immunohistochemistry. All data is expressed in numbers of BrdU immunopositive cells/field and was semi-quantified using ImageJ software. BrdU = 5-bromo-2'-deoxy-uridine. *P<0.05 versus explants cultured in media alone. P<0.05 versus explants cultured with allergen.

allergen did not cause a significant proliferation of cells as measured by BrdU incorporation.

3.1.7 CD3 and IL-10 Expression in Atopic Children and Atopic Adults

Atopic children (n=8; Figure 3.10) were then compared to atopic adults (n=7) for the response of the nasal mucosa to LPS. Atopic children and adults both expressed similar baseline levels of T cells (CD3 immunopositive cells) in the mucosa of the nasal tissue (26.5 \pm 4.3 and 29.1 \pm 3.9 respectively). Allergen stimulation of the tissue led to a significant increase of T cells in both children (42.2 \pm 7.0) and adults (51.7 \pm 8.7), but levels of T cells were not different between adults and children. LPS caused a great increase in T cells in the nasal mucosa of atopic children (123.5 \pm 10.4) but not in atopic adults (33.5 \pm 4.8). Simultaneous challenge of the biopsies with allergen and LPS caused an increase of T cells in adults (141.3 \pm 20.0) not different from allergen alone. The increase was significantly greater in children (54.3 \pm 7.8) and not different from LPS alone.

The expression of IL-10 mRNA positive cells, as measured by *in situ* hybridization, was determined in atopic adults and was compared to the levels of atopic children (Figure 3.11). Baseline levels of IL-10 mRNA positive cells were detected in both children (7.0 ± 1.7) and adult (8.2 ± 1.4) atopic nasal mucosa. Significantly, increased levels of IL-10 mRNA positive cells were seen in both children (14.9 ± 3.4) and adults (18.3 ± 2.3) after allergen challenge, but were not different from each other. LPS caused a dramatic increase in IL-10 mRNA positive cells in the nasal mucosa of children (42.8 ± 7.0) but not in adults (18.3 ± 2.3). Simultaneous challenge with allergen and LPS led to strong increase in IL-10 mRNA positive cells in the nasal mucosa from children (64.8 ± 9.6) and a smaller but significant increase in the nasal mucosa from adults



Figure 3.10. Levels of CD3 positive cells in nasal mucosa of explants from atopic children and atopic adults after LPS, allergen or allergen and LPS challenge as measured by immunohistochemistry. *P<0.05 versus biopsies from atopic children incubated in media. †P<0.05 versus biopsies from atopic adults incubated in media. Other comparisons P<0.05 are labeled on the graph.



Figure 3.11. Levels of IL-10 mRNA in nasal mucosa of explants from atopic children and atopic adults after LPS, allergen or allergen and LPS challenge as measured by *in situ* hybridization. *P<0.05 versus biopsies from atopic children incubated in media. \ddagger P<0.05 versus biopsies from atopic adults incubated in media. Other comparisons P<0.05 are labeled on the graph.

(19.4±2.5). The increase of T cells and IL-10 mRNA positive cells in adults after the simultaneous challenge was not different from challenges using allergen alone, suggesting that the cells of the nasal mucosa from atopic adults is unresponsive to LPS. Some commercial LPS preparations can be potentially contaminated with other bacterial components such as lipoproteins, which can activate TLR2. A purified version of LPS (>99% purity), that activates only TLR4 LPS receptor, was used to stimulate explants from atopic children (n=3) and atopic adults (n=3). The effects of the purified version of LPS were not significantly different from the less pure formulations in terms of T cells and IL-10 mRNA positive cell levels (data not shown). This clearly supports the involvement of TLR4 in mediating LPS effects in the explant model.

3.1.8 TLR4 Expression in Adults and Children

LPS caused no effects in the nasal mucosa of atopic adults compared to children and this may be due to decreased LPS receptor components. Therefore, levels of TLR4 positive cells where measured by immunohistochemistry in atopic children (n=8), nonatopic children (n=7), atopic adults (n=8) and non-atopic adults (n=7; Figure 3.12). Biopsies were either cultured for 24 hours in BCM or in BCM with 0.1μ g/mL of LPS. Baseline levels of TLR4 were detected in non-atopic children (11.3±1.5), atopic children (10.0±1.0) and non-atopic adults (4.3±1.0) and were almost undetectable in atopic adults (1.0±0.3). After LPS stimulation, TLR4 positive cells increased significantly in nonatopic children (34.9±3.0), atopic children (33.0±3.4) and non-atopic adults (13.6±1.7), but no observable increase was detected in atopic adults (1.0±0.5). Levels of TLR4 positive cells in the non-atopic adults were significantly lower compared to children, but



Figure 3.12. Levels of TLR4 immunopositive cells in nasal mucosa of explants from atopic and non-atopic children and adults after LPS as measured by immunohistochemistry. Biopsies were stimulated for 24 hours with 0.1 μ g/mL of LPS. *P<0.05 versus biopsies from atopic adults incubated in media. † P<0.05 versus biopsies from atopic adults incubated with LPS. Other comparisons with P<0.05 are labeled on the graph.
levels of TLR4 positive cells in atopic adults were significantly lower to all other groups of patients.

3.1.9 Coexpression of Markers in Nasal Mucosa of Children

As T cells were the cell type that responded the greatest to LPS stimulation, it is possible that LPS had direct effects on these cells. Expression of TLR4 was determined on T cells (CD3 positive cells) using flurescent immunohistochemistry (Figure 3.13). Many T cells were also positive for TLR4 in the atopic nasal musosa and stimulation of the tissue with LPS led to a strong increase in the number of T cells and TLR4 positive cells (Figure 3.14). IL-10 was colocalized to TLR4 positive cells using fluorescent immunohistochemistry in tissue challenged with allergen, and levels of double positive cells increased greatly when the biopsies were challenged with LPS and allergen (Figure 3.15). CD4 and CD25 double positive cells were found in allergen stimulated tissue, but when the tissue was simultaneously challenged with allergen and LPS, a strong induction in the amount of these cells was seen (Figure 3.16).



Figure 3.13. Detection of CD3 positive and TLR4 positive cells by colocalization using fluorescent immunohistochemistry. Atopic nasal mucosa from children was stained with R-phycoerythrin-labelled anti-CD3 antibodies and FITC-labelled anti-TLR4 antibodies. When stimulated with a laser, phycoerythrin fluoresces red (CD3 staining) and FITC fluoresces green (TLR4 staining). When the two signals are superimposed, any colocalization of the signals is seen as yellow. Images of isotype control antibodies labeled with the same fluorescent dye as their respective antibody are found in the insets. Arrows denote positive staining or colocalization.



Figure 3.14. Detection of CD3 positive and TLR4 positive cells by colocalization using fluorescent immunohistochemistry at baseline and with LPS stimulation. Atopic nasal mucosa was stained with R-phycoerythrin-labelled anti-CD3 antibodies and FITC-labelled anti-TLR4 antibodies. When stimulated with a laser phycoerythrin fluoresces red (CD3 staining) and FITC fluoresces green (TLR4 staining). When the two signals are superimposed, any colocalization of the signals is seen as yellow. Arrows denote positive colocalization.



Figure 3.15. Detection of IL-10 positive and TLR4 positive cells by colocalization using fluorescent immunohistochemistry. Atopic nasal mucosa was incubated with allergen (middle) and allergen and LPS(bottom panel). Atopic nasal mucosa was stained with R-phycoerythrin-labelled anti-IL-10 antibodies and FITC-labelled anti-TLR4 antibodies. When stimulated with a laser phycoerythrin fluoresces red (IL-10 staining) and FITC fluoresces green (TLR4 staining). When the two signals are superimposed, any co-localization of the signals is seen as yellow. The top panel shows staining for IL-10 alone in allergen stimulated tissue. Phycoerythrin labelled isotype control for the anti-IL-10 antibody is found in the top panel inset. Arrows denote positive staining or colocalization.



Figure 3.16. Detection of CD4 positive and CD25 positive cells by colocalization using fluorescent immunohistochemistry. Mucosa was cultured with allergen (bottom left panel) and allergen and LPS (bottom right panel). Atopic nasal mucosa was stained with allophycocyanin (APC) anti-CD4 and fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) anti-CD25 antibodies. When stimulated with a laser, FITC fluoresces green (CD25 staining) and APC fluoresces red (CD4 staining). When the two signals are superimposed, any colocalization of the signals is seen as yellow. Images of isotype control antibodies labeled with the same fluorescent dye as their respective antibody are found in the insets. Arrows denote positive staining or colocalization.

3.2 TLR4 Expression and Regulation in U-937 Cells

3.2.1 NF-KB Luciferase Assay

To determine the effect of IL-4 on the LPS responsiveness of U-937 cells, the activation of the NF- κ B signal transduction was measured using the NF- κ B luciferase assay (n = 3; Figure 3.17). Baseline levels of NF- κ B activation were detected, and incubation of the cells with 10ng/ml IL-4 for 24 hours (mean fold upregulation compared to baseline level ± standard deviation; 1.1±0.1) did not cause any significant effect. Incubation of cells for 6 hours with 0.25µg/ml of LPS (3.0±0.3) caused a significant increase in the NF- κ B reporter plasmid. When cells were incubated for 24 hours with IL-4 and then stimulated with LPS (IL-4 preincubation), a significant increase in NF- κ B reporter activity was measured (1.8±0.1), but this increase was significantly decreased compared to cells stimulated with LPS without IL-4 preincubation. Conversely, if cells were only given IL-4 at the time of LPS challenge (IL-4 coincubation) NF- κ B reporter activity was significantly induced (2.8±0.5) but was not different to cells stimulated with LPS alone.

3.2.2 TLR4 mRNA and Protein Surface Expression

As the inhibitory effects of IL-4 required a preincubation period, this suggests that LPS receptor components were downregulated and TLR4 expression in U-937 cells was determined after IL-4 stimulation. U-937 cells showed a high basal expression of TLR4 mRNA as measured by real-time QPCR (n=4; Figure 3.18). Cells were incubated with 0.1ng/ml to 50ng/ml of IL-4 for 12 hours and the lowest dose required to reach maximum suppression of TLR4 mRNA was found to be 10ng/ml. This is the dose used in all other experiments. When the cells were incubated with the optimal dose of IL-4, there was a



NF-kB Luciferase Assay

Figure 3.17. Activation of NF- κ B in U-937 cells by IL-4 and LPS as measured by the NF- κ B luciferase reporter assay. U-937 cells were transiently transfected with luciferase reporter plasmid activated by NF- κ B. A *Renilla* luciferase vector was used to correct for transfection efficiency. Transfected cells were either left unstimulated, stimulated with 10ng/ml of IL-4 for 24 hours, stimulated with 0.25µg/ml of LPS for 6 hours, incubated with IL-4 for 24 hours (IL-4 preincubation) followed by LPS stimulation for 6 hours or stimulated with LPS and IL-4 (IL-4 coincubation). Relative light units (RLUs) were obtained by performing the dualluciferase assay. Results are expressed as the RLU fold expression compared to the RLU of unstimulated cells. NF- κ B = nuclear factor κ B; *P<0.05 versus baseline, †P<0.05 versus LPS treatment.



Figure 3.18. Expression of TLR4 mRNA in U-937 cells as measured by real-time QPCR. U-937 cells were incubated with 10ng/ml of IL-4 for 0 to 24 hours. RNA was extracted at different time points and TLR4 and ALAS1 house-keeping gene RNAs were quantified using plasmid standards. Results are expressed as copies of TLR4 versus copies of the house-keeping gene ALAS1 compared to unstimulated controls. *P<0.05 versus unstimulated cells (n=4).

rapid and significant reduction in the expression of TLR4 mRNA as early as 6 hours (percent of mRNA expression of unstimulated cells expression \pm standard deviation; 62.3 \pm 4.7%). Downregulation of TLR4 mRNA was maintained at 12 hours (69.9 \pm 17.1) but was returned to baseline by 24 hours (109.6 \pm 20.8).

Surface expression of TLR4 of U-937 cells was evaluated using flow cytometry. 94.8 \pm 5% of the U-937 cells were positive for surface staining of TLR4. IL-4 did not reduce the number of TLR4 positive cells, but reduced the individual cell surface TLR4 intensity measured by using the MFI, a measure of the amount receptor expression on the cells based on the amount of fluorescence detected (Figure 3.19). TLR4 MFI was significantly reduced at 12 hours (percent of unstimulated cells \pm standard deviation; 91.9 \pm 0.9%) and 24 hours (86.9 \pm 1.4%) but returned to basal levels by 48 hours (99.4 \pm 4.2%).

3.2.3 TLR4 Promoter Transcriptional Activity

To determine if IL-4 had an effect on the regulation of transcription, the proximal promoter of the human TLR4 gene, ranging from 4.3 kb of the ATG start codon, was cloned into a luciferase reporter plasmid pGL3-Basic. This construct was named TLR4-N as an Nco1 restriction endonuclease site was used to clone the fragment. U-937 cells were transiently transfected with TLR4-N and the luciferase assay was performed (n= 3). As a negative control, U-937 cells were also transfected separately with pGL3-Basic, the luciferase reporter plasmid that does not contain a promoter upstream of the luciferase gene. U-937 cells transfected with TLR4-N had a significantly greater level of luciferase activity than the control pGL3-Basic (Figure 3.20; mean fold upregulation compared to pGL3-Basic \pm standard deviation; 5.9 \pm 0.9). This demonstrates a high baseline level of



Figure 3.19. Expression of TLR4 protein cell surface expression in U-937 cells as measured by flow cytometry. U-937 cells were incubated with 10ng/ml of IL-4 for 0 to 48 hours. Cells were stained with a primary mouse anti-TLR4 antibody and a secondary FITC-labelled anti-mouse antibody(top panel). The flow cytometry histogram (bottom panel) shows a representative example of 24 hour stimulation with IL-4 (\Box) compared to unstimulated control (\Box). Background fluorescence was determined by incubation of the cells with FITC-conjugated secondary antibody alone (\blacksquare), and was subtracted from the sample MFI values. Results are expressed as a percent of unstimulated cells for each time point. *P<0.05 versus unstimulated cells.

TLR4N Luciferase Assay



Figure 3.20. Activation of upstream proximal promoter of TLR4 in U-937 cells as measured by the luciferase reporter assay. U-937 cells were transiently transfected with a luciferase reporter plasmid containing 4.3 kb of the upstream region of TLR4 (TLR4-N). pGL3-Basic is the reporter plasmid without any cloned insert and was transfected into the U-937 cells to serve as a negative control. Untransfected cells were used as another negative control. A *Renilla* luciferase vector was used to correct for transfection efficiency. Relative light units (RLUs) were obtained by performing the dual-luciferase assay. Results are expressed as the RLU fold expression compared to the RLU cells transfected with pGL3-Basic. *P<0.05 versus pGL3-Basic.

transcription in unstimulated cells. TLR4-N transfected U-937 cells were stimulated with IL-4 for different lengths of times before performing the luciferase assay (Figure 3.21). Decreased reporter activity occurred at 6 hours (percent of activity of TLR4-N in unstimulated cells \pm standard deviation; 67.0 \pm 13.7%), and was maintained at 12 hours (71.7 \pm 15.4%) but was lost at 24 hours (87.6 \pm 12.7%).

3.2.4 STAT6 transfection and TLR4 promoter transcriptional activity

IL-4, through the IL-4 receptor activates STAT6 signal transduction [534]. To determine if STAT6 plays a role in inhibiting TLR4 transcription, a plasmid containing a full length human STAT6 plasmid (pSTAT6) was constructed and transfected into U-937 cells. Different concentrations of pSTAT6 were transfected into cells ranging from 0.5μ g to 2.0μ g (n=3). STAT6 levels were evaluated by immunoblotting and 2.0μ g was the optimal dose causing a 2.5-fold increase in STAT6 expression compared to baseline levels (Figure 3.22). Transfection of pcDNA, which is the expression plasmid used to clone and overexpress STAT6, did not have any effect on endogenous STAT6 levels compared to untransfected cells.

U-937 cells were transfected with the plasmid TLR4-N and pSTAT6 to determine if STAT6 overexpression could affect transcription of TLR4. pcDNA was also transfected with TLR4-N into separate U-937 as a negative control. After transfection, the cells were stimulated with IL-4 for different lengths of time. IL-4 caused a decrease in TLR4-N activity in cells transfected with pcDNA at 6 hours (percent of activity of TLR4-N in unstimulated cells \pm standard deviation; 64.9 \pm 11.9%), 12 hours (74.9 \pm 14.2%) but not at 24 hours (94.5 \pm 10.9%). The effects of pcDNA were comparable to the results seen when cells received TLR4-N alone (Figure 3.23). When cells transfected with



TLR4-N Reporter Activity

Figure 3.21. Activation of upstream proximal promoter of TLR4 in U-937 cells as measured by the luciferase reporter assay. U-937 cells were transiently transfected with a luciferase reporter plasmid containing 4.3 kb of the upstream region of TLR4 (TLR4-N). A *Renilla* luciferase vector was used to correct for transfection efficiency. Transfected cells were stimulated with 10ng/ml of IL-4 for 0 to 24 hours. Relative light units (RLUs) were obtained by performing the dual-luciferase assay. Results are expressed as a percent of the RLU of unstimulated cells. *P<0.05 versus baseline.



Figure 3.22. Expression of STAT6 by U-937 cells transfected with a constitutive STAT6 expression plasmid (pSTAT6), as measured by immunoblotting. U-937 cells were transiently transfected with different concentrations of pSTAT6 from 0.5μ g/mL to 2.0μ g/mL for 24 hours. An SDS-PAGE was performed on the lysates, and after transfer to a PVDF membrane, STAT6 and β -actin were probed using antibody and chemiluminescence. A representative example of a developed immunoblot is shown in the top panel, next to an image of the molecular weight protein standards used. Amounts of protein were semi-quantified using densitometry (bottom panel). pcDNA is the expression plasmid without STAT6 and was used as a negative control. Results are expressed as a density units of STAT6 bands (expected size 94 kDa) versus the house-keeping gene β -actin (expected size 42 kDa) for each condition compared to untransfected cells. *P<0.05 versus baseline.



TLR4-N Reporter Activity

Figure 3.23. Activation of upstream proximal promoter of TLR4 in U-937 cells as measured by the luciferase reporter assay. U-937 cells were transfected with TLR4-N luciferase reporter plasmid and pSTAT6. As a negative control, pcDNA, the plasmid used to clone STAT6, was transfected in separate cells. A *Renilla* luciferase vector was used to correct for transfection efficiency. Transfected cells were stimulated with 10ng/ml of IL-4 for 0 to 24 hours. Relative light units (RLUs) were obtained by performing the dual-luciferase assay. Results are expressed as a percent of the RLU of unstimulated cells. *P<0.05 versus unstimulated cells transfected with pSTAT6. Other comparisons with P<0.05 are labeled on the graph.

pSTAT6 were stimulated with IL-4, TLR4-N reporter activity was significantly decreased at 6 hours ($41.0\pm8.1\%$), 12 hours ($55.7\pm4.5\%$) and 24 hours ($64.3\pm6.6\%$). The decrease was significantly greater than the decrease seen in cells transfected with pcDNA at 6 hours and 12 hours. Unlike cells transfected with pcDNA, pSTAT6 transfected cells maintained a significantly lower activity in TLR4-N reporter activity at 24 hours. It is possible that stimulation of the cells with IL-4 caused an increased transcription of STAT6 from pSTAT6, but this is unlikely as analysis of the plasmid showed no STAT6 binding sites in its sequence.

3.2.5 Tyrphostin AG 490 and TLR4 mRNA Expression

Tyrphostin AG 490 is a potent inhibitor of the Janus Kinase-2 (Jak2) protein tyrosine kinase[535-537]. It can also inhibit Jak1 and Jak 3, but AG 490 does not significantly inhibit other kinases such as Lck, Lyn, Btk, Syk and Src. It is the most common agent used to block tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT6 phosphorylation by Jak tyrosine kinases; therefore, AG 490 was used to block IL-4 induced tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT6, and TLR4 mRNA levels were measured to determine the impact of this agent. Spiekermann et al. have shown that AG 490 can be toxic for U-937 cells[538], but with the dose of 25 μ M that was used, the cell viability was 95 \pm 5% as measured by Trypan blue exclusion. Treatment of U-937 cells with DMSO (diluted 1/400) alone, the vehicle used for AG 490, had no significant effect (Figure 3.24; 103.9 \pm 10.4%). 25 μ M of AG 490 alone caused no significant effect on levels of TLR4 mRNA expression (107.7 \pm 9.5%). IL-4 caused a significant decrease in TLR4 mRNA expression (79.7 \pm 3.4%) compared to unstimulated cells (100%). Pre-incubation of U-937



Figure 3.24. Expression of TLR4 mRNA in U-937 cells as measured by real-time QPCR. U-937 cells were incubated with 10ng/ml of IL-4, with DMSO (0.025%), and 25 μ M of tyrphostin AG 490 for 12 hours. Some cells were incubated with AG 490 for 16 hours before incubation for 12 hours with IL-4 (AG 490 preincubation). RNA was extracted at different time points and TLR4 RNA and ALAS1 house-keeping gene were quantified using plasmid standards. Results are expressed as copies of TLR4 versus copies of the house-keeping gene ALAS1. *P<0.05 versus unstimulated cells (n=4).

cells with AG 490 before challenge with IL-4, abrogated the decrease in TLR4 mRNA levels caused by IL-4 (111.9±6.9%) as it was not significantly different from baseline. 3.2.6 TLR4 Promoter Transcriptional Activity of Different Plasmid Constructs

The MatInspector software was used to map out potential STAT6 binding sites in the upstream region of proximal promoter of the TLR4 gene, cloned in the TLR4-N plasmid. MatInspector is computer software that uses sophisticated algorithms to compare DNA sequences of interest and determine potential transcription factor binding sites based on consensus sequences and a probability weight matrix[539]. Results of MatInspector are shown as possible transcription factors binding the sequence of interest, the core similarity value (maximum value of 1.0), and the matrix similarity value (maximum value of 1.0). It is recommended that values for the core be as high as possible if not 1.0, and that for a good match the matrix usually has a similarity of >0.80[539]. Six potential sites were determined having a core similarity (similarity to most highly conserved sequences) of 1.0 and matrix similarity (similarity to all residues in the sequence to known sequences that can bind STAT6) of ranging from 0.92 to 0.96 (Figure 3.25).

Different luciferase reporter plasmids containing different lengths of the upstream region of TLR4 were constructed to determine the region containing the IL-4 responsive region (Figure 3.26). U-937 cells transfected with the plasmid TLR4-N had a significant reduction in luciferase reporter activity when incubated with IL-4 for 12 hours (mean fold upregulation compared to pGL3-Basic \pm standard deviation; 3.3 \pm 0.9) versus luciferase reporter activity at baseline (4.8 \pm 1.3). IL-4 incubation did not result in a significant reduction in luciferase reporter activity of TLR4-N2 (5.1 \pm 1.0), TLR4-N3 (6.0 \pm 1.5),

Number	Sequence	Core	Matrix	Position upstream from
	(consensus sequence:	similarity	similarity	start codon (nucleotides)
	nnnnnTTCCnnnGAAnnnn)			
1	ttcatTTCCcagGAAaagg	1.0	0.960	3346
2	tccacTTCCtaaGAAtgag	1.0	0.954	3036
3	tacagTTCCtaaGAAgcgg	1.0	0.937	2616
4	agcccTTCCtctGAAccac	1.0	0.921	2325
5	taactTTCCaggGAActaa	1.0	0.938	2079
6	gtttcTTCCcaaGAAgggg	1.0	0.916	746



Figure 3.25. Potential STAT6 binding sites determined using MatInspector Professional transcription factor analysis software. Six potential sites were determined with a high core similarity and matrix similarity. The core nucleotides are labelled in bold text and in capital letters. The position and sequence of the potential binding sites with respect to the ATG start codon of the TLR4 gene is shown above.



Figure 3.26. Activation of upstream proximal promoter of TLR4 in U-937 cells as measured by the luciferase reporter assay. U-937 cells were transiently transfected with luciferase reporter plasmids containing different lengths of the upstream region of TLR4. After transfections cells were incubated with and without 10ng/mL of IL-4 for 12 hours. pGL3-Basic is the reporter plasmid without any cloned insert and was transfected into the U-937 cells to serve as a negative control. A *Renilla* luciferase vector was used to correct for transfection efficiency. Relative light units (RLUs) were obtained by performing the dual-luciferase assay. Results are expressed as the RLU fold expression compared to the RLU cells transfected with pGL3-Basic. *P<0.05 versus baseline.

TLR4-H (4.1 \pm 2.2) and TLR4-P (7.3 \pm 0.5) compared to levels of unstimulated cells (6.1 \pm 1.9, 6.9 \pm 0.2, 4.8 \pm 1.9 and 7.0 \pm 0.3 respectively). These results suggest that only TLR4-N contains an IL-4 responsive region (shown in Figure 3.27).

3.2.7 STAT6 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation

STAT6 ChIP was used in combination with real-time QPCR to determine if the potential STAT6 binding sites can bind to STAT6 protein upon stimulation with IL-4 (n=3). Only one of the potential STAT6 binding sites determined using MatInspector software was found in the IL-4 responsive region determined using the luciferase assay. The potential STAT6 binding site in the IL-4 responsive region (site 1) and the potential STAT6 binding site closest to the IL-4 responsive region (site 2) were investigated (Figure 3.27). Upon IL-4 stimulation, a significant increase in STAT6 binding to site 1 (mean fold upregulation compared to baseline level \pm standard deviation; 3.7 ± 0.9) was determined compared to unstimulated cells. There was no significant increase in binding of STAT6 to site 2 upon IL-4 stimulation (0.5 ± 1.2). The isotype control was not significantly different to the unstimulated cells for both site 1 (0.5 ± 1.2) and site 2 (0.3 ± 1.4). Therefore, it was concluded that STAT6 can bind to the potential STAT6 binding site in the IL-4 responsive region.



Figure 3.27. Measurement of STAT6 binding to DNA upstream of the TLR4 gene measured by STAT6 chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP). U-937 cells were incubated with 10ng/ml of IL-4 for 6 hours and DNA bound to activated STAT6 was purified by ChIP. Real-time QPCR was used to determine whether STAT6, after challenge with IL-4, could bind to the potential STAT6 binding site (site 1) in the IL-4 responsive region. An isotype control was used in the ChIP as a negative control for background staining. Primers were also designed for the potential STAT6 binding site (site 2) outside of the IL-4 responsive region but closest to site 1. Quantification was performed using $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method using a ChIP for RNA polymerase II binding to the GAPDH promoter as a reference. Results are expressed as fold expression of IL-4 stimulated cells compared to unstimulated cells. *P<0.05 versus isotype (n=4).

3.3 TLR4 Expression in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells from Children

3.3.1 Flow Cytometry Monocytes and CD4⁺ Cells

IL-4 could inhibit TLR4 expression in the U-937 cell line, and blood from children was investigated to confirm that it was not a cell line specific effect. The FSC and SSC parameters were used to gate the monocyte and lymphocyte fractions(Figure 3.28; n=5), similar to a procedure by Mita et al.[489]. Monocyte fractions made up 15-20% of the PBMCs isolated from children's blood. TLR4 expression of the monocyte population cultured in media had a high baseline level of TLR4 positive cells with a mean MFI of 155±8.5 (Figure 3.29). When incubated with IL-4 for 24 hours, the absolute number of monocytes expressing TLR4 did not differ significantly, but the MFI decreased significantly (126±15.5).

PBMCs were stained with anti-CD4 and anti-TLR4 antibodies (Figure 3.30). A population of the PBMCs were positive for both TLR4 and CD4 protein surface expression (Figure 3.31; mean percent of total CD4 population±standard deviation; $16.0\pm7.1\%$). In contrast to the monocytes, when the PBMCs were stimulated with IL-4, the population of CD4 positive and TLR4 positive cells was significantly decreased ($8.1\pm5.6\%$). To confirm that the CD4 positive cells were T cells, the PBMCs were stained with both anti-CD4 and anti-CD3 antibodies (Figure 3.32). It was determined that greater than 99.5% of the cells that express high levels of CD4 are T cells (CD3 positive). Incubation with IL-4 did not significantly alter the levels of expression of CD4 demonstrating that reduction of the CD4⁺/TLR4⁺ is due to decreased surface expression of TLR4.



Figure 3.28. Forward and side scatters acquired by flow cytometry from PBMCs isolated by Ficoll gradient centrifugation. Two clear populations of cells were seen. Cells with low forward scatter and low side scatter are the lymphocyte population while cells that have a higher forward scatter (larger cells) and a higher side scatter (more granular cells) are the monocyte population.



Figure 3.29. Surface expression of TLR4 on monocyte population from PBMCs as measured by flow cytometry. PBMCs were purified from whole blood by Ficoll gradient centrifugation and cultured for 24 hours with and without 10ng/mL of IL-4. Cells were stained with an Alexa Fluor 488 labelled monoclonal antibody for TLR4 and fluorescence was acquired on the monocyte population by using the foward scatter and side scatter parameters. An isotype control, labelled with Alexa Fluor 488, was used to determine background fluorescence. Results are expressed as the raw value of the mean fluorescence intensity minus the background fluorecescence.*P<0.05 versus unstimulated cells.



Figure 3.30. Dot plots for the surface expression of CD3 and TLR4 from PBMCs as measured by flow cytometry (representative example). PBMCs were purified from whole blood by Ficoll gradient centrifugation. Cells were cultured with 10ng/mL of IL-4 (right) or cultured unstimulated (left) for 24 hours. Cells were stained with Alexa Fluor 488 labelled monoclonal anti-TLR4 and APC labelled monoclonal anti-CD4 antibodies. Isotype controls, labelled with FITC or APC respectively, were used to determine background fluorescence.



Figure 3.31. Surface expression of TLR4 and CD4 on PBMCs as measured by flow cytometry. PBMCs were purified from whole blood by Ficoll gradient centrifugation and cultured for 24 hours with and without 10ng/mL of IL-4. Cells were cultured with or without 10ng/mL for 24 hours. Cells were stained with Alexa Fluor 488 labelled monoclonal anti-TLR4 and APC labelled monoclonal anti-CD4 antibodies. Isotype controls, labelled with FITC or APC respectively, were used to determine background fluorescence. An isotype control, labelled with Alexa Fluor 488, was used to determine background fluorescence. Results are expressed as the percent of TLR4 and CD4 positive cells from the total population of CD4 positive cells. *P<0.05 versus unstimulated cells.



Figure 3.32. Dot plot for the surface expression of CD3 and CD4 from PBMCs as measured by flow cytometry (representative example). PBMCs were purified from whole blood by Ficoll gradient centrifugation. Cells were stained with a FITC labelled monoclonal antibody for CD3 and a APC labelled monoclonal antibody for CD4. Isotype controls, labelled with FITC or APC respectively, were used to determine background fluorescence. Circled cells are the cells that express high levels of both CD4 and CD3.

<u>Chapter 4:</u> Discussion

4.1 Introductory Remarks

Infectious diseases have been a longstanding and still existing cause of morbidity and mortality. It is only recently in history that humans have been able to defend themselves with better sanitation, urbanization, vaccination and antibiotics. These measures have decreased the load of exposure to pathogens and may be associated with a rise in other inflammatory diseases. The hygiene hypothesis suggests that to develop proper immunoregulatory mechanisms to prevent irregular damaging responses, as in the case of allergic diseases, the immune system must be exposed to a certain amount of lowgrade pathogens or at least components from pathogens[247]. In other words, bacterial components would induce immunoregulatory mechanisms against the development of atopy and Th2 inflammation.

The complex regulatory components of the immune system are slowly being elucidated. These components are necessary to prevent overactive immune responses. One immunoregulatory mechanism is the ability of the cytokines of the two arms of the immune system, the cell-mediated response and the humoral response, to counter-regulate each other. Another mechanism is the induction of anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-10, which has general anti-inflammatory effects. In allergic responses, Th2 cytokines predominate to produce an IgE-mediated humoral response; therefore, promoting Th1 cytokine production and IL-10 production with bacterial components such as LPS could reduce Th2 inflammation in allergic disease.

Th2 cytokines have been shown to inhibit responses to LPS. This may be a mechanism for development of persistent allergic inflammation; LPS may be present in

the environment, but it can not provide its benefits because of overwhelming Th2 responses. The Th2 cytokine IL-4 has been shown to downregulate expression of the main LPS receptor component TLR4[489], but the mechanism by which this occurs has not been elucidated and also if Th2 cytokines has similar effects on T regulatory cells.

The above premises form the basis of this thesis. It was determined that LPS can benefit allergic inflammation in children, by promoting Th1 cytokines and IL-10. The results discussed here were acquired by using nasal mucosal tissue resected from children and adult subjects who were sensitive or insensitive to allergens. Atopic nasal mucosa from children reacted to allergen with a typical Th2 cytokine inflammatory profile, but allergen could reduce these effects by inducing IFN- γ , IL-12 and IL-10. The shift in cytokine profiles was associated with increased production of immunoregulatory IL-10 and proliferation of CD3⁺ T lymphocytes. T cells also expressed TLR4 and the markers CD4 and CD25. The effects of LPS in children were mediated by TLR4, and similar responses were not seen in nasal tissue from allergic adults. While TLR4 is generally thought to be expressed by dendritic cells, macrophages and monocytes, it has been recently reported to be expressed on murine CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells[433]. Results in this thesis provide evidence that TLR4 is highly expressed on CD3⁺ T lymphocytes in humans.

The difference seen between children and adults and between atopic adults and non-atopic adults in TLR4 expression suggests downregulatory mechanisms at play during the development of long-standing atopy. In a cell model present in this thesis, IL-4 rapidly decreased the transcriptional activity of the upstream region of TLR4, TLR4 mRNA, TLR4 protein surface expression as well as LPS responsiveness. This suggests a form of transcriptional regulation. STAT6 is a transcription factor and its activation is the result of one of the major pathways of IL-4 signal transduction. IL-4's inhibitory effect on TLR4 was enhanced and prolonged if STAT6 was overexpressed and inhibition of tyrosine phosphorylation abolished the effect of IL-4 on TLR4 expression. This evidence points to the role of STAT6 in downregulating TLR4 expression at the level of transcription. STAT6 mediates its functions by binding to specific sequences of DNA, and computer analysis of the upstream region of the TLR4 gene revealed six potential STAT6 binding sites. Truncations of the upstream region of TLR4 gene revealed an IL-4 responsive region and STAT6 was shown to bind to this region. In addition, results from this thesis demonstrate for the first time that TLR4⁺CD4⁺ T cells are found in the peripheral blood of children. These cells are also highly responsive to IL-4, which can downregulate TLR4 expression after 24 hours of incubation with the cells. Taken together, these findings point to a role of LPS in inhibiting allergic responses via TLR4 and that Th2 cytokines can limit these responses by reducing TLR4 expression.

4.2 Discussion of Results

The first part of this thesis largely focused on the nasal explant model, where small sections from the inferior turbinate are cultured outside the body with various stimuli. The advantage of this technique is that it allows the study of the effects of various inflammatory challenges without being confounded with the influence of cellular recruitment from the systemic circulation; all responses to challenges are solely derived from tissue constituents. At the same time, it affords a view into local immune responses in a tissue that is regularly exposed to environmental challenges and which participates in the symptoms of allergic rhinitis. The explanted nasal mucosa model has been used successfully in the past as part of numerous studies in allergic rhinitis. This model has been used to describe local eosinophilic differentiation [43], local upregulation of Th2 transcription factor GATA3[62] and production of Th2 cytokines and IgE [90, 91]. Despite the advantages of this model, there are limitations worth mentioning. Firstly, the small size of these biopsies limits the ability for the number of stimulations that could be used for each patient. Secondly, again due to small amounts of tissue, an accurate quantification of mRNA or protein production following LPS stimulation is limited even with powerful techniques such as laser capture microdissection and real-time QPCR. For this histological techniques, hybridization reason, such as in situ and immunohistochemistry, were well suited for use in the explant model. The techniques offer information about cell numbers and cellular expression of both mRNA and protein levels, but not absolute values for these markers. Despite this, these techniques are sufficiently robust to measure numbers of cells expressing a specific mRNA and protein species giving valuable information about local reactions to LPS or allergen. Thirdly, the culture conditions may limit the explant model. The tissue is incubated on filter disks that float over the culture media from which the tissue is nourished. This is to mimic the environment the biopsy had within the body, where the local blood vessels and surrounding tissue would nourish it. In this system, allergen and/or LPS are added to the media and absorbed into the tissue from the submucosa; epithelial cells would not be the first cells to be in contact with the challenge, as would be the case in vivo. Although the tissue is not submerged in media, studies where the tissue was incubated with modified nucleotides (BrdU), fluorescently tagged oligonucleotides or nuclear DNA binding dyes (Hoechst 33342) have shown that the elements from the wells of media can adequately diffuse throughout the tissue[91, 293]; therefore, allergen, which are small lipophilic proteins, or LPS would permeate the tissue as well. Regardless of the limitations, the explant model has been sufficiently characterized, has been successfully utilized in past reports and offers valuable insight into local immune responses using human tissue.

The ability of LPS to prevent allergen-induced inflammation has been described in animal models, but not in humans. Epidemiological studies point to a potential role of LPS inhibiting atopic diseases in children [264, 266, 267], but LPS has been associated as a risk factor for occupational asthma[272] [273, 276] and even in the clinical severity of asthma in adults[275, 278, 279, 540]. LPS challenge of the tissue from atopic children, in this thesis provides evidence supporting the epidemiological studies and points to the possibility that responses to LPS in nasal tissue from children are different from adults. In the explant model, LPS induced a strong induction of Th1 cytokine mRNA (IL-2, IFN- γ and IL-12) positive cells and was associated with increased numbers of cells positive for CD68(macrophages), elastase (neutrophils), tryptase (mast cells) and large increases in CD3 (T cells) positive cells. Allergen challenge produced characteristic increases in Th2 cytokine mRNA production such as IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 and a slight increase in IL-10. MBP positive (eosinophils) cells and mast cells, prominent cells in allergic inflammation, were also increased by allergen, and this increase was probably related to increases in Th2 cytokines. It is possible that allergen also increased other growth factors for these cell types such as IL-3, stem cell factor (SCF) and GM-CSF involved in mast cell growth, but these were not measured. T cells were also increased by allergen and this may be due to large increases in IL-2 positive cells. IL-2 is a powerful growth inducing cytokine of lymphocytes and is produced upon antigenic or mitogenic activation of T cells[541]. The receptor for IL-2 is composed of an α -subunit (CD25), a β -subunit (CD122), and a γ -subunit (CD132). On resting T cells, the β and γ chains are expressed constitutively and form a low affinity IL-2 receptor, but upon activation, the CD25 subunit is expressed forming a high affinity receptor[542]. Increased expression of CD25 upon LPS and allergen challenge demonstrates an increase of cells with high affinity for IL-2. CD25 is also constitutively expressed on T regulatory cells in high levels[543], and increased numbers of CD25 positive cells suggests their proliferation. Furthermore, LPS could diminish allergen-induced Th2 inflammation and skew it toward Th1 inflammation in the nasal mucosa of atopic children; in tissues stimulated with both allergen and LPS, the Th2 cytokine mRNA positive cells were all reduced to baseline and IFN- γ , IL-12 and IL-10 mRNA levels were elevated. LPS also decreased the allergen induced increases in mast cells and eosinophils. Similarly to LPS challenges alone, T cell levels increased upon LPS challenge with allergen and was associated with increases in IL-2 and CD25.

Although IgE forms the basis of sensitization, levels of expression with allergen and/or LPS challenge were not measured in this work; this study was restricted to cytokine and inflammatory cell numbers. The primary reason for this was the limited amounts of tissue that were available for the study. A secondary reason is that levels of IgE are much lower in children than in adults and only reach adult values at the age of 10[544]; all the children from which explants were obtained for this study were younger than 4 years old. The production of IgE has been measured in the nasal mucosa of adults in the explant model[90-92]. Not only is IgE production induced by allergen in the tissue, but also IgE isotype switching. These events were shown to depend on local production of IL-4 and IL-13, as downregulating IL-4 mRNA with antisense oligonucleotides or neutralizing antibodies blocks IgE mRNA production and IgE isotype switching[91, 92]. LPS can inhibit IgE production in animal sensitization models[285, 286]. The mechanism is not clear but may be through induction of Th1 cytokine and IL-10 production. IFN- γ , IL-12 and IL-10 have all been shown in separate studies to directly or indirectly inhibit IgE production[545, 546]. IFN- γ can also downregulate I ϵ C ϵ RNA and CD40L expression, both necessary for IgE isotype switching[547]. Based on these studies, LPS could play a role in inhibiting IgE production in the nasal mucosa of children by downregulating Th2 cytokines and upregulating Th1 cytokines and IL-10.

Neutralizing antibodies against IFN- γ , IL-10 and IL-12 were used to determine which of these cytokines induced by LPS had the most prominent role in downregulating Th2 inflammation. IFN- γ is one of the most important cytokines for the cell-mediated inflammatory response, primarily produced by Th1 cells and has large impacts on macrophage functions[548]. IFN- γ can inhibit both IgE isotype switching and Th2 cell proliferation[549, 550]. Neutralization of IFN- γ , in allergen and LPS challenges, did not cause a significant increase in IL-4, IL-5 or IL-13 mRNA positive cells compared to allergen stimulation alone. However, neutralization of IFN- γ did impact on IL-5 protein positive cells, demonstrating its inhibitory role in Th2 cytokine production and suggesting possible post-transcriptional regulatory mechanisms controlling IL-5 protein synthesis.

IL-10 is produced by many cell types such as monocytes and macrophages, but it is also produced by T cells, including Th1, Th2 and regulatory T cells[551-553]. IL-10 has numerous anti-inflammatory effects. IL-10 can inhibit Th1 and Th2 cytokine production[551]. IL-10 can also inhibit MHC class II molecule and B7 expression

reducing the ability of antigen-presenting cells to present antigen and activate T cells [548, 554, 555]. IL-10 can also inhibit IgE synthesis and eosinophil survival[556, 557]. When IL-10 was neutralized in the nasal mucosa, the inhibitory effects of LPS on Th2 cytokine mRNA production were abrogated. Similarly, neutralization of IL-10 augmented the number of IL-5 protein producing cells. These results show IL-10's potent role in downregulating Th2 cytokine production. Surprisingly, neutralization of IL-10 caused a reproducible reduction of IL-12 and IFN- γ after LPS stimulation. IL-10 has been demonstrated to reduce IFN- γ [516] and IL-12[558], and its neutralization should have caused an increase in their production. This effect needs further investigation to determine if this is an explant-specific phenomenon or an unknown regulatory process found in children. Immunohistochemistry for Th1 and Th2 cytokines after IL-10 reutralization were similar to the *in situ* hybridization results, suggesting that IL-10's effects may be at the level of transcription and not translation.

IL-12 is a heterodimeric cytokine produced by many cell types but mostly antigen-presenting cells in response to bacteria or bacterial products[559, 560]. IL-12 induces cytokine production, proliferation and enhanced cytotoxic ability of NK cells and T cells. IL-12 is particularly a potent inducer of IFN- γ of both NK cells and T cells, and inhibits IL-4 production[561, 562]. IL-12 was greatly induced by LPS challenge of the mucosa, similarly to previous results[293]. Neutralization of IL-12 upon simultaneous LPS and allergen challenge caused increases in IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 mRNA positive cells, to levels comparable of allergen challenges. At the same time, neutralization of IL-12 reduced IFN- γ mRNA positive and protein positive cells, further demonstrating the functions of IL-12 at inducing Th1 cytokine production and downregulating Th2 cytokine
production. IL-12 is known to induce IL-10 production from T cells, possibly to limit its pro-inflammatory effects[563, 564]. In explants, IL-12 neutralization significantly reduced IL-10 production, supporting the concept that IL-12 plays a role in inducing IL-10, and may act together to prevent allergen-driven Th2 allergic response. Furthermore, it is important to note that the relative number of IL-10-immunoreactive cells following LPS stimulation was almost five times higher than the number of IL-12-immunoreactive cells, suggesting that IL-10 may be the dominant cytokine in LPS-induced inhibition of allergic inflammation. The effects of IL-12 neutralization were seen at the level of mRNA and protein, suggesting that IL-12 inhibits transcription of Th2 cytokines. When both IL-12 and IFN- γ were neutralized together, no additive effect in inducing Th2 cytokines was observed, and the effect was comparable to neutralization of IL-12 alone. This demonstrates that IL-12 has a greater effect than IFN- γ in diminishing allergen induced inflammation. Dual neutralization of IL-12 and IFN-y caused a similar effect to single neutralization of IL-12 on levels of IL-10, supporting the greater role IL-12 plays in IL-10 induction. Interestingly, neutralization of IL-12 and IFN- γ caused an additive decrease in IL-12 mRNA and protein positive cells, compared to single neutralizations. This suggests that IFN- γ can have a positive feedback on itself by promoting IL-12 production in the tissue. This is supported by findings showing that IFN-y can induce production of IL-12, and in many cases, IFN-y is necessary for IL-12 to be produced [565-567].

The nasal mucosa from young children, irrespective of their atopic state, is primed to respond quickly to bacterial products. Similarly to a previous report[293], the cells that seemed to respond the most to LPS stimulation in the mucosa were CD3⁺ cells. In only 24 hours, LPS caused a dose dependent increase in CD3⁺ cells in both the nasal mucosa of atopic and non-atopic children, and for each dose, no difference was seen between the patient groups. Increase in these populations in the nasal mucosa of atopic children was shown to be due to local proliferation of these cells by the BrdU uptake assay. It is also possible that stimulation may increase marker expression and experiments would need to be performed to determine the effects of LPS on total cellularity of the tissue. 60% of the CD3⁺ cells were positive for CD25, and many of these cells were also positive for CD4. At the same dose of LPS, CD3⁺ cells and IL-10 mRNA positive cells both rose about 6-fold in the tissue, suggesting that CD3⁺ were activated to produce IL-10. In addition, numbers of CD25⁺ cells were similar to IL-10 mRNA positive cells. Taken together, this provides evidence that naturally occurring CD4⁺CD25⁺ immunoregulatory T cells in the nasal explants from children are likely to be the major source of IL-10, which is involved in controlling Th2 responses to allergen upon LPS stimulation. Many cells were positive for TLR4 that were not CD4⁺, and these may also be involved in production of IL-10. Further experiments would be needed to characterize these cells and their involvment in LPS-mediated downregulation of allergic inflammation.

To activate T cells, usually antigen presentation and accessory costimulatory molecules, such as CD80 and CD86, are necessary. *In vitro* experiments have shown that CD4⁺CD25⁺ T regulatory cells seem to mediate fully competent suppression in the absence of CD80 or CD86[568]. This suggests that, while costimulation is necessary for the development of T-regulatory cells, their suppressor functions may be activated independently of antigen presentation[569]. These concepts support the results obtained

from LPS challenge of the nasal explants; LPS without antigen caused increases in CD3⁺ cells in both atopic and non-atopic mucosa. A recent report showed that murine CD4⁺CD25⁺ T regulatory cells selectively express TLR4, TLR5, TLR7 and TLR8[433]. In addition, LPS stimulation of murine CD4⁺CD25⁺ T regulatory cells with LPS enhanced suppressor function, survival and proliferation, all of which was independent of antigen-presenting cells. Expression of TLR4 on CD3 positive cells was investigated to determine if this population of cells existed in children. Indeed, many CD3⁺ cells were positive for TLR4. In addition, allergen did not increase the TLR4⁺CD3⁺, but when the tissue was simultaneously challenged with LPS and allergen, a large increase was seen. TLR4 expression was also co-localized with IL-10 and an increase in double positive cells was seen upon 24 hour incubation with LPS. Overall, the results obtained suggest that CD4⁺CD25⁺ T regulatory cells in the atopic mucosa of children express TLR4, and LPS directly causes this population to proliferate and produce IL-10.

The LPS-induced increase in CD3 immunoreactivity and associated increase in IL-10 mRNA expression in atopic mucosa from children was not observed in atopic adults. LPS unresponsiveness of atopic adults was most likely attributable to the extremely low basal expression of TLR4 when compared to both atopic and non-atopic children. As in other reports, LPS sensitivity seemed dependent upon TLR4 expression[484]. Non-atopic adults had a significantly higher level of TLR4 positive cells and TLR4 positive cells increased with LPS stimulation. Studies have shown that several mutations in TLR4 may account for decreased LPS responsiveness[498, 570], but besides results in this thesis, variability in responsiveness to LPS was never associated with differences in TLR4 expression between atopic and non-atopic individuals.

The levels of TLR4 positive cells in the nasal mucosa of non-atopic adults were significantly lower than both atopic and non-atopic children. Decreased expression of TLR4 in non-atopic adults may be related to the ability of the immune system to decline with age. Recent studies by Renshaw and colleagues have shown that in mice, TLR activation by their ligands and even the abundance of TLRs decrease with age[571]. In other studies, levels of TLR4 on monocytes did not differ with age in both mice and humans[572, 573]. Therefore, differences in numbers of TLR4 positive cells between children and adults may be cell-type dependent. This is supported by the report that T cells in peripheral blood of healthy adults were shown to have low levels of TLR4 mRNA, but this was never compared to levels in children[432]. Levels of TLR4 expression may also depend on PAMP exposure during life, and if an individual is expressed to a lesser load of PAMPs, levels of TLR4 may decrease. To clarify this issue, a larger population of adults would have to be studied and correlations would have to be performed with age and LPS exposure levels.

The protective effect of LPS in atopic children against allergen-induced inflammation is most likely driven directly by TLR4 and not other TLR receptors. This is supported by results obtained using purified LPS preparations, which selectively activates TLR4 only and not TLR2 or other TLRs. Differences in LPS sensitivity between adults and children may not only be limited to TLR4 expression. TLR4 is physically associated with MD-2 in its extracellular domain, and MD-2 is essential for binding of LPS and activation of TLR4[445-447], and its levels have not been investigated in this work. In addition, LPS is transferred to TLR4 via the protein CD14[452, 453]. Recent studies have shown that neonate monocytes have reduced CD14

expression on their surface as well as reduced intracellular Myd88 expression[572, 574]. It is speculated that reduced neonate responsiveness to LPS are to reduce the risk of inflammatory reactions *in utero* that could lead to premature delivery[572]. Thus, there are important differences in the capacity of adults, children and even neonates to respond to bacterial LPS, which may play a vital role in maturation of the immune system.

Atopic nasal mucosa from adults is associated with high expression of Th2 cytokines and Th2-associated transcription factors [37, 61, 90, 91, 575], which may play a role in reducing TLR4 and LPS responsiveness. The immortalized cell line, U-937, was used as a model to determine the regulation of TLR4 by the Th2 cytokine IL-4 and by the transcription factor STAT6. The U-937 monocytic cell line was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), and the original stock was derived by Sundstrom and Nilsson in 1974 from malignant cells of monocytic origin, obtained from the pleural effusion of a patient with histiocytic lymphoma [576]. This cell line was chosen for numerous reasons. U-937 cells are well characterized, used often in research, are easy to culture in vitro, express high levels of baseline TLR4 and are sensitive to LPS [577]. They also express functional IL-4 receptor and STAT6 and respond to IL-4 similarly to peripheral blood monocytes [538, 578]. The experiments are also simplified by use of a homogenous cell line and are therefore more reproducible. Many of the experiments required transfection of plasmids into cells and primary cells from patients are very sensitive and vary significantly in the conditions needed to achieve efficient transfection results. Although cell lines give insight into underlying mechanisms, results obtained should be confirmed with primary cells from human subjects.

Several reports have shown that U-937 cells produce TNF-alpha, IL-1β, and IL-10 upon LPS stimulation[306, 579-581]. In these reports, IL-4 could reduce LPSinduced production of TNF- α , IL-10 and IL-1 β , but the mechanism has not been determined. Two major pathways of signal transduction are activated by LPS, the early MyD88-dependent pathway and the late MyD88-independent pathway[454-456, 467]. Activation of the early Myd88-dependent pathway leads to rapid activation of NF- κ B[341, 456, 467]. The MyD88-independent pathway also involved activation of NF- κ B, but with slower kinetics than the MyD88-dependent pathway[467]. In this work, NF-KB activation by LPS was measured with or without IL-4 stimulation. LPS stimulation caused a robust activation of NF-kB which was significantly reduced when U-937 cells were preincubated with IL-4 for 24 hours. If IL-4 was added at the same time as LPS, IL-4 had no significant effect, suggesting that preincubation activates regulatory mechanisms which require time to have an effect. In studies on sepsis, for IL-4 to have protective effects it needed to be administered before LPS exposure [307, 311, 582]. The mechanism by which this is occurs was not determined, but it can be either through downregulation of LPS receptor components, inhibition of signal transduction components or cross talk between signal transduction pathways. One possibility is that IL-4 induces the suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1)[583], which can downregulate IRAK1 activation, necessary for the MyD88-dependent pathway [357, 584].

This work also shows that the mechanism by which IL-4 mediates its inhibitory effects may be related to regulation of TLR4. IL-4 inhibited TLR4 mRNA and transcriptional activity as early as 6 hours in U-937 cells, but it was only after 12 hours that surface expression of TLR4 was significantly decreased. This suggests that time is

required for IL-4 to inhibit LPS signaling machinery, and this may be due to the time it takes for existing TLR4 to be degraded and replaced by nascent TLR4. The time point where a significant reduction in surface expression of TLR4 was seen coincides with the incubation time that caused decreased LPS responsiveness as measured by the NF- κ B assay. It is possible that IL-4 can inhibit other components of the LPS receptor, such as MD-2 and CD14, but this was not investigated in this work. IL-4 has been shown to be able to reduce CD14 surface expression in monocytes, but this mechanism has not been investigated for its effects on LPS responsiveness[585].

Downregulation of IL-4 mRNA and transcriptional activity of TLR4 suggests that IL-4 activates transcriptional repression of the gene. IL-4 functions by binding the IL-4 receptor, which consists of an IL-4R α subunit and the γ common (γ_c) chain subunit[173, 174], or by binding to the IL-13 receptor, which consists of the IL-4R α subunit and the IL13R α_1 subunit[185]. The main signal transduction pathway activated by IL-4 binding to its receptor is the Jak-STAT pathway involving Jak1[175] and Jak3 [175, 176] and both can phosphorylate STAT6. Phosphorylated STAT6 homodimerizes, migrates to the nucleus, binds to STAT6-response elements and once there it regulates transcription. Many genes activated by STAT6 are important for allergic inflammation, such as IgE[88, 89] or the chemokine eotaxin[168-170] and STAT6-deficient animals have defective IL-4 responses[58]. STAT6 has been shown to play an important role in LPS-mediated STAT6-deficient mice have uncontrolled production of cytokine and sepsis[314]. chemokine production after challenge with LPS, and the mice also succumb to sub-lethal doses of LPS compared to their wild type counterparts. This suggests an essential role for STAT6 in controlling LPS sensitivity.

As well as an activator of transcription, STAT6 has been shown to inhibit transcription of many genes[586]. The N-terminal domain of STAT proteins mediates DNA binding[587, 588]. The C-terminal part of STAT6 protein is a proline-rich domain involved in activation of transcription, called the transactivation domain[589-591]. Transcription factors function by binding other proteins known as cofactors of transcription that recruit additional cofactors or the basal transcription machinery to the promoter site and/or function as chromatin modifying enzymes. STAT6 has been shown to associate with CREB-binding protein (CBP) while another region associates with nuclear receptor coactivator 1 (NCoA-1)[591, 592]. Both these regions of STAT6 significantly increase transcription, potentially through induction of histone acetylase activity, which opens up chromatin for transcription. STAT6 can inhibit transcription by competing for binding sites of other transcription factors such as STAT1 and NF-KB[593, 594]. STAT6 can also inhibit transcription by competing with other transcription factors for co-activators of transcription[595]. NF-kB has been shown to associate with both CBP and NCoA-1[596, 597], but competition between STAT6 and NF-kB for these factors has yet to be described. In U-937 cells, Jak kinase activity was essential for inhibition of TLR4 mRNA by IL-4; if Jak kinases were inhibited using typhostin AG 490, IL-4 had no effect on levels of TLR4 mRNA. Effects of the inhibitor on TLR4 surface expression and transcriptional activity were not measured. Transfection of U-937 cells with STAT6, to cause constitutive overexpression of this protein, allowed for investigation of transcriptional activity of the upstream region of the TLR4 gene. When IL-4 was added to the STAT6 transfected cells, a great reduction in transcriptional activity of the reporter plasmid was observed, which was greater than the reduction and of longer duration than that provided by endogenous STAT6. As STAT6 inhibited the transcriptional activity of the upstream region of the TLR4 in the reporter plasmid, this suggests that STAT6 plays a direct role in regulating transcription of TLR4.

STAT6-binding sites have been identified in many promoter regions of IL-4 responsive genes. The STAT6 binding site consensus sequence is 5'-TTC(N)₄GAA-3', where N_4 is any series of four nucleotides [598]. Sequence analysis of the cloned upstream region of TLR4, which was determined to be sensitive to IL-4, revealed six potential STAT6 binding sites. Truncation of the upstream region cloned into TLR4 revealed that the IL-4 responsive region was present about 3400 base pairs upstream of the start codon of TLR4. This region contained only one potential STAT6 binding site. A STAT6 chromatin immunoprecipitation confirmed that STAT6 does indeed bind to this region of DNA. Although these results show that IL-4 activates STAT6 to bind to a site in the upstream region of the TLR4 gene, the mechanism by which STAT6 functions remains to be determined. Potentially, at this site, STAT6 can inhibit basal transcription of TLR4. In the first analysis of the upstream region of TLR4, Rehli and colleagues determined that an inhibitory region of DNA was present upstream of the TLR4 gene[496]. When this region was removed, transcriptional activity increased more than double, but the nature of this region has not been determined. The STAT6 binding site that was determined in this work was found to be present in this region of the upstream region of TLR4, and it is possible that STAT6 may promote the effects of this inhibitory sequence of DNA. To determine the mechanism by which STAT6 inhibits TLR4 more experiments would be required. For example, mutation of the DNA binding site of STAT6 in the overexpression plasmid could help determine if STAT6 inhibits TLR4 by

competing with other transcription factors for the binding of the DNA. Removal of the transactivation domain of STAT6 would help determine if this region of the STAT6 protein is necessary to mediate its inhibitory effects.

IL-13, another Th2 cytokine, sharing the IL-4 receptor components, can activate STAT6 and be protective against sepsis. IL-13 has been shown to reduce LPS-induced IL-6, IL-8, IL-1 β and TNF α [178, 312, 313]. Although this study was largely focused on IL-4, preliminary results showed that IL-13 was capable in decreasing U-937 cell expression of TLR4 mRNA in a time and dose dependent manner (data not shown). These effects are most likely mediated by STAT6 as well. Other cytokines, such as GM-CSF and TGF β , may have a role in the regulation of TLR4 with IL-4 and IL-13. When used in combination with IL-4, GM-CSF and TGF β decrease TLR4 expression and LPS responsiveness in monocytes[599].

IL-4 rapidly decreased but did not abolish TLR4 expression. Rapid decrease suggests direct inhibition by STAT6 rather than transcription of indirect inhibitors. Moreover, incomplete inhibition as well as a transient effect seen suggests that IL-4 and STAT6 fine tune responses rather than completely suppress TLR4. The effect on TLR4 surface expression was modest but significant and was smaller than what was observed in primary monocytes[489]. This effect may be related to cell type differences; U-937 cells may be refractory to IL-4 treatment over time. Indeed, it has been reported that there is less STAT6 phosphorylation and less γ_c chain expression in monocytes after incubation with IL-4[306]. This may explain why overexpressing STAT6 in U-937 prolonged IL-4's inhibition of the upstream region of TLR4. Perhaps in other cell types that possess more STAT6 or are more responsive to IL-4, downregulation of TLR4 would be stronger

and of longer duration. Alternate mechanisms to downregulation of signal transduction include activation of endogenous inhibitors of STAT6 such as Src homology-containing phosphatase-1 (SHP-1)[600], protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A)[601] and SOCS-1[602]. Other mechanisms have been proposed for the regulation of STAT6 activity. Removal of a methyl group on Arg²⁷ of STAT6 decreases phosphorylation of STAT6 and its nuclear translocation[603]. Regulation of STAT6 has shown to be more complex than once believed, and whether these play a role in the transient nature of IL-4 effects in the U-937 cell model was not determined.

For this work, the role of IL-4 in downregulating TLR4 in U-937 was confirmed in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from children. Peripheral blood is a quick and easy source of leukocytes including lymphocytes, granulocytes, monocytes and macrophages. Peripheral blood was taken from children rather than adults as the studies in the explant model revealed a higher expression of TLR4 in children. In addition, Mita et al. demonstrated that TLR4 expression in monocytes from peripheral blood of adults was downregulated by IL-4[489], but this effect was not determined in monocytes and T cells from children. Monocytes from children expressed high levels of TLR4, and after incubation with IL-4 for 24 hours, the absolute number of monocytes expressing TLR4 did not differ significantly, but the expression level was significantly reduced. Reduction of TLR4 by IL-4 was not as great as that reported by Mita et al., but this may be due to differences in the dose of IL-4 used or even an age specific effect. In addition, use of FSC and SSC parameters to gate for monocytes and lymphocytes provides only a rough estimate of the monocyte population. It is also possible that large lymphocytes such as natural killer cells were present in the monocyte gate, although these cells are found in lesser numbers in the blood and their expression of TLR4 is still undetermined. Staining for specific cell markers using antibodies is a better strategy to identify the cell populations than FSC and SSC parameters. CD3 staining is specific for T cells as it is a component of the T cell receptor, and all the cells that expressed high levels of CD4 were positive for CD3. Monocytes also express CD4 but have a much lower expression than T cells making it easy to discriminate these two populations. Cells expressing TLR4 and high levels of CD4 were thus T cells, and these cells responded strongly to IL-4; the population of CD4⁺TLR4⁺ was significantly reduced after incubation of PBMCs with IL-4 for 24 hours. Therefore, TLR4⁺ T cells in the nasal mucosa may be similarly affected by IL-4 and would have a reduced responsiveness to LPS, by loss of expression of the receptor. This may be the mechanism by which atopic adults have reduced TLR4 protein positive cells in their nasal mucosa.

4.3 Implications of these Results

These results demonstrate the ability of the bacterial product LPS to prevent local allergen-induced allergic inflammation in the nasal mucosa of children. Moreover, the results suggest a possible mechanism for the hygiene hypothesis, where exposure of young children to LPS can promote Th1 cytokine production and anti-inflammatory cytokine production in the nasal mucosa by Th1 cells and TLR4⁺ T-regulatory cells. Responses of children were different from atopic adults, suggesting that long-standing allergic rhinitis can impair responsiveness to the benefits of LPS. This was dependent on TLR4 which could be inhibited by IL-4, a mediator of atopy, in a STAT6 dependent mechanism. In addition, IL-4 could inhibit T cell expression of TLR4, suggesting that

allergic responses could downplay the protective role of LPS in inducing the activity of this cell population.

The protective effects of LPS in reducing atopy seem to depend on the age of the patient. This has been observed in epidemiological studies and in LPS airway challenges in adults. In young children, exposure to LPS reduces the risk of atopy, while exposure in adults will aggravate airway inflammation. This may be due to complex interplay between allergens and host cytokine production. Bacterial components may also only have a short and temporary therapeutic window to act. While this work shows that T cells and monocytes from children lose expression of TLR4 upon incubation with IL-4, peripheral blood B cells from healthy adults can have an increased TLR4 expression with IL-4[489]. This denotes both age and cell-specific regulation of TLR4. Activation of mast cells by LPS would promote allergic inflammation instead of downregulating it. LPS stimulated mast cells can produce Th2 cytokines and chemokines to recruit eosinophils[604]. In addition, activation of TLR4 with LPS and FccRI with antigen leads to a synergistically increased production of TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-13 by activation of MAP kinases[605]. Although not significant, IL-4 seems to increase eosinophil expression of TLR4 mRNA[606]. In addition, activation of eosinophils with LPS led to increased adhesion molecule expression, survival and superoxide production. The cell and age specific effects on TLR4 expression may be due to different levels of expression and activity of transcription factors or accessibility of the TLR4 gene for transcription, but these mechanisms need to be determined. Therefore, LPS may be protective in the initial steps of sensitization to allergen or when IgE levels in the subject are not at their peak.

More research is required to determine the individual role of the different cell types, especially in children, in LPS responses and sensitization.

Evidence, in murine models shows that TLRs may have a role in the development of Th2 immune responses [290, 291]. While high doses promote Th1 cytokine production, low doses of LPS can promote Th2 immune response, primarily through the activation of dendritic cells. In addition, TLR4 deficient mice have defective Th2 cytokine production and IgE-mediated sensitivity to antigen[292]. Although comparable doses of LPS were used in this study, several possibilities may explain the differences obtained. Differences seen may be due to tissue, age and species as immune responses seen in mice may not necessarily translate to immune responses in humans. Deletion of TLR4 gene may also have effects on development of the immune system. In Drosophila, Toll protein is not only involved in innate immune responses but is also plays an important functional role in embryogenesis[333-335]. One cannot discount the fact that systemic recruitment plays a role in TLR4 generation of Th2 reactions, and the explant model separates the tissue from the systemic circulation. Despite this, the explant model provides the advantage that human tissue, rather than an animal model is used. Nevertheless, the influence of the systemic immune system in allergic rhinitis needs to be determined to further develop the conclusion with respect to LPS on allergic inflammation.

The nasal passages are in constant exposure to the environment and are the site of inflammation in allergic rhinitis, but can also be colonized by bacteria. According to the results from this study, allergic rhinitis would be a predisposing factor for nasal bacterial infections. In allergic rhinitis patients, damage caused by inflammation and frequent clearance of protective mucus combined with decreased TLR4 levels would lead to

193

greater colonization of the upper airways by bacteria. The number of studies exploring bacterial sinusitis and allergic rhinitis are limited, and a large variability is seen between studies; patients with both diseases range from 25% to 70% [607]. Nonetheless, patients with allergic rhinitis have a greater incidence of sinusitis than controls[608-611]. In one study, persistent allergic rhinitis was associated with more than two-fold increased risk for sinusitis than non-allergic controls, but it was unclear if it was of bacterial origin[612]. In other studies, the presence of bacteria was clearer; patients with persistent allergic rhinitis are associated with a two fold increase in *Staphylococcus aureus*[613], and in another study, 90% of subjects with a positive skin test to allergens had presence of potential pathogenic bacteria in their nasal cavity compared to 36% of patients with a negative skin test[614]. Despite the link, the immunopathological reasons for this predisposition are unclear and more studies are required. It is possible that decreases in innate resistance in allergic rhinitis may play a role in the predisposition. This work has focused on TLR4 expression in the nasal mucosa and it would be important to determine whether other PRRs are also reduced in allergic rhinitis, leading to an even greater predisposition to infection.

Few reports have looked in detail at the transcriptional regulation of TLR4. Studies include investigation of basal transcription factors in monocytes[496] and transcription under conditions of hypoxia[497]. This work has added to the current knowledge by demonstrating a role of STAT6 in downregulating TLR4 in monocytes and potentially T-regulatory cells. Other transcription factors involved in allergic inflammation may also regulate TLR4. The transcription factor GATA3 has a large role to play in the development of Th2 reactions. Naïve, freshly activated T cells and Th2

cells express high levels of GATA3 but not Th1 cells [59, 615]. The role of GATA3 in the development of Th2 reactions cannot be shown by simple deletion as GATA3 knockout mice die 11-12 days after conception displaying massive internal bleeding, marked growth retardation, severe deformities of the brain and spinal cord, and gross aberrations in fetal liver hematopoiesis[616]. Inhibition of GATA3 with antisense oligonucleotides showed a crucial function for this transcription factor in activation of Th2 cytokines[59]. GATA3 is critical for the production of IL-5 and IL-13 but not for IL-4[617-619]. Like STAT6, GATA3 has been associated with chromatin remodeling of the IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 genes [620, 621]. The chromatin of these genes is maintained in an open state, by modification of DNA and proteins such as histones, to promote transcription of these genes. In addition, GATA3 has been shown to be important in maintenance of chromatin in its remodeled state[60]. GATA3 has been shown to be increased in allergic asthma in humans and in allergen sensitization models in mice[62, 63, 622]. The current consensus is that GATA3 is a master regulator of Th2 cell generation. The DNA binding sequence of GATA3 is known and preliminary analysis of the upstream region of TLR4 by computer analysis demonstrates nine potential GATA3 binding sites (data not shown). This suggests a potential role of GATA3 in regulating TLR4 expression in T cells. It is known that TLR2 expression can be controlled by chromatin remodeling[623, 624], and it is possible that TLR4 is as well. IL-4 activation of GATA3 may potentially inhibit TLR4 expression by modifying chromatin to shut down gene expression, and this would provide longstanding inhibition of gene expression. This may explain the low expression of TLR4 in adults with allergic rhinitis.

It is still not clear by what mechanism allergens are seen as a threat to the host, as they cause little damage. Similar responses to allergens denote possible structural similarities or even a common receptor. Inhaled allergens are stable proteins, are often proteases of low molecular weight, and have a high proportion of hydrophobic residues[625]. It is possible that a conserved molecular pattern on allergens causes them to react with a PRR. It is even possible that TLR4 may function as a receptor for allergens, as the extracellular domain of this receptor has a broad hydrophobic surface for Low dose stimulations of LPS induce the production of Th2 binding of ligands. cytokines from dendritic cells and TLR4 is essential for the development of Th2 immune It is possible that TLR4 has low affinity for allergens and responses[290-292]. suboptimal signal transduction would induce the production of Th2 inducing cytokines from antigen-presenting cells rather than Th1 inducing cytokines. In this case, part of the mechanism of the hygiene hypothesis would be a competition between allergens and bacterial PAMPs for PRRs and induction of adaptive immune responses. It is of crucial importance to determine the mechanisms that allergens induce allergic inflammation to prevent the development of allergic diseases in children.

4.4 Therapeutic Implications

The results of this work suggest important considerations in the development of therapies for atopic disease. Inflammatory cells of the nasal mucosa, their expression of TLR4 and their responsiveness to LPS are different between children and adults. In addition, neutralizing antibodies to IL-10, IL-12 and IFN- γ shows the importance of these cytokines in reducing allergic inflammation induced by LPS. Allergic rhinitis is associated with lowered IL-10 production compared to normal individuals[548]. Therapy

may focus on promoting Th1 cytokine production and IL-10 or promoting the generation of T-regulatory cells that express TLR4 if not in adults, more importantly in developing children to curb the increase in allergic disease prevalence. Aside from potentially reducing allergic symptoms, promoting TLR4 expression may be also helpful in providing protection from predisposition of developing bacterial sinusitis.

The current pharmacological therapies for allergic diseases including adrenergic agonists, anti-histamines and steroids have numerous problems associated with them. These include side effects, tolerance development, short-lasting effects and immune system suppression. Inhaled corticosteroids may even increase the severity of allergic diseases by suppressing Th1 development and enhancing Th2 cytokine synthesis such as IL-4 and IL-5[626, 627]. An alternative to pharmacotherapy is allergen immunotherapy. This is the practice of administering gradually increasing doses of allergen to a patient to ameliorate the symptoms associated with subsequent exposure with the specific causative allergen[628]. Allergen immunotherapy is effective at reducing IgE-mediated disease but requires numerous injections over the course of 3 to 5 years[629]. Allergen immunotherapy is highly effective at reducing IgE-mediated disease. It is one of the few immunomodulatory therapies used routinely for treatment of an inflammatory disease. Rhinitics and allergic asthmatics on immunotherapy can tolerate seasonal exposure to allergens with decreased symptoms, an effect that can last three years after treatment completion[630]. Unfortunately, as allergens are used, there is a chance of IgE-mediated systemic reactions and anaphylaxis. The mechanisms of allergen immunotherapy are not clear. Current understanding focuses on the deviation from a Th2 phenotype to a Th1 phenotype, a decreased responsiveness of the Th2 biased cells[520] or immune regulation

by cytokines, such as IFN- γ or IL-10[631]. There is also the possibility of the other mechanisms such as the induction of IL-10 production by CD4⁺CD25⁺ T regulatory cells[632], although, in some cases, Th1 cytokines may play a greater role in immunotherapy than immunoregulatory T cells[633]. These mechanisms are similar to the mechanisms by which LPS functions to diminish allergen-induced inflammation in the nasal mucosa of atopic children. Immunotherapy possibly reestablishes the mechanisms present in children but lost in atopic adults. Perhaps attempts to increase the regulatory T cell population or activity may improve immunotherapy. One method would be to stimulate tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily 9 (TNFRSF9), as stimulation of the mouse homolog 4-1BB can induce the proliferation of CD4⁺CD25⁺ T regulatory cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*[634]. Another possibility is increasing the recruitment of Th1 cells from the circulation or to increase their local differentiation with cytokines such as IL-12 or IFN- γ .

It is possible that combination of PAMPs to immunotherapy may increase the efficiency, shorten the duration and avoid potential side-effects of the treatments. This treatment has as its aim a deviation of Th2 cytokine responses to Th1 cytokine responses. The PAMPs are used as adjuvants, which are substances that enhance the immune responses to an antigen. One adjuvant used for immunotherapy is derived from LPS and consists of 3-deacylated monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL). MPL can promote Th1 responses primarily through induction of IL-12 production[635]. When MPL was conjugated to grass pollen allergen, after only four preseasonal injections, reduced symptoms and IgE production were seen in patients with hay fever[636]. Similarly, the TLR9 ligand CpG DNA, when conjugated to purified ragweed and injected in patients

with allergic rhinitis, could reduce symptom scores to allergen during ragweed season, reduce nasal eosinophilia, Th2 cytokine production and could increase IFN- γ positive cells[637]. Unfortunately, for these therapies to be successful, adequate PRR expression is necessary and if Th2 cytokines reduce PRR expression, then allergic inflammation may reduce the potential benefit of these therapies. It is possible that to promote PAMP conjugated allergen immunotherapy, Th2 cytokines should be reduced prior to the treatments. Allergen immunotherapy is also performed by sub-cutaneous injections, and perhaps localized nasal immunotherapy may provide greater and faster therapeutic benefits and be more effective than by altering systemic immune responses to the allergen. In addition intranasal administration of PAMPs may be potential treatment option to protect atopic children from developing lifelong allergic inflammation. Investigation of these avenues may lead to development of alleviation of symptoms if not a complete protection from allergic inflammation.

4.5 Future Studies

The findings of this work set the stage for further research. Here presented are future studies that can be conducted to further the work of this thesis:

1. A full characterization of the TLR4⁺ CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells found in the nasal mucosa of children or the TLR4⁺CD4⁺ T cells found in the peripheral blood of children would be interesting. It is necessary to determine whether these cells possess the other proteins of the LPS receptor, MD2 and CD14, as well as the necessary signal transduction components for LPS responsiveness. In addition, a determination of what genes are activated upon activation of the cells with TLR4 ligands would be necessary. The

mechanisms by which TLR4 is regulated in these cells, or what can cause these cells to proliferate would also yield potential information to promote TLR4 expression in allergic adults.

2. It would be also important to determine whether Th2 cytokines have an impact on other components of the LPS receptor or LPS signal transduction events. Also it would be of interest to determine if other TLRs have reduced expression in the nasal mucosa of allergic adults. It would also help in showing different potential PAMPs that would benefit the early immune system against the production of allergic disease. This would help to determine which ligands would function most efficiently in adjuvant modified immunotherapy.

3. The regulation of TLR4 and other TLRs needs to be further elucidated. Further characterization of the mechanism by which STAT6 functions to inhibit TLR4 is needed. In addition, Tyrphostin AG 490 may cause unrecognized nonspecific effects on the cells and another method, such as STAT6 antisense oligonucleotides or small interfering RNA (siRNA), to inhibit STAT6 is required to confirm these results. Numerous potential transcription factor binding sites were observed during computer analysis of the upstream region of TLR4. This included potential GATA3 binding sites. GATA3 may play an important role in the regulation of TLR4 in chronic allergic rhinitis. In addition, other potential regulators of TLR4, such as the novel Th2-associated cytokine IL-33, and their mechanisms of action need to be better characterized.

4. Perhaps of greatest interest is the elucidation of the mechanisms by which allergens function to cause sensitization and activation of primary Th2 immune responses. This is especially important, since increases in allergic disease incidence is a world-wide phenomenon. It is possible that a PRR plays a role in binding to allergen and can induce the necessary IL-4 to prime Th2 immune responses. Potentially TLR4 or other TLRs may play a role in the recognition of allergen and this possibility needs to be investigated.

4.6 Summary and Conclusion

In summary, this thesis demonstrates the ability of bacterial LPS to prevent local allergen-induced allergic inflammation in the nasal mucosa of atopic children. This was shown to occur by down-regulation of local Th2 cytokine production and induction of Th1 cytokine and IL-10 production. LPS also caused the proliferation and activation of TLR4⁺IL-10 producing cells and CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells. These events are dependent upon local tissue constituents and independent of systemic recruitment of inflammatory cells, and require TLR4 for this process to occur. In addition, CD3⁺ cells were shown to be one of the major cell types expressing TLR4 in the nasal mucosa of children. Moreover, it was shown that responses to LPS and expression of TLR4 are significantly different between children and adults, especially adults with allergic rhinitis. Allergic inflammation may downregulate TLR4 expression as IL-4 and STAT6 can downregulate TLR4 in an *in vitro* model and IL-4 can downregulate peripheral blood T cell expression of TLR4. Activation of STAT6 led to binding of STAT6 to an upstream region of the TLR4 gene, where it may mediate the inhibitory actions of IL-4. TLR4 is an important bridge between the innate and adaptive immune systems and its activation may provide protection against the development of atopic diseases by promoting the maturation of the immune system. This provides one of the potential molecular mechanisms of the hygiene hypothesis, where bacterial components promote immunoregulatory responses to allergen. On the other hand, in adults, Th2 cytokines may promote allergic inflammation by downregulating components of the innate immune system; aside from stimulating proinflammatory mediators, IL-4 can downregulate the innate immune receptor TLR4, potentially affecting the immunoregulatory effect of LPS in allergic disease. **5.0 Research Compliance Certificates**

6.0 Contributions of Authors

The following original manuscripts, which have been published in peer-reviewed scientific journals and are part of the thesis work of Pierre-Olivier Fiset:

 Pierre-Olivier Fiset, Meri K. Tulic, Petra S.A. Skrablin, Samuel M. Grover, Séverine Létuvé, Bruce D. Mazer, and Qutayba Hamid. STAT6 downregulates Toll-like Receptor-4 Expression of a Monocytic Cell Line. (Clin Exp Allergy. 2006 Feb;36(2):158-65.)

2. Meri K. Tulić, Pierre-Olivier Fiset, John J Manoukian, Saul Frenkiel, François Lavigne, David H Eidelman, Qutayba Hamid. Role of toll-like receptor 4 in protection by bacterial lipopolysaccharide in the nasal mucosa of atopic children but not adults. Lancet. 2004 May; 363(9422):1689-97.

The following are the contributions of each author in each paper:

1. Pierre-Olivier played the greatest role in production of this manuscript. He designed the experiments, participated in the development of the cell model for this work, and played a major role in the experimental procedures and data acquisition. Mr Fiset also analyzed the results and put the manuscript together. Dr Meri Tulic played a role in theory behind this manuscript and in the editorial process. Ms. Petra Skablin, Mr Samuel Grover and Dr Séverine Létuvé assisted Mr Fiset in performing some of the experiments for this manuscript. Dr Bruce Mazer helped in supervision of the work and the editorial process. Dr Qutayba Hamid as senior author oversaw the work for this manuscript and the editorial process.

2. Dr Tulic played the greatest role in production of this manuscript but Mr Fiset made significant contributions. Dr Tulic led the experiments, played a role in development of the model, acquired data and put the manuscript together. Mr Fiset helped significantly in development of the model, played a significant role in developing the theory and experimental design for this work. He also acquired data, helped analyze it, helped in production of the figures, participated in writing the manuscript and the editorial process. Dr John Manoukian, Dr Saul Frenkiel and Dr François Lavigne participated in this study by providing nasal biopsies for the experiments from the Montreal Children's Hospital, from the Jewish General Hospital and from the Nôtre Dame Hospital, respectively. Dr David Eidelman helped in supervision of the work and the editorial process. Dr Qutayba Hamid as senior author oversaw the work for this manuscript and the editorial process.

7.0 References

- Bostock J. Case of a periodical affection of the eyes and chest. Medico-Chirurg Trans 1819; 10:161-62.
- Finn R. John Bostock, hay fever, and the mechanism of allergy. Lancet 1992; 340:1453-5.
- 3. Bostock J. On the cattarhus aestivus or summer catarrh. Medico-Chirurg Trans 1828; 14:437-46.
- Robinson DS, Tsicopoulos A, Meng Q, Durham S, Kay AB, Hamid Q. Increased interleukin-10 messenger RNA expression in atopic allergy and asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 14:113-7.
- Variations in the prevalence of respiratory symptoms, self-reported asthma attacks, and use of asthma medication in the European Community Respiratory Health Survey (ECRHS). Eur Respir J 1996; 9:687-95.
- Worldwide variation in prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, and atopic eczema: ISAAC. The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) Steering Committee. Lancet 1998; 351:1225-32.
- Kay A, Ying S, Varney V, Gaga M, Durham S, Moqbel R, Wardlaw A, Hamid Q. Messenger RNA expression of the cytokine gene cluster, interleukin 3 (IL-3), IL-4, IL-5, and granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor, in allergeninduced late-phase cutaneous reactions in atopic subjects. J. Exp. Med. 1991; 173:775-8.
- 8. Blackley CH. Experimental researches on the causes and nature of cattarhus aestivus (hay fever or hay asthma). London. Ballière, Tindall and Cox 1873;
- von Pirquet CPF. Klinische Studien über Vakzination und vakzinale Allergie. Münchener medizinische Wochenschrift 1906; 53:1457-8.
- Mantoux C. Intradermo-reaction de la tuberculine. Comptes rendus de l'Académie des sciences, Paris 1908; 147:355-57.
- 11. Gell PHG, R.A.A. C: Classification of allergic reactions responsible for clinical hypersensitivity and disease. In: *Clinical Aspects of Immunology* Edited by PGH

Gell, RRA Coombs, PJ Hachmann. Oxford, England: Blackwell Scientific Publications; 1968.

- 12. Janeway CA, Jr. Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 1989; 54 Pt 1:1-13.
- Owen RD. Immunogenetic Consequences of Vascular Anastomoses between Bovine Twins. Science 1945; 102:400-1.
- Burnet FM, Fenner F: The production of antibodies, 2nd edn. Melbourne, Australia: MacMillan; 1949.
- Brent L. The 50th anniversary of the discovery of immunologic tolerance. N Engl J Med 2003; 349:1381-3.
- Matzinger P. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol 1994; 12:991-1045.
- Prausnitz C, Küstner H. Studien über Überempfindlichkeit. Zentralbl Bakteriol Abt Orig 1921; 86:160.
- Ishizaka K, Ishizaka T. Identification of gamma-E-antibodies as a carrier of reaginic activity. J Immunol 1967; 99:1187-98.
- Ishizaka K, Ishizaka T, Hornbrook MM. Physicochemical properties of reaginic antibody. V. Correlation of reaginic activity wth gamma-E-globulin antibody. J Immunol 1966; 97:840-53.
- 20. Coca A, Cooke RA. On the classification of the phenomenon of hypersensitiveness. J Immunol 1923; 8:163-82.
- Johansson SG. Raised levels of a new immunoglobulin class (IgND) in asthma. Lancet 1967; 2:951-3.
- 22. Johansson SG. Discovery and development of IgE assays. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27 Suppl 1:60-3.
- Bennich HH, Ishizaka K, Johansson SG, Rowe DS, Stanworth DR, Terry WD. Immunoglobulin E: a new class of human immunoglobulin. Immunology 1968; 15:323-4.
- Bazaral M, Hamburger RN. Standardization and stability of immunoglobulin E (IgE). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1972; 49:189-91.

- Bousquet J, Coulomb Y, Arrendal H, Robinet-Levy M, Michel FB. Total serum IgE concentrations in adolescents and adults using the phadebas IgE PRIST technique. Allergy 1982; 37:397-406.
- 26. Kerkhof M, Dubois AE, Postma DS, Schouten JP, de Monchy JG. Role and interpretation of total serum IgE measurements in the diagnosis of allergic airway disease in adults. Allergy 2003; 58:905-11.
- Greisner WA, 3rd, Settipane RJ, Settipane GA. Co-existence of asthma and allergic rhinitis: a 23-year follow-up study of college students. Allergy Asthma Proc 1998; 19:185-8.
- Togias A. Rhinitis and asthma: evidence for respiratory system integration. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003; 111:1171-83; quiz 84.
- 29. Gaga M, Lambrou P, Papageorgiou N, Koulouris NG, Kosmas E, Fragakis S, Sofios C, Rasidakis A, Jordanoglou J. Eosinophils are a feature of upper and lower airway pathology in non-atopic asthma, irrespective of the presence of rhinitis. Clin Exp Allergy 2000; 30:663-9.
- Simons FE. Allergic rhinobronchitis: the asthma-allergic rhinitis link. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:534-40.
- Watson WT, Becker AB, Simons FE. Treatment of allergic rhinitis with intranasal corticosteroids in patients with mild asthma: effect on lower airway responsiveness. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993; 91:97-101.
- 32. Passalacqua G, Ciprandi G, Canonica GW. United airways disease: therapeutic aspects. Thorax 2000; 55 Suppl 2:S26-7.
- 33. Settipane RJ, Hagy GW, Settipane GA. Long-term risk factors for developing asthma and allergic rhinitis: a 23-year follow-up study of college students.
 Allergy Proc 1994; 15:21-5.
- Linneberg A, Henrik Nielsen N, Frolund L, Madsen F, Dirksen A, Jorgensen T.
 The link between allergic rhinitis and allergic asthma: a prospective populationbased study. The Copenhagen Allergy Study. Allergy 2002; 57:1048-52.
- 35. Guerra S, Sherrill DL, Martinez FD, Barbee RA. Rhinitis as an independent risk factor for adult-onset asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2002; 109:419-25.

- 36. Bousquet J, Van Cauwenberge P, Khaltaev N. Allergic rhinitis and its impact on asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001; 108:S147-334.
- 37. Durham SR, Ying S, Varney VA, Jacobson MR, Sudderick RM, Mackay IS, Kay AB, Hamid QA. Cytokine messenger RNA expression for IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, and granulocyte/macrophage-colony-stimulating factor in the nasal mucosa after local allergen provocation: relationship to tissue eosinophilia. J Immunol 1992; 148:2390-4.
- Naclerio RM, Proud D, Togias AG, Adkinson NF, Jr., Meyers DA, Kagey-Sobotka A, Plaut M, Norman PS, Lichtenstein LM. Inflammatory mediators in late antigen-induced rhinitis. N Engl J Med 1985; 313:65-70.
- 39. Varney VA, Jacobson MR, Sudderick RM, Robinson DS, Irani AM, Schwartz LB, Mackay IS, Kay AB, Durham SR. Immunohistology of the nasal mucosa following allergen-induced rhinitis. Identification of activated T lymphocytes, eosinophils, and neutrophils. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 146:170-6.
- 40. Togias A. Unique mechanistic features of allergic rhinitis. The Journal Of Allergy And Clinical Immunology 2000; 105:S599-S604.
- 41. Gelfand EW. Inflammatory mediators in allergic rhinitis. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2004; 114:S135-S8.
- 42. Pipkorn U, Karlsson G, Enerback L. The cellular response of the human allergic mucosa to natural allergen exposure. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988; 82:1046-54.
- Cameron L, Christodoulopoulos P, Lavigne F, Nakamura Y, Eidelman D, McEuen A, Walls A, Tavernier J, Minshall E, Moqbel R, Hamid Q. Evidence for local eosinophil differentiation within allergic nasal mucosa: inhibition with soluble IL-5 receptor. J Immunol 2000; 164:1538-45.
- 44. Winther B, Innes DJ, Jr., Mills SE, Mygind N, Zito D, Hayden FG. Lymphocyte subsets in normal airway mucosa of the human nose. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1987; 113:59-62.
- 45. Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL. Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. J Immunol 1986; 136:2348-57.
- 46. Kelso A. Th1 and Th2 subsets: paradigms lost? Immunol Today 1995; 16:374-9.

- 47. O'Garra A. Cytokines induce the development of functionally heterogeneous T helper cell subsets. Immunity 1998; 8:275-83.
- Liblau RS, Singer SM, McDevitt HO. Th1 and Th2 CD4+ T cells in the pathogenesis of organ-specific autoimmune diseases. Immunol Today 1995; 16:34-8.
- Romagnani S. The role of lymphocytes in allergic disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 105:399-408.
- Szabo SJ, Jacobson NG, Dighe AS, Gubler U, Murphy KM. Developmental commitment to the Th2 lineage by extinction of IL-12 signaling. Immunity 1995; 2:665-75.
- 51. Szabo SJ, Dighe AS, Gubler U, Murphy KM. Regulation of the interleukin (IL)12R beta 2 subunit expression in developing T helper 1 (Th1) and Th2 cells. J
 Exp Med 1997; 185:817-24.
- 52. Rousset F, Robert J, Andary M, Bonnin JP, Souillet G, Chretien I, Briere F, Pene J, de Vries JE. Shifts in interleukin-4 and interferon-gamma production by T cells of patients with elevated serum IgE levels and the modulatory effects of these lymphokines on spontaneous IgE synthesis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991; 87:58-69.
- 53. Agarwal S, Rao A. Modulation of chromatin structure regulates cytokine gene expression during T cell differentiation. Immunity 1998; 9:765-75.
- 54. Szabo SJ, Sullivan BM, Stemmann C, Satoskar AR, Sleckman BP, Glimcher LH. Distinct effects of T-bet in TH1 lineage commitment and IFN-gamma production in CD4 and CD8 T cells. Science 2002; 295:338-42.
- Szabo SJ, Kim ST, Costa GL, Zhang X, Fathman CG, Glimcher LH. A novel transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. Cell 2000; 100:655-69.
- 56. Finotto S, Neurath MF, Glickman JN, Qin S, Lehr HA, Green FH, Ackerman K, Haley K, Galle PR, Szabo SJ, Drazen JM, De Sanctis GT, Glimcher LH. Development of spontaneous airway changes consistent with human asthma in mice lacking T-bet. Science 2002; 295:336-8.

- 57. Kurata H, Lee HJ, O'Garra A, Arai N. Ectopic expression of activated Stat6 induces the expression of Th2-specific cytokines and transcription factors in developing Th1 cells. Immunity 1999; 11:677-88.
- 58. Kaplan MH, Schindler U, Smiley ST, Grusby MJ. Stat6 is required for mediating responses to IL-4 and for development of Th2 cells. Immunity 1996; 4:313-9.
- 59. Zheng W, Flavell RA. The transcription factor GATA-3 is necessary and sufficient for Th2 cytokine gene expression in CD4 T cells. Cell 1997; 89:587-96.
- 60. Yamashita M, Ukai-Tadenuma M, Miyamoto T, Sugaya K, Hosokawa H, Hasegawa A, Kimura M, Taniguchi M, DeGregori J, Nakayama T. Essential role of GATA3 for the maintenance of type 2 helper T (Th2) cytokine production and chromatin remodeling at the Th2 cytokine gene loci. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:26983-90.
- 61. Nakamura Y, Christodoulopoulos P, Cameron L, Wright E, Lavigne F, Toda M, Muro S, Ray A, Eidelman DH, Minshall E, Hamid Q. Upregulation of the transcription factor GATA-3 in upper airway mucosa after in vivo and in vitro allergen challenge. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 105:1146-52.
- 62. Nakamura Y, Ghaffar O, Olivenstein R, Taha RA, Soussi-Gounni A, Zhang DH, Ray A, Hamid Q. Gene expression of the GATA-3 transcription factor is increased in atopic asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 103:215-22.
- 63. Christodoulopoulos P, Cameron L, Nakamura Y, Lemiere C, Muro S, Dugas M, Boulet LP, Laviolette M, Olivenstein R, Hamid Q. TH2 cytokine-associated transcription factors in atopic and nonatopic asthma: evidence for differential signal transducer and activator of transcription 6 expression. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001; 107:586-91.
- 64. Hwang ES, Szabo SJ, Schwartzberg PL, Glimcher LH. T helper cell fate specified by kinase-mediated interaction of T-bet with GATA-3. Science 2005; 307:430-3.
- Ouyang W, Ranganath SH, Weindel K, Bhattacharya D, Murphy TL, Sha WC,
 Murphy KM. Inhibition of Th1 development mediated by GATA-3 through an IL4-independent mechanism. Immunity 1998; 9:745-55.

- 66. Ferber IA, Lee HJ, Zonin F, Heath V, Mui A, Arai N, O'Garra A. GATA-3 significantly downregulates IFN-gamma production from developing Th1 cells in addition to inducing IL-4 and IL-5 levels. Clin Immunol 1999; 91:134-44.
- 67. Chen Y, Kuchroo VK, Inobe J, Hafler DA, Weiner HL. Regulatory T cell clones induced by oral tolerance: suppression of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Science 1994; 265:1237-40.
- 68. Weiner HL. Induction and mechanism of action of transforming growth factorbeta-secreting Th3 regulatory cells. Immunol Rev 2001; 182:207-14.
- 69. Baecher-Allan C, Brown JA, Freeman GJ, Hafler DA. CD4+CD25high regulatory cells in human peripheral blood. J Immunol 2001; 167:1245-53.
- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, Toda M. Immunologic selftolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. J Immunol 1995; 155:1151-64.
- 71. Cottrez F, Hurst SD, Coffman RL, Groux H. T regulatory cells 1 inhibit a Th2specific response in vivo. J Immunol 2000; 165:4848-53.
- 72. Annacker O, Pimenta-Araujo R, Burlen-Defranoux O, Barbosa TC, Cumano A, Bandeira A. CD25+ CD4+ T cells regulate the expansion of peripheral CD4 T cells through the production of IL-10. J Immunol 2001; 166:3008-18.
- 73. Brunkow ME, Jeffery EW, Hjerrild KA, Paeper B, Clark LB, Yasayko SA, Wilkinson JE, Galas D, Ziegler SF, Ramsdell F. Disruption of a new forkhead/winged-helix protein, scurfin, results in the fatal lymphoproliferative disorder of the scurfy mouse. Nat Genet 2001; 27:68-73.
- 74. Khattri R, Cox T, Yasayko SA, Ramsdell F. An essential role for Scurfin in CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells. Nat Immunol 2003; 4:337-42.
- 75. Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol 2003; 4:330-6.
- 76. Wildin RS, Ramsdell F, Peake J, Faravelli F, Casanova JL, Buist N, Levy-Lahad E, Mazzella M, Goulet O, Perroni L, Bricarelli FD, Byrne G, McEuen M, Proll S, Appleby M, Brunkow ME. X-linked neonatal diabetes mellitus, enteropathy and

endocrinopathy syndrome is the human equivalent of mouse scurfy. Nat Genet 2001; 27:18-20.

- 77. Ling EM, Smith T, Nguyen XD, Pridgeon C, Dallman M, Arbery J, Carr VA, Robinson DS. Relation of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T-cell suppression of allergendriven T-cell activation to atopic status and expression of allergic disease. Lancet 2004; 363:608-15.
- 78. Grindebacke H, Wing K, Andersson AC, Suri-Payer E, Rak S, Rudin A. Defective suppression of Th2 cytokines by CD4CD25 regulatory T cells in birch allergics during birch pollen season. Clin Exp Allergy 2004; 34:1364-72.
- 79. Coyle AJ, Erard F, Bertrand C, Walti S, Pircher H, Le Gros G. Virus-specific
 CD8+ cells can switch to interleukin 5 production and induce airway eosinophilia.
 J Exp Med 1995; 181:1229-33.
- Meissner N, Kussebi F, Jung T, Ratti H, Baumgarten C, Werfel T, Heusser C, Renz H. A subset of CD8+ T cells from allergic patients produce IL-4 and stimulate IgE production in vitro. Clin Exp Allergy 1997; 27:1402-11.
- 81. Terry WD, Matthews BW, Davies DR. Crystallographic studies of a human immunoglobulin. Nature 1968; 220:239-41.
- Edelman GM, Cunningham BA, Gall WE, Gottlieb PD, Rutishauser U, Waxdal MJ. The covalent structure of an entire gammaG immunoglobulin molecule. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1969; 63:78-85.
- Huber R, Deisenhofer J, Colman PM, Matsushima M, Palm W. Crystallographic structure studies of an IgG molecule and an Fc fragment. Nature 1976; 264:415-20.
- Porter RR. The Hydrolysis of Rabbit g-Globulin and Antibodies with Crystalline Papain. Biochemical Journal 1959; 73:119-26.
- 85. Shimizu A, Takahashi N, Yaoita Y, Honjo T. Organization of the constant-region gene family of the mouse immunoglobulin heavy chain. Cell 1982; 28:499-506.
- Lorenz M, Jung S, Radbruch A. Switch transcripts in immunoglobulin class switching. Science 1995; 267:1825-8.

- 87. Xu L, Gorham B, Li SC, Bottaro A, Alt FW, Rothman P. Replacement of germline epsilon promoter by gene targeting alters control of immunoglobulin heavy chain class switching. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993; 90:3705-9.
- Zhang K, Clark EA, Saxon A. CD40 stimulation provides an IFN-gammaindependent and IL-4-dependent differentiation signal directly to human B cells for IgE production. J Immunol 1991; 146:1836-42.
- 89. Jabara HH, Fu SM, Geha RS, Vercelli D. CD40 and IgE: synergism between anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody and interleukin 4 in the induction of IgE synthesis by highly purified human B cells. J Exp Med 1990; 172:1861-4.
- 90. Cameron L, Hamid Q, Wright E, Nakamura Y, Christodoulopoulos P, Muro S, Frenkiel S, Lavigne F, Durham S, Gould H. Local synthesis of epsilon germline gene transcripts, IL-4, and IL-13 in allergic nasal mucosa after ex vivo allergen exposure. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 106:46-52.
- 91. Fiset PO, Soussi-Gounni A, Christodoulopoulos P, Tulic M, Sobol SE, Frenkiel S, Lavigne F, Lamkhioued B, Hamid Q. Modulation of allergic response in nasal mucosa by antisense oligodeoxynucleotides for IL-4. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003; 111:580-6.
- 92. Cameron L, Gounni AS, Frenkiel S, Lavigne F, Vercelli D, Hamid Q. S epsilon S mu and S epsilon S gamma switch circles in human nasal mucosa following ex vivo allergen challenge: evidence for direct as well as sequential class switch recombination. J Immunol 2003; 171:3816-22.
- Pascual V, Liu YJ, Magalski A, de Bouteiller O, Banchereau J, Capra JD.
 Analysis of somatic mutation in five B cell subsets of human tonsil. J Exp Med 1994; 180:329-39.
- 94. Ho F, Lortan JE, MacLennan IC, Khan M. Distinct short-lived and long-lived antibody-producing cell populations. Eur J Immunol 1986; 16:1297-301.
- 95. Arpin C, Dechanet J, Van Kooten C, Merville P, Grouard G, Briere F,
 Banchereau J, Liu YJ. Generation of memory B cells and plasma cells in vitro.
 Science 1995; 268:720-2.
- 96. Davidsson A, Karlsson MG, Hellquist HB. Allergen-induced changes of B-cell phenotypes in patients with allergic rhinitis. Rhinology 1994; 32:184-90.

- 97. Rivera A, Chen CC, Ron N, Dougherty JP, Ron Y. Role of B cells as antigenpresenting cells in vivo revisited: antigen-specific B cells are essential for T cell expansion in lymph nodes and for systemic T cell responses to low antigen concentrations. Int Immunol 2001; 13:1583-93.
- 98. Secrist H, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT. Interleukin 4 production by CD4+ T cells from allergic individuals is modulated by antigen concentration and antigenpresenting cell type. J Exp Med 1995; 181:1081-9.
- 99. Hajoui O, Janani R, Tulic M, Joubert P, Ronis T, Hamid Q, Zheng H, Mazer BD. Synthesis of IL-13 by human B lymphocytes: regulation and role in IgE production. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004; 114:657-63.
- 100. Thepen T, Van Rooijen N, Kraal G. Alveolar macrophage elimination in vivo is associated with an increase in pulmonary immune response in mice. J Exp Med 1989; 170:499-509.
- 101. Holt PG, Oliver J, Bilyk N, McMenamin C, McMenamin PG, Kraal G, Thepen T. Downregulation of the antigen presenting cell function(s) of pulmonary dendritic cells in vivo by resident alveolar macrophages. J Exp Med 1993; 177:397-407.
- 102. Tang C, Inman MD, van Rooijen N, Yang P, Shen H, Matsumoto K, O'Byrne PM. Th type 1-stimulating activity of lung macrophages inhibits Th2-mediated allergic airway inflammation by an IFN-gamma-dependent mechanism. J Immunol 2001; 166:1471-81.
- Lambrecht BN, Peleman RA, Bullock GR, Pauwels RA. Sensitization to inhaled antigen by intratracheal instillation of dendritic cells. Clin Exp Allergy 2000; 30:214-24.
- 104. Fokkens WJ. Antigen-presenting cells in nasal allergy. Allergy 1999; 54:1130-41.
- 105. Inaba K, Metlay JP, Crowley MT, Witmer-Pack M, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells as antigen presenting cells in vivo. Int Rev Immunol 1990; 6:197-206.
- 106. Sornasse T, Flamand V, De Becker G, Bazin H, Tielemans F, Thielemans K, Urbain J, Leo O, Moser M. Antigen-pulsed dendritic cells can efficiently induce an antibody response in vivo. J Exp Med 1992; 175:15-21.
- 107. Schon-Hegrad MA, Oliver J, McMenamin PG, Holt PG. Studies on the density, distribution, and surface phenotype of intraepithelial class II major
histocompatibility complex antigen (Ia)-bearing dendritic cells (DC) in the conducting airways. J Exp Med 1991; 173:1345-56.

- 108. Inaba K, Witmer-Pack M, Inaba M, Hathcock KS, Sakuta H, Azuma M, Yagita H, Okumura K, Linsley PS, Ikehara S, Muramatsu S, Hodes RJ, Steinman RM. The tissue distribution of the B7-2 costimulator in mice: abundant expression on dendritic cells in situ and during maturation in vitro. J Exp Med 1994; 180:1849-60.
- Stumbles PA, Thomas JA, Pimm CL, Lee PT, Venaille TJ, Proksch S, Holt PG. Resting respiratory tract dendritic cells preferentially stimulate T helper cell type
 2 (Th2) responses and require obligatory cytokine signals for induction of Th1 immunity. J Exp Med 1998; 188:2019-31.
- 110. Godthelp T, Fokkens WJ, Kleinjan A, Holm AF, Mulder PG, Prens EP, Rijntes E. Antigen presenting cells in the nasal mucosa of patients with allergic rhinitis during allergen provocation. Clin Exp Allergy 1996; 26:677-88.
- 111. Lambrecht BN, Carro-Muino I, Vermaelen K, Pauwels RA. Allergen-induced changes in bone-marrow progenitor and airway dendritic cells in sensitized rats. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1999; 20:1165-74.
- 112. Rissoan MC, Soumelis V, Kadowaki N, Grouard G, Briere F, de Waal Malefyt R, Liu YJ. Reciprocal control of T helper cell and dendritic cell differentiation. Science 1999; 283:1183-6.
- 113. Liu YJ, Kanzler H, Soumelis V, Gilliet M. Dendritic cell lineage, plasticity and cross-regulation. Nat Immunol 2001; 2:585-9.
- Arpinati M, Green CL, Heimfeld S, Heuser JE, Anasetti C. Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor mobilizes T helper 2-inducing dendritic cells. Blood 2000; 95:2484-90.
- 115. Maldonado-Lopez R, De Smedt T, Michel P, Godfroid J, Pajak B, Heirman C, Thielemans K, Leo O, Urbain J, Moser M. CD8alpha+ and CD8alpha- subclasses of dendritic cells direct the development of distinct T helper cells in vivo. J Exp Med 1999; 189:587-92.
- 116. de Heer HJ, Hammad H, Soullie T, Hijdra D, Vos N, Willart MA, Hoogsteden HC, Lambrecht BN. Essential role of lung plasmacytoid dendritic cells in

preventing asthmatic reactions to harmless inhaled antigen. J Exp Med 2004; 200:89-98.

- 117. Siegal FP, Kadowaki N, Shodell M, Fitzgerald-Bocarsly PA, Shah K, Ho S, Antonenko S, Liu YJ. The nature of the principal type 1 interferon-producing cells in human blood. Science 1999; 284:1835-7.
- 118. Moseman EA, Liang X, Dawson AJ, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Krieg AM, Liu YJ, Blazar BR, Chen W. Human plasmacytoid dendritic cells activated by CpG oligodeoxynucleotides induce the generation of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol 2004; 173:4433-42.
- 119. Igarashi Y, Skoner DP, Doyle WJ, White MV, Fireman P, Kaliner MA. Analysis of nasal secretions during experimental rhinovirus upper respiratory infections. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993; 92:722-31.
- 120. Otsuka H, Denburg J, Dolovich J, Hitch D, Lapp P, Rajan RS, Bienenstock J, Befus D. Heterogeneity of metachromatic cells in human nose: significance of mucosal mast cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985; 76:695-702.
- 121. Prussin C, Metcalfe DD. 4. IgE, mast cells, basophils, and eosinophils. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003; 111:S486-94.
- 122. Bentley AM, Jacobson MR, Cumberworth V, Barkans JR, Moqbel R, Schwartz LB, Irani AM, Kay AB, Durham SR. Immunohistology of the nasal mucosa in seasonal allergic rhinitis: increases in activated eosinophils and epithelial mast cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 89:877-83.
- 123. Ravetch JV, Kinet JP. Fc receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 1991; 9:457-92.
- Scharenberg AM, Kinet JP. Initial events in Fc epsilon RI signal transduction. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994; 94:1142-6.
- 125. Bradding P, Feather IH, Howarth PH, Mueller R, Roberts JA, Britten K, Bews JP, Hunt TC, Okayama Y, Heusser CH, et al. Interleukin 4 is localized to and released by human mast cells. J Exp Med 1992; 176:1381-6.
- 126. Gordon JR, Galli SJ. Release of both preformed and newly synthesized tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha)/cachectin by mouse mast cells stimulated via the Fc epsilon RI. A mechanism for the sustained action of mast cell-derived

TNF-alpha during IgE-dependent biological responses. J Exp Med 1991; 174:103-7.

- Tkaczyk C, Gilfillan AM. Fc(epsilon)Ri-dependent signaling pathways in human mast cells. Clin Immunol 2001; 99:198-210.
- 128. Bressler RB, Lesko J, Jones ML, Wasserman M, Dickason RR, Huston MM, Cook SW, Huston DP. Production of IL-5 and granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor by naive human mast cells activated by high-affinity IgE receptor ligation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99:508-14.
- 129. Pawankar RU, Okuda M, Hasegawa S, Suzuki K, Yssel H, Okubo K, Okumura K, Ra C. Interleukin-13 expression in the nasal mucosa of perennial allergic rhinitis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 152:2059-67.
- 130. Gauchat JF, Henchoz S, Mazzei G, Aubry JP, Brunner T, Blasey H, Life P, Talabot D, Flores-Romo L, Thompson J, et al. Induction of human IgE synthesis in B cells by mast cells and basophils. Nature 1993; 365:340-3.
- Denburg JA, Telizyn S, Messner H, Lim B, Jamal N, Ackerman SJ, Gleich GJ, Bienenstock J. Heterogeneity of human peripheral blood eosinophil-type colonies: evidence for a common basophil-eosinophil progenitor. Blood 1985; 66:312-8.
- 132. Schroeder JT, MacGlashan DW, Jr., Lichtenstein LM. Human basophils: mediator release and cytokine production. Adv Immunol 2001; 77:93-122.
- 133. Nouri-Aria KT, Irani AM, Jacobson MR, O'Brien F, Varga EM, Till SJ, Durham SR, Schwartz LB. Basophil recruitment and IL-4 production during human allergen-induced late asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001; 108:205-11.
- Denburg JA, Sehmi R, Saito H, Pil-Seob J, Inman MD, O'Byrne PM. Systemic aspects of allergic disease: bone marrow responses. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 106:S242-6.
- 135. Hisamatsu K, Ganbo T, Nakazawa T, Murakami Y, Gleich GJ, Makiyama K, Koyama H. Cytotoxicity of human eosinophil granule major basic protein to human nasal sinus mucosa in vitro. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990; 86:52-63.
- Gundel RH, Letts LG, Gleich GJ. Human eosinophil major basic protein induces airway constriction and airway hyperresponsiveness in primates. J Clin Invest 1991; 87:1470-3.

- Gleich GJ. Mechanisms of eosinophil-associated inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 105:651-63.
- 138. Bandeira-Melo C, Bozza PT, Weller PF. The cellular biology of eosinophil eicosanoid formation and function. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2002; 109:393-400.
- 139. Minshall EM, Leung DY, Martin RJ, Song YL, Cameron L, Ernst P, Hamid Q. Eosinophil-associated TGF-beta1 mRNA expression and airways fibrosis in bronchial asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1997; 17:326-33.
- 140. Broide DH, Paine MM, Firestein GS. Eosinophils express interleukin 5 and granulocyte macrophage-colony-stimulating factor mRNA at sites of allergic inflammation in asthmatics. J Clin Invest 1992; 90:1414-24.
- 141. Nonaka M, Nonaka R, Woolley K, Adelroth E, Miura K, Okhawara Y, Glibetic M, Nakano K, O'Byrne P, Dolovich J, et al. Distinct immunohistochemical localization of IL-4 in human inflamed airway tissues. IL-4 is localized to eosinophils in vivo and is released by peripheral blood eosinophils. J Immunol 1995; 155:3234-44.
- 142. Costa JJ, Matossian K, Resnick MB, Beil WJ, Wong DT, Gordon JR, Dvorak AM, Weller PF, Galli SJ. Human eosinophils can express the cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha and macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha. J Clin Invest 1993; 91:2673-84.
- 143. Jouault T, Capron M, Balloul JM, Ameisen JC, Capron A. Quantitative and qualitative analysis of the Fc receptor for IgE (Fc epsilon RII) on human eosinophils. Eur J Immunol 1988; 18:237-41.
- 144. Gauchat JF, Henchoz S, Fattah D, Mazzei G, Aubry JP, Jomotte T, Dash L, Page K, Solari R, Aldebert D, et al. CD40 ligand is functionally expressed on human eosinophils. Eur J Immunol 1995; 25:863-5.
- 145. Minshall E, Ghaffar O, Cameron L, O'Brien F, Quinn H, Rowe-Jones J, Davies RJ, Prior A, Lund VJ, Mackay IS, Nolop K, Lutsky B, Durham SR, Hamid Q. Assessment by nasal biopsy of long-term use of mometasone furoate aqueous nasal spray (Nasonex) in the treatment of perennial rhinitis. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1998; 118:648-54.

- 146. Tulic M, Fiset PO, Müller Z, Hamid Q: Cytokines and Chemokines in Asthma: an Overview. In: *Physiologic Basis of Respiratory Disease* Edited by Q Hamid, J Shannon, JG Martin. pp. 453467. Hamilton, Ontario: BC Decker Inc.; 2005: 453467.
- 147. Lilly CM, Nakamura H, Kesselman H, Nagler-Anderson C, Asano K, Garcia-Zepeda EA, Rothenberg ME, Drazen JM, Luster AD. Expression of eotaxin by human lung epithelial cells: induction by cytokines and inhibition by glucocorticoids. J Clin Invest 1997; 99:1767-73.
- 148. Ponath PD, Qin S, Ringler DJ, Clark-Lewis I, Wang J, Kassam N, Smith H, Shi X, Gonzalo JA, Newman W, Gutierrez-Ramos JC, Mackay CR. Cloning of the human eosinophil chemoattractant, eotaxin. Expression, receptor binding, and functional properties suggest a mechanism for the selective recruitment of eosinophils. J Clin Invest 1996; 97:604-12.
- 149. Tos M. Distribution of mucus producing elements in the respiratory tract.
 Differences between upper and lower airway. Eur J Respir Dis Suppl 1983; 128 (Pt 1):269-79.
- 150. Salib RJ, Howarth PH. Remodelling of the upper airways in allergic rhinitis: is it a feature of the disease? Clin Exp Allergy 2003; 33:1629-33.
- 151. Gluck U, Gebbers J. Epithelial changes in seasonal allergic rhinitis throughout the year: evidence of coexistent air pollution and local secretory IgA deficiency? ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec 2000; 62:68-75.
- 152. Makowska W, Zawisza E. Cytologic evaluation of the nasal epithelium in patients with hay fever. Acta Cytol 1975; 19:564-7.
- Berger G, Marom Z, Ophir D. Goblet cell density of the inferior turbinates in patients with perennial allergic and nonallergic rhinitis. Am J Rhinol 1997; 11:233-6.
- 154. Dabbagh K, Takeyama K, Lee HM, Ueki IF, Lausier JA, Nadel JA. IL-4 induces mucin gene expression and goblet cell metaplasia in vitro and in vivo. J Immunol 1999; 162:6233-7.

- 155. Louahed J, Toda M, Jen J, Hamid Q, Renauld JC, Levitt RC, Nicolaides NC. Interleukin-9 upregulates mucus expression in the airways. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2000; 22:649-56.
- 156. Wills-Karp M, Luyimbazi J, Xu X, Schofield B, Neben TY, Karp CL, Donaldson DD. Interleukin-13: central mediator of allergic asthma. Science 1998; 282:2258-61.
- 157. Del Prete GF, De Carli M, D'Elios MM, Maestrelli P, Ricci M, Fabbri L, Romagnani S. Allergen exposure induces the activation of allergen-specific Th2 cells in the airway mucosa of patients with allergic respiratory disorders. Eur J Immunol 1993; 23:1445-9.
- 158. Till S, Dickason R, Huston D, Humbert M, Robinson D, Larche M, Durham S, Kay AB, Corrigan C. IL-5 secretion by allergen-stimulated CD4+ T cells in primary culture: relationship to expression of allergic disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99:563-9.
- 159. Upham JW, Holt BJ, Baron-Hay MJ, Yabuhara A, Hales BJ, Thomas WR, Loh RK, O'Keeffe PT, Palmer L, Le Souef PN, et al. Inhalant allergen-specific T-cell reactivity is detectable in close to 100% of atopic and normal individuals: covert responses are unmasked by serum-free medium. Clin Exp Allergy 1995; 25:634-42.
- 160. Yokota T, Otsuka T, Mosmann T, Banchereau J, DeFrance T, Blanchard D, De Vries JE, Lee F, Arai K. Isolation and characterization of a human interleukin cDNA clone, homologous to mouse B-cell stimulatory factor 1, that expresses Bcell- and T-cell-stimulating activities. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1986; 83:5894-8.
- 161. Le Beau MM, Lemons RS, Espinosa R, 3rd, Larson RA, Arai N, Rowley JD.
 Interleukin-4 and interleukin-5 map to human chromosome 5 in a region encoding growth factors and receptors and are deleted in myeloid leukemias with a del(5q).
 Blood 1989; 73:647-50.
- 162. Morgan JG, Dolganov GM, Robbins SE, Hinton LM, Lovett M. The selective isolation of novel cDNAs encoded by the regions surrounding the human interleukin 4 and 5 genes. Nucleic Acids Res 1992; 20:5173-9.

- Abehsira-Amar O, Gibert M, Joliy M, Theze J, Jankovic DL. IL-4 plays a dominant role in the differential development of Tho into Th1 and Th2 cells. J Immunol 1992; 148:3820-9.
- Swain SL, Weinberg AD, English M, Huston G. IL-4 directs the development of Th2-like helper effectors. J Immunol 1990; 145:3796-806.
- 165. Kopf M, Le Gros G, Bachmann M, Lamers MC, Bluethmann H, Kohler G.
 Disruption of the murine IL-4 gene blocks Th2 cytokine responses. Nature 1993;
 362:245-8.
- Seder RA, Paul WE. Acquisition of lymphokine-producing phenotype by CD4+ T cells. Annual Review of Immunology. 1994; 12:635-73.
- 167. Chung KF, Barnes PJ. Cytokines in asthma. Thorax 1999; 54:825-57.
- 168. Shinkai A, Yoshisue H, Koike M, Shoji E, Nakagawa S, Saito A, Takeda T, Imabeppu S, Kato Y, Hanai N, Anazawa H, Kuga T, Nishi T. A novel human CC chemokine, eotaxin-3, which is expressed in IL-4-stimulated vascular endothelial cells, exhibits potent activity toward eosinophils. J Immunol 1999; 163:1602-10.
- 169. Teran LM, Mochizuki M, Bartels J, Valencia EL, Nakajima T, Hirai K, Schroder JM. Th1- and Th2-type cytokines regulate the expression and production of eotaxin and RANTES by human lung fibroblasts. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1999; 20:777-86.
- 170. Li L, Xia Y, Nguyen A, Lai YH, Feng L, Mosmann TR, Lo D. Effects of Th2 cytokines on chemokine expression in the lung: IL-13 potently induces eotaxin expression by airway epithelial cells. J Immunol 1999; 162:2477-87.
- 171. Vercelli D, Jabara HH, Lee BW, Woodland N, Geha RS, Leung DY. Human recombinant interleukin 4 induces Fc epsilon R2/CD23 on normal human monocytes. J Exp Med 1988; 167:1406-16.
- 172. Toru H, Ra C, Nonoyama S, Suzuki K, Yata J, Nakahata T. Induction of the highaffinity IgE receptor (Fc epsilon RI) on human mast cells by IL-4. Int Immunol 1996; 8:1367-73.
- Idzerda RL, March CJ, Mosley B, Lyman SD, Vanden Bos T, Gimpel SD, Din WS, Grabstein KH, Widmer MB, Park LS, et al. Human interleukin 4 receptor

confers biological responsiveness and defines a novel receptor superfamily. J Exp Med 1990; 171:861-73.

- 174. Kondo M, Takeshita T, Ishii N, Nakamura M, Watanabe S, Arai K, Sugamura K. Sharing of the interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor gamma chain between receptors for IL-2 and IL-4. Science 1993; 262:1874-7.
- 175. Welham MJ, Learmonth L, Bone H, Schrader JW. Interleukin-13 signal transduction in lymphohemopoietic cells. Similarities and differences in signal transduction with interleukin-4 and insulin. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:12286-96.
- 176. Keegan AD, Johnston JA, Tortolani PJ, McReynolds LJ, Kinzer C, O'Shea JJ, Paul WE. Similarities and differences in signal transduction by interleukin 4 and interleukin 13: analysis of Janus kinase activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995; 92:7681-5.
- 177. Hou J, Schindler U, Henzel WJ, Ho TC, Brasseur M, McKnight SL. An interleukin-4-induced transcription factor: IL-4 Stat. Science 1994; 265:1701-6.
- 178. Minty A, Chalon P, Derocq JM, Dumont X, Guillemot JC, Kaghad M, Labit C, Leplatois P, Liauzun P, Miloux B, et al. Interleukin-13 is a new human lymphokine regulating inflammatory and immune responses. Nature 1993; 362:248-50.
- 179. Smirnov DV, Smirnova MG, Korobko VG, Frolova EI. Tandem arrangement of human genes for interleukin-4 and interleukin-13: resemblance in their organization. Gene 1995; 155:277-81.
- 180. Aman MJ, Tayebi N, Obiri NI, Puri RK, Modi WS, Leonard WJ. cDNA cloning and characterization of the human interleukin 13 receptor alpha chain. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:29265-70.
- 181. Gauchat JF, Schlagenhauf E, Feng NP, Moser R, Yamage M, Jeannin P, Alouani S, Elson G, Notarangelo LD, Wells T, Eugster HP, Bonnefoy JY. A novel 4-kb interleukin-13 receptor alpha mRNA expressed in human B, T, and endothelial cells encoding an alternate type-II interleukin-4/interleukin-13 receptor. Eur J Immunol 1997; 27:971-8.
- 182. Zurawski G, de Vries JE. Interleukin 13, an interleukin 4-like cytokine that acts on monocytes and B cells, but not on T cells. Immunol Today 1994; 15:19-26.

- 183. Zhu Z, Homer RJ, Wang Z, Chen Q, Geba GP, Wang J, Zhang Y, Elias JA. Pulmonary expression of interleukin-13 causes inflammation, mucus hypersecretion, subepithelial fibrosis, physiologic abnormalities, and eotaxin production. J Clin Invest 1999; 103:779-88.
- 184. Hilton DJ, Zhang JG, Metcalf D, Alexander WS, Nicola NA, Willson TA. Cloning and characterization of a binding subunit of the interleukin 13 receptor that is also a component of the interleukin 4 receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996; 93:497-501.
- Debinski W, Miner R, Leland P, Obiri NI, Puri RK. Receptor for interleukin (IL)
 13 does not interact with IL4 but receptor for IL4 interacts with IL13 on human
 glioma cells. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:22428-33.
- Jiang H, Harris MB, Rothman P. IL-4/IL-13 signaling beyond JAK/STAT. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 105:1063-70.
- 187. Donaldson DD, Whitters MJ, Fitz LJ, Neben TY, Finnerty H, Henderson SL, O'Hara RM, Jr., Beier DR, Turner KJ, Wood CR, Collins M. The murine IL-13 receptor alpha 2: molecular cloning, characterization, and comparison with murine IL-13 receptor alpha 1. J Immunol 1998; 161:2317-24.
- 188. Rahaman SO, Sharma P, Harbor PC, Aman MJ, Vogelbaum MA, Haque SJ. IL-13R(alpha)2, a decoy receptor for IL-13 acts as an inhibitor of IL-4-dependent signal transduction in glioblastoma cells. Cancer Res 2002; 62:1103-9.
- 189. Fichtner-Feigl S, Strober W, Kawakami K, Puri RK, Kitani A. IL-13 signaling through the IL-13alpha(2) receptor is involved in induction of TGF-beta(1) production and fibrosis. Nat Med 2006; 12:99-106.
- 190. Yokota T, Coffman RL, Hagiwara H, Rennick DM, Takebe Y, Yokota K, Gemmell L, Shrader B, Yang G, Meyerson P, et al. Isolation and characterization of lymphokine cDNA clones encoding mouse and human IgA-enhancing factor and eosinophil colony-stimulating factor activities: relationship to interleukin 5. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1987; 84:7388-92.
- Campbell HD, Tucker WQ, Hort Y, Martinson ME, Mayo G, Clutterbuck EJ, Sanderson CJ, Young IG. Molecular cloning, nucleotide sequence, and expression

of the gene encoding human eosinophil differentiation factor (interleukin 5). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1987; 84:6629-33.

- 192. Tanabe T, Konishi M, Mizuta T, Noma T, Honjo T. Molecular cloning and structure of the human interleukin-5 gene. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:16580-4.
- 193. Mould AW, Ramsay AJ, Matthaei KI, Young IG, Rothenberg ME, Foster PS. The effect of IL-5 and eotaxin expression in the lung on eosinophil trafficking and degranulation and the induction of bronchial hyperreactivity. J Immunol 2000; 164:2142-50.
- 194. Leckie MJ, ten Brinke A, Khan J, Diamant Z, O'Connor BJ, Walls CM, Mathur AK, Cowley HC, Chung KF, Djukanovic R, Hansel TT, Holgate ST, Sterk PJ, Barnes PJ. Effects of an interleukin-5 blocking monoclonal antibody on eosinophils, airway hyper-responsiveness, and the late asthmatic response. Lancet 2000; 356:2144-8.
- 195. Rothenberg ME, Petersen J, Stevens RL, Silberstein DS, McKenzie DT, Austen KF, Owen WF, Jr. IL-5-dependent conversion of normodense human eosinophils to the hypodense phenotype uses 3T3 fibroblasts for enhanced viability, accelerated hypodensity, and sustained antibody-dependent cytotoxicity. J Immunol 1989; 143:2311-6.
- 196. Yamaguchi Y, Hayashi Y, Sugama Y, Miura Y, Kasahara T, Kitamura S, Torisu M, Mita S, Tominaga A, Takatsu K. Highly purified murine interleukin 5 (IL-5) stimulates eosinophil function and prolongs in vitro survival. IL-5 as an eosinophil chemotactic factor. J Exp Med 1988; 167:1737-42.
- 197. Walsh GM, Hartnell A, Wardlaw AJ, Kurihara K, Sanderson CJ, Kay AB. IL-5 enhances the in vitro adhesion of human eosinophils, but not neutrophils, in a leucocyte integrin (CD11/18)-dependent manner. Immunology 1990; 71:258-65.
- 198. Walsh GM, Mermod JJ, Hartnell A, Kay AB, Wardlaw AJ. Human eosinophil, but not neutrophil, adherence to IL-1-stimulated human umbilical vascular endothelial cells is alpha 4 beta 1 (very late antigen-4) dependent. J Immunol 1991; 146:3419-23.
- 199. Ohnishi T, Kita H, Weiler D, Sur S, Sedgwick JB, Calhoun WJ, Busse WW, Abrams JS, Gleich GJ. IL-5 is the predominant eosinophil-active cytokine in the

antigen-induced pulmonary late-phase reaction. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 147:901-7.

- 200. Kitamura T, Sato N, Arai K, Miyajima A. Expression cloning of the human IL-3 receptor cDNA reveals a shared beta subunit for the human IL-3 and GM-CSF receptors. Cell 1991; 66:1165-74.
- 201. Mui AL, Wakao H, O'Farrell AM, Harada N, Miyajima A. Interleukin-3, granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor and interleukin-5 transduce signals through two STAT5 homologs. Embo J 1995; 14:1166-75.
- Adachi T, Alam R. The mechanism of IL-5 signal transduction. Am J Physiol 1998; 275:C623-33.
- 203. Cooke RA, van der Veer A. Human sensitization. J Immunol 1916; 1:201-5.
- 204. Malerba G, Pignatti PF. A review of asthma genetics: gene expression studies and recent candidates. J Appl Genet 2005; 46:93-104.
- 205. Meyers DA, Postma DS, Panhuysen CI, Xu J, Amelung PJ, Levitt RC, Bleecker ER. Evidence for a locus regulating total serum IgE levels mapping to chromosome 5. Genomics 1994; 23:464-70.
- 206. Levitt RC, Eleff SM, Zhang LY, Kleeberger SR, Ewart SL. Linkage homology for bronchial hyperresponsiveness between DNA markers on human chromosome 5q31-q33 and mouse chromosome 13. Clin Exp Allergy 1995; 25 Suppl 2:61-3.
- 207. Shirakawa T, Li A, Dubowitz M, Dekker JW, Shaw AE, Faux JA, Ra C, Cookson WO, Hopkin JM. Association between atopy and variants of the beta subunit of the high-affinity immunoglobulin E receptor. Nat Genet 1994; 7:125-9.
- 208. Zimmermann N, King NE, Laporte J, Yang M, Mishra A, Pope SM, Muntel EE, Witte DP, Pegg AA, Foster PS, Hamid Q, Rothenberg ME. Dissection of experimental asthma with DNA microarray analysis identifies arginase in asthma pathogenesis. J Clin Invest 2003; 111:1863-74.
- 209. Van Eerdewegh P, Little RD, Dupuis J, Del Mastro RG, Falls K, Simon J, Torrey D, Pandit S, McKenny J, Braunschweiger K, Walsh A, Liu Z, Hayward B, Folz C, Manning SP, Bawa A, Saracino L, Thackston M, Benchekroun Y, Capparell N, Wang M, Adair R, Feng Y, Dubois J, FitzGerald MG, Huang H, Gibson R, Allen KM, Pedan A, Danzig MR, Umland SP, Egan RW, Cuss FM, Rorke S, Clough JB,

Holloway JW, Holgate ST, Keith TP. Association of the ADAM33 gene with asthma and bronchial hyperresponsiveness. Nature 2002; 418:426-30.

- 210. Zhang Y, Leaves NI, Anderson GG, Ponting CP, Broxholme J, Holt R, Edser P, Bhattacharyya S, Dunham A, Adcock IM, Pulleyn L, Barnes PJ, Harper JI, Abecasis G, Cardon L, White M, Burton J, Matthews L, Mott R, Ross M, Cox R, Moffatt MF, Cookson WO. Positional cloning of a quantitative trait locus on chromosome 13q14 that influences immunoglobulin E levels and asthma. Nat Genet 2003; 34:181-6.
- 211. Anderson GG, Leaves NI, Bhattacharyya S, Zhang Y, Walshe V, Broxholme J, Abecasis G, Levy E, Zimmer M, Cox R, Cookson WO. Positive association to IgE levels and a physical map of the 13q14 atopy locus. Eur J Hum Genet 2002; 10:266-70.
- 212. Allen M, Heinzmann A, Noguchi E, Abecasis G, Broxholme J, Ponting CP, Bhattacharyya S, Tinsley J, Zhang Y, Holt R, Jones EY, Lench N, Carey A, Jones H, Dickens NJ, Dimon C, Nicholls R, Baker C, Xue L, Townsend E, Kabesch M, Weiland SK, Carr D, von Mutius E, Adcock IM, Barnes PJ, Lathrop GM, Edwards M, Moffatt MF, Cookson WO. Positional cloning of a novel gene influencing asthma from chromosome 2q14. Nat Genet 2003; 35:258-63.
- 213. Laitinen T, Polvi A, Rydman P, Vendelin J, Pulkkinen V, Salmikangas P, Makela S, Rehn M, Pirskanen A, Rautanen A, Zucchelli M, Gullsten H, Leino M, Alenius H, Petays T, Haahtela T, Laitinen A, Laprise C, Hudson TJ, Laitinen LA, Kere J. Characterization of a common susceptibility locus for asthma-related traits. Science 2004; 304:300-4.
- 214. Leung TF, Li CY, Liu EK, Tang NL, Chan IH, Yung E, Wong GW, Lam CW. Asthma and atopy are associated with DEFB1 polymorphisms in Chinese children. Genes Immun 2006; 7:59-64.
- 215. Weidinger S, Klopp N, Wagenpfeil S, Rummler L, Schedel M, Kabesch M, Schafer T, Darsow U, Jakob T, Behrendt H, Wichmann HE, Ring J, Illig T. Association of a STAT 6 haplotype with elevated serum IgE levels in a population based cohort of white adults. J Med Genet 2004; 41:658-63.

- 216. Schedel M, Carr D, Klopp N, Woitsch B, Illig T, Stachel D, Schmid I, Fritzsch C, Weiland SK, von Mutius E, Kabesch M. A signal transducer and activator of transcription 6 haplotype influences the regulation of serum IgE levels. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004; 114:1100-5.
- 217. Tamura K, Arakawa H, Suzuki M, Kobayashi Y, Mochizuki H, Kato M, Tokuyama K, Morikawa A. Novel dinucleotide repeat polymorphism in the first exon of the STAT-6 gene is associated with allergic diseases. Clin Exp Allergy 2001; 31:1509-14.
- 218. Muranaka M, Suzuki S, Koizumi K, Takafuji S, Miyamoto T, Ikemori R, Tokiwa H. Adjuvant activity of diesel-exhaust particulates for the production of IgE antibody in mice. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1986; 77:616-23.
- 219. Riedel F, Kramer M, Scheibenbogen C, Rieger CH. Effects of SO2 exposure on allergic sensitization in the guinea pig. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988; 82:527-34.
- 220. Diaz-Sanchez D, Dotson AR, Takenaka H, Saxon A. Diesel exhaust particles induce local IgE production in vivo and alter the pattern of IgE messenger RNA isoforms. J Clin Invest 1994; 94:1417-25.
- 221. Diaz-Sanchez D, Tsien A, Fleming J, Saxon A. Combined diesel exhaust particulate and ragweed allergen challenge markedly enhances human in vivo nasal ragweed-specific IgE and skews cytokine production to a T helper cell 2type pattern. J Immunol 1997; 158:2406-13.
- 222. Ishizaki T, Koizumi K, Ikemori R, Ishiyama Y, Kushibiki E. Studies of prevalence of Japanese cedar pollinosis among the residents in a densely cultivated area. Ann Allergy 1987; 58:265-70.
- 223. Wjst M, Reitmeir P, Dold S, Wulff A, Nicolai T, von Loeffelholz-Colberg EF, von Mutius E. Road traffic and adverse effects on respiratory health in children. Bmj 1993; 307:596-600.
- 224. de Marco R, Poli A, Ferrari M, Accordini S, Giammanco G, Bugiani M, Villani S, Ponzio M, Bono R, Carrozzi L, Cavallini R, Cazzoletti L, Dallari R, Ginesu F, Lauriola P, Mandrioli P, Perfetti L, Pignato S, Pirina P, Struzzo P. The impact of climate and traffic-related NO2 on the prevalence of asthma and allergic rhinitis in Italy. Clin Exp Allergy 2002; 32:1405-12.

- 225. Molfino NA, Wright SC, Katz I, Tarlo S, Silverman F, McClean PA, Szalai JP, Raizenne M, Slutsky AS, Zamel N. Effect of low concentrations of ozone on inhaled allergen responses in asthmatic subjects. Lancet 1991; 338:199-203.
- 226. Jorres R, Nowak D, Magnussen H. The effect of ozone exposure on allergen responsiveness in subjects with asthma or rhinitis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153:56-64.
- 227. Ball BA, Folinsbee LJ, Peden DB, Kehrl HR. Allergen bronchoprovocation of patients with mild allergic asthma after ozone exposure. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 98:563-72.
- 228. Halken S, Host A. The lessons of noninterventional and interventional prospective studies on the development of atopic disease during childhood. Allergy 2000; 55:793-802.
- Strachan DP, Cook DG. Health effects of passive smoking. 6. Parental smoking and childhood asthma: longitudinal and case-control studies. Thorax 1998; 53:204-12.
- 230. Jensen EJ, Pedersen B, Schmidt E, Dahl R. Serum IgE in nonatopic smokers, nonsmokers, and recent exsmokers: relation to lung function, airway symptoms, and atopic predisposition. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 90:224-9.
- 231. Lindfors A, van Hage-Hamsten M, Rietz H, Wickman M, Nordvall SL. Influence of interaction of environmental risk factors and sensitization in young asthmatic children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:755-62.
- 232. Strachan DP, Cook DG. Health effects of passive smoking .5. Parental smoking and allergic sensitisation in children. Thorax 1998; 53:117-23.
- 233. Lodrup Carlsen KC, Carlsen KH. Effects of maternal and early tobacco exposure on the development of asthma and airway hyperreactivity. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 2001; 1:139-43.
- 234. Kulig M, Luck W, Lau S, Niggemann B, Bergmann R, Klettke U, Guggenmoos-Holzmann I, Wahn U. Effect of pre- and postnatal tobacco smoke exposure on specific sensitization to food and inhalant allergens during the first 3 years of life. Multicenter Allergy Study Group, Germany. Allergy 1999; 54:220-8.

- 235. Forastiere F, Agabiti N, Corbo GM, Pistelli R, Dell'Orco V, Ciappi G, Perucci CA. Passive smoking as a determinant of bronchial responsiveness in children. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 149:365-70.
- 236. Jarvis D, Chinn S, Potts J, Burney P. Association of body mass index with respiratory symptoms and atopy: results from the European Community Respiratory Health Survey. Clin Exp Allergy 2002; 32:831-7.
- Schachter LM, Peat JK, Salome CM. Asthma and atopy in overweight children. Thorax 2003; 58:1031-5.
- 238. Braback L, Hjern A, Rasmussen F. Body mass index, asthma and allergic rhinoconjunctivitis in Swedish conscripts-a national cohort study over three decades. Respir Med 2005; 99:1010-4.
- 239. Hancox RJ, Milne BJ, Poulton R, Taylor DR, Greene JM, McLachlan CR, Cowan JO, Flannery EM, Herbison GP, Sears MR. Sex differences in the relation between body mass index and asthma and atopy in a birth cohort. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005; 171:440-5.
- 240. Vieira VJ, Ronan AM, Windt MR, Tagliaferro AR. Elevated atopy in healthy obese women. Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 82:504-9.
- von Mutius E. The environmental predictors of allergic disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 105:9-19.
- 242. Matricardi PM, Franzinelli F, Franco A, Caprio G, Murru F, Cioffi D, Ferrigno L, Palermo A, Ciccarelli N, Rosmini F. Sibship size, birth order, and atopy in 11,371 Italian young men. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 101:439-44.
- 243. Matricardi PM, Rosmini F, Ferrigno L, Nisini R, Rapicetta M, Chionne P, Stroffolini T, Pasquini P, D'Amelio R. Cross sectional retrospective study of prevalence of atopy among Italian military students with antibodies against hepatitis A virus. Bmj 1997; 314:999-1003.
- 244. Jarvis D, Chinn S, Luczynska C, Burney P. The association of family size with atopy and atopic disease. Clin Exp Allergy 1997; 27:240-5.
- Olesen AB, Ellingsen AR, Olesen H, Juul S, Thestrup-Pedersen K. Atopic dermatitis and birth factors: historical follow up by record linkage. Bmj 1997; 314:1003-8.

- 246. Rasanen M, Laitinen T, Kaprio J, Koskenvuo M, Laitinen LA. Hay fever, asthma and number of older siblings--a twin study. Clin Exp Allergy 1997; 27:515-8.
- 247. Strachan DP. Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. Bmj 1989; 299:1259-60.
- Lewis S, Richards D, Bynner J, Butler N, Britton J. Prospective study of risk factors for early and persistent wheezing in childhood. Eur Respir J 1995; 8:349-56.
- Crane J, Pearce N, Shaw R, Fitzharris P, Mayes C. Asthma and having siblings. Bmj 1994; 309:272.
- Von Hertzen LC, Haahtela T. Asthma and atopy the price of affluence? Allergy 2004; 59:124-37.
- 251. Karmaus W, Botezan C. Does a higher number of siblings protect against the development of allergy and asthma? A review. J Epidemiol Community Health 2002; 56:209-17.
- 252. Ball TM, Castro-Rodriguez JA, Griffith KA, Holberg CJ, Martinez FD, Wright AL. Siblings, day-care attendance, and the risk of asthma and wheezing during childhood. N Engl J Med 2000; 343:538-43.
- 253. Kramer U, Heinrich J, Wjst M, Wichmann HE. Age of entry to day nursery and allergy in later childhood. Lancet 1999; 353:450-4.
- 254. Gerrard JW, Geddes CA, Reggin PL, Gerrard CD, Horne S. Serum IgE levels in white and metis communities in Saskatchewan. Ann Allergy 1976; 37:91-100.
- 255. Anderson HR. Respiratory abnormalities in Papua New Guinea children: the effects of locality and domestic wood smoke pollution. Int J Epidemiol 1978; 7:63-72.
- Bach JF. The effect of infections on susceptibility to autoimmune and allergic diseases. N Engl J Med 2002; 347:911-20.
- 257. Klugman KP, Madhi SA, Huebner RE, Kohberger R, Mbelle N, Pierce N. A trial of a 9-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in children with and those without HIV infection. N Engl J Med 2003; 349:1341-8.
- 258. Erb KJ, Holloway JW, Sobeck A, Moll H, Le Gros G. Infection of mice with Mycobacterium bovis-Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) suppresses allergeninduced airway eosinophilia. J Exp Med 1998; 187:561-9.

- 259. Herz U, Gerhold K, Gruber C, Braun A, Wahn U, Renz H, Paul K. BCG infection suppresses allergic sensitization and development of increased airway reactivity in an animal model. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:867-74.
- 260. Murosaki S, Yamamoto Y, Ito K, Inokuchi T, Kusaka H, Ikeda H, Yoshikai Y. Heat-killed Lactobacillus plantarum L-137 suppresses naturally fed antigenspecific IgE production by stimulation of IL-12 production in mice. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:57-64.
- 261. Bach JF. Six questions about the hygiene hypothesis. Cell Immunol 2005;233:158-61.
- Shi HZ, Qin XJ. CD4CD25 regulatory T lymphocytes in allergy and asthma. Allergy 2005; 60:986-95.
- 263. Bellinghausen I, Klostermann B, Knop J, Saloga J. Human CD4+CD25+ T cells derived from the majority of atopic donors are able to suppress TH1 and TH2 cytokine production. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003; 111:862-8.
- 264. Gereda JE, Leung DY, Thatayatikom A, Streib JE, Price MR, Klinnert MD, Liu AH. Relation between house-dust endotoxin exposure, type 1 T-cell development, and allergen sensitisation in infants at high risk of asthma. Lancet 2000; 355:1680-3.
- 265. Gehring U, Bischof W, Fahlbusch B, Wichmann HE, Heinrich J. House dust endotoxin and allergic sensitization in children. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002; 166:939-44.
- 266. Gehring U, Bolte G, Borte M, Bischof W, Fahlbusch B, Wichmann HE, Heinrich J. Exposure to endotoxin decreases the risk of atopic eczema in infancy: a cohort study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001; 108:847-54.
- 267. Braun-Fahrlander C, Riedler J, Herz U, Eder W, Waser M, Grize L, Maisch S, Carr D, Gerlach F, Bufe A, Lauener RP, Schierl R, Renz H, Nowak D, von Mutius E. Environmental exposure to endotoxin and its relation to asthma in school-age children. N Engl J Med 2002; 347:869-77.
- 268. Douwes J, Pearce N, Heederik D. Does environmental endotoxin exposure prevent asthma? Thorax 2002; 57:86-90.

- 269. Kline JN, Cowden JD, Hunninghake GW, Schutte BC, Watt JL, Wohlford-Lenane CL, Powers LS, Jones MP, Schwartz DA. Variable airway responsiveness to inhaled lipopolysaccharide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:297-303.
- 270. Rylander R, Haglind P, Lundholm M. Endotoxin in cotton dust and respiratory function decrement among cotton workers in an experimental cardroom. Am Rev Respir Dis 1985; 131:209-13.
- 271. Hasday JD, Bascom R, Costa JJ, Fitzgerald T, Dubin W. Bacterial endotoxin is an active component of cigarette smoke. Chest 1999; 115:829-35.
- 272. Kennedy SM, Christiani DC, Eisen EA, Wegman DH, Greaves IA, Olenchock SA, Ye TT, Lu PL. Cotton dust and endotoxin exposure-response relationships in cotton textile workers. Am Rev Respir Dis 1987; 135:194-200.
- 273. Donham K, Haglind P, Peterson Y, Rylander R, Belin L. Environmental and health studies of farm workers in Swedish swine confinement buildings. Br J Ind Med 1989; 46:31-7.
- 274. Clapp WD, Becker S, Quay J, Watt JL, Thorne PS, Frees KL, Zhang X, Koren HS, Lux CR, Schwartz DA. Grain dust-induced airflow obstruction and inflammation of the lower respiratory tract. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 150:611-7.
- 275. Michel O, Ginanni R, Le Bon B, Content J, Duchateau J, Sergysels R.
 Inflammatory response to acute inhalation of endotoxin in asthmatic patients. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 146:352-7.
- 276. Rylander R, Bake B, Fischer JJ, Helander IM. Pulmonary function and symptoms after inhalation of endotoxin. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 140:981-6.
- 277. Zhiping W, Malmberg P, Larsson BM, Larsson K, Larsson L, Saraf A. Exposure to bacteria in swine-house dust and acute inflammatory reactions in humans. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 154:1261-6.
- 278. Michel O, Kips J, Duchateau J, Vertongen F, Robert L, Collet H, Pauwels R, Sergysels R. Severity of asthma is related to endotoxin in house dust. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 154:1641-6.
- 279. Michel O, Ginanni R, Duchateau J, Vertongen F, Le Bon B, Sergysels R. Domestic endotoxin exposure and clinical severity of asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 1991; 21:441-8.

- Michel O, Duchateau J, Plat G, Cantinieaux B, Hotimsky A, Gerain J, Sergysels R. Blood inflammatory response to inhaled endotoxin in normal subjects. Clin Exp Allergy 1995; 25:73-9.
- 281. Michel O, Nagy AM, Schroeven M, Duchateau J, Neve J, Fondu P, Sergysels R. Dose-response relationship to inhaled endotoxin in normal subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:1157-64.
- 282. Michel O, Duchateau J, Sergysels R. Effect of inhaled endotoxin on bronchial reactivity in asthmatic and normal subjects. J Appl Physiol 1989; 66:1059-64.
- 283. Van der Zwan JC, Orie NG, Kauffman HF, Wiers PW, de Vries K. Bronchial obstructive reactions after inhalation with endotoxin and precipitinogens of Haemophilus influenzae in patients with chronic non-specific lung disease. Clin Allergy 1982; 12:547-59.
- 284. Michel O, Ginanni R, Sergysels R. Relation between the bronchial obstructive response to inhaled lipopolysaccharide and bronchial responsiveness to histamine. Thorax 1992; 47:288-91.
- 285. Tulic MK, Wale JL, Holt PG, Sly PD. Modification of the inflammatory response to allergen challenge after exposure to bacterial lipopolysaccharide. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2000; 22:604-12.
- 286. Rodriguez D, Keller AC, Faquim-Mauro EL, de Macedo MS, Cunha FQ, Lefort J, Vargaftig BB, Russo M. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide signaling through Toll-like receptor 4 suppresses asthma-like responses via nitric oxide synthase 2 activity. J Immunol 2003; 171:1001-8.
- 287. Tulic MK, Knight DA, Holt PG, Sly PD. Lipopolysaccharide inhibits the latephase response to allergen by altering nitric oxide synthase activity and interleukin-10. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2001; 24:640-6.
- 288. Lundy SK, Berlin AA, Lukacs NW. Interleukin-12-independent down-modulation of cockroach antigen-induced asthma in mice by intranasal exposure to bacterial lipopolysaccharide. Am J Pathol 2003; 163:1961-8.
- 289. Wan GH, Li CS, Lin RH. Airborne endotoxin exposure and the development of airway antigen-specific allergic responses. Clin Exp Allergy 2000; 30:426-32.

- 290. Eisenbarth SC, Piggott DA, Huleatt JW, Visintin I, Herrick CA, Bottomly K. Lipopolysaccharide-enhanced, toll-like receptor 4-dependent T helper cell type 2 responses to inhaled antigen. J Exp Med 2002; 196:1645-51.
- 291. Delayre-Orthez C, de Blay F, Frossard N, Pons F. Dose-dependent effects of endotoxins on allergen sensitization and challenge in the mouse. Clin Exp Allergy 2004; 34:1789-95.
- 292. Dabbagh K, Dahl ME, Stepick-Biek P, Lewis DB. Toll-like receptor 4 is required for optimal development of Th2 immune responses: role of dendritic cells. J Immunol 2002; 168:4524-30.
- 293. Tulic MK, Manoukian JJ, Eidelman DH, Hamid Q. T-cell proliferation induced by local application of LPS in the nasal mucosa of nonatopic children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2002; 110:771-6.
- 294. Levy MM, Fink MP, Marshall JC, Abraham E, Angus D, Cook D, Cohen J, Opal SM, Vincent JL, Ramsay G. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. Crit Care Med 2003; 31:1250-6.
- 295. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine Consensus Conference: definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. Crit Care Med 1992; 20:864-74.
- 296. Annane D, Bellissant E, Cavaillon JM. Septic shock. Lancet 2005; 365:63-78.
- 297. Michalek SM, Moore RN, McGhee JR, Rosenstreich DL, Mergenhagen SE. The primary role of lymphoreticular cells in the mediation of host responses to bacterial endotoxim. J Infect Dis 1980; 141:55-63.
- 298. Moore RN, Goodrum KJ, Berry LJ. Mediation of an endotoxic effect by macrophages. J Reticuloendothel Soc 1976; 19:187-97.
- 299. Beutler B, Greenwald D, Hulmes JD, Chang M, Pan YC, Mathison J, Ulevitch R, Cerami A. Identity of tumour necrosis factor and the macrophage-secreted factor cachectin. Nature 1985; 316:552-4.
- 300. Beutler B. Innate immune responses to microbial poisons: discovery and function of the Toll-like receptors. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 2003; 43:609-28.

- 301. March CJ, Mosley B, Larsen A, Cerretti DP, Braedt G, Price V, Gillis S, Henney CS, Kronheim SR, Grabstein K, et al. Cloning, sequence and expression of two distinct human interleukin-1 complementary DNAs. Nature 1985; 315:641-7.
- Sweet MJ, Hume DA. Endotoxin signal transduction in macrophages. J Leukoc Biol 1996; 60:8-26.
- Ohmori Y, Hamilton TA. Requirement for STAT1 in LPS-induced gene expression in macrophages. J Leukoc Biol 2001; 69:598-604.
- 304. de Waal Malefyt R, Abrams J, Bennett B, Figdor CG, de Vries JE. Interleukin 10(IL-10) inhibits cytokine synthesis by human monocytes: an autoregulatory role of IL-10 produced by monocytes. J Exp Med 1991; 174:1209-20.
- 305. Brandtzaeg P, Osnes L, Ovstebo R, Joo GB, Westvik AB, Kierulf P. Net inflammatory capacity of human septic shock plasma evaluated by a monocytebased target cell assay: identification of interleukin-10 as a major functional deactivator of human monocytes. J Exp Med 1996; 184:51-60.
- 306. Bonder CS, Dickensheets HL, Finlay-Jones JJ, Donnelly RP, Hart PH. Involvement of the IL-2 receptor gamma-chain (gammac) in the control by IL-4 of human monocyte and macrophage proinflammatory mediator production. J Immunol 1998; 160:4048-56.
- 307. Essner R, Rhoades K, McBride WH, Morton DL, Economou JS. IL-4 downregulates IL-1 and TNF gene expression in human monocytes. J Immunol 1989; 142:3857-61.
- 308. Cheung DL, Hart PH, Vitti GF, Whitty GA, Hamilton JA. Contrasting effects of interferon-gamma and interleukin-4 on the interleukin-6 activity of stimulated human monocytes. Immunology 1990; 71:70-5.
- 309. te Velde AA, Huijbens RJ, de Vries JE, Figdor CG. IL-4 decreases Fc gamma R membrane expression and Fc gamma R-mediated cytotoxic activity of human monocytes. J Immunol 1990; 144:3046-51.
- 310. Bonder CS, Finlay-Jones JJ, Hart PH. Interleukin-4 regulation of human monocyte and macrophage interleukin-10 and interleukin-12 production. Role of a functional interleukin-2 receptor gamma-chain. Immunology 1999; 96:529-36.

- 311. Giampietri A, Grohmann U, Vacca C, Fioretti MC, Puccetti P, Campanile F. Dual effect of IL-4 on resistance to systemic gram-negative infection and production of TNF-alpha. Cytokine 2000; 12:417-21.
- 312. Muchamuel T, Menon S, Pisacane P, Howard MC, Cockayne DA. IL-13 protects mice from lipopolysaccharide-induced lethal endotoxemia: correlation with down-modulation of TNF-alpha, IFN-gamma, and IL-12 production. J Immunol 1997; 158:2898-903.
- 313. Wong ML, Bongiorno PB, Rettori V, McCann SM, Licinio J. Interleukin (IL) 1beta, IL-1 receptor antagonist, IL-10, and IL-13 gene expression in the central nervous system and anterior pituitary during systemic inflammation: pathophysiological implications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997; 94:227-32.
- 314. Lentsch AB, Kato A, Davis B, Wang W, Chao C, Edwards MJ. STAT4 and STAT6 regulate systemic inflammation and protect against lethal endotoxemia. J Clin Invest 2001; 108:1475-82.
- 315. Beutler B, Krochin N, Milsark IW, Luedke C, Cerami A. Control of cachectin (tumor necrosis factor) synthesis: mechanisms of endotoxin resistance. Science 1986; 232:977-80.
- Gram HCJ. Über die isolirte F\u00e4rbung der Schizomyceten in Schnitt- und Trockenpr\u00e4paraten. Fortschritte der Medizin 1884; 2:185.
- 317. Smit J, Kamio Y, Nikaido H. Outer membrane of Salmonella typhimurium: chemical analysis and freeze-fracture studies with lipopolysaccharide mutants. J Bacteriol 1975; 124:942-58.
- 318. Mayer D, Tharanathan RN, Weckesser J. Analysis of lipopolysaccharides of Gram-negative bacteria. Analysis of lipopolysaccharides of Gram-negative bacteria 1985; 18:157-207.
- 319. Pasteur L. Septicemie puerperale. Bull Acad Natl Med 1879; VIII:8256-60.
- 320. Pfeiffer R. Untersuchungen über das Choleragift. Z Hygiene 1892; 11:393-412.
- 321. Burrows W. Endotoxins. Annu Rev Microbiol 1951; 5:181-96.
- 322. Luderitz O, Galanos C, Lehmann V, Nurminen M, Rietschel ET, Rosenfelder G, Simon M, Westphal O. Lipid A: chemical structure and biological activity. J Infect Dis 1973; 128:Suppl:17-29.

- 323. Luderitz O, Staub AM, Westphal O. Immunochemistry of O and R antigens of Salmonella and related Enterobacteriaceae. Bacteriol Rev 1966; 30:192-255.
- 324. Galanos C, Luderitz O, Rietschel ET, Westphal O, Brade H, Brade L, Freudenberg M, Schade U, Imoto M, Yoshimura H, et al. Synthetic and natural Escherichia coli free lipid A express identical endotoxic activities. Eur J Biochem 1985; 148:1-5.
- 325. Beutler B, Rietschel ET. Innate immune sensing and its roots: the story of endotoxin. Nat Rev Immunol 2003; 3:169-76.
- 326. Moller G. 19S antibody production against soluble lipopolysaccharide antigens by individual lymphoid cells in vitro. Nature 1965; 207:1166-8.
- 327. Coutinho A, Moller G. B cell mitogenic properties of thymus-independent antigens. Nat New Biol 1973; 245:12-4.
- 328. Heppner G, Weiss DW. High Susceptibility of Strain a Mice to Endotoxin and Endotoxin-Red Blood Cell Mixtures. Journal of Bacteriology 1965; 90:696-&.
- 329. O'Brien AD, Rosenstreich DL, Scher I, Campbell GH, MacDermott RP, Formal SB. Genetic control of susceptibility to Salmonella typhimurium in mice: role of the LPS gene. J Immunol 1980; 124:20-4.
- 330. Watson J, Riblet R. Genetic control of responses to bacterial lipopolysaccharides in mice. II. A gene that influences a membrane component involved in the activation of bone marrow-derived lymphocytes by lipipolysaccharides. J Immunol 1975; 114:1462-8.
- 331. Watson J, Riblet R. Genetic control of responses to bacterial lipopolysaccharides in mice. I. Evidence for a single gene that influences mitogenic and immunogenic response to lipopolysaccharides. J Exp Med 1974; 140:1147-61.
- 332. Coutinho A, Forni L, Melchers F, Watanabe T. Genetic defect in responsiveness to the B cell mitogen lipopolysaccharide. Eur J Immunol 1977; 7:325-8.
- 333. Anderson KV, Jurgens G, Nusslein-Volhard C. Establishment of dorsal-ventral polarity in the Drosophila embryo: genetic studies on the role of the Toll gene product. Cell 1985; 42:779-89.

- 334. Anderson KV, Bokla L, Nusslein-Volhard C. Establishment of dorsal-ventral polarity in the Drosophila embryo: the induction of polarity by the Toll gene product. Cell 1985; 42:791-8.
- 335. Lemaitre B. The road to Toll. Nat Rev Immunol 2004; 4:521-7.
- 336. Ip YT, Reach M, Engstrom Y, Kadalayil L, Cai H, Gonzalez-Crespo S, Tatei K, Levine M. Dif, a dorsal-related gene that mediates an immune response in Drosophila. Cell 1993; 75:753-63.
- 337. Rosetto M, Engstrom Y, Baldari CT, Telford JL, Hultmark D. Signals from the IL-1 receptor homolog, Toll, can activate an immune response in a Drosophila hemocyte cell line. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1995; 209:111-6.
- 338. Lemaitre B, Nicolas E, Michaut L, Reichhart JM, Hoffmann JA. The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spatzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in Drosophila adults. Cell 1996; 86:973-83.
- 339. Gay NJ, Keith FJ. Drosophila Toll and IL-1 receptor. Nature 1991; 351:355-6.
- 340. Taguchi T, Mitcham JL, Dower SK, Sims JE, Testa JR. Chromosomal localization of TIL, a gene encoding a protein related to the Drosophila transmembrane receptor Toll, to human chromosome 4p14. Genomics 1996; 32:486-8.
- Medzhitov R, Preston-Hurlburt P, Janeway CA, Jr. A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. Nature 1997; 388:394-7.
- 342. Rock FL, Hardiman G, Timans JC, Kastelein RA, Bazan JF. A family of human receptors structurally related to Drosophila Toll. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998; 95:588-93.
- 343. Tobias PS, Soldau K, Ulevitch RJ. Isolation of a lipopolysaccharide-binding acute phase reactant from rabbit serum. J Exp Med 1986; 164:777-93.
- Tobias PS, Mathison JC, Ulevitch RJ. A family of lipopolysaccharide binding proteins involved in responses to gram-negative sepsis. J Biol Chem 1988; 263:13479-81.

- 345. Wright SD, Tobias PS, Ulevitch RJ, Ramos RA. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) binding protein opsonizes LPS-bearing particles for recognition by a novel receptor on macrophages. J Exp Med 1989; 170:1231-41.
- 346. Schumann RR, Leong SR, Flaggs GW, Gray PW, Wright SD, Mathison JC, Tobias PS, Ulevitch RJ. Structure and function of lipopolysaccharide binding protein. Science 1990; 249:1429-31.
- 347. Wright SD, Ramos RA, Tobias PS, Ulevitch RJ, Mathison JC. CD14, a receptor for complexes of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and LPS binding protein. Science 1990; 249:1431-3.
- 348. Poltorak A, He X, Smirnova I, Liu MY, Van Huffel C, Du X, Birdwell D, Alejos E, Silva M, Galanos C, Freudenberg M, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Layton B, Beutler B. Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. Science 1998; 282:2085-8.
- Poltorak A, Smirnova I, He X, Liu MY, Van Huffel C, McNally O, Birdwell D, Alejos E, Silva M, Du X, Thompson P, Chan EK, Ledesma J, Roe B, Clifton S, Vogel SN, Beutler B. Genetic and physical mapping of the Lps locus: identification of the toll-4 receptor as a candidate gene in the critical region. Blood Cells Mol Dis 1998; 24:340-55.
- 350. Qureshi ST, Lariviere L, Leveque G, Clermont S, Moore KJ, Gros P, Malo D. Endotoxin-tolerant mice have mutations in Toll-like receptor 4 (Tlr4). J Exp Med 1999; 189:615-25.
- 351. Baker B, Zambryski P, Staskawicz B, Dinesh-Kumar SP. Signaling in plantmicrobe interactions. Science 1997; 276:726-33.
- 352. Beutler B, Rehli M. Evolution of the TIR, tolls and TLRs: functional inferences from computational biology. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2002; 270:1-21.
- 353. Lien E, Ingalls RR. Toll-like receptors. Crit Care Med 2002; 30:S1-S11.
- Choe J, Kelker MS, Wilson IA. Crystal structure of human toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) ectodomain. Science 2005; 309:581-5.
- 355. Rifkin IR, Leadbetter EA, Busconi L, Viglianti G, Marshak-Rothstein A. Toll-like receptors, endogenous ligands, and systemic autoimmune disease. Immunol Rev 2005; 204:27-42.

- 356. Takeda K, Kaisho T, Akira S. Toll-like receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 2003; 21:335-76.
- Akira S, Takeda K. Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat Rev Immunol 2004; 4:499-511.
- 358. Takeuchi O, Sato S, Horiuchi T, Hoshino K, Takeda K, Dong Z, Modlin RL, Akira S. Cutting edge: role of Toll-like receptor 1 in mediating immune response to microbial lipoproteins. J Immunol 2002; 169:10-4.
- 359. Wyllie DH, Kiss-Toth E, Visintin A, Smith SC, Boussouf S, Segal DM, Duff GW, Dower SK. Evidence for an accessory protein function for Toll-like receptor 1 in anti-bacterial responses. J Immunol 2000; 165:7125-32.
- 360. Takeuchi O, Hoshino K, Kawai T, Sanjo H, Takada H, Ogawa T, Takeda K, Akira S. Differential roles of TLR2 and TLR4 in recognition of gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial cell wall components. Immunity 1999; 11:443-51.
- 361. Yoshimura A, Lien E, Ingalls RR, Tuomanen E, Dziarski R, Golenbock D. Cutting edge: recognition of Gram-positive bacterial cell wall components by the innate immune system occurs via Toll-like receptor 2. J Immunol 1999; 163:1-5.
- 362. Schwandner R, Dziarski R, Wesche H, Rothe M, Kirschning CJ. Peptidoglycanand lipoteichoic acid-induced cell activation is mediated by toll-like receptor 2. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:17406-9.
- 363. Lien E, Sellati TJ, Yoshimura A, Flo TH, Rawadi G, Finberg RW, Carroll JD, Espevik T, Ingalls RR, Radolf JD, Golenbock DT. Toll-like receptor 2 functions as a pattern recognition receptor for diverse bacterial products. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:33419-25.
- Brightbill HD, Libraty DH, Krutzik SR, Yang RB, Belisle JT, Bleharski JR,
 Maitland M, Norgard MV, Plevy SE, Smale ST, Brennan PJ, Bloom BR,
 Godowski PJ, Modlin RL. Host defense mechanisms triggered by microbial
 lipoproteins through toll-like receptors. Science 1999; 285:732-6.
- 365. Underhill DM, Ozinsky A, Hajjar AM, Stevens A, Wilson CB, Bassetti M, Aderem A. The Toll-like receptor 2 is recruited to macrophage phagosomes and discriminates between pathogens. Nature 1999; 401:811-5.

- 366. Aliprantis AO, Yang RB, Mark MR, Suggett S, Devaux B, Radolf JD, Klimpel GR, Godowski P, Zychlinsky A. Cell activation and apoptosis by bacterial lipoproteins through toll-like receptor-2. Science 1999; 285:736-9.
- 367. Hirschfeld M, Kirschning CJ, Schwandner R, Wesche H, Weis JH, Wooten RM, Weis JJ. Cutting edge: inflammatory signaling by Borrelia burgdorferi lipoproteins is mediated by toll-like receptor 2. J Immunol 1999; 163:2382-6.
- 368. Takeuchi O, Hoshino K, Akira S. Cutting edge: TLR2-deficient and MyD88deficient mice are highly susceptible to Staphylococcus aureus infection. J Immunol 2000; 165:5392-6.
- 369. Lehner MD, Morath S, Michelsen KS, Schumann RR, Hartung T. Induction of cross-tolerance by lipopolysaccharide and highly purified lipoteichoic acid via different Toll-like receptors independent of paracrine mediators. J Immunol 2001; 166:5161-7.
- 370. Means TK, Lien E, Yoshimura A, Wang S, Golenbock DT, Fenton MJ. The CD14 ligands lipoarabinomannan and lipopolysaccharide differ in their requirement for Toll-like receptors. J Immunol 1999; 163:6748-55.
- 371. Hajjar AM, O'Mahony DS, Ozinsky A, Underhill DM, Aderem A, Klebanoff SJ,
 Wilson CB. Cutting edge: functional interactions between toll-like receptor (TLR)
 2 and TLR1 or TLR6 in response to phenol-soluble modulin. J Immunol 2001;
 166:15-9.
- 372. Campos MA, Almeida IC, Takeuchi O, Akira S, Valente EP, Procopio DO, Travassos LR, Smith JA, Golenbock DT, Gazzinelli RT. Activation of Toll-like receptor-2 by glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchors from a protozoan parasite. J Immunol 2001; 167:416-23.
- 373. Opitz B, Schroder NW, Spreitzer I, Michelsen KS, Kirschning CJ, Hallatschek W, Zahringer U, Hartung T, Gobel UB, Schumann RR. Toll-like receptor-2 mediates Treponema glycolipid and lipoteichoic acid-induced NF-kappaB translocation. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:22041-7.
- 374. Massari P, Henneke P, Ho Y, Latz E, Golenbock DT, Wetzler LM. Cutting edge: Immune stimulation by neisserial porins is toll-like receptor 2 and MyD88 dependent. J Immunol 2002; 168:1533-7.

- 375. van der Kleij D, Latz E, Brouwers JF, Kruize YC, Schmitz M, Kurt-Jones EA, Espevik T, de Jong EC, Kapsenberg ML, Golenbock DT, Tielens AG, Yazdanbakhsh M. A novel host-parasite lipid cross-talk. Schistosomal lysophosphatidylserine activates toll-like receptor 2 and affects immune polarization. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:48122-9.
- 376. Hirschfeld M, Weis JJ, Toshchakov V, Salkowski CA, Cody MJ, Ward DC, Qureshi N, Michalek SM, Vogel SN. Signaling by toll-like receptor 2 and 4 agonists results in differential gene expression in murine macrophages. Infect Immun 2001; 69:1477-82.
- 377. Werts C, Tapping RI, Mathison JC, Chuang TH, Kravchenko V, Saint Girons I, Haake DA, Godowski PJ, Hayashi F, Ozinsky A, Underhill DM, Kirschning CJ, Wagner H, Aderem A, Tobias PS, Ulevitch RJ. Leptospiral lipopolysaccharide activates cells through a TLR2-dependent mechanism. Nat Immunol 2001; 2:346-52.
- Vabulas RM, Wagner H, Schild H. Heat shock proteins as ligands of toll-like receptors. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2002; 270:169-84.
- 379. Liu B, Dai J, Zheng H, Stoilova D, Sun S, Li Z. Cell surface expression of an endoplasmic reticulum resident heat shock protein gp96 triggers MyD88dependent systemic autoimmune diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003; 100:15824-9.
- 380. Park JS, Svetkauskaite D, He Q, Kim JY, Strassheim D, Ishizaka A, Abraham E. Involvement of toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in cellular activation by high mobility group box 1 protein. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:7370-7.
- Alexopoulou L, Holt AC, Medzhitov R, Flavell RA. Recognition of doublestranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptor 3. Nature 2001; 413:732-8.
- 382. Kariko K, Ni H, Capodici J, Lamphier M, Weissman D. mRNA is an endogenous ligand for Toll-like receptor 3. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:12542-50.
- 383. Hoshino K, Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Sanjo H, Ogawa T, Takeda Y, Takeda K, Akira S. Cutting edge: Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-deficient mice are

hyporesponsive to lipopolysaccharide: evidence for TLR4 as the Lps gene product. J Immunol 1999; 162:3749-52.

- Chow JC, Young DW, Golenbock DT, Christ WJ, Gusovsky F. Toll-like receptor-4 mediates lipopolysaccharide-induced signal transduction. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:10689-92.
- 385. Hirschfeld M, Ma Y, Weis JH, Vogel SN, Weis JJ. Cutting edge: repurification of lipopolysaccharide eliminates signaling through both human and murine toll-like receptor 2. J Immunol 2000; 165:618-22.
- 386. Lien E, Means TK, Heine H, Yoshimura A, Kusumoto S, Fukase K, Fenton MJ, Oikawa M, Qureshi N, Monks B, Finberg RW, Ingalls RR, Golenbock DT. Tolllike receptor 4 imparts ligand-specific recognition of bacterial lipopolysaccharide. J Clin Invest 2000; 105:497-504.
- 387. Poltorak A, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Citterio S, Beutler B. Physical contact between lipopolysaccharide and toll-like receptor 4 revealed by genetic complementation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000; 97:2163-7.
- 388. Kawasaki K, Akashi S, Shimazu R, Yoshida T, Miyake K, Nishijima M. Mouse toll-like receptor 4.MD-2 complex mediates lipopolysaccharide-mimetic signal transduction by Taxol. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:2251-4.
- 389. Kawasaki K, Akashi S, Shimazu R, Yoshida T, Miyake K, Nishijima M. Involvement of TLR4/MD-2 complex in species-specific lipopolysaccharidemimetic signal transduction by Taxol. J Endotoxin Res 2001; 7:232-6.
- 390. Perera PY, Mayadas TN, Takeuchi O, Akira S, Zaks-Zilberman M, Goyert SM, Vogel SN. CD11b/CD18 acts in concert with CD14 and Toll-like receptor (TLR)
 4 to elicit full lipopolysaccharide and taxol-inducible gene expression. J Immunol 2001; 166:574-81.
- 391. Kurt-Jones EA, Popova L, Kwinn L, Haynes LM, Jones LP, Tripp RA, Walsh EE, Freeman MW, Golenbock DT, Anderson LJ, Finberg RW. Pattern recognition receptors TLR4 and CD14 mediate response to respiratory syncytial virus. Nat Immunol 2000; 1:398-401.
- 392. Wang JE, Warris A, Ellingsen EA, Jorgensen PF, Flo TH, Espevik T, Solberg R, Verweij PE, Aasen AO. Involvement of CD14 and toll-like receptors in activation

of human monocytes by Aspergillus fumigatus hyphae. Infect Immun 2001; 69:2402-6.

- 393. Ohashi K, Burkart V, Flohe S, Kolb H. Cutting edge: heat shock protein 60 is a putative endogenous ligand of the toll-like receptor-4 complex. J Immunol 2000; 164:558-61.
- 394. Vabulas RM, Ahmad-Nejad P, da Costa C, Miethke T, Kirschning CJ, Hacker H, Wagner H. Endocytosed HSP60s use toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) and TLR4 to activate the toll/interleukin-1 receptor signaling pathway in innate immune cells. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:31332-9.
- 395. Rassa JC, Meyers JL, Zhang Y, Kudaravalli R, Ross SR. Murine retroviruses activate B cells via interaction with toll-like receptor 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002; 99:2281-6.
- 396. Okamura Y, Watari M, Jerud ES, Young DW, Ishizaka ST, Rose J, Chow JC, Strauss JF, 3rd. The extra domain A of fibronectin activates Toll-like receptor 4. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:10229-33.
- 397. Smiley ST, King JA, Hancock WW. Fibrinogen stimulates macrophage chemokine secretion through toll-like receptor 4. J Immunol 2001; 167:2887-94.
- 398. Guillot L, Balloy V, McCormack FX, Golenbock DT, Chignard M, Si-Tahar M. Cutting edge: the immunostimulatory activity of the lung surfactant protein-A involves Toll-like receptor 4. J Immunol 2002; 168:5989-92.
- 399. Miller YI, Viriyakosol S, Binder CJ, Feramisco JR, Kirkland TN, Witztum JL. Minimally modified LDL binds to CD14, induces macrophage spreading via TLR4/MD-2, and inhibits phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:1561-8.
- 400. Johnson GB, Brunn GJ, Platt JL. Cutting edge: an endogenous pathway to systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS)-like reactions through Toll-like receptor 4. J Immunol 2004; 172:20-4.
- 401. Johnson GB, Brunn GJ, Kodaira Y, Platt JL. Receptor-mediated monitoring of tissue well-being via detection of soluble heparan sulfate by Toll-like receptor 4. J Immunol 2002; 168:5233-9.

- 402. Taylor KR, Trowbridge JM, Rudisill JA, Termeer CC, Simon JC, Gallo RL. Hyaluronan fragments stimulate endothelial recognition of injury through TLR4. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:17079-84.
- 403. Termeer C, Benedix F, Sleeman J, Fieber C, Voith U, Ahrens T, Miyake K, Freudenberg M, Galanos C, Simon JC. Oligosaccharides of Hyaluronan activate dendritic cells via toll-like receptor 4. J Exp Med 2002; 195:99-111.
- 404. Lee JY, Sohn KH, Rhee SH, Hwang D. Saturated fatty acids, but not unsaturated fatty acids, induce the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 mediated through Toll-like receptor 4. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:16683-9.
- 405. Hayashi F, Smith KD, Ozinsky A, Hawn TR, Yi EC, Goodlett DR, Eng JK, Akira S, Underhill DM, Aderem A. The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by Toll-like receptor 5. Nature 2001; 410:1099-103.
- 406. Gewirtz AT, Navas TA, Lyons S, Godowski PJ, Madara JL. Cutting edge: bacterial flagellin activates basolaterally expressed TLR5 to induce epithelial proinflammatory gene expression. J Immunol 2001; 167:1882-5.
- 407. Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Muhlradt PF, Morr M, Radolf JD, Zychlinsky A, Takeda K, Akira S. Discrimination of bacterial lipoproteins by Toll-like receptor 6. Int Immunol 2001; 13:933-40.
- 408. Bulut Y, Faure E, Thomas L, Equils O, Arditi M. Cooperation of Toll-like receptor 2 and 6 for cellular activation by soluble tuberculosis factor and Borrelia burgdorferi outer surface protein A lipoprotein: role of Toll-interacting protein and IL-1 receptor signaling molecules in Toll-like receptor 2 signaling. J Immunol 2001; 167:987-94.
- 409. Ozinsky A, Underhill DM, Fontenot JD, Hajjar AM, Smith KD, Wilson CB,
 Schroeder L, Aderem A. The repertoire for pattern recognition of pathogens by
 the innate immune system is defined by cooperation between toll-like receptors.
 Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000; 97:13766-71.
- 410. Heil F, Hemmi H, Hochrein H, Ampenberger F, Kirschning C, Akira S, Lipford G, Wagner H, Bauer S. Species-specific recognition of single-stranded RNA via tolllike receptor 7 and 8. Science 2004; 303:1526-9.

- 411. Hornung V, Guenthner-Biller M, Bourquin C, Ablasser A, Schlee M, Uematsu S, Noronha A, Manoharan M, Akira S, de Fougerolles A, Endres S, Hartmann G. Sequence-specific potent induction of IFN-alpha by short interfering RNA in plasmacytoid dendritic cells through TLR7. Nat Med 2005; 11:263-70.
- 412. Hemmi H, Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Sanjo H, Hoshino K, Horiuchi T, Tomizawa H, Takeda K, Akira S. Small anti-viral compounds activate immune cells via the TLR7 MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. Nat Immunol 2002; 3:196-200.
- 413. Lee J, Chuang TH, Redecke V, She L, Pitha PM, Carson DA, Raz E, Cottam HB. Molecular basis for the immunostimulatory activity of guanine nucleoside analogs: activation of Toll-like receptor 7. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003; 100:6646-51.
- Peng G, Guo Z, Kiniwa Y, Voo KS, Peng W, Fu T, Wang DY, Li Y, Wang HY, Wang RF. Toll-like receptor 8-mediated reversal of CD4+ regulatory T cell function. Science 2005; 309:1380-4.
- 415. Hemmi H, Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Kaisho T, Sato S, Sanjo H, Matsumoto M, Hoshino K, Wagner H, Takeda K, Akira S. A Toll-like receptor recognizes bacterial DNA. Nature 2000; 408:740-5.
- 416. Takeshita F, Leifer CA, Gursel I, Ishii KJ, Takeshita S, Gursel M, Klinman DM. Cutting edge: Role of Toll-like receptor 9 in CpG DNA-induced activation of human cells. J Immunol 2001; 167:3555-8.
- 417. Bauer S, Kirschning CJ, Hacker H, Redecke V, Hausmann S, Akira S, Wagner H, Lipford GB. Human TLR9 confers responsiveness to bacterial DNA via speciesspecific CpG motif recognition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001; 98:9237-42.
- 418. Viglianti GA, Lau CM, Hanley TM, Miko BA, Shlomchik MJ, Marshak-Rothstein A. Activation of autoreactive B cells by CpG dsDNA. Immunity 2003; 19:837-47.
- 419. Leadbetter EA, Rifkin IR, Hohlbaum AM, Beaudette BC, Shlomchik MJ, Marshak-Rothstein A. Chromatin-IgG complexes activate B cells by dual engagement of IgM and Toll-like receptors. Nature 2002; 416:603-7.

- 420. Marshak-Rothstein A, Busconi L, Lau CM, Tabor AS, Leadbetter EA, Akira S, Krieg AM, Lipford GB, Viglianti GA, Rifkin IR. Comparison of CpG s-ODNs, chromatin immune complexes, and dsDNA fragment immune complexes in the TLR9-dependent activation of rheumatoid factor B cells. J Endotoxin Res 2004; 10:247-51.
- 421. Boule MW, Broughton C, Mackay F, Akira S, Marshak-Rothstein A, Rifkin IR. Toll-like receptor 9-dependent and -independent dendritic cell activation by chromatin-immunoglobulin G complexes. J Exp Med 2004; 199:1631-40.
- 422. Zhang D, Zhang G, Hayden MS, Greenblatt MB, Bussey C, Flavell RA, Ghosh S. A toll-like receptor that prevents infection by uropathogenic bacteria. Science 2004; 303:1522-6.
- 423. Yarovinsky F, Zhang D, Andersen JF, Bannenberg GL, Serhan CN, Hayden MS, Hieny S, Sutterwala FS, Flavell RA, Ghosh S, Sher A. TLR11 activation of dendritic cells by a protozoan profilin-like protein. Science 2005; 308:1626-9.
- 424. Miyake K, Yamashita Y, Hitoshi Y, Takatsu K, Kimoto M. Murine B cell proliferation and protection from apoptosis with an antibody against a 105-kD molecule: unresponsiveness of X-linked immunodeficient B cells. J Exp Med 1994; 180:1217-24.
- 425. Muzio M, Bosisio D, Polentarutti N, D'Amico G, Stoppacciaro A, Mancinelli R, van't Veer C, Penton-Rol G, Ruco LP, Allavena P, Mantovani A. Differential expression and regulation of toll-like receptors (TLR) in human leukocytes: selective expression of TLR3 in dendritic cells. J Immunol 2000; 164:5998-6004.
- 426. Visintin A, Mazzoni A, Spitzer JH, Wyllie DH, Dower SK, Segal DM. Regulation of Toll-like receptors in human monocytes and dendritic cells. J Immunol 2001; 166:249-55.
- 427. McCurdy JD, Lin TJ, Marshall JS. Toll-like receptor 4-mediated activation of murine mast cells. J Leukoc Biol 2001; 70:977-84.
- 428. Supajatura V, Ushio H, Nakao A, Okumura K, Ra C, Ogawa H. Protective roles of mast cells against enterobacterial infection are mediated by Toll-like receptor 4. J Immunol 2001; 167:2250-6.

- 429. Plotz SG, Lentschat A, Behrendt H, Plotz W, Hamann L, Ring J, Rietschel ET, Flad HD, Ulmer AJ. The interaction of human peripheral blood eosinophils with bacterial lipopolysaccharide is CD14 dependent. Blood 2001; 97:235-41.
- 430. Akashi S, Shimazu R, Ogata H, Nagai Y, Takeda K, Kimoto M, Miyake K. Cutting edge: cell surface expression and lipopolysaccharide signaling via the toll-like receptor 4-MD-2 complex on mouse peritoneal macrophages. J Immunol 2000; 164:3471-5.
- 431. Ogata H, Su I, Miyake K, Nagai Y, Akashi S, Mecklenbrauker I, Rajewsky K, Kimoto M, Tarakhovsky A. The toll-like receptor protein RP105 regulates lipopolysaccharide signaling in B cells. J Exp Med 2000; 192:23-9.
- 432. Hornung V, Rothenfusser S, Britsch S, Krug A, Jahrsdorfer B, Giese T, Endres S, Hartmann G. Quantitative expression of toll-like receptor 1-10 mRNA in cellular subsets of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells and sensitivity to CpG oligodeoxynucleotides. J Immunol 2002; 168:4531-7.
- 433. Caramalho I, Lopes-Carvalho T, Ostler D, Zelenay S, Haury M, Demengeot J. Regulatory T Cells Selectively Express Toll-like Receptors and Are Activated by Lipopolysaccharide. J Exp Med 2003; 197:403-11.
- 434. Abreu MT, Vora P, Faure E, Thomas LS, Arnold ET, Arditi M. Decreased expression of Toll-like receptor-4 and MD-2 correlates with intestinal epithelial cell protection against dysregulated proinflammatory gene expression in response to bacterial lipopolysaccharide. J Immunol 2001; 167:1609-16.
- 435. Wang X, Moser C, Louboutin JP, Lysenko ES, Weiner DJ, Weiser JN, Wilson JM. Toll-like receptor 4 mediates innate immune responses to Haemophilus influenzae infection in mouse lung. J Immunol 2002; 168:810-5.
- 436. Armstrong L, Medford AR, Uppington KM, Robertson J, Witherden IR, Tetley TD, Millar AB. Expression of functional toll-like receptor-2 and -4 on alveolar epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2004; 31:241-5.
- 437. Dong Z, Yang Z, Wang C. Expression of TLR2 and TLR4 messenger RNA in the epithelial cells of the nasal airway. Am J Rhinol 2005; 19:236-9.
- 438. Faure E, Equils O, Sieling PA, Thomas L, Zhang FX, Kirschning CJ, Polentarutti N, Muzio M, Arditi M. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide activates NF-kappaB through

toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4) in cultured human dermal endothelial cells. Differential expression of TLR-4 and TLR-2 in endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:11058-63.

- 439. Jimenez R, Belcher E, Sriskandan S, Lucas R, McMaster S, Vojnovic I, Warner TD, Mitchell JA. Role of Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in the induction of cyclooxygenase-2 in vascular smooth muscle. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005; 102:4637-42.
- 440. Morris GE, Whyte MK, Martin GF, Jose PJ, Dower SK, Sabroe I. Agonists of Toll-like Receptors 2 and 4 Activate Airway Smooth Muscle via Mononuclear Leukocytes. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005; 171:814-22.
- 441. Tabeta K, Yamazaki K, Akashi S, Miyake K, Kumada H, Umemoto T, Yoshie H. Toll-like receptors confer responsiveness to lipopolysaccharide from Porphyromonas gingivalis in human gingival fibroblasts. Infect Immun 2000; 68:3731-5.
- 442. Hornef MW, Frisan T, Vandewalle A, Normark S, Richter-Dahlfors A. Toll-like receptor 4 resides in the Golgi apparatus and colocalizes with internalized lipopolysaccharide in intestinal epithelial cells. J Exp Med 2002; 195:559-70.
- 443. Latz E, Visintin A, Lien E, Fitzgerald KA, Monks BG, Kurt-Jones EA, Golenbock DT, Espevik T. Lipopolysaccharide rapidly traffics to and from the Golgi apparatus with the toll-like receptor 4-MD-2-CD14 complex in a process that is distinct from the initiation of signal transduction. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:47834-43.
- 444. van der Kleij D, van den Biggelaar AH, Kruize YC, Retra K, Fillie Y, Schmitz M, Kremsner PG, Tielens AG, Yazdanbakhsh M. Responses to Toll-like receptor ligands in children living in areas where schistosome infections are endemic. J Infect Dis 2004; 189:1044-51.
- 445. Nagai Y, Akashi S, Nagafuku M, Ogata M, Iwakura Y, Akira S, Kitamura T, Kosugi A, Kimoto M, Miyake K. Essential role of MD-2 in LPS responsiveness and TLR4 distribution. Nat Immunol 2002; 3:667-72.
- Schromm AB, Lien E, Henneke P, Chow JC, Yoshimura A, Heine H, Latz E,Monks BG, Schwartz DA, Miyake K, Golenbock DT. Molecular genetic analysis

of an endotoxin nonresponder mutant cell line: a point mutation in a conserved region of MD-2 abolishes endotoxin-induced signaling. J Exp Med 2001; 194:79-88.

- 447. Shimazu R, Akashi S, Ogata H, Nagai Y, Fukudome K, Miyake K, Kimoto M. MD-2, a molecule that confers lipopolysaccharide responsiveness on Toll-like receptor 4. J Exp Med 1999; 189:1777-82.
- 448. Visintin A, Mazzoni A, Spitzer JA, Segal DM. Secreted MD-2 is a large polymeric protein that efficiently confers lipopolysaccharide sensitivity to Tolllike receptor 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001; 98:12156-61.
- 449. Tapping RI, Tobias PS. Soluble CD14-mediated cellular responses to lipopolysaccharide. Chem Immunol 2000; 74:108-21.
- 450. Goyert SM, Ferrero E, Rettig WJ, Yenamandra AK, Obata F, Le Beau MM. The CD14 monocyte differentiation antigen maps to a region encoding growth factors and receptors. Science 1988; 239:497-500.
- 451. Kim JI, Lee CJ, Jin MS, Lee CH, Paik SG, Lee H, Lee JO. Crystal structure of CD14 and its implications for lipopolysaccharide signaling. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:11347-51.
- da Silva Correia J, Soldau K, Christen U, Tobias PS, Ulevitch RJ.
 Lipopolysaccharide is in close proximity to each of the proteins in its membrane receptor complex. transfer from CD14 to TLR4 and MD-2. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:21129-35.
- 453. Jiang Q, Akashi S, Miyake K, Petty HR. Lipopolysaccharide induces physical proximity between CD14 and toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) prior to nuclear translocation of NF-kappa B. J Immunol 2000; 165:3541-4.
- 454. Burns K, Martinon F, Esslinger C, Pahl H, Schneider P, Bodmer JL, Di Marco F, French L, Tschopp J. MyD88, an adapter protein involved in interleukin-1 signaling. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:12203-9.
- 455. Wesche H, Henzel WJ, Shillinglaw W, Li S, Cao Z. MyD88: an adapter that recruits IRAK to the IL-1 receptor complex. Immunity 1997; 7:837-47.
- 456. Medzhitov R, Preston-Hurlburt P, Kopp E, Stadlen A, Chen C, Ghosh S, Janeway CA, Jr. MyD88 is an adaptor protein in the hToll/IL-1 receptor family signaling pathways. Mol Cell 1998; 2:253-8.
- 457. Li S, Strelow A, Fontana EJ, Wesche H. IRAK-4: a novel member of the IRAK family with the properties of an IRAK-kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002; 99:5567-72.
- 458. Ye H, Arron JR, Lamothe B, Cirilli M, Kobayashi T, Shevde NK, Segal D, Dzivenu OK, Vologodskaia M, Yim M, Du K, Singh S, Pike JW, Darnay BG, Choi Y, Wu H. Distinct molecular mechanism for initiating TRAF6 signalling. Nature 2002; 418:443-7.
- Takaesu G, Surabhi RM, Park KJ, Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Matsumoto K, Gaynor RB.
 TAK1 is critical for IkappaB kinase-mediated activation of the NF-kappaB
 pathway. J Mol Biol 2003; 326:105-15.
- 460. Takaesu G, Kishida S, Hiyama A, Yamaguchi K, Shibuya H, Irie K, Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Matsumoto K. TAB2, a novel adaptor protein, mediates activation of TAK1 MAPKKK by linking TAK1 to TRAF6 in the IL-1 signal transduction pathway. Mol Cell 2000; 5:649-58.
- 461. Shibuya H, Yamaguchi K, Shirakabe K, Tonegawa A, Gotoh Y, Ueno N, Irie K, Nishida E, Matsumoto K. TAB1: an activator of the TAK1 MAPKKK in TGFbeta signal transduction. Science 1996; 272:1179-82.
- 462. Karin M, Ben-Neriah Y. Phosphorylation meets ubiquitination: the control of NF-[kappa]B activity. Annu Rev Immunol 2000; 18:621-63.
- 463. Ghosh S, Karin M. Missing pieces in the NF-kappaB puzzle. Cell 2002; 109 Suppl:S81-96.
- 464. Fitzgerald KA, Palsson-McDermott EM, Bowie AG, Jefferies CA, Mansell AS, Brady G, Brint E, Dunne A, Gray P, Harte MT, McMurray D, Smith DE, Sims JE, Bird TA, O'Neill LA. Mal (MyD88-adapter-like) is required for Toll-like receptor-4 signal transduction. Nature 2001; 413:78-83.
- 465. Horng T, Barton GM, Medzhitov R. TIRAP: an adapter molecule in the Toll signaling pathway. Nat Immunol 2001; 2:835-41.

- 466. Adachi O, Kawai T, Takeda K, Matsumoto M, Tsutsui H, Sakagami M, Nakanishi K, Akira S. Targeted disruption of the MyD88 gene results in loss of IL-1- and IL-18-mediated function. Immunity 1998; 9:143-50.
- 467. Kawai T, Adachi O, Ogawa T, Takeda K, Akira S. Unresponsiveness of MyD88deficient mice to endotoxin. Immunity 1999; 11:115-22.
- 468. Kawai T, Takeuchi O, Fujita T, Inoue J, Muhlradt PF, Sato S, Hoshino K, Akira S. Lipopolysaccharide stimulates the MyD88-independent pathway and results in activation of IFN-regulatory factor 3 and the expression of a subset of lipopolysaccharide-inducible genes. J Immunol 2001; 167:5887-94.
- 469. Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Kawai T, Hoshino K, Akira S. Endotoxin-induced maturation of MyD88-deficient dendritic cells. J Immunol 2001; 166:5688-94.
- 470. Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Iwabe T, Takeuchi O, Akira S. Differential involvement of IFN-beta in Toll-like receptor-stimulated dendritic cell activation. Int Immunol 2002; 14:1225-31.
- 471. Fitzgerald KA, McWhirter SM, Faia KL, Rowe DC, Latz E, Golenbock DT, Coyle AJ, Liao SM, Maniatis T. IKKepsilon and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway. Nat Immunol 2003; 4:491-6.
- 472. McWhirter SM, Fitzgerald KA, Rosains J, Rowe DC, Golenbock DT, Maniatis T. IFN-regulatory factor 3-dependent gene expression is defective in Tbk1-deficient mouse embryonic fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004; 101:233-8.
- 473. Yamamoto M, Sato S, Mori K, Hoshino K, Takeuchi O, Takeda K, Akira S. Cutting edge: a novel Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter that preferentially activates the IFN-beta promoter in the Toll-like receptor signaling. J Immunol 2002; 169:6668-72.
- 474. Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Uematsu S, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Takeda K, Akira S. TRAM is specifically involved in the Toll-like receptor 4mediated MyD88-independent signaling pathway. Nat Immunol 2003; 4:1144-50.
- 475. Oshiumi H, Sasai M, Shida K, Fujita T, Matsumoto M, Seya T. TIR-containing adapter molecule (TICAM)-2, a bridging adapter recruiting to toll-like receptor 4 TICAM-1 that induces interferon-beta. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:49751-62.

- 476. Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Sanjo H, Takeuchi O, Sugiyama M, Okabe M, Takeda K, Akira S. Role of adaptor TRIF in the MyD88independent toll-like receptor signaling pathway. Science 2003; 301:640-3.
- 477. Sato S, Sugiyama M, Yamamoto M, Watanabe Y, Kawai T, Takeda K, Akira S. Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN-beta (TRIF) associates with TNF receptor-associated factor 6 and TANK-binding kinase 1, and activates two distinct transcription factors, NF-kappa B and IFN-regulatory factor-3, in the Toll-like receptor signaling. J Immunol 2003; 171:4304-10.
- 478. Meylan E, Burns K, Hofmann K, Blancheteau V, Martinon F, Kelliher M, Tschopp J. RIP1 is an essential mediator of Toll-like receptor 3-induced NFkappa B activation. Nat Immunol 2004; 5:503-7.
- 479. Cusson-Hermance N, Khurana S, Lee TH, Fitzgerald KA, Kelliher MA. Rip1 mediates the Trif-dependent toll-like receptor 3- and 4-induced NF-{kappa}B activation but does not contribute to interferon regulatory factor 3 activation. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:36560-6.
- 480. Wang T, Lafuse WP, Zwilling BS. NFkappaB and Sp1 elements are necessary for maximal transcription of toll-like receptor 2 induced by Mycobacterium avium. J Immunol 2001; 167:6924-32.
- 481. Monick MM, Yarovinsky TO, Powers LS, Butler NS, Carter AB, Gudmundsson G, Hunninghake GW. Respiratory syncytial virus up-regulates TLR4 and sensitizes airway epithelial cells to endotoxin. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:53035-44.
- 482. Machida K, Cheng KT, Sung VM, Levine AM, Foung S, Lai MM. Hepatitis C virus induces toll-like receptor 4 expression, leading to enhanced production of beta interferon and interleukin-6. J Virol 2006; 80:866-74.
- 483. Ince MN, Elliott DE, Setiawan T, Blum A, Metwali A, Wang Y, Urban JF, Jr., Weinstock JV. Cutting Edge: Heligmosomoides polygyrus Induces TLR4 on Murine Mucosal T Cells That Produce TGF {beta} after Lipopolysaccharide Stimulation. J Immunol 2006; 176:726-9.
- 484. Nomura F, Akashi S, Sakao Y, Sato S, Kawai T, Matsumoto M, Nakanishi K, Kimoto M, Miyake K, Takeda K, Akira S. Cutting edge: endotoxin tolerance in

mouse peritoneal macrophages correlates with down-regulation of surface tolllike receptor 4 expression. J Immunol 2000; 164:3476-9.

- 485. Hopkins PA, Fraser JD, Pridmore AC, Russell HH, Read RC, Sriskandan S. Superantigen recognition by HLA class II on monocytes up-regulates toll-like receptor 4 and enhances proinflammatory responses to endotoxin. Blood 2005; 105:3655-62.
- 486. Yang Q, Zhu P, Wang Z, Jiang J. Lipopolysaccharide upregulates the expression of Toll-like receptor 4 in human vascular endothelial cells. Chin Med J (Engl) 2002; 115:286-9.
- 487. Sweet MJ, Campbell CC, Sester DP, Xu D, McDonald RC, Stacey KJ, Hume DA, Liew FY. Colony-stimulating factor-1 suppresses responses to CpG DNA and expression of toll-like receptor 9 but enhances responses to lipopolysaccharide in murine macrophages. J Immunol 2002; 168:392-9.
- 488. Bosisio D, Polentarutti N, Sironi M, Bernasconi S, Miyake K, Webb GR, Martin MU, Mantovani A, Muzio M. Stimulation of toll-like receptor 4 expression in human mononuclear phagocytes by interferon-gamma: a molecular basis for priming and synergism with bacterial lipopolysaccharide. Blood 2002; 99:3427-31.
- 489. Mita Y, Dobashi K, Endou K, Kawata T, Shimizu Y, Nakazawa T, Mori M. Tolllike receptor 4 surface expression on human monocytes and B cells is modulated by IL-2 and IL-4. Immunol Lett 2002; 81:71-5.
- 490. Coyle AJ, Lloyd C, Tian J, Nguyen T, Erikkson C, Wang L, Ottoson P, Persson P, Delaney T, Lehar S, Lin S, Poisson L, Meisel C, Kamradt T, Bjerke T, Levinson D, Gutierrez-Ramos JC. Crucial role of the interleukin 1 receptor family member T1/ST2 in T helper cell type 2-mediated lung mucosal immune responses. J Exp Med 1999; 190:895-902.
- 491. Sweet MJ, Leung BP, Kang D, Sogaard M, Schulz K, Trajkovic V, Campbell CC, Xu D, Liew FY. A novel pathway regulating lipopolysaccharide-induced shock by ST2/T1 via inhibition of Toll-like receptor 4 expression. J Immunol 2001; 166:6633-9.

- 492. Brint EK, Xu D, Liu H, Dunne A, McKenzie AN, O'Neill LA, Liew FY. ST2 is an inhibitor of interleukin 1 receptor and Toll-like receptor 4 signaling and maintains endotoxin tolerance. Nat Immunol 2004; 5:373-9.
- 493. Liew FY, Liu H, Xu D. A novel negative regulator for IL-1 receptor and Toll-like receptor 4. Immunol Lett 2005; 96:27-31.
- 494. Schmitz J, Owyang A, Oldham E, Song Y, Murphy E, McClanahan TK, Zurawski G, Moshrefi M, Qin J, Li X, Gorman DM, Bazan JF, Kastelein RA. IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL-1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines. Immunity 2005; 23:479-90.
- 495. Dinarello CA. An IL-1 family member requires caspase-1 processing and signals through the ST2 receptor. Immunity 2005; 23:461-2.
- 496. Rehli M, Poltorak A, Schwarzfischer L, Krause SW, Andreesen R, Beutler B.
 PU.1 and interferon consensus sequence-binding protein regulate the myeloid expression of the human Toll-like receptor 4 gene. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:9773-81.
- 497. Ishida I, Kubo H, Suzuki S, Suzuki T, Akashi S, Inoue K, Maeda S, Kikuchi H, Sasaki H, Kondo T. Hypoxia diminishes toll-like receptor 4 expression through reactive oxygen species generated by mitochondria in endothelial cells. J Immunol 2002; 169:2069-75.
- 498. Arbour NC, Lorenz E, Schutte BC, Zabner J, Kline JN, Jones M, Frees K, Watt JL, Schwartz DA. TLR4 mutations are associated with endotoxin hyporesponsiveness in humans. Nat Genet 2000; 25:187-91.
- 499. Agnese DM, Calvano JE, Hahm SJ, Coyle SM, Corbett SA, Calvano SE, Lowry SF. Human toll-like receptor 4 mutations but not CD14 polymorphisms are associated with an increased risk of gram-negative infections. J Infect Dis 2002; 186:1522-5.
- 500. Michel O, LeVan TD, Stern D, Dentener M, Thorn J, Gnat D, Beijer ML, Cochaux P, Holt PG, Martinez FD, Rylander R. Systemic responsiveness to lipopolysaccharide and polymorphisms in the toll-like receptor 4 gene in human beings. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003; 112:923-9.

- 501. Yang IA, Barton SJ, Rorke S, Cakebread JA, Keith TP, Clough JB, Holgate ST, Holloway JW. Toll-like receptor 4 polymorphism and severity of atopy in asthmatics. Genes Immun 2004; 5:41-5.
- 502. Raby BA, Klimecki WT, Laprise C, Renaud Y, Faith J, Lemire M, Greenwood C, Weiland KM, Lange C, Palmer LJ, Lazarus R, Vercelli D, Kwiatkowski DJ, Silverman EK, Martinez FD, Hudson TJ, Weiss ST. Polymorphisms in toll-like receptor 4 are not associated with asthma or atopy-related phenotypes. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002; 166:1449-56.
- 503. Lauener RP, Birchler T, Adamski J, Braun-Fahrlander C, Bufe A, Herz U, von Mutius E, Nowak D, Riedler J, Waser M, Sennhauser FH. Expression of CD14 and Toll-like receptor 2 in farmers' and non-farmers' children. Lancet 2002; 360:465-6.
- 504. Krauss-Etschmann S, Hartl D, Heinrich J, Thaqi A, Prell C, Campoy C, Molina FS, Hector A, Decsi T, Schendel DJ, Koletzko BV. Association between levels of Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 and CD14 mRNA and allergy in pregnant women and their offspring. Clinical Immunology In Press, Corrected Proof:
- 505. Placke ME, Fisher GL. Adult peripheral lung organ culture--a model for respiratory tract toxicology. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1987; 90:284-98.
- 506. Dandurand RJ, Wang CG, Laberge S, Martin JG, Eidelman DH. In vitro allergic bronchoconstriction in the brown Norway rat. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 149:1499-505.
- 507. Minshall E, Wang CG, Dandurand R, Eidelman D. Heterogeneity of responsiveness of individual airways in cultured lung explants. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1997; 75:911-6.
- 508. Westphal O, Jann K. Bacterial Lipido-protinopolysaccharides ('O' Somatic Antigens) Extraction with Trichloroacetic Acid. Methods in Carbohydrate Chemistry 1965; 5:83-91.
- 509. Staub AM. Bacterial Lipido-protinopolysaccharides ('O' Somatic Antigens)
 Extraction with Trichloroacetic Acid. Methods in Carbohydrate Chemistry 1965;
 5:92-3.

- 510. Galanos C, Luderitz O, Westphal O. A new method for the extraction of R lipopolysaccharides. Eur J Biochem 1969; 9:245-9.
- 511. Galanos C, Luderitz O. Isolation and purification of R-form lipopolysaccharides. Methods in Carbohydrate Chemistry 1993; 9:11.
- 512. Galanos C, Luderitz O. Electrodialysis of lipopolysaccharides and their conversion to uniform salt forms. Eur J Biochem 1975; 54:603-10.
- 513. Hamid Q, Wharton J, Terenghi G, Hassall CJ, Aimi J, Taylor KM, Nakazato H, Dixon JE, Burnstock G, Polak JM. Localization of atrial natriuretic peptide mRNA and immunoreactivity in the rat heart and human atrial appendage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1987; 84:6760-4.
- 514. McCabe JT, Morrell JI, Ivell R, Schmale H, Richter D, Pfaff DW. In situ hybridization technique to localize rRNA and mRNA in mammalian neurons. J Histochem Cytochem 1986; 34:45-50.
- 515. Liesi P, Julien JP, Vilja P, Grosveld F, Rechardt L. Specific detection of neuronal cell bodies: in situ hybridization with a biotin-labeled neurofilament cDNA probe. J Histochem Cytochem 1986; 34:923-6.
- 516. Vieira P, de Waal-Malefyt R, Dang MN, Johnson KE, Kastelein R, Fiorentino DF, deVries JE, Roncarolo MG, Mosmann TR, Moore KW. Isolation and expression of human cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor cDNA clones: homology to Epstein-Barr virus open reading frame BCRFI. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1991; 88:1172-6.
- 517. Derynck R, Leung DW, Gray PW, Goeddel DV. Human interferon gamma is encoded by a single class of mRNA. Nucleic Acids Res 1982; 10:3605-15.
- 518. Bette M, Jin SC, Germann T, Schafer MK, Weihe E, Rude E, Fleischer B. Differential expression of mRNA encoding interleukin-12 p35 and p40 subunits in situ. Eur J Immunol 1994; 24:2435-40.
- 519. Chan-Palay V, Yasargil G, Hamid Q, Polak JM, Palay SL. Simultaneous demonstrations of neuropeptide Y gene expression and peptide storage in single neurons of the human brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1988; 85:3213-5.
- 520. Varney VA, Hamid QA, Gaga M, Ying S, Jacobson M, Frew AJ, Kay AB, Durham SR. Influence of grass pollen immunotherapy on cellular infiltration and

cytokine mRNA expression during allergen-induced late-phase cutaneous responses. J Clin Invest 1993; 92:644-51.

- 521. Tacha DE, McKinney L. Casein reduces nonspecific background staining in immunolabeling techniques. J Histotechnol 1992; 15:127.
- 522. Kenna JG, Major GN, Williams RS. Methods for reducing non-specific antibody binding in enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays. J Immunol Methods 1985; 85:409-19.
- 523. Cordell JL, Falini B, Erber WN, Ghosh AK, Abdulaziz Z, MacDonald S, Pulford KA, Stein H, Mason DY. Immunoenzymatic labeling of monoclonal antibodies using immune complexes of alkaline phosphatase and monoclonal anti-alkaline phosphatase (APAAP complexes). J Histochem Cytochem 1984; 32:219-29.
- 524. Gratzner HG. Monoclonal antibody to 5-bromo- and 5-iododeoxyuridine: A new reagent for detection of DNA replication. Science 1982; 218:474-5.
- 525. Vanderlaan M, Thomas CB. Characterization of monoclonal antibodies to bromodeoxyuridine. Cytometry 1985; 6:501-5.
- 526. Moore GE, Gerner RE, Franklin HA. Culture of normal human leukocytes. JAMA 1967; 199:519-24.
- 527. Bishop DF, Henderson AS, Astrin KH. Human delta-aminolevulinate synthase: assignment of the housekeeping gene to 3p21 and the erythroid-specific gene to the X chromosome. Genomics 1990; 7:207-14.
- 528. Kozak M. Evaluation of the "scanning model" for initiation of protein synthesis in eucaryotes. Cell 1980; 22:7-8.
- 529. Kozak M. Point mutations define a sequence flanking the AUG initiator codon that modulates translation by eukaryotic ribosomes. Cell 1986; 44:283-92.
- 530. Boshart M, Weber F, Jahn G, Dorsch-Hasler K, Fleckenstein B, Schaffner W. A very strong enhancer is located upstream of an immediate early gene of human cytomegalovirus. Cell 1985; 41:521-30.
- 531. Goodwin EC, Rottman FM. The 3'-flanking sequence of the bovine growth hormone gene contains novel elements required for efficient and accurate polyadenylation. J Biol Chem 1992; 267:16330-4.

- 532. Wang LH, Kirken RA, Yang XY, Erwin RA, DaSilva L, Yu CR, Farrar WL. Selective disruption of interleukin 4 autocrine-regulated loop by a tyrosine kinase inhibitor restricts activity of T-helper 2 cells. Blood 2000; 95:3816-22.
- 533. Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods 2001; 25:402-8.
- 534. Quelle FW, Shimoda K, Thierfelder W, Fischer C, Kim A, Ruben SM, Cleveland JL, Pierce JH, Keegan AD, Nelms K, et al. Cloning of murine Stat6 and human Stat6, Stat proteins that are tyrosine phosphorylated in responses to IL-4 and IL-3 but are not required for mitogenesis. Mol Cell Biol 1995; 15:3336-43.
- 535. Gazit A, Osherov N, Posner I, Yaish P, Poradosu E, Gilon C, Levitzki A. Tyrphostins. 2. Heterocyclic and alpha-substituted benzylidenemalononitrile tyrphostins as potent inhibitors of EGF receptor and ErbB2/neu tyrosine kinases. J Med Chem 1991; 34:1896-907.
- 536. Levitzki A. Tyrphostins--potential antiproliferative agents and novel molecular tools. Biochem Pharmacol 1990; 40:913-8.
- 537. Meydan N, Grunberger T, Dadi H, Shahar M, Arpaia E, Lapidot Z, Leeder JS, Freedman M, Cohen A, Gazit A, Levitzki A, Roifman CM. Inhibition of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia by a Jak-2 inhibitor. Nature 1996; 379:645-8.
- 538. Spiekermann K, Biethahn S, Wilde S, Hiddemann W, Alves F. Constitutive activation of STAT transcription factors in acute myelogenous leukemia. Eur J Haematol 2001; 67:63-71.
- 539. Quandt K, Frech K, Karas H, Wingender E, Werner T. MatInd and MatInspector: new fast and versatile tools for detection of consensus matches in nucleotide sequence data. Nucleic Acids Res 1995; 23:4878-84.
- 540. Peden DB, Tucker K, Murphy P, Newlin-Clapp L, Boehlecke B, Hazucha M, Bromberg P, Reed W. Eosinophil influx to the nasal airway after local, low-level LPS challenge in humans. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:388-94.
- 541. Lowenthal JW, Zubler RH, Nabholz M, MacDonald HR. Similarities between interleukin-2 receptor number and affinity on activated B and T lymphocytes. Nature 1985; 315:669-72.

- 542. Minami Y, Kono T, Miyazaki T, Taniguchi T. The IL-2 receptor complex: its structure, function, and target genes. Annu Rev Immunol 1993; 11:245-68.
- 543. Wing K, Ekmark A, Karlsson H, Rudin A, Suri-Payer E. Characterization of human CD25+ CD4+ T cells in thymus, cord and adult blood. Immunology 2002; 106:190-9.
- 544. Johansson SG, Yman L. In vitro assays for immunoglobulin E. Methodology, indications, and interpretation. Clin Rev Allergy 1988; 6:93-139.
- 545. Arps V, Kolsch E. The role of interleukin-10 in the generation of CD4+ and CD8+ memory T cells (expressing a CD44+, CD62L- phenotype) and their contribution to the regulation of immunoglobulin E antibody formation. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2002; 127:198-207.
- 546. Yoshimoto T, Okamura H, Tagawa YI, Iwakura Y, Nakanishi K. Interleukin 18 together with interleukin 12 inhibits IgE production by induction of interferon-gamma production from activated B cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997; 94:3948-53.
- 547. Xu L, Rothman P. IFN-gamma represses epsilon germline transcription and subsequently down-regulates switch recombination to epsilon. Int Immunol 1994; 6:515-21.
- 548. Borish LC, Steinke JW. 2. Cytokines and chemokines. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003; 111:S460-75.
- 549. Gajewski TF, Joyce J, Fitch FW. Antiproliferative effect of IFN-gamma in immune regulation. III. Differential selection of TH1 and TH2 murine helper T lymphocyte clones using recombinant IL-2 and recombinant IFN-gamma. J Immunol 1989; 143:15-22.
- 550. Snapper CM, Paul WE. Interferon-gamma and B cell stimulatory factor-1 reciprocally regulate Ig isotype production. Science 1987; 236:944-7.
- 551. Del Prete G, De Carli M, Almerigogna F, Giudizi MG, Biagiotti R, Romagnani S. Human IL-10 is produced by both type 1 helper (Th1) and type 2 helper (Th2) T cell clones and inhibits their antigen-specific proliferation and cytokine production. J Immunol 1993; 150:353-60.

- 552. Yssel H, De Waal Malefyt R, Roncarolo MG, Abrams JS, Lahesmaa R, Spits H, de Vries JE. IL-10 is produced by subsets of human CD4+ T cell clones and peripheral blood T cells. J Immunol 1992; 149:2378-84.
- 553. Asseman C, Mauze S, Leach MW, Coffman RL, Powrie F. An essential role for interleukin 10 in the function of regulatory T cells that inhibit intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med 1999; 190:995-1004.
- 554. de Waal Malefyt R, Haanen J, Spits H, Roncarolo MG, te Velde A, Figdor C, Johnson K, Kastelein R, Yssel H, de Vries JE. Interleukin 10 (IL-10) and viral IL-10 strongly reduce antigen-specific human T cell proliferation by diminishing the antigen-presenting capacity of monocytes via downregulation of class II major histocompatibility complex expression. J Exp Med 1991; 174:915-24.
- 555. Ding L, Linsley PS, Huang LY, Germain RN, Shevach EM. IL-10 inhibits macrophage costimulatory activity by selectively inhibiting the up-regulation of B7 expression. J Immunol 1993; 151:1224-34.
- 556. Punnonen J, de Waal Malefyt R, van Vlasselaer P, Gauchat JF, de Vries JE. IL-10 and viral IL-10 prevent IL-4-induced IgE synthesis by inhibiting the accessory cell function of monocytes. J Immunol 1993; 151:1280-9.
- 557. Takanaski S, Nonaka R, Xing Z, O'Byrne P, Dolovich J, Jordana M. Interleukin 10 inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced survival and cytokine production by human peripheral blood eosinophils. J Exp Med 1994; 180:711-5.
- 558. D'Andrea A, Aste-Amezaga M, Valiante NM, Ma X, Kubin M, Trinchieri G. Interleukin 10 (IL-10) inhibits human lymphocyte interferon gamma-production by suppressing natural killer cell stimulatory factor/IL-12 synthesis in accessory cells. J Exp Med 1993; 178:1041-8.
- 559. D'Andrea A, Rengaraju M, Valiante NM, Chehimi J, Kubin M, Aste M, Chan SH, Kobayashi M, Young D, Nickbarg E, et al. Production of natural killer cell stimulatory factor (interleukin 12) by peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Exp Med 1992; 176:1387-98.
- 560. Wolf SF, Temple PA, Kobayashi M, Young D, Dicig M, Lowe L, Dzialo R, Fitz L, Ferenz C, Hewick RM, et al. Cloning of cDNA for natural killer cell

stimulatory factor, a heterodimeric cytokine with multiple biologic effects on T and natural killer cells. J Immunol 1991; 146:3074-81.

- 561. Chan SH, Kobayashi M, Santoli D, Perussia B, Trinchieri G. Mechanisms of IFNgamma induction by natural killer cell stimulatory factor (NKSF/IL-12). Role of transcription and mRNA stability in the synergistic interaction between NKSF and IL-2. J Immunol 1992; 148:92-8.
- 562. Chan SH, Perussia B, Gupta JW, Kobayashi M, Pospisil M, Young HA, Wolf SF, Young D, Clark SC, Trinchieri G. Induction of interferon gamma production by natural killer cell stimulatory factor: characterization of the responder cells and synergy with other inducers. J Exp Med 1991; 173:869-79.
- 563. Meyaard L, Hovenkamp E, Otto SA, Miedema F. IL-12-induced IL-10 production by human T cells as a negative feedback for IL-12-induced immune responses. J Immunol 1996; 156:2776-82.
- 564. Windhagen A, Anderson DE, Carrizosa A, Williams RE, Hafler DA. IL-12 induces human T cells secreting IL-10 with IFN-gamma. J Immunol 1996; 157:1127-31.
- 565. Flesch IE, Hess JH, Huang S, Aguet M, Rothe J, Bluethmann H, Kaufmann SH. Early interleukin 12 production by macrophages in response to mycobacterial infection depends on interferon gamma and tumor necrosis factor alpha. J Exp Med 1995; 181:1615-21.
- 566. Hayes MP, Wang J, Norcross MA. Regulation of interleukin-12 expression in human monocytes: selective priming by interferon-gamma of lipopolysaccharideinducible p35 and p40 genes. Blood 1995; 86:646-50.
- 567. Cassatella MA, Meda L, Gasperini S, D'Andrea A, Ma X, Trinchieri G. Interleukin-12 production by human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Eur J Immunol 1995; 25:1-5.
- Thornton AM, Piccirillo CA, Shevach EM. Activation requirements for the induction of CD4+CD25+ T cell suppressor function. Eur J Immunol 2004; 34:366-76.
- Wing K, Suri-Payer E, Rudin A. CD4+CD25+-regulatory T cells from mouse to man. Scand J Immunol 2005; 62:1-15.

- 570. Schwartz DA. The role of TLR4 in endotoxin responsiveness in humans. J Endotoxin Res 2001; 7:389-93.
- 571. Renshaw M, Rockwell J, Engleman C, Gewirtz A, Katz J, Sambhara S. Cutting edge: impaired Toll-like receptor expression and function in aging. J Immunol 2002; 169:4697-701.
- 572. Levy O, Zarember KA, Roy RM, Cywes C, Godowski PJ, Wessels MR. Selective impairment of TLR-mediated innate immunity in human newborns: neonatal blood plasma reduces monocyte TNF-alpha induction by bacterial lipopeptides, lipopolysaccharide, and imiquimod, but preserves the response to R-848. J Immunol 2004; 173:4627-34.
- 573. Boehmer ED, Goral J, Faunce DE, Kovacs EJ. Age-dependent decrease in Tolllike receptor 4-mediated proinflammatory cytokine production and mitogenactivated protein kinase expression. J Leukoc Biol 2004; 75:342-9.
- 574. Yan SR, Qing G, Byers DM, Stadnyk AW, Al-Hertani W, Bortolussi R. Role of MyD88 in diminished tumor necrosis factor alpha production by newborn mononuclear cells in response to lipopolysaccharide. Infect Immun 2004; 72:1223-9.
- 575. Ghaffar O, Christodoulopoulos P, Lamkhioued B, Wright E, Ihaku D, Nakamura Y, Frenkiel S, Hamid Q. In vivo expression of signal transducer and activator of transcription factor 6 (STAT6) in nasal mucosa from atopic allergic rhinitis: effect of topical corticosteroids. Clin Exp Allergy 2000; 30:86-93.
- 576. Sundstrom C, Nilsson K. Establishment and characterization of a human histiocytic lymphoma cell line (U-937). Int J Cancer 1976; 17:565-77.
- 577. Cario E, Rosenberg IM, Brandwein SL, Beck PL, Reinecker HC, Podolsky DK. Lipopolysaccharide activates distinct signaling pathways in intestinal epithelial cell lines expressing Toll-like receptors. J Immunol 2000; 164:966-72.
- 578. Bonder CS, Hart PH, Davies KV, Burkly LC, Finlay-Jones JJ, Woodcock JM. Characterization of IL-4 receptor components expressed on monocytes and monocyte-derived macrophages: variation associated with differential signaling by IL-4. Growth Factors 2001; 19:207-18.

- 579. Ohlsson S, Hellmark T, Pieters K, Sturfelt G, Wieslander J, Segelmark M. Increased monocyte transcription of the proteinase 3 gene in small vessel vasculitis. Clin Exp Immunol 2005; 141:174-82.
- 580. Kadl A, Huber J, Gruber F, Bochkov VN, Binder BR, Leitinger N. Analysis of inflammatory gene induction by oxidized phospholipids in vivo by quantitative real-time RT-PCR in comparison with effects of LPS. Vascul Pharmacol 2002; 38:219-27.
- 581. Galdiero M, Tortora A, Damiano N, Vitiello M, Longanella A, Galdiero E. Induction of cytokine mRNA expression in U937 cells by Salmonella typhimurium porins is regulated by different phosphorylation pathways. Med Microbiol Immunol (Berl) 2005; 194:13-23.
- 582. Donnelly RP, Fenton MJ, Kaufman JD, Gerrard TL. IL-1 expression in human monocytes is transcriptionally and posttranscriptionally regulated by IL-4. J Immunol 1991; 146:3431-6.
- 583. Travagli J, Letourneur M, Bertoglio J, Pierre J. STAT6 and Ets-1 form a stable complex that modulates Socs-1 expression by interleukin-4 in keratinocytes. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:35183-92.
- 584. Nakagawa R, Naka T, Tsutsui H, Fujimoto M, Kimura A, Abe T, Seki E, Sato S, Takeuchi O, Takeda K, Akira S, Yamanishi K, Kawase I, Nakanishi K, Kishimoto T. SOCS-1 participates in negative regulation of LPS responses. Immunity 2002; 17:677-87.
- 585. Ruppert J, Friedrichs D, Xu H, Peters JH. IL-4 decreases the expression of the monocyte differentiation marker CD14, paralleled by an increasing accessory potency. Immunobiology 1991; 182:449-64.
- 586. Chen Z, Lund R, Aittokallio T, Kosonen M, Nevalainen O, Lahesmaa R. Identification of novel IL-4/Stat6-regulated genes in T lymphocytes. J Immunol 2003; 171:3627-35.
- 587. Vinkemeier U, Cohen SL, Moarefi I, Chait BT, Kuriyan J, Darnell JE, Jr. DNA binding of in vitro activated Stat1 alpha, Stat1 beta and truncated Stat1: interaction between NH2-terminal domains stabilizes binding of two dimers to tandem DNA sites. Embo J 1996; 15:5616-26.

- 588. Xu X, Sun YL, Hoey T. Cooperative DNA binding and sequence-selective recognition conferred by the STAT amino-terminal domain. Science 1996; 273:794-7.
- 589. Hoey T, Schindler U. STAT structure and function in signaling. Curr Opin Genet Dev 1998; 8:582-7.
- 590. Darnell JE, Jr. STATs and gene regulation. Science 1997; 277:1630-5.
- 591. Litterst CM, Pfitzner E. Transcriptional activation by STAT6 requires the direct interaction with NCoA-1. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:45713-21.
- 592. Razeto A, Ramakrishnan V, Litterst CM, Giller K, Griesinger C, Carlomagno T, Lakomek N, Heimburg T, Lodrini M, Pfitzner E, Becker S. Structure of the NCoA-1/SRC-1 PAS-B domain bound to the LXXLL motif of the STAT6 transactivation domain. J Mol Biol 2004; 336:319-29.
- 593. Ohmori Y, Hamilton TA. IL-4-induced STAT6 suppresses IFN-gammastimulated STAT1-dependent transcription in mouse macrophages. J Immunol 1997; 159:5474-82.
- 594. Bennett BL, Cruz R, Lacson RG, Manning AM. Interleukin-4 suppression of tumor necrosis factor alpha-stimulated E-selectin gene transcription is mediated by STAT6 antagonism of NF-kappaB. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:10212-9.
- 595. Goenka S, Youn J, Dzurek LM, Schindler U, Yu-Lee LY, Boothby M. Paired Stat6 C-terminal transcription activation domains required both for inhibition of an IFN-responsive promoter and trans-activation. J Immunol 1999; 163:4663-72.
- 596. Na SY, Lee SK, Han SJ, Choi HS, Im SY, Lee JW. Steroid receptor coactivator-1 interacts with the p50 subunit and coactivates nuclear factor kappaB-mediated transactivations. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:10831-4.
- 597. Sheppard KA, Phelps KM, Williams AJ, Thanos D, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG, Gerritsen ME, Collins T. Nuclear integration of glucocorticoid receptor and nuclear factor-kappaB signaling by CREB-binding protein and steroid receptor coactivator-1. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:29291-4.
- 598. Seidel HM, Milocco LH, Lamb P, Darnell JE, Jr., Stein RB, Rosen J. Spacing of palindromic half sites as a determinant of selective STAT (signal transducers and

activators of transcription) DNA binding and transcriptional activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995; 92:3041-5.

- 599. Takeuchi J, Watari E, Shinya E, Norose Y, Matsumoto M, Seya T, Sugita M, Kawana S, Takahashi H. Down-regulation of Toll-like receptor expression in monocyte-derived Langerhans cell-like cells: implications of low-responsiveness to bacterial components in the epidermal Langerhans cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003; 306:674-9.
- 600. Hanson EM, Dickensheets H, Qu CK, Donnelly RP, Keegan AD. Regulation of the dephosphorylation of Stat6. Participation of Tyr-713 in the interleukin-4 receptor alpha, the tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1, and the proteasome. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:3903-11.
- 601. Woetmann A, Brockdorff J, Lovato P, Nielsen M, Leick V, Rieneck K, Svejgaard A, Geisler C, Odum N. Protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) regulates interleukin-4mediated STAT6 signaling. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:2787-91.
- 602. Losman JA, Chen XP, Hilton D, Rothman P. Cutting edge: SOCS-1 is a potent inhibitor of IL-4 signal transduction. J Immunol 1999; 162:3770-4.
- 603. Chen W, Daines MO, Hershey GK. Methylation of STAT6 modulates STAT6 phosphorylation, nuclear translocation, and DNA-binding activity. J Immunol 2004; 172:6744-50.
- 604. Okumura S, Kashiwakura J, Tomita H, Matsumoto K, Nakajima T, Saito H, Okayama Y. Identification of specific gene expression profiles in human mast cells mediated by Toll-like receptor 4 and FcepsilonRI. Blood 2003; 102:2547-54.
- 605. Qiao H, Andrade MV, Lisboa FA, Morgan K, Beaven MA. FcepsilonR1 and tolllike receptors mediate synergistic signals to markedly augment production of inflammatory cytokines in murine mast cells. Blood 2006; 107:610-8.
- 606. Nagase H, Okugawa S, Ota Y, Yamaguchi M, Tomizawa H, Matsushima K, Ohta K, Yamamoto K, Hirai K. Expression and function of Toll-like receptors in eosinophils: activation by Toll-like receptor 7 ligand. J Immunol 2003; 171:3977-82.
- 607. Furukawa CT. The role of allergy in sinusitis in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 90:515-7.

- 608. Walker C, Williams H, Phelan J. Allergic rhinitis history as a predictor of other future disqualifying otorhinolaryngological defects. Aviat Space Environ Med 1998; 69:952-6.
- 609. Chen CF, Wu KG, Hsu MC, Tang RB. Prevalence and relationship between allergic diseases and infectious diseases. J Microbiol Immunol Infect 2001; 34:57-62.
- 610. Savolainen S. Allergy in patients with acute maxillary sinusitis. Allergy 1989;44:116-22.
- Kirtsreesakul V, Naclerio RM. Role of allergy in rhinosinusitis. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 2004; 4:17-23.
- 612. Berrettini S, Carabelli A, Sellari-Franceschini S, Bruschini L, Abruzzese A, Quartieri F, Sconosciuto F. Perennial allergic rhinitis and chronic sinusitis: correlation with rhinologic risk factors. Allergy 1999; 54:242-8.
- 613. Shiomori T, Yoshida S, Miyamoto H, Makishima K. Relationship of nasal carriage of Staphylococcus aureus to pathogenesis of perennial allergic rhinitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 105:449-54.
- 614. Gluck U, Gebbers JO. Local pathogenic bacteria in allergic rhinitis: a novel concept of its pathogenesis. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec 2003; 65:202-5.
- 615. Marine J, Winoto A. The human enhancer-binding protein Gata3 binds to several T-cell receptor regulatory elements. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1991; 88:7284-8.
- 616. Pandolfi PP, Roth ME, Karis A, Leonard MW, Dzierzak E, Grosveld FG, Engel JD, Lindenbaum MH. Targeted disruption of the GATA3 gene causes severe abnormalities in the nervous system and in fetal liver haematopoiesis. Nat Genet 1995; 11:40-4.
- 617. Zhang DH, Yang L, Ray A. Differential responsiveness of the IL-5 and IL-4 genes to transcription factor GATA-3. J Immunol 1998; 161:3817-21.
- 618. Zhang DH, Cohn L, Ray P, Bottomly K, Ray A. Transcription factor GATA-3 is differentially expressed in murine Th1 and Th2 cells and controls Th2-specific expression of the interleukin-5 gene. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:21597-603.

- 619. Zhu J, Min B, Hu-Li J, Watson CJ, Grinberg A, Wang Q, Killeen N, Urban JF, Jr.,
 Guo L, Paul WE. Conditional deletion of Gata3 shows its essential function in T(H)1-T(H)2 responses. Nat Immunol 2004; 5:1157-65.
- 620. Fields PE, Kim ST, Flavell RA. Cutting edge: changes in histone acetylation at the IL-4 and IFN-gamma loci accompany Th1/Th2 differentiation. J Immunol 2002; 169:647-50.
- 621. Ray A, Cohn L. Th2 cells and GATA-3 in asthma: new insights into the regulation of airway inflammation. J Clin Invest 1999; 104:985-93.
- 622. Zhang DH, Yang L, Cohn L, Parkyn L, Homer R, Ray P, Ray A. Inhibition of allergic inflammation in a murine model of asthma by expression of a dominant-negative mutant of GATA-3. Immunity 1999; 11:473-82.
- 623. Wang T, Lafuse WP, Takeda K, Akira S, Zwilling BS. Rapid chromatin remodeling of Toll-like receptor 2 promoter during infection of macrophages with Mycobacterium avium. J Immunol 2002; 169:795-801.
- 624. Shuto T, Xu H, Wang B, Han J, Kai H, Gu XX, Murphy TF, Lim DJ, Li JD. Activation of NF-kappa B by nontypeable Hemophilus influenzae is mediated by toll-like receptor 2-TAK1-dependent NIK-IKK alpha /beta-I kappa B alpha and MKK3/6-p38 MAP kinase signaling pathways in epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001; 98:8774-9.
- 625. Furmonaviciene R, Sutton BJ, Glaser F, Laughton CA, Jones N, Sewell HF, Shakib F. An attempt to define allergen-specific molecular surface features: a bioinformatic approach. Bioinformatics 2005; 21:4201-4.
- 626. Blotta MH, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT. Corticosteroids inhibit IL-12 production in human monocytes and enhance their capacity to induce IL-4 synthesis in CD4+ lymphocytes. J Immunol 1997; 158:5589-95.
- 627. Masuyama K, Jacobson MR, Rak S, Meng Q, Sudderick RM, Kay AB, Lowhagen O, Hamid Q, Durham SR. Topical glucocorticosteroid (fluticasone propionate) inhibits cells expressing cytokine mRNA for interleukin-4 in the nasal mucosa in allergen-induced rhinitis. Immunology 1994; 82:192-9.

271

- 628. Bousquet J, Lockey R, Malling HJ. Allergen immunotherapy: therapeutic vaccines for allergic diseases. A WHO position paper. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:558-62.
- 629. Campbell D, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT. Allergen immunotherapy: novel approaches in the management of allergic diseases and asthma. Clin Immunol 2000; 97:193-202.
- 630. Durham SR, Walker SM, Varga EM, Jacobson MR, O'Brien F, Noble W, Till SJ, Hamid QA, Nouri-Aria KT. Long-term clinical efficacy of grass-pollen immunotherapy. N Engl J Med 1999; 341:468-75.
- 631. Akdis CA, Blesken T, Akdis M, Wuthrich B, Blaser K. Role of interleukin 10 in specific immunotherapy. J Clin Invest 1998; 102:98-106.
- 632. Francis JN, Till SJ, Durham SR. Induction of IL-10+CD4+CD25+ T cells by grass pollen immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003; 111:1255-61.
- 633. Alexander C, Ying S, A BK, Larche M. Fel d 1-derived T cell peptide therapy induces recruitment of CD4+ CD25+; CD4+ interferon-gamma+ T helper type 1 cells to sites of allergen-induced late-phase skin reactions in cat-allergic subjects. Clin Exp Allergy 2005; 35:52-8.
- 634. Zheng G, Wang B, Chen A. The 4-1BB costimulation augments the proliferation of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol 2004; 173:2428-34.
- 635. Ismaili J, Rennesson J, Aksoy E, Vekemans J, Vincart B, Amraoui Z, Van Laethem F, Goldman M, Dubois PM. Monophosphoryl lipid A activates both human dendritic cells and T cells. J Immunol 2002; 168:926-32.
- 636. Drachenberg KJ, Wheeler AW, Stuebner P, Horak F. A well-tolerated grass pollen-specific allergy vaccine containing a novel adjuvant, monophosphoryl lipid A, reduces allergic symptoms after only four preseasonal injections. Allergy 2001; 56:498-505.
- 637. Tulic MK, Fiset PO, Christodoulopoulos P, Vaillancourt P, Desrosiers M, Lavigne F, Eiden J, Hamid Q. Amb a 1-immunostimulatory oligodeoxynucleotide conjugate immunotherapy decreases the nasal inflammatory response. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004; 113:235-41.